
Cabinet

Wednesday 16 December 2020 10.00 am

Please note: This meeting will be held remotely and can be viewed on the
County Council website by going to the following link:
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk

AGENDA

Item Discussion Portfolio

1 Apologies 

To note any apologies for absence.

Leader of the 
Council

2 Minutes (Pages 1 - 10)

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on  11 November 
2020. (minutes attached).

Leader of the 
Council

3 Declarations of Interest 

To  declare any pecuniary or personal interests relating to specific 
matters on the agenda.

Please see information note (1) at the end of the agenda

Leader of  Council

4 Questions at Cabinet Meetings 

Up to 30 minutes is allowed for this item.

Written questions 

To answer any written questions from a County Councillor, (or any 
person living or working in the county, or is affected by the work of the 
County Council), about any matter which relates to any item on the 
agenda for this meeting. 

The closing date for the receipt of written questions is 4.00 pm on 
Thursday 10 December 2020.

Please submit any questions to 
stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

A written answer will be provided for each written question received (to 

Leader of the 
Council

mailto:stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk


16 December 2020

be presented to the questioner and to Cabinet (in advance of the 
meeting). The questions and answers will be taken as read and will not 
be read out at the meeting. At the discretion of the Leader of Council, 
each questioner ( in attendance at the meeting) will be allowed to ask 
one supplementary question (in response to the answer given to the 
original question). 

A copy of all written questions and written answers circulated at the 
meeting will be attached to the signed copy of the minutes of the 
meeting.

Urgent questions

An urgent written question may be asked by a member of the public 
about any item on the Cabinet agenda for that meeting which the 
Chairperson considers could not have been reasonably submitted by the 
deadline for the receipt of written questions, provided he or she gives 
notice of the question to the Chief Executive by 12 noon the day before 
the meeting.

Scrutiny Task Group Reports

5 Scrutiny Task Group Report - Single Use Plastics (Pages 11 - 
22)

Cabinet to consider the findings of the Single Use Plastics Scrutiny 
Task Group.

Cllr Dr Andrew 
Miller

Key Decisions

6 Draft Corporate Strategy and Medium Term Financial Strategy 
(For Publication and Consultation) (Pages 23 - 184)

Cabinet Member - 
Finance and 
Change

7 Financial Monitoring Report 2020/21 (Pages 185 - 196) Cabinet Member - 
Finance and 
Change

8 Leading the response to the Climate Emergency: 
Gloucestershire Climate Change Strategy Annual Report & 
action plan, 2021/02 – 2026/27 (Pages 197 - 246)

Cabinet Member - 
Environment and 
Planning

9 Adult Social Care OCC Systems Contract (Direct Award) 
(Pages 247 - 256)

Cabinet Member - 
Adult Social Care 
Commissioning, 



16 December 2020

Cabinet Member - 
Adult Social Care 
Delivery

10 Establishment and Construction of a new 3FE (630 place) 
Primary School in Bishop’s Cleeve (Pages 257 - 266)

Cabinet Member - 
Economy, 
Education and 
Skills

11 The procurement of highway services and construction phase 
works in connection with the delivery of A435 Charlton Hill 
Geotechnical Stabilisation Scheme (Pages 267 - 274)

Cabinet Member - 
Highways and 
Flood

12 Provision of Independent Fostering Services 2021 - 2022 
(Pages 275 - 286)

Deputy Leader 
and Cabinet 
Member - 
Children's 
Safeguarding and 
Early Years

Cabinet
Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE, Cllr Richard Boyles, Cllr Carole Allaway Martin, 
Cllr Tim Harman, Cllr Patrick Molyneux, Cllr Nigel Moor, Cllr David Norman MBE, 
Cllr Vernon Smith, Cllr Lynden Stowe and Cllr Kathy Williams

NOTES
1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to 

make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Director of Policy, Performance and 
Governance ( 01452 328506 e-mail: rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the 
meeting.

2. INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or reports 
relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the meeting, please 
contact: Stephen Bace, Lead Democratic Services Adviser :01452 324204/e-mail: 
stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk

3. DEFINITION OF A KEY DECISION - A ‘Key Decision’ is one that is, if implemented, is likely to
 Result in significant additional expenditure or savings to the value of £500,000 or more, or
 Be significant in terms of its effect on communities in two or more electoral divisions.

4.

5. 

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS - Members are required to sign the attendance list.

PHOTOGRAPHY, FILMING AND AUDIO RECORDING OF COUNCIL MEETINGS is permitted 

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk


16 December 2020

subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions. Please contact Democratic 
Services (01452 324202) to make the necessary arrangements ahead of the meeting. If you are 
a member of the public and do not wish to be photographed or filmed please inform the 
Democratic Services Officer on duty at the meeting.  

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please 
leave as directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point located outside the 
main entrance to Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further 
instructions.



CABINET

11 November 2020

Gloucestershire
County
Council

Minutes

PRESENT

Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE             Leader of Council
Cllr Richard Boyles                        Deputy Leader/ Children’s Safeguarding & Early Years
Cllr Carole Allaway Martin             Adult Social Care (Commissioning)
Cllr Tim Harman                            Public Health and Communities
Cllr Patrick Molyneux                     Economy, Education and Skills
Cllr Nigel Moor                               Environment and Planning
Cllr David Norman MBE                 Public Protection, Parking and Libraries
Cllr Vernon Smith                           Highways
Cllr Lynden Stowe                          Finance and Change
Cllr Kathy Williams                         Adult Social Care (Delivery)

1. Apologies 

Mandy Quayle

2. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting on 14 October 2020 were agreed as a correct record at 
the meeting.

3. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were made at the meeting.

4. Questions at Cabinet Meetings 

A total of 17 member questions were submitted for consideration in advance of the 
meeting.

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 1 -

No public questions were submitted.

The following supplementary questions were asked at the meeting.

Question 1: Cllr Iain Dobie

Agenda Item 6: Children and Families Capital Programme Update

Cllr Dobie outlined his support for the new school at Warden Hill but expressed 
concern with the apparent lack of communication with councillors, residents and 
parents. He asked if the Cabinet Member regretted withholding information until 
now?

Cllr Patrick Molyneux replied that he didn’t feel information had been withheld and 
he emphasised the hard work carried out in this area.

Question 2: Cllr Iain Dobie

Agenda Item 6: Children and Families Capital Programme Update

Cllr Dobie asked whether the target was for the new primary school in Warden Hill 
to open in September 2022.

Cllr Patrick Molyneux stated that a school took approximately 2 to 2.5 years to build 
but it would be delivered as fast as possible. He noted the impact of Covid-19 and 
potential disruption caused by the pandemic.

Question 3: Cllr Iain Dobie

Agenda Item 6: Children and Families Capital Programme Update

Cllr Dobie asked whether local representatives would involved in a public view of 
the school.

Cllr Patrick Molyneux replied that the Council would work with the school to see 
what was the best approach in how to engage with the local area.

Question 4: Cllr Iain Dobie

Agenda Item 6: Children and Families Capital Programme Update

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

Cllr Dobie asked whether there was a clear commitment to offset all CO2 emissions 
from construction of the new school and for it to be zero carbon once built.

Cllr Patrick Molyneux stated that the Council was committed to trying to achieve 
that.

Question 5: Cllr Iain Dobie

Agenda Item 6: Children and Families Capital Programme Update

Cllr Dobie asked whether the Cabinet Member would commit to funding living green 
walls for the new school as proposed in the School Street motion to full Council in 
June.

Cllr Patrick Molyneux replied that the Council would try and do everything it could to 
be zero carbon and that would include green walls if appropriate.

Question 6: Cllr Colin Hay

Agenda Item 6: Children and Families Capital Programme Update

Cllr Hay referred to school capacity pressures in Bishops Cleeve and asked 
whether existing school sites would be taken into account when choosing a new 
site for a school. He emphasised the importance of not being in a situation where 
parents felt the need to drive their children to school.

Cllr Patrick Molyneux explained that pupil numbers coming through the system 
were taken into account. Work was underway to ensure the best provision in place 
and to resolve any issues around the site. He was hopeful something would be 
announced shortly.

Question 7: Cllr Colin Hay

Agenda Item 6: Children and Families Capital Programme Update

Cllr Hay asked the Cabinet Member to be clear around commitments for the school 
to be zero carbon, in relation not just to its running but also in the way it would be 
built.

Cllr Patrick Molyneux replied that the Council would be as ambitious as it could be 
in terms of this and would look at the issues expressed by the member.

Question 8: Cllr Paul Hodgkinson

Agenda Item 7: Financial Monitoring Report

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

Cllr Hodgkinson asked what was currently projected to be the council’s overspend 
at the end of the year including what was being spent on the second wave of the 
covid-19 pandemic.

Cllr Lynden Stowe explained that the impact on the Council’s finances was outlined 
within the financial monitoring report. He stated that it appeared that the Council 
was being adequately funded for the measures it was taking.

Question 9: Cllr Paul Hodgkinson

Agenda Item 7: Financial Monitoring Report

Cllr Hodgkinson asked whether the Cabinet had ‘missed the boat’ in terms of 
encouraging the public to consider other transport options during the Covid-19 
pandemic. He referred to the wait to the second tranche of Emergency Active 
Travel Fund money.

Cllr Lynden Stowe replied that he shared the member’s frustrations on carbon 
emissions from cars and wished to see the encouragement of healthy active travel. 
He stated that Cllr Moor had put an enormous amount of work into it and he would 
be best placed to provide further detail.

Question 11: Cllr Paul Hodgkinson

Agenda Item 7: Financial Monitoring Report

Cllr Hodgkinson noted the spend on the ash dieback scheme. He asked that given 
that those trees had been cut down could it be confirmed that, of the 1 million 
commitment to plant 1 million trees given 11 months previous,  the Council was 
down a net 2,200 trees.
 
Cllr Lynden Stowe replied that Cllr Moor could update the member on the scheme 
to plant 35 million trees but that this was an important ten-year plan.

Question 13 Cllr Iain Dobie

Agenda Item 7: Financial Monitoring Report

Cllr Dobie referred to recent restrictions on visits to care homes and outlined the 
new Covid-19 safe visiting areas encouraged by government. He asked if additional 
funding would be provided to care homes to help them deliver this.

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

Cllr Lynden Stowe replied that budgets were devolved down to care homes for 
them to make their own decisions on how best to use the funding in relation to 
Covid-19. A more detailed response would be provided by the relevant Cabinet 
Member.

Question 14 Cllr Iain Dobie

Agenda Item 7: Financial Monitoring Report

Cllr Dobie asked whether the Council would commit to providing test kits to care 
homes so that not only resident and staff but also key visitors could be tested.

Cllr Lynden Stowe replied that he understood the member’s concerns and 
frustrations and that a more detailed response would be provided by the relevant 
cabinet member.

Question 16: Cllr Colin Hay

Agenda Item 7: Financial Monitoring Report

Cllr Hay asked whether the continued overspending in the Children and Families 
budget over the previous three and a half years represented poor financial 
planning. He asked when the Council could expect a children’s services budget that 
could cope with the growth in demand?

Cllr Lynden Stowe replied that the budget was set to reflect potential demands and 
was as accurate as possible, but it was difficult to predict the number of children 
who would come into care in a twelve month period or to predict the costs around 
external placements. He explained that due to prudent financial control across the 
whole Council, in year issues were able to be managed.
 

Question 17 Cllr Colin Hay

Agenda Item 7: Financial Monitoring Report

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

Cllr Hay asked that given the overspends in the Children’s budget over a number of 
years did the Cabinet Member agree that the budgets had been woefully 
underfunded in this area when the Council had been put in special measures on 
this issue?

Cllr Lynden Stowe replied that he did not agree with this and stated that the 
Council’s ability to manage in year issues and reflect that in future years’ budget 
was proven. He emphasised that no budget could be a bottomless pit and that 
budgeting was robust. He looked forward to scrutiny input into the future year’s 
budget and asked members to provide the challenge they deemed necessary.

5. Gloucestershire Youth Offending Service:: Response to Covid 19 - Recovery 
Plan 2020/21 

Cllr Richard Boyles, Deputy Leader/ Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years, 
sought Cabinet’s approval to recommend that the County Council approve 
Gloucestershire’s Youth Offending Service Recovery Plan detailed within the report 
and appendix.

It was explained that there was a statutory requirement for localities to bring forward 
an annual Youth Justice Plan for their area.  As part of the national response to 
Covid, the Youth Justice Board (YJB) had relaxed this requirement for 2020/21.  In 
its place the YJB had required each Youth Offending Service to complete a 
Recovery Plan, setting out how localities will transition from a response to recovery 
at the point health risks are declared negligible.  

The Gloucestershire Youth Justice Service Recovery Plan provided an overview of 
how the service had responded to Covid, including any lessons learned and how 
those may be incorporated within future provision.  He outlined that there had been 
extensive collaborative working with all the statutory agencies as well as non-
statutory bodies. 

As the Youth Justice Plan formed part of the Council’s policy framework, it was 
required to be approved by Council, following its consideration by Cabinet.  

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report and,

RESOLVED to: -

Recommend that County Council approve Gloucestershire’s Youth Offending 
Service Recovery Plan attached at Appendix 1 of the report.

6. Children and Families Capital Programme Update 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

Cllr Patrick Molyneux, Cabinet Member for Economy, Education and Skills, sought 
Cabinet’s approval for the changes to the previously approved Children and 
Families Capital Programme 2020/21.

It was explained that full Council had approved the Children and Families Capital 
Programme for 2020/21 on 12 February 2020. The schemes represented part of the 
ongoing commitment to investing £100 million into new schools, improving buildings 
and expanding facilities at schools across Gloucestershire to ensure all children 
and young people benefitted from high quality and appropriate education.

The Council was committed to ensuring the right provision and facilities were 
available for all children and young people including those with Special Educational 
Needs and Disabilities. He referenced the £2.25m in the report to approve the 
scheme for a new SEMH school. 

The additional condition capital funding for the scheme for Warden Hill Primary 
School would enable the Council to replace the tired, poor quality provision with up 
to date, sustainable and efficient accommodation and provide fit for purpose high 
quality facilities for years to come.   

There had been some Section 106 Developer Contributions received from housing 
developments, which would be used towards specific expansion schemes. 

The application seeking a Judicial Review of the planning application for the new 
High School in Leckhampton had been considered by the courts and been rejected. 
The Council had received confirmation that the claimant had made an application to 
challenge the refusal. A date for the oral hearing had been confirmed by the court 
for 15 December 2020. The Council’s position would be robustly defended and it 
was hoped that the matter would  be successfully concluded at the hearing. 

He explained that there had been some Covid-19 impact on some of the 
programmes but the teams were working hard to mitigate the long-term impact.

Members discussed the importance of quality, fit for purpose facilities for education 
and emphasised how the report emphasised that commitment with the investment 
being put in place. Of the £100m investment into the programme around £40m was 
earmarked for Cheltenham development.  The Cabinet Member thanked the 
officers for helping to bring this work together. 

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report and,

RESOLVED to: -

Approve the changes to the Children & Families Capital Programme as
set out in the report:

1. An addition of £2.250 million to the approved scheme for the new
SEMH School, funded from the approved Basic Need Provision.

2. An addition of £1.000 million to the approved scheme for Warden Hill
Primary School, funded from the approved School’s Condition

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

Allocation.

3. An addition of £0.146 million developer S106 contribution for The John
Moore Primary to replace allocated basic need funding.

4. An addition of £0.107 million developer S106 contribution for
Winchcombe Secondary School to replace allocated basic need
funding.

5. An addition of £0.147 million developer S106 contribution for Severn
Vale School to replace allocated basic need funding.
6. An addition of £0.024 million developer S106 contribution for Rednock
School.

7. An addition of £0.152 million developer S106 contribution for Christ
Church C of E Primary School, Cheltenham.

8. An addition of £0.152 million developer S106 contribution for
Gloucester Road Primary School.

9. An addition of £0.100 million developer S106 contribution for Farmors
School.

10. An addition of £0.022 million developer S106 contribution for
Cirencester Kingshill School.

11. An addition of £2.139 million School Condition Grant Allocation for
2020/21 to the Children and Families Capital Programme.

7. Financial Monitoring Report (Nov 2020) 

Cabinet Member for Finance and Change, Cllr Lynden Stowe, gave an update on
the year-end forecasts for the County Council’s Revenue and Capital Budgets
2020/21.

The forecast excluding Covid-19 expenditure was a £4.115 million overspend – this 
was largely due to a £7.422 million overspend in Children and Families which was 
partially offset by £3.056 million underspend in Technical & Countywide budgets. 
The overspend in Children and Families reflected the continuing pressure on 
external placements and home to school transport.  

The forecast cost of responding to the Covid-19 pandemic was £34.959 million, 
which exceeded the emergency grant allocation received of £31.425 million. A 
claim for lost income in the first 4 months of the financial year had now been 
submitted under the income reimbursement scheme for income lost as a direct 
result of COVID restrictions.

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

For Capital, the forecast year end position is £126.838 million – this was giving in year 
forecast slippage of £3.036 million. In total an additional £249.193 million increase in the 
capital programme and associated funding was recommended for approval in the report.

Cabinet members thanked the Finance Team for their hard work in maintaining the 
financial position during a difficult year.

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report and,

RESOLVED to :-

1. Note the forecast revenue year end position based on actual expenditure as at 
the end of August 2020 and September 2020 (Period 6) forecasts for the 2020/21 
financial year including Covid-19 forecast is an overspend of £7.649 million. The 
forecast excluding Covid-19 is an overspend £4.115 million.

2. Note the forecast capital year end position as at the end of August 2020 of 
£126.838 million against the current budget of £129.874 million.

3. Approve the £249.193 million increase to the capital programme as outlined in 
Section B of the report and approves the re-profiling of current year budgets to 
reflect the current forecast.

4. Approve the transfer of £700k from Corporate Insurance Reserves to a new Ash 
Die Back Reserve.

Leader of Council

Meeting concluded at 10: 40

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



SINGLE-USE PLASTIC (SUP) TASK GROUP REPORT 

November 2020 

1. INTRODUCTION 

 

1.1. In March 2018, a motion was unanimously carried at Gloucestershire County 

Council’s (GCC) full Council as follows: 

 

This Council therefore resolves to: 

 Eliminate all SUP within County Council managed buildings and facilities by 

2020, and seek to encourage the elimination of SUP within its supply chain by 

2025.  

 Asks the Gloucestershire Joint Waste Partnership to consider how they could 

promote the reduction of SUP across the county and to highlight areas of further 

lobbying to central government by both collection and waste disposal authorities. 

 

1.2. In February 2019, following a member question at full Council from Cllr Eva Ward, 

the Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning expressed support for a task 

group to be establishment to examine all options to become a ‘single-use plastic-

free’ Council and reduce SUP use in the County. 

 

1.3. Following this, in July 2019, Environment Scrutiny Committee approved a one page 

strategy request from Cllrs Eva Ward and Andrew Miller to establish a task group. 

The ambitions for the task group review were as follows: 

 

 To understand the current progress towards the elimination of SUPs within 

County Council managed buildings and facilities, including any promotional 

campaigns. 

 To understand the technical impact of different plastics on the environment. 

 To explore SUP initiatives at other county councils. 

 To work with and learn from local district councils on their SUP initiatives. 

 To understand how to effectively engage and enable Council partners, schools 

and the public to reduce their use of SUPs, taking account of projects run by 

‘Surfers Against Sewage’: https://www.sas.org.uk/about-us/ 

 

(Copy of the full one page strategy at Annex 1) 

 

1.4. The group’s work was suspended from March – September 2020 due to the impacts 

of the Covid-19 pandemic. On resuming their work, the group were keen to 

acknowledge the impacts that have resulted from the pandemic on the UK’s move 

towards eliminating SUPs, mainly due to the necessity of using disposal items to 

avoid spreading the virus.  

 

1.5. The Government has released some social media campaigns focused on not 

littering PPE and avoiding putting it in recycling streams, and GCC have relayed 

those messages locally.  

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 5

https://www.sas.org.uk/about-us/


1.6. In addition, the majority of the group’s research was concluded before the pandemic 

and due to the suspension in activity for 6 months, the report content should 

therefore be read as up to date pre-March 2020. The group acknowledge some 

areas of work may now have progressed or experienced unforeseen delays, and this 

will be reflected in the final recommendations. 

 

1.7. Membership 

 

Councillors Eva Ward, Andrew Miller, Lesley Williams, Suzanne Williams, Loraine 

Patrick and Carole Allaway-Martin. 

 

Councillor Eva Ward was appointed as chair. 

 

To note: Cllr Carole Allaway-Martin had to leave the task group membership in 

January due to an appointment to the Council’s Cabinet. The Constitution for GCC 

states that executive members cannot be members of scrutiny task groups. 

 

1.8. Meetings 

 

1.8.1. The group first met on 12 September 2019 where they discussed an outline of 

the areas they would like to address. It was noted that the issue of single-use 

plastics was one that spanned across many areas of the Council’s 

responsibility and services. There was no one policy or one department that 

were responsible. 

1.8.2. It was agreed therefore that each meeting would focus on one area of 

research, followed by an ongoing update on actions and conclusions from 

Democratic Services, and research tasks via email. Members confirmed the 

following list of research areas: 

 

 District councils 

 Other county councils 

 Central Government 

 Procurement 

 Joint Waste Management 

 Schools 

 Asset Management & Property Services (to include catering, cleaning, 

facilities, rural and contracts for building) 

 Communications 

 GCC staff lunch habits 

 

1.9. Overall conclusion 

 

1.9.1. Whilst the group’s research, discussions and final recommendations are 

outlined in detail below, as an overall comment, the group were keen to 

highlight the following points: 

 Members were very impressed by the level of work and commitment 

shown in officers and teams at GCC in working towards reducing the use 

of SUP across the Council. 

Page 12



 There was some incredible work already happening and things had really 

moved forward since the motion was initially tabled back in March 2018 

and therefore, the recommendations that follow at the end of this report 

aim to continue the good work. 

 In particular the group wanted to pay thanks to the hard work, 

commitment and enthusiasm of the Asset Management and Property 

team who had worked on the initiatives detailed in section 2.5 of this 

report. 

 

2. RESEARCH AND DISCUSSION 

The group’s research took different forms depending on the topic area. Some areas were 

addressed by having face to face (or later virtual) meetings with relevant officers, and 

some research was done online/via email and fed back at the next meeting. 

2.1. Central Government – background information 

 

2.1.1. In December 2018, the Government published a Resources and Waste 

Strategy for England, which outlined how the government will work towards 

the ambitions of doubling resource productivity and zero avoidable waste by 

2050, maximise the value we extract from our resources, and minimise waste 

and the associated negative environmental impacts. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/resources-and-waste-strategy-

for-england 

2.1.2. As part of the Resources and Waste Strategy, Defra launched three 

consultations on 18 February 2019: 

 Introducing a Deposit Return Scheme for drinks containers (DRS) in 

England, Wales and Northern Ireland;  

 Consistency in Household and Business Recycling Collections in England 

(to tackle confusion over household recycling); 

 Reforming the UK packaging producer responsibility system, ensuring that 

producers pay the full net costs of collecting and managing packaging 

waste. 

2.1.3. At the same time Her Majesty’s Treasury (HMT) published the Plastic 

Packaging Tax consultation, aimed at introducing a new world-leading tax on 

the production and import of plastic packaging with less than 30% recycled 

content, helping to incentivise the production of more sustainable plastic 

packaging and increase the use of recycled plastic. 

2.1.4. Defra also launched the consultation on Introducing a DRS in England, in 

conjunction with the devolved administration in Wales and the Department of 

Agriculture, Environment and Rural Affairs (DAERA) in Northern Ireland. The 

aim of a DRS would be to reduce the amount of littering, boost recycling 

levels for relevant material, offer the enhanced possibility to collect high 

quality materials in greater quantities and promote recycling through clear 

labelling and consumer messaging. Additionally, introducing a DRS could help 

incentivise moves to push more material up the waste hierarchy and move 

towards a more circular economy. 

2.1.5. For further details on all the consultations please go to the following link: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/introducing-a-deposit-return-

Page 13

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/resources-and-waste-strategy-for-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/resources-and-waste-strategy-for-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/introducing-a-deposit-return-scheme-drs-for-drinks-containers-bottles-and-cans/outcome/introducing-a-deposit-return-scheme-drs-in-england-wales-and-northern-ireland-executive-summary-and-next-steps


scheme-drs-for-drinks-containers-bottles-and-cans/outcome/introducing-a-

deposit-return-scheme-drs-in-england-wales-and-northern-ireland-executive-

summary-and-next-steps 

 

2.2. Other councils 

 

2.2.1. One of the group’s main objectives was to work with and learn from existing 

policies and practices at other councils. The group agreed to contact all six 

Gloucestershire district councils and other UK county councils, to understand 

if there were any existing initiatives that GCC could learn from. 

2.2.2. The group reviewed the responses and made recommendations as 

appropriate (see recommendation 4). 

 

2.3. Joint Waste Management 

 

2.3.1. The group’s first meeting was with the Joint Waste Management team to 

receive a presentation on existing SUP reduction initiatives supported by the 

team within the county. 

2.3.2. Members noted the Gloucestershire Recycles webpage which was available 

and regularly updated with all recycling information for the county: 

https://www.gloucestershirerecycles.com/ 

2.3.3. It was acknowledged that there had been a lot of action coming forward from 

local communities for help and advice on SUP initiatives. The team had seen 

a very steep rise in people’s awareness of this issue recently. 

2.3.4. The team support as many of these groups/projects as resources allow, they 

will remain involved with the project to support their development and hope to 

produce working models going forward that can be replicated and shared 

across the county. 

2.3.5. It was appreciated however, that a lot of these project rely on the dedication of 

a critical local mass of volunteers to be successful. There was only so much 

GCC could offer and resource to support the projects. 

2.3.6. There were currently four projects in Gloucestershire being supported by 

GCC. 

2.3.7. Plastic Free Coleford  

 (https://www.recycleforgloucestershire.com/reduce-your-waste/plastic-

free-communities/)  

 A partnership between Coleford Town Council, Forest of Dean District 

Council and Gloucestershire County Council to support businesses and 

residents to become a plastic free town.  

 The detailed plan included actions such as seeking support from local 

supermarkets, using reusable cups for events such as Coleford Music 

Festival and getting school children involved in a lunchbox challenge. 

2.3.8. Stow on the Wold Terracycle Project  

 https://www.terracycle.com/en-GB 

 The project followed the company Terracycle and recycled SUP within the 

North Cotswold's, such as crisp packets and Bread bags.  

 With GCC’s help they have set up public collections using yellow bins at 

local pubs, cafes and schools. At the date of this meeting, the project had 

Page 14

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/introducing-a-deposit-return-scheme-drs-for-drinks-containers-bottles-and-cans/outcome/introducing-a-deposit-return-scheme-drs-in-england-wales-and-northern-ireland-executive-summary-and-next-steps
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/introducing-a-deposit-return-scheme-drs-for-drinks-containers-bottles-and-cans/outcome/introducing-a-deposit-return-scheme-drs-in-england-wales-and-northern-ireland-executive-summary-and-next-steps
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/introducing-a-deposit-return-scheme-drs-for-drinks-containers-bottles-and-cans/outcome/introducing-a-deposit-return-scheme-drs-in-england-wales-and-northern-ireland-executive-summary-and-next-steps
https://www.gloucestershirerecycles.com/
https://www.recycleforgloucestershire.com/reduce-your-waste/plastic-free-communities/
https://www.recycleforgloucestershire.com/reduce-your-waste/plastic-free-communities/
https://www.terracycle.com/en-GB


raised £32.36 in its first few shipments of crisp packets. To date 

(November 2020) they had now raised over £300, by sending off items 

such as toothpaste tubes and toothbrushes, bread bags and crisp 

packets. 

2.3.9. Greening Tetbury  

 www.greeningtetbury.org 

 This project was still in its infancy and developing its initial plan. 

2.3.10. Gloucestershire Real Nappy Project 

 https://www.gloucestershirerecycles.com/reduce-your-waste/real-

reusable-nappies/ 

 There are two outreach workers who offer help and advice on choosing 

and buying real nappies.  

 Discount vouchers were available, special offer packs, loan kits and talks 

are offered to residents of Gloucestershire.  

 Every day Gloucestershire residents throw away over 86,000 disposable 

nappies. 

 190 vouchers in the last quarter which would be estimated at 15% of new 

born in the County in that period. 

 The project had its most successful months in March and April 2020 due 

to shortages experienced during the first stages of the pandemic and had 

well exceeded the voucher target for the rest of the year. 

 

2.3.11. Discussion points to note 

 There needed to be better awareness and understanding of what 

residents can put in their kerbside recycling. The group appreciated it 

could be very confusing, especially with differences between the districts. 

 Last summer GCC produced ‘Waste free Wednesday’ tips that included 

social media posts going out on Wednesdays (#wastefreewednesday). 

The group would like to see more of this in relation to SUPs materials (see 

recommendation 6). 

 Charities were recognised as a good link to recycling initiatives for 

example, the Butterfly Garden in Cheltenham recycles plastic plant pots. 

 The group also noted the importance of understanding the technical 

impacts of different plastics on the environment, concluding that this may 

help raise awareness of the need to avoid certain types (see 

recommendation 1). 

 

2.4. Procurement  

 

2.4.1. At their meeting in November, the group met with officers from GCC’s 

Procurement team to receive information on any existing or future 

procurement policy that worked towards reducing the use of single-use 

plastics in the Council’s supply chain. 

2.4.2. The following points were noted by the group: 

 The procurement team work with commissioners in the Council needing to 

procure ‘Type A’ requirements (and advise on ‘Type B-D’ requirements) 

and could therefore signpost commissioners to the Council’s sustainability 

policies for them to incorporate appropriate measures into individual 

Page 15

http://www.greeningtetbury.org/
https://www.gloucestershirerecycles.com/reduce-your-waste/real-reusable-nappies/
https://www.gloucestershirerecycles.com/reduce-your-waste/real-reusable-nappies/


procurement processes. It was highlighted however that commissioners 

would need the support of subject matter experts with the relevant 

knowledge and expertise from within the Council to do so. 

 It was understood there was a level of SUP use in the supply chain, 

predominantly from packaging e.g. plastic wrap and polystyrene, but there 

was no clear understanding at this point of the level.  

 The best and usual way to address the issue would be for the Council to 

create a baseline of information, for the Council to understand the volume 

of SUP use in its supply chain currently; this would then help officers 

understand how much change was needed.  

 This could be done by carrying out an audit of SUP use and then repeated 

on a 2 yearly basis to understand the progress made as demonstrated by 

measurable results. It was advised however that the funding for a project 

of this nature would have to be sought. 

 At the moment, the team were working on scoping a Procurement Toolkit 

to address (amongst others) the issue of incorporating sustainability 

choices within the procurement process. The Toolkit would aim to be a 

‘one stop shop’ for ‘Type A-D’ requirements purchased by the Council.  

 Going forward, the Procurement team would be willing to input from a 

procurement perspective along with the relevant officers on creating 

sustainability considerations/policy, and were seeking to have the Toolkit 

started by Spring/Summer 2020. 

2.4.3. From the update, the following points were made in discussions: 

 It was noted that there could be an added consideration of capital 

availability to invest when making sustainable changes, for example an 

alternative product may be more expensive initially but there may then be 

saving in the long term.  

 It would be useful to develop a section in the planning stage of the 

procurement process for ‘Type A-D’ on sustainability, with particular 

reference to the ‘whole life cost’ of a product/service and agree upfront 

the mechanisms for measurement and reporting as part of the contract 

management process. 

 GCC as a local authority should be setting an example on this to the 

suppliers it uses, but in turn there would also need to be clear and 

proportionate measures conveyed to suppliers in tender documents and 

when submitting quotes to drive the right behaviours and produce 

evidenced results. The requirements in the Social Value Act 2012 and the 

Public Contracts Regulations 2015 with regards to relevance and 

proportionality in particular needed to be adhered to (for each 

procurement). 

 There needed to be consequences for non-action on sustainability issues 

built into contact terms and it would be useful to have something like 

awards to recognise good performance, e.g. ‘green supplier of the year’. 

2.4.4. The group requested an update on the progress when it recommenced in 

September 2020. Members noted that the procurement toolkit had been 

approved to re-start as part of a wider and long term three phase procurement 

transformation plan. The Procurement Team are currently awaiting input from 

Page 16



lead officers to work on sustainability considerations/policy to link to/add to the 

Toolkit (see recommendation 4). 

 

2.5. Asset Management & Property Services 

 

2.5.1. The group recognised early on that a large area of potential SUP use within 

the Council’s buildings would be via catering and cleaning. 

2.5.2. The Asset Management and Property Services team cover a range of 

services for the Council and gave an update on the efforts to reduce the use 

of SUPs in the following areas.  

2.5.3. Catering: 

 There was now no SUP used within Shire Hall cafes. 

 Where plastic use is unavoidable e.g. yogurt pots – these were now all 

made from bioplastics (plastic materials produced from renewable 

biomass sources such as vegetable oil) and biodegradable. 

 All vending machines and SUP cups had been removed. 

 Coffee cups were now a compostable alternative and there was a price 

incentive for people using their own reusable coffee cups. 

 Within GCC’s maintained schools food was no longer served in SUP 

contains, nor was Clingfilm used. 

2.5.4. Cleaning: 

 50% of current cleaning chemicals were now bulk bought and then 

decanted into smaller reusable bottles across Shire Hall and the schools 

estate. 

 NB: It was highlighted that for academies, the local authority had no 

control over what contracts they entered into (and thus their SUP use) but 

do offer them to sign up to GCC’s. 

 A trial started in January (2020) on using premeasured sachets from Glen 

Cleaning which dissolved in big water containers and then decanted into 

the smaller bottles. All packaging for the sachets was also 100% 

recyclable. This would address 75% of all cleaning products used by GCC 

and to date the feedback has been positive. 

2.5.5. Rural 

 It was explained that GCC was a freeholder owner of a rural estate that 

was leased out to farm tenants. The tenants determine the day to day 

operations on the farm which GCC were not actively involved in (and it 

would inappropriate for them to be). 

 Members were reassured that waste regulations and environmental 

considerations play a big part in the day to day practice of farms and the 

agriculture industry was active in doing its part. 

 There are two types of plastics posing issues for the agriculture 

community: 

Macro Plastics: large plastic particles that can be seen e.g. feed bags, 

plastic wrap on materials etc. It was quite common for these plastics to be 

removed and replaced with environmental-friendly alternatives. It was 

worth noting that some of these plastics were unavoidable e.g. worming 

tubes, latex gloves, syringes etc. some of these have to be transferred as 

hazardous waste also. 

Page 17



Micro Plastics: very small pieces of plastic that pollute the environment. 

These plastics can rarely be seen but for farmers they were polluting soil 

where crops were being grown. It was a very complex issue that the 

industry was aware of. 

 It was advised that as the freeholder owner, GCC can actively influence 

where appropriate by pointing tenants towards literature and bringing 

issues to their attention. 

2.5.6. Restructuring frame works and supply 

 Every construction site had a waste management plan 

 Kier (one of GCC’s contractors) used ‘smart waste’ where all waste was 

segregated on site into various different skips and sent off to the relevant 

recycling schemes. This was all logged on a system. 

 In addition, there was a strong message about contactors working with 

their supply chains as well. As the client, GCC had made its requirements 

on waste/packaging clear. This then enabled contractors to reinforce 

these principles on their suppliers, e.g. if ordering a pallet of bricks, it 

would not accept orders wrapped in plastic. 

2.5.7. Recycling facilities 

 Recycling facilities available in Shire Hall were currently being increased 

to improve availability across the building in kitchens. 

 There was a proposal that was being explored of removing all office waste 

paper bins to encourage staff to take rubbish to the kitchen and recycle as 

appropriate. 

 There will also be a number printed on the bins for staff to call if they 

needed emptying, to avoid people being discouraged if their recycling was 

full. 

 On questioning, it was confirmed that there will be a communications 

strategy to accompany these changes for all staff to highlight the reason 

and importance. 

 Members noted the number of individual staff’s recycling initiatives across 

the Council e.g. milk top collections. 

2.5.8. Additional points 

 During the Shire Hall refurbishments, all old desks were upcycled and no 

new desks were purchased 

 All the new aluminium window frames are 100% recycled 

 The Quayside development was being built on its original foundations 

 All the above had been part of a 2 year action plan at Shire Hall (see 

recommendation 5). 

 

2.6. GCC staff lunch habits 

 

2.6.1. In order to understand the impact of staff lunch on GCC’s SUP usage, the 

group agreed to work with the Communications team on producing a staff 

survey. 

2.6.2. As previously mentioned, the group’s research was postponed for 6 months 

due to the onset of the pandemic, and this survey had not been ready to send 

before all staff were asked to work from home. 

Page 18



2.6.3. It was therefore agreed that due to the staff communications focusing on the 

council’s response to the pandemic and the health and wellbeing of staff, this 

would not be a sensible time to send the survey out. It was also appreciated 

that it would not have the same response as staff were working from home 

and therefore not following the same lunch habit as to when they were in their 

GCC workplaces. 

2.6.4. This piece of research has been postponed. 

 

2.7. Schools 

 

2.7.1. During the group’s meeting with the Asset Management & Property Services 

team, it was noted how much progress had been made towards reducing the 

use of SUP in school canteens and cleaning contracts. 

2.7.2. It was acknowledged however that this was only in respect of the county’s 

local authority maintained schools. 

2.7.3. The group were keen to ensure all schools in the county were aware of GCC’s 

SUP initiatives, as well as the education materials they had reviewed during 

their research on both the Gloucestershire Recycles and Surfers Against 

Sewage websites (see recommendation 2 & 7). 

 

2.8. Communications 

 

2.8.1. Having noted early on the importance of sharing messaging and educative 

tips for not only SUP use but recycling as a whole, the group’s final meeting 

wanted to focus on the communications aspect of the Joint Waste work 

stream (see recommendation 6 & 7). 

2.8.2. It was noted that due to the pandemic, the original Communications plan had 

been disrupted. The team were now focusing on working with an external 

organisation for a more detailed plan and getting the new Waste Partnership 

up and running.  

2.8.3. The team now had a number of campaigns scheduled including: 

 The ‘Make the Most Of’ campaign. This will focus around the end of the 

year (particularly around Christmas waste) and share advice on making 

the most of what was already on offer in terms of Household Recycling 

Centres, charity shops and curb side recycling. 

 Beginning in March 2021, the ‘Be on Plastics’ campaign will be fully 

launched (the soft launch at the beginning of the year had been impacted 

by Covid-19), which was built on the existing WRAP campaign, sharing 

clear messaging around plastic packaging, what is compostable, what can 

be recycled etc. 

 

3. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

The Scrutiny Task Group on Single-use Plastics makes the following recommendations: 

 

1. To produce an accessible, but well informed ‘in house’ fact sheet on the impact of 

plastics on the environment, to be shared within the organisation, on all GCC’s 

recycling media platforms, as well as with new staff induction information 

(responsibility of Waste Management). 

Page 19



 

2. Write to all non-maintained schools in Gloucestershire highlighting the changes 

made to maintained schools use of SUP, and highlight education materials 

available on Gloucestershire Recycles (https://www.gloucestershirerecycles.com/) 

and Surfers Against Sewage (https://www.sas.org.uk/about-us/) (responsibility of 

Education). 

 

3. To provide regular updates to the Environment Scrutiny Committee (and other 

scrutiny committees where appropriate) on the progress of the Procurement Toolkit 

(responsibility of Procurement).  

 

4. Follow the example of another county council and add an information page on 

compostable packaging to the Gloucestershire Recycles website (responsibility of 

Waste Management). 

 

5. Produce a briefing to highlight all the good work already done towards reducing the 

Council’s use of SUP and share within the organisation and externally, as well as 

within new staff induction information (responsibility of Asset Management & 

Property Services). 

 

6. Schedule media messaging around key holidays throughout the year about the 

importance of reducing the use of SUP, particularly the group noted Halloween, 

Guy Fawkes and Christmas (responsibility of Waste Management and 

Communications). 

 

7. To explore setting up a competition for the best SUP reducing initiatives in the 

county, which should include GCC giving a recognition award to the best 

submissions. The competition should be offered to, but limited to, businesses and 

schools (responsibility of Waste Management and Communications). 

 

Cllr Eva Ward 

Cllr Andrew Miller 

Cllr Lesley Williams 

Cllr Suzanne Williams 

Cllr Loraine Patrick 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 20

https://www.gloucestershirerecycles.com/
https://www.sas.org.uk/about-us/


ANNEX 1 

SCRUTINY REVIEW – ONE PAGE STRATEGY 

 Broad topic area Environment/Waste 

 

Specific topic area Single-use plastics (SUPs) 

 

Ambitions for the 

review 

 

 

 

 

 

 To understand the current progress towards the elimination of SUPs 

within County Council managed buildings and facilities, including any 

promotional campaigns. 

 To understand the technical impact of different plastics on the 

environment. 

 To explore SUP initiatives at other county councils. 

 To work with and learn from local district councils on their SUP 

initiatives. 

 To understand how to effectively engage and enable Council partners, 

schools and the public to reduce their use of SUPs, taking account of 

projects run by ‘Surfers Against Sewage’: 

https://www.sas.org.uk/about-us/ 

How do we perform at 

the moment? 

 

 

 

 

 We have eliminated a significant amount of SUP from catering services 

contracts within Shire Hall, and the external school’s catering contract; 

 There is ongoing work with tenants on the rural estate, the wider 

farming community and major framework contractors in construction to 

reduce/eliminate the use of SUPs. 

 The Joint Waste Team has focused on reducing SUPs through 

promotional campaigns. 

Who and how should 

we consult? 

 Facilities and Joint Waste Management 

 Procurement 

 District councils 

And any other department at GCC that may become relevant through further 

research. 

Background information At a meeting of full Council in March 2018, a motion was unanimously 

carried to:  

 Eliminate all SUP within County Council managed buildings and 

facilities by 2020, and seek to encourage the elimination of SUP within 

its supply chain by 2025. 

 Ask the Gloucestershire Joint Waste Partnership to consider how they 

could promote the reduction of SUP across the county and to highlight 

areas of further lobbying to central government by both collection and 

waste disposal authorities. 

Support 

 

Sophie Benfield – Democratic Services 

How long will it take? 6 months from approval 

 

Outcomes To produce recommendations that enables the Council to: 

a) complete its initial commitment to eliminate all SUP within County 

Council managed buildings and facilities by 2020, and within its 

supply chain by 2025; and 

b) better promote the elimination of SUPs within the county as a whole. 

Page 21

https://www.sas.org.uk/about-us/


This page is intentionally left blank



1

COUNCIL STRATEGY & MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL 
STRATEGY – 2021/22 to 2023/24

Cabinet Meeting 16th  December 2020

Leader
Cabinet Member

Cllr Mark Hawthorne, Leader of Council
Cllr Lynden Stowe, Cabinet Member for Finance and Change

Key Decision Yes

Other Documents Council Strategy and Medium Term Financial Strategy 2020/21 – 2022/23
Council report: 12th February 2020

Council Strategy and Medium Term Financial Strategy 2017/18 – 2019/20

Main Consultees Public, Schools Forum, Partners, Business Representation, Members of the 
Council, Scrutiny Committees, Trade Unions, Staff.

Planned Dates December 2020 to January 2021

Divisional Councillor All Councillors

Officers Paul Blacker, Director of Finance (01452) 328999
paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
Jayne Fuller, Corporate Finance Manager (01452) 328926
jayne.fuller@gloucestershire.gov.uk
Steve Mawson, Executive Director of Corporate Resources (01452) 425557
Steve.mawson@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Purpose of Report To seek Cabinet’s approval for the draft budget for 2021/22, the MTFS 
covering the period 2021/22 to 2023/24 and the updated Council Strategy 
for consultation with the public and partners.

Recommendations Cabinet is asked to:

Approve for consultation and scrutiny the proposed detailed revenue and 
capital budget for 2021/22 (including Dedicated Schools Grant which will also 
be considered by the Schools Forum), the Medium Term Financial Strategy 
(MTFS) covering the period 2021/22 to 2023/24 and the updated Council 
Strategy.

Resource 
Implications

The report is concerned with the Council’s overall budget and the financial 
implications thereof.

Page 23

Agenda Item 6



2

1. Introduction

This draft Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) is presented as the basis for 
consultation and scrutiny, prior to presenting to Cabinet on 27th January 2021, and 
recommendation to County Council on 17th February 2021. It has been prepared using 
best estimates from available data following the recent Spending Review 
announcements.  If the provisional Finance Settlement is announced prior to 16th 
December an update will be provided to Cabinet. Until the provisional Finance 
Settlement is announced the draft budget for 2021/22 is subject to change – it is 
expected in the week commencing 14th December 2020.

The MTFS contains the proposed budget for 2021/22 including the general fund 
revenue budget, the capital programme and the Dedicated Schools Grant. The draft 
general fund revenue budget totals £480.458 million and is based on an overall increase 
of 4.75% on Council Tax (this includes 1.99% Council Tax increase plus a 2.76% Adult 
Social Care Levy), which is in accordance with the announcement in the 
Comprehensive Spending Review.  This proposed increase in the Levy is estimated to 
raise an additional £8.651 million for Adult Social Care services.

This proposed budget will result in a Band D Council Tax of £1,409.22 in 2021/22 
compared to £1,345.32 in 2020/21 – an increase of £63.90 per annum. 

A one year “roll over” type finance settlement has been confirmed for the next financial 
year by the 2020 Spending Review (SR20), however confirmation is still needed about 
the detailed funding allocations for GCC. More information will be made available in the 
provisional Finance Settlement due in mid December and the final Finance Settlement 
due in February 2021 – flexibility to amend the budget remains until the final Finance 
Settlement is confirmed.

The detailed MTFS is attached to this report.

2. The Council Strategy 2019-22:  Looking to the Future

The Council Strategy – ‘Looking to the Future’ - is the key high-level document that, 
along with the MTFS, sets the Council’s strategic policy direction. It was approved by 
the Council in February 2019 and sets out the Council’s vision, its ambitions for the 
county and its priorities for addressing the challenges and opportunities it faces. The 
Council Strategy has been updated and will be part of the proposed public consultation 
before being presented to Cabinet in January 2021 and to Council in February 2021 for 
approval and adoption.

The Council’s vision is to make the most of all that Gloucestershire has to offer, help 
improve the quality of life for every community, support businesses to be successful and 
make sure Gloucestershire is a place where people want to live, work and visit.

Page 24



3

3. 2021/22 Revenue Budget Summary 

A summary of this draft budget is provided in the following table.

Medium Term Financial Strategy – 2021/22 Budget – Overall Summary 

Budget Area Approved 
2020-21 
Budget 

Removal of 
2020-21 One Off 

Budget 
Adjustments

Agreed Budget 
Transfers 
between 

Service Areas

MTFS 2020/21 
Base Budget

Pay Inflation 
Costs

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

Proposed 
2021/22 
Budget

Cash 
Increase / 
Decrease 

Percentage 
Increase / 
Decrease

£'000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 %

Programme Budget Areas

Adults 150,490                            -   341 150,831 1,031 6,964 -3,713 155,113 4,282 2.84%

Vulnerable Children 100,694 -1,761 -698 98,235 1,131 5,631 -4 104,993 6,758 6.88%

Other Children Services 17,970                            -   339 18,309 281 2,400 -112 20,878 2,569 14.03%

Economy, Environment and 
Infrastructure 72,553 -4,505 2,660 70,708 453 4,523 -447 75,237 4,529 6.41%

Community Safety 19,519                            -                           -   19,519 374 129 -13 20,009 490
2.51%

Prevention & Wellbeing 34,387 -60 -61 34,266 45 1,123 -171 35,263 997 2.91%

Corporate Resources 35,066 -2,110 939 33,895 734 923 -961 34,591 696 2.05%

Technical & Countywide 37,504 498 -3,520 34,482 30 2,085 -2,223 34,374 -108 -0.31%

Total Budget 468,183 -7,938                         -   460,245 4,079 23,778 -7,644 480,458 20,213 4.39%

4. Forward Draft Plans for the Revenue Budget in 2022/23 and 2023/24

The Council’s revenue expenditure plans are set out in the MTFS for the three years 
covering the period 2021/22 to 2023/24. Detailed budget proposals are set out for 
2021/22, whilst only high level budgets, based on estimated funding levels, are included 
for future years. The overall budgets are £490.04 million for 2022/23 and £502.48 million 
for 2023/24 - these are forecast financial positions and will be updated as further 
information becomes available.

5. Dedicated Schools Grant

The illustrative 2021/22 DSG (before any changes for the updated census data that will 
be announced in December 2020) is shown below. 

As no information has been received yet about the 2021/22 Early Years block funding 
that block has been included above at its current 2020/21 level.

Page 25



4

6. Capital Programme

The capital programme provides investment in the county totaling £904.65 million.  The 
investment relates to Economy, Environment and Infrastructure (£572.78 million), 
Schools and facilities for children (£149.57 million), Corporate Resources (£143.04 
million) and Adults (£32.58 million).  

The capital programme contains £112.58 million of new investment on capital schemes, 
financed from grants, revenue contributions and capital financing budgets, as set out in 
the table below.

Funding for New Capital Investment

Priority schemes not supported by grants or contributions, which are detailed in Annex 
8b, have been included within the new programme on the basis that they can be funded 
from internal borrowing, thereby avoiding the need for new external borrowing. These 
new schemes recommended for approval amount to £75.92 million. The £4.00 million of 
internal borrowing, listed separately in the table above, is the future years’ element of the 
£16.00 million approved last year to invest in Highways structural maintenance.

Page 26



5

7. Consultation 

Following the publication of the budget proposals, a consultation will be launched 
between 18th December 2020 and 15th January 2021. Stakeholders will be asked to 
give us their views on our overall priorities, the proposed budget and any potential 
impact on service levels

This will take place with the following groups:

 All Gloucestershire residents,
 Key partners including Health, the Independent and Voluntary sectors and 

town and parish councils,
 Trade Unions and professional associations,
 Staff, via the usual communication channels,
 Gloucestershire businesses
 Schools, via the schools forum, open meetings and Head Teacher groups

The Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee have also agreed that they will carry 
out their budget scrutiny process in January 2021. The Scrutiny meeting has been 
arranged for 7th January 2021, and will include briefings from Directors and Cabinet 
Representatives.

Following this meeting the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will feed back their views 
to the Cabinet prior to the final budget being developed.

8. Risks

In preparing the budget the following risks have been taken into account:

 Account has been taken of current spending trends and, where known, additional 
unavoidable cost pressures have been built into the proposed 2021/22 budget. 
Current spending trends, especially the volatility of expenditure in Children and 
Families and the emergence of new cost pressures will continue to be monitored as 
the budget is developed. This may result in the need to reprioritise resources prior to 
the final budget being approved by Council in February 2021.

 Budget risks have been explicitly considered by all Directorates in preparing the 
budget and taken into account, particularly the funding constraints going forward.

 The level of reserves has been examined and will continue to be closely monitored 
during the period of this MTFS, in the context of protecting the Council from existing 
and future liabilities.

 Balancing the Council’s budget over this period of financial constraint requires a 
series of major challenges. Whilst robust programme management plans have been 
put into place to deliver these savings, as evidenced by performance over the last 
three years, there is inevitably some residual risk. It should be noted that the 
2021/22 saving target of £7.644 million is significantly lower than the savings target 
for 2020/21 of £10.545 million.

Page 27



6

 The highest risk areas continue to be demand led services, especially care for older 
and vulnerable people including Children in Care where demand is continuing to 
increase. Additional resources are being invested in these areas under the proposed 
2021/22 budget options.

 Provision has been made for pay awards, pension and national insurance increases, 
contractual inflationary pressures and the forecast impact of the National Living 
Wage.

 The reserves held are invested and the interest received supports the Council’s 
budget. 

 Consideration to the funding pressures within the DSG High Needs Block Funding 
has been made. Whilst the Council has a programme in place to resolve this issue 
and will benefit from additional funding in 2021/22 this issue will need to be closely 
monitored during 2021/22 and beyond.

The COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in significant financial pressures for the Council 
during 2020/21 however central government have provided additional funding and the 
latest forecast for 2020/21 is that the additional funding will be sufficient to cover the 
costs of responding to the pandemic. The financial impact in 2021/22 is uncertain 
however the assumption included in the draft MTFS is that additional central government 
funding announced in SR20 will be sufficient to cover additional costs in the new 
financial year.

9. Public Sector Equality Duty

A Due Regard Statement is being drafted and will be provided in January 2021 to 
include the evidence base about service users, workforce and the final budget 
proposals.

10. Next Steps

Following consultation the MTFS, Council Strategy and supporting policy documents will 
be considered by Cabinet on 27th January 2021 with the recommended MTFS budget 
and Council Strategy being considered by the County Council on 17th February 2021 for 
agreement.

11. Summary of Appendices

Appendix 1 Council Strategy
Appendix 2 Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS)

Page 28



Gloucestershire
Looking to  
the Future
2019-2022

gloucestershire.gov.uk

DRAFTP
age 29

http://gloucestershire.gov.uk


Our Council Strategy 2019-2022 Gloucestershire County Council DRAFT

2

This year has also shown clearly how strong, resilient 
and community spirited we are as a county. Covid-19 
has tested us all, presented new challenges and 
above all, has brought out the absolute best in people. 
The offers of support from individual members of the
community and organisations have been staggering 
and proven invaluable to those who have needed help. 
We have also been able to showcase the strength 
and effectiveness of the relationships we have with 
colleagues in the police, district councils, the NHS and 
the voluntary and community sector. By all working 
together; helping and supporting those who are most 
at risk, we have, thankfully seen much lower levels of 
impact than in other parts of the UK.

That is not to say there hasn’t been loss and suffering 
as a result of Covid-19, there has, and it is important 
we remember those who have sadly lost their lives 
and those they have left behind. We must do all we 
can to minimise others having to deal with the pain 
and grief that comes with losing a loved one.

Our commitment to delivering high quality services 
remains unwavering but we have also been clear 
that this is not enough, if we want the county to be 
successful and prosperous. We have had a clear 
focus on what sort of county we want for the future, 
and how we can work with communities and partners 
to bring about the required changes. We have worked 
hard to move forward projects which will secure future 
growth, including progressing work with partners on 
J9 & 10 of the M5 and the A417 missing link, as well 
as improving our superfast broadband network, which 
has become more important than ever this year.

We have also made significant progress with our 
climate change commitments; rolling out an ambition 
of tree planting that will see 35 Million new trees 
planted across the county by 2030; reduced our 
own carbon emissions to 73% (against 2006/07 
base level) and brought an end to household waste 
going straight to landfill, with the resulting renewable 
energy generation taking our net emissions reduction 
to 97%. We have gone on investing in new and 
improved school facilities, including a new school to 
meet the needs of children with social, emotional and 
mental health needs in Brockworth, and a brand new 
carbon neutral secondary school in Cheltenham. We 
have delivered significant new or improved cycling 
and walking infrastructure and continue our essential 
flood alleviation work. We are nearing completion 
of our £150m in the county’s road network, having 
resurfaced over 400 miles of road since April 2018.

There has also been additional investment in our 
children and family services, which has helped 
improve the experiences and outcomes for young 
people. There is much more to do but our foot is flat 
to the floor, to make sure improvement continues at  
a good pace.

We know there are many challenges ahead, both 
economically and for the health and welfare of our 
communities. No one is yet clear on what all these 
challenges will be, but we are clear that with our 
partners, our communities and everyone’s hard 
work to date, we are in a strong position to face and 
overcome them and continue to look towards an 
exciting future for our county.

Introduction

Gloucestershire is a 
great place to live, work 
and do business. Most 
local people enjoy a high 
standard of living, and 
our levels of health and 
wellbeing are comfortably 
above the average for the 
country. Generally, local 
people are well-educated, 
unemployment is low and
Gloucestershire’s economy 
is strong and resilient. 

Councillor  
Mark Hawthorne MBE  
Leader of the Council

Pete Bungard
Chief Executive

P
age 30



3

 A Magnet County
 
A growing working age population, with more 18-40 year olds with  
high level qualifications choosing to live and work in the county 

 An Innovative County 

More businesses starting up, growing and investing in research and innovation

 A Skilled County 

More people with high-level skills and jobs in skilled occupations

 A Prosperous County 

Rising productivity and household incomes offering higher living standards

 An Inclusive County 

The economic and social benefits of growth to be felt by all communities, 
including rural, urban and our areas of highest deprivation. Opportunities to 
be available for all and good relations between those who have protected 
characteristics and those who do not

 A Healthy County 

People to have a good work/life balance and improved health  
and wellbeing

 A Connected County 

Improved transport and internet connections so that people  
and businesses can connect with each other more easily

 A Sustainable County 

More efficient use of resources and  
more use of sustainable energy 

 A Resilient County 

Active, resilient local communities that keep people safe, provide  
them with support and help them to make a positive contribution

Our ambition is for Gloucestershire to be: 

 DRAFT Our Council Strategy 2019-2022 Gloucestershire County Council

To make the most of all that Gloucestershire has to offer, help improve the quality of life  
for every community, support businesses to be successful and make sure the county is  
a place where people want to live, work and visit.

Our vision

P
age 31



Inequalities and deprivation
While living standards are high overall, there are areas 
of the county where residents’ outcomes fall well 
below national averages and where, as a result, local 
people are more likely to depend on the services 
we provide. 19,415 people (3.1% of the county’s 
population) live in areas amongst the most deprived 
10% in England. 

Covid-19 has shone a light on inequalities. We quickly 
saw evidence emerging of a disproportionate impact 
on different parts of society; for example, older 
people, men and some geographic areas. But by far 
the biggest impact was seen in people from Black, 
Asian and minority ethnic backgrounds. Sadly, we 
have seen a higher number of Covid-19 cases,
deaths, hospitalisations and complications in 
members of these communities. Black and
Asian people were between 2.5 and 3 times more 
likely to be admitted to hospitals in the county with 
Covid-19 than white people of the same age.

It is important that we seize this opportunity to focus 
on tackling inequalities and that the learning from the 
first wave informs not only GCC actions but those 
of the local system for the second wave. The 2020 
Annual Report of the Director of Public Health focuses 
on the impact of Covid-19 on the BAME community 
and provides some clear recommendations. Work is 
also happening via the Health and Wellbeing Board 
and within the Integrated Care System. 

Rural isolation
As well as being one of our best assets, the rural 
nature of the county makes it difficult for some 
people to access the services they need. This is a 
particular challenge for the three out of every twenty 
Gloucestershire households that have no access to a 
car or van. 

Demographic change
Gloucestershire’s population is ageing more quickly 
than the UK average. The increasing number of retired 
people in the county will bring experience, resources 
and time to their communities, but as they grow older 
and more frail will also need more support from health,
social care and safeguarding services. We are also 
seeing increasing numbers of people living with 
disabilities and other long-term conditions in all  
age groups.

At the same time, our 18-64 population is expected to 
remain static. Young people tend to leave the county 
in their late teens and early twenties - the net loss can 
be as many as 400 19-25 year olds per year. While 
the concept of ‘working age’ is shifting, we do need 
to respond to this challenge to make sure we have the 
skills we need to keep the county competitive  
and support economic growth.

We can also expect to see a trend towards more 
people living as single person households. This will 
make it harder for people to rely on immediate family 
for support in the future, and make it more important 
that they are part of resilient communities that look out 
for one another.

Climate change
Along with councils up and down the country, 
Gloucestershire County Council has declared
a climate change emergency. This recognises 
the irreversible impact that humans have already 
had on climate change and the need for bold and 
timely action to be taken. The County Council has a 
leadership role, along with other public sector bodies, 
to reduce Carbon emissions across the whole county.

Challenges and 
opportunities

In order to achieve our 
vision and ambition for 
Gloucestershire, we 
need to understand and 
plan together for the 
opportunities and  
challenges we are facing. 

4

Our Council Strategy 2019-2022 Gloucestershire County Council DRAFT

P
age 32



Financial reforms
The basis on which councils are funded is changing 
dramatically. Over recent years we have seen big 
reductions in the level of funding we receive from 
Central Government. Whilst we do not yet know 
the outcome of the Fair Funding Review for Local 
Government or the next Comprehensive Spending 
Review, we expect to see further significant changes, 
including the phasing out of the Revenue Support 
Grant and the introduction of a funding model based 
on business rates retention. This would mean that 
future funding would be more closely linked to growth 
in the local economy than has previously been the 
case. We are also likely to see more of a ‘whole 
system’ approach to funding, such as through the 
pooling pilot with district councils and the roll out of 
‘Integrated Care Systems’ with the NHS.

Our economic potential  
as a growing county
The growth that is planned for Gloucester, 
Cheltenham and Tewkesbury is a game-changer.
It allows us to think imaginatively about the role 
we want Gloucestershire to play in the sub-region, 
and the infrastructure we need to put in place to 
make that happen. It has the potential to free us 
from some of the constraints that would otherwise 
hamper economic growth, and to enable change on a 
significant scale.

The power of our communities
Gloucestershire has a thriving voluntary and 
community sector and already benefits from the
ideas, effort and energy of the many thousands of 
people who are active in their communities. We are 

already seeing a willingness from communities to play 
an increasing role in the early and preventative steps 
for health and social care. We know there is an
appetite in many communities to do more, and we 
want to work more effectively with those who want to 
make a difference to the places they live and work. 
The Covid-19 pandemic has provided an opportunity 
to not only strengthen existing community and 
voluntary groups but for new groups to flourish. The 
shared aim of supporting each other through a global
crisis has brought about tangible gains in terms of the 
County’s vibrant VCSE sector. 

The readiness of our  
partnerships and relationships
Gloucestershire already benefits from the fact that 
almost all our key public sector partners work to 
the same geographic boundary and serve the same 
population. Changes to the way the public sector is 
funded, and the potential for different relationships at 
the sub-regional, national and European level make it 
more important than ever to work creatively with
partners to make sure Gloucestershire punches  
above its weight and attracts inward investment  
and national funding. 

The potential of digitisation  
to transform public services
The rapid growth of digital technology provides 
tremendous opportunities to innovate and
transform the way we deliver services for local people. 
For example, social media is changing the way we 
communicate and interact with communities. Local 
government has yet to explore fully the potential of 
‘big data’ to predict future demand for services and 
to design and deliver preventative solutions. In terms 

5

DRAFT Our Council Strategy 2019-2022 Gloucestershire County Council

of the wider economy, the potential of robotics and 
artificial intelligence will be critical given our likely 
limitations on working age population numbers.

While the impact of these issues and the speed 
with which they will affect us is hard to predict, what 
will matter is our ability to anticipate, respond, and 
reposition ourselves. This means we must be forward 
looking, adaptable and innovative as a council and 
capable of providing effective leadership across  
our communities.

P
age 33



6

Our Council Strategy 2019-2022 Gloucestershire County Council DRAFT

There are around

3,300 
miles
of road within  
the county

82.1%
of total support 
requests involved 
help accessing 
food and general 
supplies

The council 
provides a 
network of

31 libraries
and supports local groups 
to provide a further  
8 community libraries

Since 2009 the 
population has 

 grown 
 by 7.9% 
(compared to 7.6% for 
England & Wales over 
the same period)

The County Council 
has 53 councillors 
and employs 

3,965 
staff

Assuming current population  
trends continue, the population  
in Gloucestershire will reach 

738,482 
by 2043

683,849
by 2028

&

Although Gloucestershire 
generally benefits from 
a high standard 
of living, 

19,415 
people 
(3.1% of the county population) 
live in areas that are in the most 
10% deprived nationally

Gloucestershire 
has around 

731 
Children in 
Care and the County 
Council supports 

5,118 
adults receiving 
long term care

Gloucestershire has 

123 Sites 
of Special Scientific 
Interest and 

3 Areas 
of Outstanding Natural Beauty which 
cover 51% of the county’s area

Manufacturing and health are 
significant sectors in terms of 
employment accounting for 

11.6% and 13.9% 
of employment respectively

Gloucestershire 
has a population of

637,070

27.6%  3.5%

Since 2009 the growth of the older 
population (aged 65 and above) 
  has outpaced that 
  of the younger 
  population 

During lockdown, 
the County Council’s 
Community Help 
Hub received 

6,738
requests for help1

1 This figure will include some duplicate requests

P
age 34



Children’s wellbeing and safeguarding
• Make Gloucestershire a child-friendly county
• Increase the resilience of children and families
• Intervene effectively to keep vulnerable children and 

young people safe
• Make sure children in care and care leavers get the best 

possible opportunities

Communities and Localities
• Make sure no community is left behind
• Increase the resilience and safety of local communities

Transport, Economy and Infrastructure
• Secure the benefits of high quality growth for local people  

and communities

• Help business in Gloucestershire to thrive, grow and connect with 

the wider world

• Safeguard the county’s natural landscape and environment

• Reduce Gloucestershire’s carbon emissions by 80% by 2030, and 

secure a carbo neutral county by 2050

Highways
• Invest in improving the county’s roads
• Improve customer service and satisfaction
• Reduce Gloucestershire’s carbon emissions by 80% by 2030

Council leadership
• Get the most out of the shared public sector estate
• Transform services through digital innovation
• Develop a future focussed workforce

Education and Skills
• Make sure children have access to a good quality education
• Help children and young people with additional needs to 

learn and succeed
• Develop skills for the future

Health, Care and Prevention
• Design an adult social care system that helps people 

stay healthy and independent and supports people with 
long-term needs

• Promote better mental health for all
• Help people of all ages to stay healthy and well
• Join up health and care services

Our Priorities for Gloucestershire 
The first part of this strategy has set out our long-term vision and ambition for Gloucestershire. The remaining sections show how that 
relates to our work as a council, and sets out our priorities and the actions we will take over the next three years.

7

DRAFT Our Council Strategy 2019-2022 Gloucestershire County Council

P
age 35



We want Gloucestershire to be a place where

• Every child can thrive, learn, develop and contribute to 
their communities and where no child is left behind

• Every family is resilient, equipped to deal with challenges 
when they arise and are able to get back on their feet

• Vulnerable children and young people achieve the best 
possible outcomes 

• Children who are in need or at risk get high quality 
support that makes a real and lasting difference in  
their lives

Children’s 
safeguarding 
and wellbeing 

8

We recognise that the council has an important part 
to play in making this happen. We want to spread this 
vision and capture the imagination of people across 
Gloucestershire to work together to raise our ambition 
for local people. We also want to act as a champion 
for vulnerable children within our county. The 2017 
Ofsted inspection showed us that our services were 
not keeping children safe or making the difference 
in their lives that we would want. We are making 
progress in improving the quality of those services but 
we know we have much further to go to make sure 
that all children and young people get the quality of 
support that they need and deserve.

Investing in Gloucestershire’s future means placing 
children at the heart of everything we do. What we 
achieve today in making Gloucestershire a place 
where children and young people can thrive, develop 
and reach their potential will shape and influence 
our communities for generations to come. We want 
to make Gloucestershire a great place for children 
to grow up, and we can only do that if individuals, 
families, communities, businesses and other partners 
work together.

Ambition 
tracker

Our Council Strategy 2019-2022 Gloucestershire County Council DRAFT

P
age 36



• Implementing our Child Sexual Exploitation 
strategy of Prevent, Protect and Pursue and 
raising awareness of CSE with our partners;

• Continuing to use the voice of children 
and young people to shape, challenge and 
improve everything we do.

• Do everything we can to make sure children  
in care and care leavers get the best 
possible opportunities to grow up healthy,  
stay safe and do well in education and work by: 

• Improving the stability of placements for 
children in care by planning their entry into 
care more effectively to get more placements 
right first time;

• Increasing the availability and variety of high 
quality, local placements for children in care;

• Strengthening our care leaver strategy and 
launching our local offer for care leavers to 
make sure they have a smooth transition to 
adulthood and independence.

We will work with:

We will:

• Make Gloucestershire a child-friendly county, 
where all partners take into account the needs of 
children when making decisions, by:

• Working with our ambassadors for vulnerable 
children and young people to engage 
with local children and young people to  
understand what will make Gloucestershire  
a better place for them to live, play and  
grow up;

• Setting out a clear commitment to listen to 
and consider the needs and aspirations of 
children and young people in everything we 
do as a council;

• Encouraging our partners, local organisations 
and communities to join us in listening to 
children and young people when we are 
making decisions that affect their lives;

• Developing a toolkit to help local organisations 
place children at the heart of what they do;

• Working together to raise the aspirations of 
children and young people and to reduce 
health inequalities amongst children and 
young people;

• Making sure children get a good start in 
life and enter school with the skills and 
knowledge they need in order to learn  
and succeed.

• Increase the resilience of children and 
families by:

• Promoting effective local partnerships that 
work together with families in a holistic way  
to address their needs;

DRAFT Our Council Strategy 2019-2022 Gloucestershire County Council

• Reviewing, redesigning and joining up early 
help services to make sure they work together 
effectively to provide the support that  
families need;

• Working with partners to identify, as early as 
possible, those children and families that need 
help and support;

• Developing effective parenting programmes;

• Increasing use of Family Group Conferencing;

• Making more use of early help coordinators 
and community social workers;

• Extending use of family support working 
through Families First Plus, across all levels of 
need;

• Implementing our strategy to prevent and 
build resilience against adverse childhood 
experiences (ACEs);

• Adopting and promoting a restorative, 
strengths-based approach across all services;

• Working with schools to reduce the need  
for exclusions.

• Intervene effectively to keep vulnerable 
children and young people safe and make a 
positive, lasting difference to their outcomes by:

• Working through Gloucestershire 
Safeguarding Children’s Board to implement  
a quality framework;

• Focussing relentlessly on driving up the quality 
of social work practice;

• Actively exploring alternatives to care  
and exclusion; 

• Building and retaining a high quality children’s 
social workforce;

Schools  
and colleges 

District 
councils

Police

Community 
and voluntary 
groups

Health

9

P
age 37



We want:

• Every Gloucestershire child to have a high quality education, suited to their needs, 
that equips them with the skills and attributes they need to make a positive 
contribution to their community and succeed in life

• Children and young people with high needs to learn and succeed in  
local schools that understand, respond to and meet their needs in a flexible way

• To grow the working age workforce by keeping and attracting more  
18-40 year olds with high level qualifications

• Gloucestershire’s economy to be driven by a flexible, well-trained workforce which 
can provide the skills local employers need in a modern, diverse and successful 
economy

Education 
and skills 

10

The council’s role in education is evolving. Against a backdrop of increasing 
independence, school autonomy and the developing role of Regional 
School Commissioners, the council has three key roles in education:

• Making sure that the system works for families – that high quality 
school places are available in the right location, that meet the 
aspirations of families and reflect the needs of all children.

• Improving outcomes for vulnerable children and all those with  
additional needs.

• Championing the needs of vulnerable children and young people so 
that there is an inclusive learning system for all.

Increasingly, we achieve this by influencing and working with others, 
including the leadership of academies, free schools and the Regional 
Schools Commissioner. This will be the premise of the new Education 
Strategy which aims to create a whole system approach across the county 
to provide effective, high quality and inclusive education.

We also know that while Gloucestershire children achieve well overall, this 
masks the reality for some. In particular, too many children with additional 
needs experience poor results. We are seeing increasing numbers of 
children with an Education Health & Care Plan and rising expectations from 
families. We cannot continue to do things in the same way. We need to 

change the way that the council and schools work together to meet the 
needs of these children.

Looking beyond the role of schools, the county’s working age population 
is expected to remain static. There is demand for more people to replace 
workers retiring from the county’s workforce, and the county loses up to 
400 young adults to other parts of the UK each year. We will need to be 
creative and bold in order to make sure that the county can provide a 
workforce with the skills to drive economic growth.

We know that the country’s response to the Covid-19 pandemic will 
have a significant impact on children and young people’s education and 
future employment possibilities. The majority of children received online 
education at home during the lockdown period and will be supported by 
schools to catch-up on any missed progress as a result of this; additionally 
young people leaving school in 2020 did not sit exams and the plans for 
2021 are currently unclear. Additional support will be provided to young 
people seeking employment and training opportunities given the impact of 
Covid-19 on businesses and the economy. 

Alongside providing a broad, balanced and differentiated curriculum, 
schools will be focused upon ensuring children and young people’s social, 
emotional and mental health needs are met following the impact of the 
pandemic on their lives to enable them to be in the best place to learn.

Ambition 
tracker

Our Council Strategy 2019-2022 Gloucestershire County Council DRAFT

P
age 38



We will:

• Work with schools to make sure children 
have access to a good quality education that 
prepares them for adulthood, by:

• Developing and delivering a school places 
strategy (which includes a new comprehensive 
school for Cheltenham);

• Supporting and challenging schools, 
academies and other settings to improve 
where needed;

• Making sure that the way we allocate school 
places and home to school transport is fair, 
equitable, clear and transparent.

• Supporting schools to maintain high quality 
and effective education for all children during 
the Covid-19 pandemic; including on-site, 
catch-up and remote learning

• Help children and young people with 
additional needs to learn and succeed, by:

• Developing alternative provision and providing 
alternatives to exclusion;

• Supporting schools to keep children and 
young people in mainstream provision;

• Providing more flexible support to meet the 
needs of individual children;

• Giving schools better access to specialist 
support, including a new special school for 
Social, Emotional and Mental Health needs;

• Passing more funding directly to schools to 
help them respond to the needs of children as 
they arise;

• Providing peer support for parents and carers 
within their community;

11

DRAFT Our Council Strategy 2019-2022 Gloucestershire County Council

Children, young 
people and their 
families

Schools, colleges, 
headteacher 
associations  
and governor 

Further education 
providers including 
leading universities

Local and regional 
employers

Education, skills and 
employability funding 
bodies

Regional partners, 
including GFirst 
and neighbouring 
LEPs and combined 
authorities

The Regional 
Schools 
Commissioner

Employment  
and Skills Board

• Developing post-16 placements that offer 
routes into employment and community 
based support.

• Support young people and adults to develop 
skills for the future by:

• Working with local employers to create 5,000 
new apprenticeships, at least 2,000 of which 
will be in engineering;

• Increasing the uptake of apprenticeships and 
other training opportunities both within the 
council and with local businesses;

• Making sure the new technical level 
qualifications include sufficient and 
appropriate work experience with local 
businesses and organisations;

• Dealing with replacement demand by 
increasing opportunities and options for older 
workers and influencing businesses’ and 
individuals’ expectations of what constitutes 
‘working age’;

• Strengthening links between schools, colleges 
and businesses; improving and making better 
use of labour market information;

• More effectively coordinating digital skills 
development to build on the strengths of the 
Gloucestershire economy in terms of cyber 
and digital;

• Linking local businesses with schools to 
develop early aspirations;

• Increasing access to good quality work 
experience opportunities. 

We will work with:

P
age 39



We want:

• Inclusive and supportive communities

• Gloucestershire people to make choices that lead to healthy lives

• People to enjoy increased wellbeing, independence  
and personal resilience

• Good quality care and support available when people need it

Health, 
Care and 
Prevention 

The Covid-19 pandemic has shone an important light on the work of our invaluable 
social care workforce, who are providing care and support to all who need it in the 
most challenging of circumstances. Adult social care and support is a vital service 
in helping people of all ages to live the life they want to lead.

Despite the impact, additional pressure and restrictive nature of the pandemic, our 
strategic ambition of supporting people to live independently continues, reflecting 
their aspirations. For many the expectation will still be to live a healthier longer 
life which is changing the way they choose to spend their later years. The idea 
of a fixed retirement age is disappearing and being replaced by a more gradual 
transition from working life to retirement. This is positive for local people. Many 
people choose to use their retirement years to ‘give something back’ and get 
involved in voluntary work or other community activities.

However, we also know that an ageing population will put increasing pressure on 
public health and social care services. We expect the number of over-75s (the age 
group most likely to rely on council services) to increase by an average of 2,240 
per year per year over the next 25 years, and we are already seeing an increasing 
number of people of all ages with complex, long-term health conditions.

While, in the short term, the county council and Central Government have invested
additional resources into health and social care, we need a solution that is 
sustainable in the long term. We need to think differently about how we meet the 

health and care needs of an ageing population. That will mean doing more to make 
sure people can live independently for longer, including exploring the potential of 
technology to support them.

We recognise that there is an extremely strong link between a person’s mental 
health and their physical health. A positive approach to mental health and making 
good lifestyle choices will help them to stay healthy for longer, and to minimise the 
impact of any long-term condition on their lives.

We are already working with communities and voluntary organisations to help them 
respond to a growing number of more vulnerable people, and to make sure that 
our services work effectively in partnership with those communities. We are also 
working more closely with the NHS and other partners to help more people back to 
independence, for example, after a stay in hospital. These things are already easing 
pressure on the system and allowing us to provide good quality care for those who 
need it most, but we need to do more.

As part of our response to Covid-19 we have developed the Local Outbreak 
Management Plan (LOMP) which provides the local road map for the system to 
prevent, contain, monitor and respond to outbreaks of Covid-19, alongside our 
Gloucestershire partners. This also includes our work to address health inequalities 
through the Covid-19 BAME Task and Finish Group, to understand the impact of 
Covid-19 on these communities.

Ambition 
tracker

Our Council Strategy 2019-2022 Gloucestershire County Council DRAFT

P
age 40



We will:

• Design an adult social care system that helps 
people to stay healthy and independent and 
supports people with long-term needs, by:
• Making sure we focus on the strengths of 

individuals and communities – their skills, their 
networks and resources – rather than just 
their needs and vulnerabilities;

• Helping people to do things for themselves;

• Working with community groups to help them 
offer support and help to vulnerable people;

• Improving the impact of short term help to 
make sure people regain their confidence and 
independence whenever possible;

• Working with other health and care 
professionals to promote positive  
risk taking that helps people to achieve  
their personal goals;

• Increasing the range of local housing  
options available to allow more people to 
live independently;

• Supporting those individuals who find 
themselves vulnerable to help them cope  
with daily living and adapt;

• Responding proactively to frailty  
and vulnerability;

• Continuing to make Gloucestershire a 
dementia-friendly county;

• Making sure that carers are identified early 
and have timely access to quality information, 
advice and guidance to enable them to 
maintain independence;

• Exploring the potential of technology to 
support carers and improve the quality of care 
that people receive;

• Joining up data to better understand the 
impact we are having; 13

DRAFT Our Council Strategy 2019-2022 Gloucestershire County Council

• Working with partners to develop a 
sustainable social care workforce.

• Promote better mental health for all by:
• Ensure that Mental Wellbeing support is 

available to those affected by Covid-19 &  
the lockdown restrictions;

• Creating a county wide movement that 
focusses on the factors that contribute  
to good mental health;

• Promoting better understanding and 
awareness of mental health; and encouraging 
other organisations to join us; 

• Embedding thinking about mental health  
in everything we do through a ‘no health 
without mental health’ approach;

• Offering free mental health first aid training  
for organisations that sign up to our  
shared commitment;

• Help people of all ages to stay healthy and 
well by:
• Deliver the Outbreak Management Plan to 

help prevent, contain, respond to and monitor 
Covid-19 in Gloucestershire;

• Providing Covid-19 support to high risk 
settings such as Care Homes, Schools, 
Universities & Supported Housing

• Working with partners to review our approach 
to focus on prevention and on reducing health 
inequalities, including through the impact of 
Covid-19;

• Helping people in vulnerable circumstances 
to improve their health, supporting them to 
live independently and preventing them from 
becoming homeless;

• Working with children, parents, schools and 
partners to reduce childhood obesity;

• Encouraging inter generational activity and 
other ways of helping people to be active in 
their communities;

• Raising awareness of the impact of Adverse 
Childhood Experience (ACEs) on people’s long term 
health and wellbeing, building resilience and helping 
to prevent the impact of ACEs being passed on to 
the next generation;

• Joining up our data to better understand and 
improve health outcomes across Gloucestershire. 

• Joined up health and care services through  
an integrated Care System to provide:

• An even greater focus on supporting people to keep 
healthy and independent and developing active 
communities;

• More joined up care and support for people with 
long term health conditions – in their homes, GP 
surgery, community or hospital;

•  More control for people over the care they receive;

• Greater freedom and control to make  
local decisions about services.

We will work with: 

Voluntary and 
community groups 

Gloucestershire 
Clinical 
Commissioning 
Group 

Gloucestershire 
Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust

Gloucestershire  
Care Services  
NHS Trust

2gether NHS 
Foundation Trust

GPs and other 
primary care 
providers

District councils

Police

13

P
age 41



 

We want:

• Healthy, resilient and engaged communities that work together to improve 
the places they live and work

• Everyone to have the same opportunities regardless of where they live

• Thriving voluntary and community groups that support innovation and 
collaboration

• To work with partners for the good of local people - inspiring confidence 
in public services

• Councillors that are active and knowledgeable in their communities and 
can support change at a local level

Working with 
Communities 
and Localities  

14

Along with our partners, we have a strong track 
record of understanding local communities
and using data about local needs to inform what 
services we provide and how. However, more could 
be done to work with communities to understand 
what assets and strengths they can offer and to 
help them articulate their goals and ambitions. We 
know there is greater scope to gather, analyse and 
act on feedback from communities. We have tended 
to rely on traditional methods of consultation and 
engagement, and have not yet begun to fully explore
the potential of social media and other less formal 
ways to shape our understanding of what
local people want and think.

We recognise that the county has a thriving 
community sector and already benefits from the
enthusiasm and effort of countless volunteers as 
school governors, community activists,
carers and more. We also know that there is an 
appetite to do more if we work with communities 

to make that happen. We don’t want to miss any 
opportunity to help local people improve the places 
they live and work

The Covid-19 crisis initiated a new wave of volunteer 
and community action across the county. The 
Gloucestershire Community Help Hub received 3500 
individuals signing up to give help to their neighbours 
and communities. Voluntary sector and community 
groups swiftly switched to remote support for 
vulnerable people via digital platforms. Staff from all of
the Gloucestershire local authorities were redeployed, 
including volunteering for a range of other activities 
from delivery logistics to management of mobile 
testing units.

This demonstrated not only the dedication and 
commitment of both staff and the public to serving 
their communities but also the value of joint working 
to resource operations flexiblyand the value of strong 
partnerships in delivering vital services.

Ambition 
tracker

Our Council Strategy 2019-2022 Gloucestershire County Council DRAFT

P
age 42



We will:

• Make sure that no community is left  
behind, by: 

• Working with local people and communities 
to understand what they want to achieve and, 
with our partners, to help them to improve the 
places they live and work;

• Maintaining the Gloucestershire Covid-19 
Community Help Hub to signpost to self help 
support or local support from the district Help 
Hubs

• Working collaboratively to deliver a  
co-ordinated volunteer response and 
volunteering infrastructure in Gloucestershire.

• Piloting our approach to community 
engagement through a plan specific to 
Gloucester City;

• Focussing on neighbourhoods and areas 
where need is greatest;

• Ensuring that no-one’s opportunities or 
aspirations are limited because of where  
they live;

• Helping people develop skills and experience 
in areas where outcomes and prospects 
are poorest through our network of Growth 
Hubs and Innovation Labs to make sure they 
benefit from the opportunity of a growing 
Gloucestershire economy;

• Enhancing library services in our three major 
centres (Gloucester, Cheltenham and Stroud) 
and in areas where need is greatest to 
support community aspirations;

15

DRAFT Our Council Strategy 2019-2022 Gloucestershire County Council

• Supporting local councillors to use the 
‘Growing Our Communities’ grants to help 
meet the aspirations of their communities.

• Build the resilience and safety of local 
communities by:

• Encouraging and extending the use of our 31 
libraries and 21 fire stations as community 
hubs;

• Promoting councillors as community leaders 
and champions and tapping into their 
knowledge and expertise about their local 
areas;

• Working collaboratively with parish councils 
and community groups to join up services and 
share resources at a local level;

• Building on and developing the strengths 
within individual communities;

• Using digital technology to connect people 
and tackle social isolation and loneliness;

• Targeting community safety advice and 
support (including fire and trading standards)
to ‘at risk’ groups;

• Further developing the innovative work of 
the fire &amp; rescue service in identifying 
vulnerable people and helping them to stay 
safe and well in their homes;

• Using firefighters to provide a falls ‘pick up’ 
service and a telecare response.

District councils

Police

Local 
community 
groups and 
voluntary 
organisations

Parish and  
town councils

We will work with: 

P
age 43



 

We want:

• More Gloucestershire businesses starting up,  
growing and investing in research and innovation

• Rising productivity and household income,  
offering higher living standards

• The economic and social benefits of growth to be felt 
by all communities, including rural, urban and areas of 
highest deprivation

• Improved transport and internet connections so that 
people and businesses can connect with each other 
more easily

• More efficient use of resources and more use of 
sustainable energy

Transport, 
Economy and 
Infrastructure 

Changes to the county’s population, and to the way that local government is funded, means
that we will be increasingly reliant on the success of our economy to fund vital public
services. We know that over the next 20 years 60,000 houses need to be built in
Gloucestershire. We welcome that growth and the opportunities that brings with it, but need
to make sure that it is delivered in a way that works for Gloucestershire and its communities.
That means planning for and bringing investment into local infrastructure and making sure
that our rural areas are accessible and well connected to the urban centre of the county.

16

Ambition 
tracker

Our Council Strategy 2019-2022 Gloucestershire County Council DRAFT

P
age 44



We will:

• Secure the benefits of high quality growth  
for local people and communities, by: 

• Delivering transport access for the new UK 
Cyber Business Park in Cheltenham;

• Making sure that we plan the infrastructure 
needed to support sustainable growth;

• Continuing to negotiate with developers to 
secure investment in the infrastructure that 
communities need.

• Help businesses in Gloucestershire to thrive, 
grow and connect with the wider world by:

• Supporting GFirst to develop a Local Industrial 
Strategy for Gloucestershire;

• Continuing to support Highways England 
push ahead with the improvement work on 
the A417 Missing Link;

• Progressing the business case development 
of major transport schemes to attract 
Government funding and remove barriers to 
future economic growth – including M5, J9 
and A46;

• Improving the long-term passenger transport 
offer across the Central Severn Vale including 
high-impact, high-efficiency “super routes”;

• Working in partnership with Network Rail and 
regional partners to improve rail connectivity 
and deliver the Gloucestershire Rail 
Investment Strategy;

• Working with partners and developers to 
create a cycle superhighway across the centre 
of the county.

17

DRAFT Our Council Strategy 2019-2022 Gloucestershire County Council

• Delivering superfast broadband to every home 
by 2021;

• Commissioning work to develop plans for a 
full fibre network.

• Safeguard the county’s natural features and 
environment for future generations by:

• Embedding green infrastructure into our 
thinking and planning for Gloucestershire’s 
future development and regeneration;

• Planning and designing with health and 
wellbeing in mind;

• Tackling poor air quality to reduce its impact 
on people’s health;

• Taking preventative measures to increase the 
county’s flood resilience;

• Reducing reliance on landfill and recovering 
value from non recyclable waste;

• Continuing to work with district councils to 
reduce waste and increase recycling.

• Reduce Gloucestershire’s carbon emissions 
by 80% by 2030, and secure a carbon neutral 
county by 2050. We will do this by working 
with our partners through Leadership 
Gloucestershire to:

• Implement the Gloucestershire Climate 
Change strategy;

• Strengthen the Gloucestershire Sustainable 
Energy Strategy;

• Grow our low carbon economy;

• Help our residents, businesses and partners 
to radically reduce carbon.

We will work with: 

Sub-National 
Transport 
Body 

Sub-regional 
LEPs and 
combined 
authorities

District 
councils

Developers

Local 
Economic 
Partnership

Local Nature 
Partnership

Growth hubsP
age 45



 

We want:

• A highways network that keeps people and goods 
moving and helps Gloucestershire’s economy

• High levels of satisfaction with roads

• To be at the forefront of highways technological 
transformation, encouraging early adopters to base 
themselves in Gloucestershire

• More efficient use of resources and more use of 
sustainable energy

Highways 
Delivery 

18

Highways is probably the most visible service that we 
provide. Our roads affect everyone on a daily basis, 
and in many cases shape how local people feel about 
the council. Whilst significant progress has been made 
in improving the road network in recent years, more
needs to be done to improve people’s perception of 
our roads and their satisfaction in the service they 
receive. The easier we make it for customers to 
interact with us digitally, the more we can focus our 
time and money on repairing and maintaining roads.

More people using the roads and more frequent 
severe weather will put more pressure on our road 
network. This will affect everyone, but residents 

in more rural parts of the county are particularly 
dependent on private car ownership in order to 
access education, work and essential services. We 
know that we need to keep the county moving. The 
solution is likely to lie not in building more roads, but  
in using technological advances to improve the flow  
of traffic.

Self-driving and semi-autonomous vehicles, the roll 
out of 5G mobile technology, changing patterns of 
car ownership and growing public awareness and 
concern about air quality, will all shape the way  
we use and think about the road network in  
coming years.

Ambition 
tracker

Our Council Strategy 2019-2022 Gloucestershire County Council DRAFT

P
age 46



We will:

• Continue to invest in improving the county’s 
roads by: 

• Completing our £150m investment in 
resurfacing highways;

• Focussing maintenance on those high speed 
and high capacity roads;

• Progressing the delivery of major transport 
projects designed to improve highway 
capacity – including M5 J10;

• Delivering transport schemes and changes 
to town centres to facilitate CV19 social 
distancing measures;

• Delivering major active travel schemes 
to facilitate the use of cycling when 
accessingmkey services and employment 
opportunities;

• Exploring new opportunities to generate 
income from the highways network in order to 
invest it in maintenance;

• Investigating the potential for developing 
a world class traffic signal infrastructure to 
reduce congestion;

• Setting up a highways skills academy to  
work with local contractors to grow 
construction skills;

• Starting to plan for the introduction of  
5G technology;

• Improve customer service and  
satisfaction by:

• Making it easier to report and track progress 
of repairs online;

• Keeping flexibility within the service to  
carry out a range of basic highways  
maintenance functions at a local  
level in response to local priorities.

19

DRAFT Our Council Strategy 2019-2022 Gloucestershire County Council

Highways 
contractors

District 
councils

Parish 
and town 
councils

We will work with: 

P
age 47



 

We want:

• To be a council that looks to the future by delivering 
resilient, digitally enabled services through a skilled, 
empowered workforce

• To focus on the needs of residents and refuse to be 
constrained by organisational boundaries

• To harness innovation, maximising benefits of technology 
to transform services and improve access

Council 
leadership

20

We want to be at the forefront of changing local 
government. Over recent years, we have worked hard 
to make sure that we are financially resilient by making 
choices (often difficult ones) about what services we 
can provide and how we should provide them. That 
gives us a solid base from which to build for  
the future.

Covid19 has accelerated innovations in the way we 
work; increasing remote working, making more of 
our services available online, reducing our carbon 
footprint. But we know there is more that can and 
should be done.

As we begin to tackle the challenge of economic 
recovery, we are using our influence and our 
resources to stimulate Gloucestershire’s economy. We 
will continue to provide leadership and join up services 
across the local public sector to champion the needs 
and aspirations of our residents. We want to be a 
force for good across Gloucestershire, striving
to do the right thing, not the easy thing.

In order to do that, we will need council leaders and 
staff that are not only up for that challenge, but who 
relish it – who are innovative, creative and motivated 
to achieve the very best. Our culture will need to be 
underpinned by strong values and an appetite for 
doing things differently, always putting residents first.

Ambition 
tracker

Our Council Strategy 2019-2022 Gloucestershire County Council DRAFT

P
age 48



We will:

• Get the most of the shared public sector 
estate, by:

• Improving customer service and creating 
efficiencies by sharing facilities and delivering 
agile working capabilities;

• Selling surplus buildings and land to generate 
capital receipts and support wider community 
aspirations around housing and employment;

• Making the most of our physical resources 
to meet our environmental and economic 
ambitions.

• Transform public services through digital 
innovation by:

• Helping residents and communities develop 
digital skills;

• Using data to better understand the needs of 
our residents and customers;

21

DRAFT Our Council Strategy 2019-2022 Gloucestershire County Council

• Investing in our Digital First programme to 
transform our ICT capacity and maximise 
provision of digital services;

• Maximising the use of technology to support 
independent living and reduce the need for 
people to go into residential care homes;

• Developing a customer access strategy that 
provides clear, joined up service pathways  
for customers and stakeholders.

• Develop a future focussed workforce by:

• Setting out a clear, attractive and competitive 
Gloucestershire ‘offer’ to attract the best 
people, valuing diversity and optimising the 
benefits of inclusion;

• Getting the most out of our people, wherever 
they are, by delivering on Agile working;

• Empowering and equipping staff to be 
innovative and work across boundaries to 
achieve the very best for local residents;

• Providing clear development opportunities 
and making it easy for staff to gain new skills 
and experience.

We will work with: 

District 
councils 

Local NHS 
trusts

West of 
England 
Combined 
Authority

Police

GFirst LEP

P
age 49



Achieving our vision through our values and behaviours

Over the past year, building on conversations with staff about what is important to them, 
we have agreed the following values that will inform and underpin the way we work.

Excellence
We continually improve through 
listening, learning and innovation.

Integrity
We are honest, fair and speak up.

Respect
We value and listen to each other.

Accountability
We do what we say we will.

Empowerment
We enable communities and 
colleagues to be the best they can.

Our Council Strategy 2019-2022 Gloucestershire County Council DRAFT

22

P
age 50



23

DRAFT Our Council Strategy 2019-2022 Gloucestershire County Council

P
age 51



G
C

C
_2

32
5 

10
.1

8

Gloucestershire
Looking to  
the Future
2019-2022

P
age 52



1

APPENDIX 2
Gloucestershire 
County Council

Medium Term Financial 
Strategy

2021/22 to 2023/24

Budget 2021/22

Page 53



2

A Context

1 This draft Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) is presented as the basis for 
consultation and scrutiny, prior to presenting to Cabinet on 27th January 2021, 
and recommendation to County Council on 17th February 2021. It has been 
prepared using best estimates from available data following the recent Spending 
Review announcements.  If the provisional Finance Settlement is announced prior 
to 16th December an update will be provided to Cabinet. Until the provisional 
Finance Settlement is announced the draft budget for 2021/22 is subject to 
change – it is expected in the week commencing 14th December 2020.
 

2 The MTFS contains the proposed budget for 2021/22 including the general fund 
revenue budget, the capital programme and the Dedicated Schools Grant. The 
draft general fund revenue budget totals £480.458 million and is based on an 
overall increase of 4.75% on Council Tax (this includes 1.99% Council Tax 
increase plus a 2.76% Adult Social Care Levy), which is in accordance with the 
announcement in the Comprehensive Spending Review.  This proposed increase 
in the Levy is estimated to raise an additional £8.651 million for Adult Social Care 
services.

3 The draft MTFS should be considered in the context of the Council Strategy, 
Looking to the Future, which sets out the Council’s ambitions, plans and priorities 
for Gloucestershire.

4 Commissioning Intentions for each service area which expand on the high level 
plans included in the Council Strategy are provided in Annex 1. The 
Commissioning Intentions highlight current achievements and future plans in 
relation to the different services provided by the Council. These detailed 
narratives cover Adults (Annex 1.1), Children and Families (Annex 1.2), Economy, 
Environment & Infrastructure (Annex 1.3), Community Safety (Annex 1.4), 
Prevention and Wellbeing (Annex 1.5) and Corporate Resources (Annex 1.6).

B Looking to the Future – Our Council Strategy 2019/22 (refreshed for 2021/22)

5 The Council Strategy – ‘Looking to the Future’ - is the key high-level document 
that, along with the MTFS, sets the Council’s strategic policy direction. It was 
approved by the Council in February 2019 and sets out the Council’s vision, its 
ambitions for the county and its priorities for addressing the challenges and 
opportunities it faces. The Council Strategy has been updated and will be part of 
the proposed public consultation before being presented to Cabinet in January 
2021 and to Council in February 2021 for approval and adoption.

6 The Council’s vision is to make the most of all that Gloucestershire has to offer, 
help improve the quality of life for every community, support businesses to be 
successful and make sure Gloucestershire is a place where people want to live, 
work and visit.

7 Our ambition is for Gloucestershire to be:

- A Magnet county - A growing working age population, with more 18-40 year 
olds with high level qualifications choosing to live and work in the county

Page 54



3

- An Innovative county - More businesses starting up, growing and investing in 
research and innovation

- A Skilled county - More people with high-level skills and jobs in skilled 
occupations

- A Prosperous county - Rising productivity and household incomes offering 
higher living standards

- An Inclusive county - The economic and social benefits of growth to be felt 
by all

- A Healthy county - People to have a good work/life balance and improved 
health and wellbeing

- A Connected county - Improved transport and internet connections so that 
people and businesses can connect with each other more easily

- A Sustainable county - More efficient use of resources and more use of 
sustainable energy

- A Resilient county - Active, resilient local communities that keep people safe, 
provide them with support and help them to make a positive contribution

8 The priorities and actions we will take over the coming years are set out in more 
detail in the document which accompanies this MTFS.

C Other Consultation 

9 Following the publication of the budget proposals, a consultation will be launched 
between 18th December 2020 and 15th January 2021. Stakeholders will be asked 
to give us their views on our overall priorities, the proposed budget and any 
potential impact on service levels.

This will take place with the following groups:

 All Gloucestershire residents,
 Key partners including Health, the Independent and Voluntary sectors 

and town and parish councils,
 Trade Unions and professional associations,
 Staff, via the usual communication channels,
 Gloucestershire businesses,
 Schools, via the schools forum, open meetings and Head Teacher groups

10 The Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee have also agreed that they will 
carry out their budget scrutiny process in January 2021. The Scrutiny meeting has 
been arranged for 7th January 2021 and will include briefings from Directors and 
Cabinet Representatives.

11 Following this meeting the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee will feed 
back their views to the Cabinet prior to the final budget being developed.

12 Following consultation, the MTFS, Council Strategy and supporting policy 
documents will be considered by Cabinet again on 27th January 2021, with the 
recommended budget being considered by the County Council on 17th February 
2021.

Page 55



4

D Finance Settlement and Funding Assumptions

13 The overall funding assumptions for the Council are based on central governments 
2020 Spending Review (SR20) and will be updated following the final 2020/21 
finance settlement expected in February 2021. A one year “roll over” type finance 
settlement has been confirmed for the next financial year by SR20, however 
confirmation is still needed about the detailed funding allocations for GCC. More 
information will be made available in the provisional Finance Settlement due in 
mid December and the final Finance Settlement due in February 2021 – flexibility 
to amend the budget remains until the final Finance Settlement is confirmed.

14 SR20 confirmed the following:

 4.5% expected increase in Core Spending Power
 Flexibility to increase Council Tax – 2% general Council Tax limit plus up to 3% 

Adult Social Care Levy 
 Reimbursement of 75% of irrecoverable Council Tax and NNDR due to COVID, 

possibly via direct grant to County Council
 Roll over of Adult Social Care Grant, Improved Better Care Fund, Public Health 

Grant and Troubled Families Grant
 Continuation of 75% lost Sales, Fees and Charges reimbursement scheme for 3 

months in 2021/22
 Better Care Fund (GCC / CCG Shared Pot) increased by 5.3%
 Continuation of New Homes Bonus together with an additional years allocation.
 Additional Social Care Grant of £300m – allocation methodology yet to be 

announced, therefore has not been included in draft budget.
 £1.55 billion nationally to fund additional COVID related spend in 2021/22, the 

allocation and timing have not yet been confirmed.
 Local Roads Maintenance fund of £1.7 billion to tackle potholes, relieve congestion 

and boost connectivity. The GCC allocation is not currently known.

15 Funding beyond 2021/22 will be subject to another Spending Review in 2021, 
when it is also expected that a wider consultation will be implemented on the Fair 
Funding Review and the new Business Rates Retention System, both of which 
have been delayed as a result of the Covid-19 crisis.

16 As mentioned earlier the provisional 2021/22 local government settlement is 
expected in mid December 2020 with the final settlement expected in late January 
/ early February 2021.

Financial Settlement 2021/22

17 The Council receives its funding through a number of sources; government grant, 
business rates retention income, council tax and charging for some of its services 
through fees and charges.  

18 The financial settlement sets out the Settlement Funding Assessment (SFA) and 
Core Spending Power (CSP) calculation for each authority.  The SFA includes the 
Revenue Support Grant (RSG) and the Baseline Funding Level (BFL), which is 
split between the Business Rate Top Up Grant and target business rates.  RSG 
and the Top Up grant form the main grants received by the Council.  The BFL is 
part of the Business Rates Retention Scheme (BRR).  

Page 56



5

19 The CSP as announced by SR20 will increase by 4.5% nationally.  Detailed figures 
are not yet available on how this will impact on the Council, however assumptions 
are shown in the table below. It will not be directly comparable to the Budget 
presented.  This is because our Budget is based on actual business rates 
received, whereas the CSP illustrates a BFL based on central governments view 
of our need.  CSP also excludes Public Health funding and several other 
unringfenced funding streams that are included within the Council’s Budget.

2020-21 Est. 2021-22

£ millions £ millions
Settlement Funding Assessment 83.9 84.1
of which:
Revenue Support Grant 8.2 8.3
Baseline Funding Level 75.8 75.8
Compensation for under-indexing the 
business rates multiplier 3.0 3.5
Council Tax  315.6 328.3
Improved Better Care Fund 19.4 19.4
New Homes Bonus 2.8 2.4
Social Care Grant 14.0 14.0
Core Spending Power 439.4 451.8

Core Spending Power 

20 The BRR Scheme was introduced from 2013/14.  The Scheme allows the Council 
to retain some of the business rates raised locally and currently the scheme is a 
50% retention scheme. This means the business rate yield is divided equally 
between central and local government. The Council’s share of the locally retained 
element is 20%. The Top Up grant is received in order to protect upper tier 
services (i.e. those with responsibility for children’s and adults social care) with the 
BFL representing the “need” level of the Council.  The Council does not receive 
this BFL as a grant, instead receiving an allocation of 10% of business rates 
raised from the district councils based on the estimate of total business rates to be 
collected.

21 During 2020/21 the Council, was part of a Business Rates Pool with all the district 
councils in Gloucestershire.  This meant that an additional element of growth is 
retained locally. This is detailed more fully in the Business Rate Pool / Pilot section 
below.  The Council, together with the district councils in Gloucestershire, have 
submitted an application to remain as a Business Rates Pool during 2021/22.  
Once the provisional settlement is received in December 2020 this decision will be 
reviewed and confirmed.

22 The move to a 75% BRR scheme is currently on hold however it is assumed that 
this will be introduced in 2022/23, now two years later than originally expected.  It 
is expected that consultation papers on how the new funding system will operate 
will be circulated during 2021.  It has been verbally confirmed that there will be no 
business rates reset for 2021/22, which is good news for the Pool as it enables the 
councils within Gloucestershire to retain more business rates from “growth” than 

Page 57



6

would otherwise be expected had the baseline been reset. 
Other Funding Streams

23 In addition to the main un-ringfenced grants received as part of the BRR system, 
the Council also receives a number of other grants, which central government 
include the CSP of local authorities.  Following the SR19, many of the one off 
grants provided for 2019/20 were confirmed as continuing during 2020/21. SR20 
confirmed that this rollover will happen once again in the absence of a longer term 
outlook by central government.  As a result the following grants will be received for 
2021/22:

 Improved Better Care Fund
This funding stream consists of several funding streams that were announced 
at different times, but have now been combined into one.  This includes the 
original Improved Better Care Fund and additional money that was announced 
on a reducing balance basis from 2017/18.  In addition, one off Winter 
Pressures grant announced for 2019/20 became part of this grant for 2020/21.  
In total for 2020/21 the Council received £19.4 million, and this figure is 
expected again for 2021/22. The Council continues to work closely with Health 
partners to use this funding to facilitate more integrated working between 
health and social care. 

 Social Care Support Grant
This funding included a new grant as part of SR19 for additional support for 
social care combined with existing 2019/20 social care funding.  SR20 
confirmed that this funding stream will continue at a similar level in 2021/22 
(£14 million) to support adults and children social care. An additional £300 
million nationally will also be allocated however the GCC element of this 
additional grant funding is not yet known so is not included in the draft 2021/22 
budget.

 New Homes Bonus (NHB)
The Government introduced the NHB as a cash incentive scheme to reward 
councils for new home completions and for bringing empty homes back into 
use.  This provided match funding for each new property. Over time the 
scheme as been amended and allocations reduced.  SR20 confirmed that the 
legacy payment would continue for two of the three years and that an 
additional payment would be made.  It is expected that the Council’s allocation 
for 2021/22 will be £2.4 million.  This is a reduction on that received in 2020/21 
and reflects the reducing funding from the scheme that was announced as 
part of SR19.  

 Public Health Grant
It is expected that the Council will receive around £24.8million for Public 
Health in 2021/22.

Page 58



7

24 Well over half of the Council’s funding comes from Council Tax – in 2021/22 it is 
anticipated that the Council will generate £292.1 million from Council Tax and 
£36.3 million from the cumulative impact of the Adult Social Care levy (ASC).  The 
general Council Tax referendum limit for upper tier authorities is set at 2% for 
2021/22. SR20 also announced a 3% ASC precept, which can be spread over two 
years. It is proposed to use 2.76% for the 2021/22 budget, which gives an 
increase of £8.7 million on 2020/21 levels.  The budget for 2021/22 therefore 
proposes to raise council tax by 4.75% - 1.99% from general council tax with an 
additional 2.76% from the Adult Social Care Levy. 

25 The budget assumptions usually include an estimated increase in the tax base for 
the county however for 2021/22 this has been set at 0% due to the uncertainties 
as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic and the impact this has had on district 
collection levels.  An increase has been assumed for future years but will be kept 
under review. Confirmation of the final figures will be known before the Budget is 
set in February 2021.  

26 Normally a council tax surplus is included within the Budget figures, however for 
2021/22 no surplus is expected and a breakeven position is currently assumed in 
the draft MTFS. There is however a risk that there will be a deficit position in 
2021/22 – legislation has been proposed by central government meaning that 
these deficits have to be spread over three years. The reason for this potential 
deficit is that more people have had to claim council tax support during the Covid-
19 pandemic.  This has an impact on the estimated taxbase that was calculated 
for 2020/21 and reduces collection levels.  District councils will confirm these 
figures by the 31st January 2021 before the budget is approved by Council in 
February 2021.   SR20 announced that a grant to cover 75% of irrecoverable 
losses would be available to support councils, however the details of the scheme 
will not be known until the provisional settlement is announced in December 2020. 
The 25% of any losses not covered by this scheme could be funded from the 
Rates Retention Fund hence the assumption of a breakeven position in the draft 
2021/22 budget. 

27 Alongside the 2021/22 settlement there are still other significant longer term 
changes that will impact future local government funding. These changes include 
the proposed move to 75% BRR, the Fair Funding Review and the fact that SR20 
is once again just a one-year settlement.  As a result, there is a need for a 2021 
Comprehensive Spending Review.  In additional the Government has delayed its 
intention to bring forward proposals aimed at addressing the long term funding 
solutions for social care.

The Gloucestershire Pool / Pilot

28 The Council entered into a pooling agreement with all six district councils in the 
county in 2013/14. Pooling has provided the Council with a consistent source of 
additional income, despite one year of losses, and given additional resources to 
county wide projects by way of a Strategic Economic Development Fund. 

29 A submission has been made to continue as a Pool for 2021/22.  Following 
modelling work the central case scenario is that gains can still be achieved, 
particularly as it is expected that the retail relief grants will continue into the next 
financial year.  

Page 59



8

Pool Gain Est. Pool Gain Est. Pool Gain
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

£m £m £m
District Share 3.1 2.5 1.7
GCC Share 0.8 0.6 0.4
SEDF Share 1.0 0.8 0.5
Total 4.9 3.9 2.6

Fair Funding Review

30 The National Fair Funding Review will review the underlying needs formula and 
distribution methodology used for assessing need and allocating funding to Local 
Government. It has not been reviewed since 2013.  MHCLG are looking for a 
formula based model with common cost drivers such as population, sparsity and 
deprivation, which are relevant, objective, distinct, stable and future proof.  
Originally, the review was expected to be completed in time to implement the new 
approach by 2019/20 however delays and postponements have meant that it is 
now expected to be implemented in 2022/23.  As consultations are received the 
Council will review and feed back as necessary.  

Page 60



9

E Revenue Budget Proposal 2021/22

31 The proposed revenue budget for 2021/22 totals £480.458 million, a net increase 
of £20.213 million from 2020/21 – this is made up of £27.857 million of investment 
in services offset by £7.644 million of savings and efficiencies. 

32 The Council also receives a number of specific grants. The latest position is as 
follows:- 

Forecast Forecast

2020/21 2021/22
£’000 £’000

Adoption Support Fund - SGO          180             180 
Adult Education Budget (ESFA) 2457 2457
Adult Apprenticeships (ESFA) 226 226

Better Care Fund (joint funding with CCG) 39,453 39,650

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) 268,721 268,721
Extended Rights to Free Travel 503 503
Fire Link Grant 247 254
Fire Pensions Grant 1,093 1,093
Independent Living Fund 895 895
Lead Local Flood 52 52
Local Reform and Community Voices 356 0
Music service 802 802
New Dimension  Service and 
Maintenance Grant 80 80

Primary School PE and Sport Funding 3,524 3,524
Pupil Premium Grant 11,831 11,831
Rapid Rehousing Pathway 711 711
Responding to New Risks (Fire MTFA) 29 29
School Improvement Grant 784 784
Sixth Form Funding 1,493 1,493
Staying Put 260 260
Tackling Troubled Families & PbR       1,148          1,148 
Teacher's Pay Grant       1,499                -   

Teachers Pension Employer Contribution       3,803                -   

The Private Finance Initiative (PFI) 4,875 4,875
Unaccompanied Asylum Seekers 1,000 1,000
Universal Infant Free School Meals Grant 5,376 5,376
Virtual School Head s31 77 77
War pension disregard grant 169 169
Youth Justice Board 490 485
Youth Justice Board - Remands 48 48
Total Ringfenced Grant 352,181 346,723

Ringfenced Revenue Grants, not 
included in Base Funding

COVID-19 

33 The Council has also received £52.517 million Covid-19 related grant funding in 
2020/21 - see latest Financial Monitoring for details. Additional Covid-19 related 
grant funding was announced as part of SR20, including a commitment to cover 
75% of lost income from sales, fees and charges for an additional three months, 
and £1.55 billion nationally for additional covid-19 related expenditure pressures in 
2021/22. 

Page 61



10

34 A summary of the draft budget (excluding specific grants) is provided below. 

Medium Term Financial Strategy – 2021/22 Budget – Overall Summary 

Budget Area Approved 
2020-21 
Budget 

Removal of 
2020-21 One Off 

Budget 
Adjustments

Agreed Budget 
Transfers 
between 

Service Areas

MTFS 2020/21 
Base Budget

Pay Inflation 
Costs

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

Proposed 
2021/22 
Budget

Cash 
Increase / 
Decrease 

Percentage 
Increase / 
Decrease

£'000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 %

Programme Budget Areas

Adults 150,490                            -   341 150,831 1,031 6,964 -3,713 155,113 4,282 2.84%

Vulnerable Children 100,694 -1,761 -698 98,235 1,131 5,631 -4 104,993 6,758 6.88%

Other Children Services 17,970                            -   339 18,309 281 2,400 -112 20,878 2,569 14.03%

Economy, Environment and 
Infrastructure 72,553 -4,505 2,660 70,708 453 4,523 -447 75,237 4,529 6.41%

Community Safety 19,519                            -                           -   19,519 374 129 -13 20,009 490
2.51%

Prevention & Wellbeing 34,387 -60 -61 34,266 45 1,123 -171 35,263 997 2.91%

Corporate Resources 35,066 -2,110 939 33,895 734 923 -961 34,591 696 2.05%

Technical & Countywide 37,504 498 -3,520 34,482 30 2,085 -2,223 34,374 -108 -0.31%

Total Budget 468,183 -7,938                         -   460,245 4,079 23,778 -7,644 480,458 20,213 4.39%

P
age 62



11

35 The 2021/22 draft budget is funded as follows:

£000

Original 2020/21 Budget 468,183

Removal of 2020/21 One Off Investments -7,938

Revised 2019/20 Budget 460,245

Inflation 4,079

Cost and spending increases 23,778

Cost reductions -7,644

Total 2021/22 Budget 480,458
Less:

Top Up Grant 55,323
Business Rates Income 21,902
Revenue Support Grant 8,340
Public Health Grant 24,767
Improved Better Care Fund 19436
New Homes Bonus 2,413
Other Non Ring Fenced Grants 19,107
Collection Fund Surplus 0
Reserves 822

Budget to be met by Council Tax Payers 328,348

Council Tax at Band D = £1,409.22

36 The proposed budget for 2021/22 contains provision to fund key budget pressures 
including estimates for unavoidable contractual inflation, pay (including the impact 
of the National Living Wage), demographic increases in demand led services and 
corporate priorities such as additional funding for Children & Families to fund the 
continuing improvement following the OFSTED inspection. There is uncertainty 
around the impact of the decision for a freeze on pay for parts of public sector. 
The current budget includes 2.75% increase for 21/22 – 0.75% relates to a catch 
up for the 2020/21 pay award..

F Financial Performance in 2020/21

37 The current forecast of the year end revenue position for 2020/21, based on actual 
expenditure at the end of September 2020 and forecasts made in October 2020, is 
a £8.371 million overspend.  It is anticipated that the £3.910 million COVID related 
overspend will be covered by the Government’s lost income reimbursement 
scheme and the non-COVID related overspend of £4.461 million will be balanced 
at the year end as a result of current spending plans being reviewed and a review 
of reserves. 

Page 63



12

38 Details of the forecast year end position, analysed by service area, is provided in 
the table below.

Directorate Breakdown for Cabinet Report - Position October Forecasts 2020 (P7)

Variance

Revised 
2020/21 
Budget

%

£000 £000 £000 % £000 £000 £000

Adults 163,168 180,467 17,299 10.60% 17,299 0 0 

Prevention & Wellbeing 34,659 36,074 1,415 4.08% 1,667 -252 -1 

Children & Families 130,268 144,916 14,648 11.24% 6,979 7,669 247 

Economy, Environment & Infrastructure 81,243 88,338 7,095 8.73% 7,095 0 0 

Community Safety 22,234 22,872 638 2.87% 506 132 183 

Corporate Resources 36,575 40,754 4,179 11.43% 4,211 -32 -83 

Corporate Resources Recharges -36,575 -36,575 0 0.00% 0 0 0 

Total for Services 431,572 476,846 45,274 10.49% 37,757 7,517 346 

Technical & Countywide 36,611 33,555 -3,056 -8.35% 0 -3,056 0 

Base Budget 468,183 510,401 42,218 9.02% 37,757 4,461 346 

Additional Funding Covid-19 to be 
allocated 33,847 0 -33,847 -33,847 0 0 

Revised Total 502,030 510,401 8,371 1.79% 3,910 4,461 346 

Service Area

Forecast 
Outturn 
Position

Forecast 
Outturn 

Variance

Covid-19 
Forecast

Change in 
Variance from that 

previously 
reported 

(excluding Covid-
19)

Forecast 
excluding Covid-

19

39 Further  details  of  the  forecast  year  end  position  can  be  found  in  the  
Financial Monitoring Report 2020/21 presented to Cabinet elsewhere on this 
agenda. The assumption built into the MTFS is that in year pressures will be 
managed and the budget will be balanced at the end of 2020/21. Any 
remaining underspend at the year end will need to be funded from reserves.

G Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG)

40 The Department for Education (DfE) have published illustrative local authority 
level 2021/22 DSG allocations for three of the four DSG blocks: the schools, 
central school services and high needs blocks.  Final allocations for those DSG 
blocks will be announced as usual in December 2020, based on pupil numbers 
recorded in the October 2020 census and on the national funding formula 
(NFF) for each block.

41 The indicative early years block of the DSG will be announced by the DfE in 
December 2020 and then be updated further in summer 2021 and summer 
2022 for the January pupil counts.

Page 64



13

42 The illustrative 2021/22 DSG (before any changes for the updated census data 
that will be announced in December 2020) is shown below. These include 
funding for teachers’ pay and pension costs that were previously funded 
through separate grants. 

43 The 2021/22 growth funding element of the schools block has not yet been 
announced so the schools total above currently includes growth funding at the 
2020/21 level. 

44 As no information has been received yet about the 2021/22 Early Years block 
funding that block has been included above at its current 2020/21 level.

Schools Block and Schools National Funding Formula (NFF).

45 In light of the need to focus efforts on meeting the challenges of Coronavirus 
(COVID-19), the local authorities’ role in the distribution of school funding 
remains unchanged. The Government will, later this year, put forward its 
proposals to introduce a ‘hard’ NFF in the near future, which will determine 
schools’ budgets directly rather than through local formulae set independently 
by each local authority. 

46 Currently the DfE uses the national funding formula to set notional allocations 
for each school, which are then aggregated, and used to calculate the total 
schools block received by each local authority (LA). LAs are then responsible 
for setting a local schools formula, in consultation with their schools and 
Schools Forum.

47 The key changes and clarifications for 2021/22 are:
 The pre 16 elements of the teachers pay and pension grants have been 

added into the NFF in 2021/22 and will therefore be in schools’ core 
budgets rather than paid as separate grants. This has been done by 
increasing school baselines and adding £180 per primary pupil and £265 
per secondary pupil to the basic entitlement (age weighted pupil unit) 
factor.

 Minimum per pupil funding (MPPF) increases to £5,150 per secondary 
pupil and £4,000 per primary pupil, (currently £5,000 and £3,750). It is 
then further increased for the inclusion of the teacher pay and pensions 
funding by £265 secondary and £180 primary to £5,415 secondary and 

Page 65



14

£4,180 primary per pupil. These rates continue to remain compulsory in 
2021/22 as a first step towards hardening the NFF.

 The total Sparsity Factor funding for small and remote schools increases 
nationally by over 60%. By sectors the increase is 73% in primary from a 
maximum of £26,000 in 2020/21 to £45,000 in 2021/22 and for secondary 
and increase of 11% from the 2020/21 maximum of £67,500 to a 2021/22 
maximum of £75,000.   The DfE announcement says this is to reflect the 
financial challenges that these schools can face, and the unique role they 
play in local communities. 

 An update has been made to the Income Deprivation Affecting Children 
Index (IDACI) data used for deprivation funding, so that it is based on 
ranking rather than scores and so that it is based on the latest 2019 data 
rather than the previous 2015 data. A change has also been made to the 
allocation rate to reflect the data changes and further increases to the 
funding blocks

 An additional funding floor protection is included in the NFF to ensure 
each school is allocated at least 2% more pupil-led funding per pupil 
when compared to its 2020/21 NFF allocations. 

48 The actual position for school budgets in 2021/22 will not be known until the 
final DSG and revised pupil data is received in December 2020 which will 
change the picture at local authority and school level. This final position will be 
presented at the 14th January 2021 Schools Forum meeting.

High Needs Block

49 Gloucestershire’s indicative allocation for high needs for 2021/22 is £73.9 
million, an increase of £7.5 million of which £1.1 million relates to the transfer 
of teachers pay and pension grant funding into the DSG and £6.4 million 
(9.7%) represents the additional funds increase.

50 Gloucestershire’s high needs block, like most LAs nationally is currently in 
deficit. A deficit budget of £5.449 million was set for 20/21 to give realistic 
budgets within high needs services considering growth trends and existing 
activity demands. In-year there is significant demand for special school 
provision and with special school places at capacity a £0.75 million pressure 
has been reported against independent special school provision. The LA and 
Schools Forum are looking at proposals on how to resolve this deficit, and 
initiatives to tackle need more effectively and reduce costs in the long run.

Central School Services Block (CSSB)

51 The CSSB includes funding for on-going responsibilities of LAs for the 
statutory duties that they hold for both maintained schools and academies. It 
includes funding for Admissions, School Forum coordination, copyright 
licences and centrally retained duties. The allocation is based on a formula 
using pupil numbers (90%), free school meals (Ever 6, 10%) with an area cost 
adjustment applied. The indicative rate per pupil for 2021/22 has increased by 
92 pence to £32.86 resulting in a £0.074m (2.9%) increase in the block total 
compared to the previous year.

Page 66



15

Early Years Block

52 In July 2020 notification was received of the uplift in the Early Years block for 
the January 2020 census pupil numbers and the 2020/21 block increased by 
£0.688 million to a total value of £34.868 million. There will be a further update 
in the summer of 2021 following the January pupil count which will amend the 
2020/21 block value for the spring only based on the latest guidance. 
Indicative figures for the early years block for 2021/22 will be amended at this 
point as well.

H Council Tax

53 The Council’s current 2020/21 Band D Council Tax is £1,345.32, including the 
Adult Social Care Precept.  For 2021/22 it is proposed that Council Tax will 
increase by 1.99% plus an additional 2.76% for the Adult Social Care Precept 
thereby making Band D Council Tax £1,409.22 (an increase of £63.90 or just 
under £1.23 per week).

54 Forecast Council Tax levels for each band are shown below.

Budget on 2020/21
£ £

A £939.48 £42.60
B £1,096.06 £49.70
C £1,252.64 £56.80
D £1,409.22 £63.90
E £1,722.38 £78.10
F £2,035.54 £92.30
G £2,348.70 £106.50
H £2,818.44 £127.80

Band 2021/22 Increase

Nearly two-thirds of households in Gloucestershire are in Bands A, B or C.

I The Robustness of the Budget Proposals

55 The MTFS and proposed detailed budget for 2021/22 have been formulated in 
accordance with the medium term financial planning framework and budget 
principles as detailed in Annex 4.

56 The starting point for producing the MTFS for the next three years and the 
detailed budget proposals for 2021/22 is the 2020/21 MTFS.

57 The proposed 2021/22 budget and future years’ budgets takes into account 
forecast funding changes, new unavoidable commitments, strategic risks, the 
level of reserves, changes in legislation and Administration / Council Strategy 
priorities. 

Page 67



16

J Flexible Use of Capital Receipts

58 As part of the local government settlement for 2016/17 Government announced 
greater flexibility for councils in how they make use of capital receipts.  Councils 
were previously only allowed to use capital receipts for repaying debt or funding 
further capital spend.  The rules now allow new capital receipts to be used to fund 
the revenue costs of transformation projects designed to generate ongoing 
revenue savings in the delivery of public services or to transform service delivery 
in a way that reduces costs or demand for services in the future.  

59 The proposed budget 2021/22 does not anticipate the use of capital receipts in 
this way. However, given the on going transformation programme and the 
financial challenges faced by the Council as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic it 
may become necessary to consider using capital receipts in this flexible manner 
in future. Using capital receipts in this way will require the approval of the County 
Council.

60 When developing and adopting a Flexible Use of Capital Receipts Strategy the 
impact on the Council’s Prudential Indictors will be carefully considered.   

K Council’s Financial Standing and Risks

61 Under the Local Government Act 2003 the Council has a responsibility to 
ensure that reserves are adequate. During 2020/21 all reserves have been 
examined in detail.

62 A summary of the Council’s forecast reserves as at 31st March 2020, and 
movements since 31st March 2021 are as follows:

31st March 31st March 

  2020        2021

  £000        £000

Earmarked Revenue Reserves -Non Schools 101,807     63,275
Earmarked Reserves – School Related     8,625          909
General Fund Reserves   18,846     18,846

63 The current level of General Reserves is considered to be a satisfactory level 
by the Council’s s151 officer following a risk based review – see Annex 5b.

64 Non School Revenue Earmarked Reserves are forecast to fall from £101.807 
million as at 31st March 2020, to £63.275 million as at 31st March 2021, a 
reduction of £38.532 million. This is largely as a result of drawdowns from the 
Revenue Grants Reserve (£15.987 million, relating to Tranche 1Covid-19 
Grant funding), Capital Fund (£5.193 million), Adults Reserve (£5.430 million), 
Transformation Reserve (£3.848 million), Rates Retention Reserve (£2.291 
million), Economic Stimulus Reserve (£2.167 million), Strategic Waste Reserve 
(£1.497 million), A417 Missing Reserve (£0.987 million), Growing our 
Communities Reserves (£0.798 million),  to support in year budget pressures. 

Page 68



17

65 School Related Reserves are forecast to reduce from £8.625 million at 31st 
March 2020, to £0.909 million as at 31st March 2021, as a result of the forecast 
over spend on the Dedicated School Grant. The DSG reserve is anticipated to 
be in a £14.432 million deficit position as at 31st March 2021, as a result a full 
recovery plan is currently being developed with the Schools Forum. 

66 It is anticipated that Capital Reserves will remain at similar levels as those held 
at 31st March 2020.

67 Annex 5a provides further detail on the Earmarked Reserves, including all of 
the proposed and forecast reserve movements during the year.

L Section 151 Officer Review of the Budget

68 In October 2019 a new requirement to have regard to the CIPFA Financial 
Management Code (FM Code) was introduced, with the 2020/21 financial year 
being a shadow year before full implementation from April 2021.  The Council 
has reviewed the new requirements of the FM Code and has concluded that 
processes are in place to ensure compliance.  

69 The level of General Reserves needs to reflect the risks the Council is facing. 
These risks will depend upon the robustness of the budgets, the ability to 
generate planned savings / efficiencies, the adequacy of budgetary control and 
external factors such as inflation and interest rates. Other specific risks include 
the ability to find a solution to the high needs block overspend within DSG, 
increased demand for Adult and Children’s social care, pay awards exceeding 
the level assumed in the budget and funding both the OFSTED and HMICFRS 
improvement plans. Further details of general reserve risk analysis can be 
found in Annex 5b.

70 In preparing the budget, and in the context that non schools earmarked 
reserves will fall during 2020/21, the following risks have been taken into 
account in the budget:

 Account has been taken of current spending trends and, where known, 
additional unavoidable cost pressures have been built into the proposed 
2021/22 budget. Current spending trends, especially the volatility of 
expenditure in Children and Families and the emergence of new cost 
pressures will continue to be monitored as the budget is developed. This may 
result in the need to reprioritise resources prior to the final budget being 
approved by Council in February 2021.

 Budget risks have been explicitly considered by all Directorates in preparing 
the budget and taken into account, particularly the funding constraints going 
forward.

 The level of reserves has been examined and will continue to be closely 
monitored during the period of this MTFS, in the context of protecting the 
Council from existing and future liabilities.

Page 69



18

 Balancing the Council’s budget over this period of financial constraint requires 
a series of major challenges. Whilst robust programme management plans 
have been put into place to deliver these savings, as evidenced by 
performance over the last three years, there is inevitably some residual risk. It 
should be noted that the 2021/22 saving target of £7.644 million is significantly 
lower than the savings target for 2020/21 of £10.545 million.

 The highest risk areas continue to be demand led services, especially care for 
older and vulnerable people including Children in Care where demand is 
continuing to increase. Additional resources are being invested in these areas 
under the proposed 2021/22 budget options.

 Provision has been made for pay awards, pension and national insurance 
increases, contractual inflationary pressures and the forecast impact of the 
National Living Wage.

 The reserves held are invested and the interest received supports the 
Council’s budget. 

 Consideration to the funding pressures within the DSG High Needs Block 
Funding has been made. Whilst the Council has a programme in place to 
resolve this issue and will benefit from additional funding in 2021/22 this issue 
will need to be closely monitored during 2021/22 and beyond.

71 The COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in significant financial pressures for the 
Council during 2020/21 however central government have provided additional 
funding and the latest forecast for 2020/21 is that the additional funding will be 
sufficient to cover the costs of responding to the pandemic. The financial 
impact in 2021/22 is uncertain however the assumption included in the draft 
MTFS is that additional central government funding announced in SR20 will be 
sufficient to cover additional costs in the new financial year.

72 On the basis of the above, the Section 151 Officer’s  advice is that the level of 
reserves, following the movements indicated earlier, are adequate and the 
financial standing of the Council is sound in the context of the key risks. 
Therefore the proposed budget is robust and achievable. As mentioned earlier 
in the report the finance settlement is only expected to cover a single financial 
year so funding beyond 2021/22 is uncertain therefore making medium term 
financial planning more difficult.

M Public Sector Equality Duty 

73 A Due Regard Statement is being drafted and will be updated in January 2021 
to include the evidence base about service users and workforce, and the final 
budget proposals.

Page 70



19

N Forward Draft Plans for the Revenue Budget 

74 The Council’s plans are set for the three years covering 2021/22 to 2023/24. 
The proposed detailed budget for 2021/22 is set out within the MTFS, whilst 
the current draft forecast budgets for 2022/23 and 2023/24 are:

2022/23     2023/24
£m £m

Budget 490.04  502.48             

75 Annex 6 gives outline financial proposals for 2022/23 and 2023/24, and will be 
updated as further information about funding and pressures becomes 
available.

Capital Strategy and the Prudential Code

76 The prudential framework for local authority capital investment was introduced 
through the Local Government Act 2003.  CIPFA developed the Prudential 
Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the Code) as a professional 
code of practice to support local authorities in taking decisions on capital 
investments.  The Code was fully updated in 2017 bringing in a new 
requirement for a Capital Strategy.

77 The Capital Strategy, Annex 7, has been developed in line with the CIPFA 
guidance.  It gives a high-level overview of how capital expenditure, capital 
financing and treasury management activity contribute to the provision of local 
public services along with an overview of how associated risk is managed and 
the implications for future financial sustainability.

78 The objectives of the Code are:

 To ensure that capital expenditure and investment plans are affordable.

 For the Council to be accountable by providing a clear and transparent 
framework.

 All external borrowing and other long-term liabilities are within prudent and 
sustainable levels.

 Treasury management and other investment decisions are taken in 
accordance with professional good practice.

79 The Council’s Capital Strategy sets out the long-term context in which capital 
expenditure and investment decisions are made and gives due consideration 
to both risk and reward and the impact on the achievement of priority 
outcomes.  The capital strategy forms part of the Council’s integrated revenue, 
capital and balance sheet planning.

80 The Council complies with the Prudential Code by:

 Having a Capital Strategy,

Page 71



20

 Having medium term plans (Corporate Strategy, Revenue and Capital 
budgets),

 Complying with the Treasury Management Code of Practice, and

 Producing indicators for affordability and prudence.

81 The capital programme has been developed in accordance with the Capital 
Strategy which is set out in Annex 7.

P Capital Expenditure

82 The proposed capital programme is set out in Annex 8a, with details of the 
financing of this programme being provided at the start of this Annex.

83 The capital programme provides investment in the county totalling £904.65 
million.  The main investment relates to Economy, Environment and 
Infrastructure (£572.78 million), Schools and facilities for children (£149.57 
million), Corporate Resources (£143.04 million) and Adults (£32.58 million).  

New Capital Investment 

84 The capital programme contains an estimate of £112.58 million of new 
investment on capital schemes, spread over a number of financial years 
financed from grants, revenue contributions and capital financing budgets, as 
set out in the table below.

Page 72



21

New Capital Funding £000

Adults – Disabled Facilities Grant 2021/22 (estimate) 6,030

Children's Services – Schools Condition Allocation 2021/22 (estimate) 4,500

Infrastructure – Highways Block Maintenance Grant 2021/22 (estimate) 14,350

Infrastructure – Highways Block Maintenance Grant - Incentive Element 
2021/22 (estimate) 2,989

Infrastructure – Integrated Transport Block Grant 2021/22 (estimate) 2,861

Infrastructure – Pothole Action Fund 2021/22 (estimate) 1,435

Total Grant 32,165

Internal Borrowing - Highways 4,000

Internal Borrowing - New MTFS Bids 75,918

Total Capital Financing Budgets 79,918

Revenue contributions – Highways (estimate) 500

Total Revenue Contributions 500

Total New Capital Funding 2021/22 onwards 112,583

85 Priority schemes not supported by grants or contributions, have been included 
within the new programme on the basis that they can be funded from internal 
borrowing, thereby avoiding the need for new external borrowing. These new 
schemes recommended for approval amount to £75.92 million, which are 
detailed in Annex 8b. The £4.00 million of internal borrowing, listed separately 
in the table above, is the future years’ element of the £16.00 million approved 
last year to invest in Highways structural maintenance.

Adults

86 An indicative figure for the Disabled Facilities Grant of £6.03 million has been 
included for 2021/22 based on the allocation received for 2020/21.

Children’s Services

87 An indicative figure for the Schools Condition Allocation of £4.50 million has 
been included for 2021/22 based on the allocation received for 2020/21.

Page 73



22

Economy, Environment and Infrastructure

88 The Council receives capital grants from the Department of Transport for 
Highways Maintenance Block and Integrated Transport Block.

89 Indicative figures for the Maintenance Block Grant allocations have been 
included based on the allocations received for 2020/21. £14.35 million for the 
main Maintenance Block Grant allocation and £2.99 million for the Incentive 
Element of the Maintenance Block Grant allocation. 

90 An indicative figure for the Integrated Transport Block Grant of £2.86 million 
has been included for 2021/22 based on the allocation received for 2020/21.

91 An estimate of £1.44 million is included for the Pothole Action Fund.

Q Borrowing

92 Total borrowing requirement at the end of 2020/21 (including the new Waste 
financing liability) is forecast to be £393.7 million, an increase of £3.9 million 
compared with the £389.8 million outstanding at the end of 2019/20.  It is 
intended to use internal borrowing to meet this additional borrowing 
requirement.  

93 If external borrowing were required it would previously have been obtained 
from the Public Works Loans Board (PWLB), usually at fixed rates of interest, 
over a set number of years.  

94 In recent years, due to the significant differential between interest rates 
charged by the PWLB and interest earned on invested balances, the Council 
has internally funded borrowing from investment balances (mainly reserves).  
This strategy, currently followed by the majority of local authorities, essentially 
involves lending investment balances to ourselves to reduce overall interest 
costs.  Since the increase in PWLB rates, the Council will now also look to 
borrow any long-term loans (should there be a need to externalise internal 
borrowing) from other sources including banks, pensions and local authorities, 
in order to lower interest costs and reduce over-reliance on one source of 
funding in line with the CIPFA Code.

95 In line with the Council’s aim to reduce the level of external borrowing required, 
capital receipts are used to fund some capital expenditure. This funding is 
mainly used to repay debt or finance capital expenditure to avoid new 
borrowing.   A Disposal Schedule will be considered by Cabinet in March 2021 
in line with the Disposal Strategy. All forecast capital receipts are currently 
being used to fund the existing capital programme so it is not anticipated that 
this will be a source of funding for new schemes approved in this MTFS.  

96 The proposed capital programme includes significant new investment – the 
vast majority of projects will be funded from government grants or capital 
financing budgets.  In addition internal borrowing is also used.  Three major 
investment projects have previously been agreed and included in the current 
capital programme - Cheltenham School, Quayside development and highway 
investment.  From 2021/22 a number of additional schemes have been 
agreed which will be funded internally, totalling £75.92 million (see annex 8b). 

Page 74



23

97 The Council will remain open to the potential for capital investment 
opportunities arising from commercial activities linked to regeneration. Any 
such opportunities will be subject to a robust business case with the 
assumption that the scheme is self funding with no impact on the revenue 
budget. A provisional sum of £50 million has been included in the draft capital 
programme for such schemes. Such investments will be reviewed on a case 
by case basis and will be subject to Cabinet approval. 

R Treasury Management and Investment Strategy

98 The proposed Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2021/22 is shown in 
Annex 9.

99 It will be considered by the Audit and Governance Committee in January 2021 
alongside the Capital Strategy and Non Treasury Investment Strategy - any 
comments will be reported to Cabinet on 29th January 2021.

100 Annex 9 provides details of:

 Treasury Management Strategy for 2021/22.

 Non Treasury Management Investment Strategy 2021/22.

 Policy on the use of Financial Derivatives.

 Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Statement. 

101 The proposed Treasury Management Strategy and Investment Strategy for 
2021/22 follows that approved for 2020/21.

S Annexes

Annex 1 Commissioning Intentions
Annex 2 Budget Movements by Service Area

Annex 3 Budget Summaries by Service Area
Annex 4 Medium Term Financial Planning Framework 
Annex 5a Reserves and Balances Analysis
Annex 5b General Fund Risk Analysis
Annex 6 Revenue Budget Forward Projections
Annex 7 Capital Strategy 
Annex 8a Capital Programme 2021/22
Annex 8b New Schemes 2021/22 Funded from Capital Receipts

Annex 9 Treasury Management Strategy and Investment Strategy

Page 75



24

Annex 1.1 – Adults Social Care Commissioning Intentions 2021-22

Context

The 2021/22 net budget for Adult Social Care is £155.1million, the single biggest 
area of expenditure of the County Council.  We support approximately 25,000 
people who have a disability, are vulnerable, or live with an age-related disorder, 
as well as commissioning services aimed at addressing social care and health 
inequalities, promoting health and well being. We work in partnership with our 
service users and carers, health, housing and the third sector to maximise 
people’s potential for independence, meeting assessed need within a legal 
framework most notably as set out in the Care Act 2014.

The net budget does not include the Central Government grant funding to meet 
the cost to adult services of responding to the Covid-19 pandemic within the 
County.  As the Local Government Association (LGA) wrote on its submission to 
the Health and Social Care Committee inquiry into Social care: funding and 
workforce: The Covid-19 pandemic has shone an important light on the work of our 
invaluable social care workforce, who are providing care and support to all who need it in 
the most challenging of circumstances. Adult social care and support is a vital service in 
helping people of all ages to live the life they want to lead. It binds our communities, helps 
sustain the NHS and provides essential economic value to our county. 

Strategic Direction

Despite the additional pressure and restrictive nature of the Pandemic, our 
strategic ambition continues to be to support people to live independently.  This 
reflects the national policy framework created by Think Local Act Personal, which 
built on the direction set by “Putting People First” with its focus on community 
support and involvement, early intervention, prevention and reablement services. 
This has also been reinforced by the detailed guidance released in support of the 
Care Act 2014. As part of this, and for those people who have ongoing needs, we 
want to ensure we put each individual service user in control of their care and 
support, offering choice, providing professional advice and enabling their voice to 
be heard, with the ultimate aim of improving outcomes for people.

We are reducing reliance on institutional care, creating innovative alternatives and 
encouraging the use of universal services, whilst recognising that there will always 
be a place for specialists too. We are also addressing the wider responsibilities in 
the Act for carers and for all people with care needs and not just those we support.  
We are also continuing to promote an ethos of early intervention and prevention as 
an integral element to our intentions. Improvements continue, including with 
reducing the reliance on residential and nursing care and the use of self directed 
support.

We continue to increase the numbers of people supported to live independently 
through the use of technology (telecare) and continue to make progress in 
supporting people with disabilities into employment. We have also devoted 
additional resources to ensuring timely hospital discharge and are actively 
addressing the timeliness of assessment work and the robustness of our 
intermediate care offer.

Page 76



25

Although the focus in this document is on Adult Social Care, most of our 
commissioning work is carried out jointly with the Gloucestershire Clinical 
Commissioning Group (GCCG) and many of the intentions referred to reflect joint 
priorities. During 2021/22 and beyond the Council will also work with GCCG and 
other local Health partners on the developments needed to take full advantage of 
Gloucestershire’s Integrated Care System (ICS) status.  

Needs Analysis

The Impact of Covid:

Studies by the Local Government Association on the impact of Covid highlight 7 
key pressure points on social care services:  

1. Reduced care capacity due to services closing and workforce isolation/sickness 
2. Covid-19 hospital discharges present new challenges for 
reablement/enablement providers and care providers
3. The challenge of communal living with high risk people in Covid hotspots, e.g. 
care home, including risks to staff
4. Workforce availability and challenges with supply of device and hardware to 
ensure telecare continuity
5. Detrimental impact of long-term social isolation on mental health and wellbeing
6. Digital exclusion of vulnerable residents/service users to maintain contact and 
daily living
7. Increased caring responsibilities of informal carers due to a reduction of 
availability of care and/or to support their family to remain isolated/shielded

The number of adults aged 18 and over in Gloucestershire is projected to rise from 
505,400 to 600,800 between 2018 and 2043. The 18-64 age group is projected to 
increase by 6.6%, from 370,400 to 394,900 in this period whilst the 65 and over 
age group is projected to increase by 52.5% from 135,000 to 205,900. These 
increases are both higher than the projected increases for these age groups in 
England in the same period (3.5% for the 18-64 age group and 44.7% for the 65 
and over age group.  

In 2020, an estimated 28,000 older people in private households have a long-term 
illness or disability that limits their day-to-day activities a lot. The number will 
increase to nearly 37,000 by 2030, and most of this increase will be in the 75-84 
and over-85s age groups.

Benefit claims data suggest that currently, the most common long-term health and 
disabling conditions among older people that require care and support were 
arthritis, dementia/neurological disease, heart disease and musculoskeletal 
disease. Projections for the next 10 years indicate that the biggest increases in 
numbers would be for cardiovascular disease and obesity.

The number of older people unable to manage at least one mobility activity on 
their own is projected to rise from 25,800 to 33,800 between 2020 and 2030. At 
the same time, the number unable to manage at least one self-care activity will 
increase from 40,000 to 51,800 in the same period.

Page 77



26

In 2018/19, a total of 6,129 people of all ages in Gloucestershire were diagnosed 
with dementia, more than twice the number diagnosed in 2009/10. Modelled data 
estimates that as of 2020, a total of 9,900 people aged 65+ in Gloucestershire 
have dementia. This is projected to rise to 13,400 in 2030.

Studies suggest that the level of unmet social care need is higher among older 
people on low incomes than those on higher incomes. In Gloucestershire, 8 
neighbourhood areas were ranked among the national top 10% income 
deprivations affecting older people. In November 2019, 5,644 people aged 65+ 
were receiving Guarantee Credit, a state benefit that tops up their weekly income.

Loneliness compounds the need for social care because of the link between 
persistent loneliness and increased health risk. Using national studies, it was 
calculated that around 6,000 older people in Gloucestershire feel lonely always or 
often. A local survey reveals that 5% of social care service users aged 65+ had 
little social contact with people and felt isolated, and a further 15% had some 
social contact but not enough. 

Modelling suggests that currently around 12,100 older people in Gloucestershire 
have depression, with 3,800 of these suffering from the severe form. Both figures 
are projected to rise considerably in the next 10 years as the population ages.

Lack of access to a car presents particular problems in areas where public 
transport services to health care and community facilities are limited. In 
Gloucestershire, one in five over-65s did not have access to a car according to 
Census 2011. Among those with a long-term illness or disability that limited their 
daily activities a lot, the proportion with no access to a car nearly doubled.

An ONS study suggests older people’s use of the internet has been consistently 
lower than the younger age groups, but the proportions using the internet are 
increasing. However, use of the internet remains low among the over-75s who 
have a disability, at 41%.

There are an estimated 20,200 informal carers aged 65+ in Gloucestershire in 
2020, and the number is projected to increase to 25,100 in 2030. The largest rate 
of increase would be in the number providing 50+ hours of care a week.

The latest Carer Survey for Gloucestershire suggests that eight in ten carers aged 
65+ receiving council-funded services were caring for an older person. They were 
also more likely than those in the general population to provide long hours of care 
and in poor health.

The same survey also suggests that quality of life most adversely impacted on by 
caring for older people was around social isolation, lack of encourage and support, 
lack of control over life and not doing things they enjoy with their time.  

Various measures suggest that old-age in itself is not necessarily felt as a deficit 
among many older people. On personal wellbeing, a higher proportion of older 
people have reported very high level of life satisfaction, worthwhileness and 
happiness than the younger age groups. The 65-74 age group, in particular, 

Page 78



27

shows a relatively high level of social capital compared to other age groups e.g. to 
have volunteered in the past 12 months, be interested in politics, and be members 
of political, voluntary, professional or recreational organisations.

It is estimated that in 2020 there will be 3,400 people in Gloucestershire aged 18-
64 who have a serious personal care need and 15,600 who have a moderate care 
need, as a result of a physical disability. Both numbers are expected to increase 
slightly between 2020 and 2025 and then to fall slightly between 2025 and 2030.

For both working-age and older people in Gloucestershire, arthritis and other 
musculoskeletal diseases are the most common physical disabling condition for 
claiming disability benefits.  This is followed by neurological diseases for the 
under-65s, and heart disease and cerebrovascular disease for the over-65s.

Many people with a physical disability have complex needs. Some of the most 
common conditions that people with physical disabilities also experience are long-
term pain, depression and mental health conditions. 

A Gloucestershire survey by Barnwood Trust, carried out in 2013, found that 73% 
of local people with mobility impairments had a high level of sense of belonging to 
their local area. The proportion, however, dropped to 54% among those with a 
sensory impairment.

Around four-fifths of carers in England providing physical or sensory support have 
difficulty finding time to do the things they enjoy and around two-thirds say they do 
not have enough social contact with people.

People with learning disabilities have poorer health outcome than the general 
population, much of which is avoidable. 

Modelled data estimates that currently nearly 12,000 adults in Gloucestershire 
have a learning disability, with those aged between 18 and 64 accounting for 
three-quarters of the total. However, the rate of increase in the next 10 years is 
predicted to be most steep in the older age groups as life expectancy improves.

People with a severe or moderate learning disability are more likely to have a 
social care need than those with mild conditions. Modelling suggest that in 
Gloucestershire, one in five adults who have a learning disability have a moderate 
or severe form of the condition, with the majority being under the age of 65.

Patient Register records show that the number of diagnosed cases for a learning 
disability of all ages in Gloucestershire rose by 15.8% between 2014/15 and 
2018/19, from 3,403 to 3,941 people.

As of May 2019, a total of 3,163 people aged 16 or over in Gloucestershire were 
claiming a benefit for a learning disability condition. Nearly all of them (98%) were 
assessed as having a care or support need. Data shows that the majority of these 
(66.9%) were receiving the high or enhanced rate of the benefit, suggesting 
considerable, long-term personal care and support needs.

Page 79



28

Autistic Spectrum Disorder (ASD) is not a learning disability, but around half of 
people with autism may have a learning disability. Modelled data and calculations 
suggest that in Gloucestershire, around 3,200 adults currently have a learning 
disability as a result of ASD. The number is expected to rise to 3,500 in 2030.

A person with Down’s syndrome will have some degree of learning disability, but 
the level varies between individuals. Modelling suggests that in Gloucestershire, 
Down’s syndrome affects around 255 adults aged 18 and over in 2020, and the 
majority are under the age of 65.

Challenging behaviour is not a learning disability, but people with a learning 
disability are more likely to show challenging behaviour, partly due to 
communication problems. Modelled estimates suggest that challenging behaviour 
affects around 170 adults aged 18-64 in 2020 in Gloucestershire, with the number 
projected to remain stable in the next 10 years.

Many people with learning disabilities have complex need, as they are likely to 
also develop other long-term health conditions, such as speech impairment, vision 
impairment, and hearing loss.  

People with learning disabilities are also at an increased risk of developing 
dementia as they age, and they generally develop it at a younger age than the 
general population. This is particularly the case for people with Down’s syndrome. 
Studies found that people with learning disabilities are less likely to receive a 
correct or early diagnosis of dementia.

The National survey of carers suggests that compared to other groups of carers, 
carers providing learning disability support were more likely to provide 100 or more 
hour of care each week, and more likely to have a learning disability themselves

The same survey also suggests that quality of life most adversely impacted on by 
caring for people with a learning disability was around worries about personal 
safety, lack of encouragement and support, social isolation, and self-neglect.

The PANSI model estimates that in 2020, around 70,000 people aged 18-64 in 
Gloucestershire will have a common mental disorder, 12,300 will have antisocial 
personality disorder, 8,900 will have borderline personality disorder and 2,600 will 
have a psychotic disorder.

There is a link between mental health and alcohol and drug use. It is estimated 
that in Gloucestershire, an estimated 16,500 people aged 18-64 are at higher risk 
of alcohol related health problems and a further 12,200 will be dependent on drugs 
in 2020. Research also shows an association between child sexual abuse and 
childhood and adult mental disorders. It is estimated that in 2020 there will be 
42,700 adults aged 18-64 in Gloucestershire who experienced abuse as a child. 

Long-term illness or disability can lead to mental health issues, making the needs 
more complex.  It is estimated that in England 46% of people with a mental health 
problem have a long-term health condition and 30% of people with a chronic 
physical health condition have a mental health condition. An estimated 34% of 

Page 80



29

people who have sight loss report feeling unhappy or depressed. Research also 
shows that lonely people are more likely to experience depression, and the lonelier 
a person is, the more likely they are to experience increased depressive 
symptoms.

There were 172 suicides in Gloucestershire in the three year period from 2016 to 
2018. The rate for males is consistently higher than that for females. 60% of carers 
providing support with memory and cognition and 63% of carers providing mental 
health support have a long-standing illness or disability. Carers providing mental 
health support are more likely than other carers to experience mental health 
problem themselves.

A survey by Barnwood Trust, carried out in Gloucestershire in 2013, found that 
people with mental health challenges were less likely to feel a sense of belonging 
to their local area compared with other disability groups; 43% of respondents with 
a mental health challenge said they felt they belonged to their area compared with, 
for example, 73% of people with a mobility impairment and 54% of people with a 
sensory impairment. 

There were 62,644 unpaid carers (10.5% of the population) in Gloucestershire in 
2011. A small proportion of carers were children under the age of 16 (1.7%) but 
the majority were aged 50 or over (64%). If the proportion of carers in the 
population stays the same, the number of carers aged 65 and over is predicted to 
rise from 20,157 in 2020 to 25,077 in 2030, a rise of 24.4%, with the greatest 
increase predicted for 80-84 year-olds (53.35%).

Census 2011 shows that 7.2% of the Black and Minority Ethnic (BME) population 
in Gloucestershire were carers, compared to 10.7% of the white population. This is 
mainly because BME groups have an age profile that is significantly younger than 
the white majority population. As the BME population ages, the proportion of BME 
carers is likely to increase.

National studies show that 40% of unpaid carers look after a parent, 18% look 
after a spouse, partner, or cohabitee, and 17% look after a son or daughter.

Research by Carers UK suggests that carers caring for long hours are more likely 
to experience poor health themselves and less likely to be economically active. 
Many carers face difficult financial situations due to their caring responsibilities. 
39% of all carers are struggling to make ends meet and of these, 68% regularly 
use their own income or savings to pay for care or support services, equipment or 
products for the person they care for.

Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021/22

In line with the strategic direction set out above, we have a series of projects 
targeted at living within our means and adjusting to meeting demand differently. 
Most of these are designed around the implementation of national policy and good 
practice – expanding on the model of reablement, working in multidisciplinary 
teams whilst increasing our investment in the management of the social care 

Page 81



30

function, avoiding crisis, commissioning differently, listening to our service users 
and improving the customer journey. We also continue to look at our processes.
Looking Forward

The proposed net budget for 21/22 is £156.5m and includes funding to address 
the impact of demographic changes and cost pressures including the National 
Living Wage.  Recognising that not all pressures can be addressed within the 
resources available and in the context of our intentions to improve outcomes, we 
will seek to achieve financial balance in adult services by:

 continuing to strengthen our assessment and care management function whilst 
also developing stronger links with primary care as part of the integrated 
multidisciplinary place based model

 supporting more people to live independently in the community
 develop our offer to carers in line with Care Act requirements
 improving transitions to adult services for children with special needs by 

ensuring they are prepared adequately for independence in adulthood from the 
age of 16

 being more responsive to potential demand through early intervention and 
prevention

 developing specialist services enabling people with behavioural issues to 
maintain their independence

 continuing with our cultural change work which supports both staff and service 
users to reflect on their attitude to managing risk in everyday life

 working with the NHS to better case manage people at risk of crisis or in need 
of urgent support, facilitate timelier discharges from hospital and reduce 
admissions and readmissions

 supporting a Population Health Management approach with a particular focus 
on making better use of data available across organisations to promote 
proactive case finding (people pre at a risk of crisis stage but where an 
intervention now will have significant medium and longer term health and well 
being gains)

 further improvements in the efficiency and effectiveness of services we 
commission including those commissioned jointly with the Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG)

 decommissioning services that are no longer peoples’ preferred choice as they 
opt to meet their needs in different ways

 stimulating the market and empowering communities who want to be involved
 working with District Councils and Housing Associations to both enhance the 

specialist housing offer and future-proof new-build homes to enable all lives to 
be lived as independently as possible

 working with partners to develop new opportunities for volunteering
 building on our success with helping people into the workplace by exploring 

innovative employment links to increase the number of disabled people in paid 
work

 continuing to actively review high unit cost contracts to seek efficiencies 
including tighter management of voids in shared housing

 develop jointly with the CCG the Shared Lives service in the county

Page 82



31

 ensuring our Telecare offer helps people to live independently through 
solutions which improve service and cost less than traditional care

 enabling people with a learning disability to live more inclusive and 
independent lives in the community improving quality of life and ensuring each 
person has a circle of support around them

 continuing to embed the use of Electronic Call Monitoring systems and 
ensuring we use the information that flows from the system to improve the 
quality of care and to inform our commissioning

 continuing the roll out of an outcomes based approach in the new domiciliary 
care service

 partnering with the CCG to ensure people with a learning disability in long stay 
hospitals are returned to independent living in their own community

 respond to the learning from the involvement of our mental health fieldwork 
services in the national integration accelerator pilot work 

 Review In-house Services to ensure that we are using GCC managed 
resources to best meet the needs of vulnerable people in Gloucestershire 
whilst delivering good value for money.

 Review the four Partnership Boards to ensure that the views of people with 
“lived experience” help to shape the priorities across the Integrated Care 
System and help to deliver and effect positive change for vulnerable people 
living in Gloucestershire.

Delivering Change

Demographic changes indicate a rising demand for support from people with 
increasingly complex needs that requires us to better manage and respond to 
demand. This will involve a range of partnerships, many of which will be new 
relationships with communities. Whilst it will be challenging financially, it will result 
in investment in local communities and will provide opportunities to work with 
community and voluntary sector agencies in new ways and ensure we are 
sensitive to the communities in which many of our service users live.

The scale and pace of change continues at an unprecedented level and will create 
transitional issues as we all adjust to working in a different way. Communicating 
our intentions and listening to the voice of those we serve will be central to our 
thinking and will assist us to ensure all voices are heard and concerns and 
questions are actively addressed.

All activities will be subject to community impact assessments and specific 
consultation will be undertaken where appropriate with stakeholders. We will 
actively pursue opportunities to engage with service users and their carers to 
continue to build confidence in those partnerships.

At the heart of this work is culture change, based on a three tier conversation at 
the frontline in adult services that gives us a simple structure to help focus on 
helping people to help themselves.

Tier one – Help to help yourself.
Tier two – Help when you need it.
Tier three – Ongoing support for those that need it.

Page 83



32

To ensure that we align this culture change work with our approach to 
communities, commissioning and other joint developments we will continue to 
operate a single programme governance structure for Adult Social Care.  

Page 84



33

Annex 1.2 - Children and Families Commissioning Intentions 2021/22

Introduction
The Council has wide ranging responsibilities for services for children, young people and families; 
this includes leading and co-ordinating all local partners to ensure outcomes for children and young 
people improve. In 2019/20 the total budget for Children’s Services excluding the Dedicated Schools 
Grant was £118.6 million; this included other grants and funding from formula/Council Tax. The 
strategic direction for Children’s Services is set by the local Families Framework, which is currently 
being replaced by a new Children and Families Plan when combined together with the Council 
Strategy, identifies a continuing need to improve outcomes for the most vulnerable.

Background
Since our last Ofsted inspection in February 2017, Gloucestershire’s Children’s Services have been 
on an improvement journey - ‘Building the Best’. This improvement plan sets out how we are 
bringing about the necessary improvements to services for children and young people across 
Gloucestershire and to ensure clarity and direction for Children’s Services, our partners and 
everyone who needs to be involved in our transformation journey.

Following seven subsequent monitoring visits and the most recent Ofsted Focus visit in October 
2020, we are now in the final preparations for a full inspection within the next few months. It is 
acknowledged that Children’s Services continue to be on a very structured improvement journey and 
whilst there are some strong signs of improvement, the recent Focus visit saw an improvement in 
the pace of change over the past six months, however there is still work to be done to ensure there 
is consistent practice and performance. The service is very clear as to the main areas that require 
focus in readiness for the full Ofsted inspection, and dedicated work is underway to ensure this 
remains a priority. There is a communication and implementation strategy to prepare all staff and 
partners for the pending inspection, so Gloucestershire has every opportunity to demonstrate all the 
improvement work that has taken place, how practice has changed, and the wider long term vision 
for Children’s Services. 

Strategic Direction
Strategic priorities within our commissioning intensions have been reshaped as an inevitable 
consequence of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. We have taken on additional responsibilities and 
ensured the market has been supported and managed, to allow services to continue where possible. 
For some areas within the market there has been a   40% reduction in capacity, GCC has worked 
hard to mitigate these enforced changes, by supporting providers to access additional funding, 
which in turn has provided much needed stability during these anxious times. This includes 
some contract extensions for 2021 which have been awarded following council processes.  

Additional responsibilities taken on by Children’s Integrated Commissioning in direct response to the 
pandemic include:

 PPE - co-ordination for the department,  partners  and providers for Children Services 
 COVID-19  children fund  
 Emergency  assistance Grant  -  for GCC  

In addition a Vulnerable  Children Cell (VCC)  chaired by  the AD for integrated commissioning, 
brings together  a number of  agencies,  partners and voluntary sector colleagues,  to review the 
impact of  COVID -19  on families and  identify the  “new Vulnerable “   who’s circumstances have 
changed due to the impact of COVID -19. The VCC highlights areas of need, delivers 
coherent messages to partners and families about support and resources available.  

Page 85



34

The following are activities coordinated through the VCC:
 Summer programme  to  support the reduction of 40%   activity  -  by commissioning 

  targeted provision 
 Holiday  hunger  programme  -   local provision with  Councillors,  targeted work within the 

holiday programmes  -   developing a  Food booklet  for all families and professionals  -  
FSM voucher scheme for  Oct half term   -  “ no child in Gloucestershire will go hungry “  

 Fuel poverty   -  via the Emergency Assistance Grant 
 Christmas  programme  -  for food and activities 
 Early years  sufficiency  -  to support vulnerable families   under  2yrs  - especially babies  
 ICON -  champagne
 See Hear Respond   -  Barnardo’s  national programme
 Data  review  of new  FSM  -  children  accessing  education and early years settings   

Joint Commissioning
The County Council and the Clinical Commissioning Group are committed to an integrated 
commissioning model that spans both children and adult’s services. Within the Children and 
Families Commissioning Hub we have much to be proud of with regards to how we approach 
commissioning across our children’s health and social care systems. Our shared approach and 
commitment to jointly commission directly contributes to improving outcomes for our most vulnerable 
children, young people and their families. As part of the single vision for Gloucestershire, local 
partners are committed to the development of a highly aspirational vision for Gloucestershire’s 
children and young people. It will be informed by the views of children and young people in both its 
development and delivery phases through the Child Friendly County project. The Health and 
Wellbeing Board provides strategic oversight and direction. This includes our strategic aspirations 
around improving outcomes for not only children, young people and their families, but for the wider 
partnerships and Children’s Services workforce. 

We are now just entering into the third year of our Placement Sufficiency Strategy for 
Gloucestershire, which initially set out our revised blueprint to improve Gloucestershire Children’s 
Services over a three year period. The Sufficiency Strategy aligns with our improvement journey for 
improving front line practice, especially in planning for and where appropriate, preventing children 
and young people from coming into care. The number of children and young people in care has 
increased, and the strategy sets out how we intend to purchase placements, to achieve the best 
possible outcomes for children and young people, and use our resources in the most efficient and 
effective way. 

We have made progress in some areas to implement the Sufficiency Strategy by embedding 
oversight and compliance through the implementation of a number of panels, which have been 
expanded to take on the additional challenges due to COVID -19. As part of this work and to ensure 
we embed commissioning into practice, a number of tools have been created to support practice and 
partners with this new approach. 

The NHS Long Term Plan, 2019 – 2024 sets out the vision for the NHS redesign of services to 
better support, and properly join-up care at the right time in the optimal care setting. Our local 
commissioning intentions reflect the national priorities in the long term plan, in particular for children 
– reducing health inequalities for children and young people including children in care and care 
leavers, faster access to community and crisis mental health services; ensuring children with 
learning disabilities and/or autism live happier, healthier and longer lives with timely support to 
children and families; and improving the health of children and young people with long term 
conditions.
Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board has published a new coherent narrative of change, 
(Gloucestershire Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019-2030), which creates a universal 

Page 86



35

strategy for the county by setting out our future ambitions to improve the health and wellbeing 
outcomes of all Gloucestershire residents and reduce inequalities. The Board oversees two linked 
strategic initiatives of particular relevance to our emerging Youth Support Strategy within the 
Children and Families Commissioning Hub:

 The development of a single, strategic shared plan/vision for all children and young people in 
Gloucestershire. This complements existing plans on social care practice, safeguarding and 
the welfare of the most vulnerable, with a wider focus on the safety, health and well-being of 
all children and young people.

 The Child Friendly Gloucestershire youth engagement and research project, which has been 
working closely with the third sector to engage a wide range of young people, host a platform 
for their diverse voices, and report back in 2020. The overarching aim is to create an 
infrastructure through which to have a continuing, authentic dialogue with young people on 
the scope and quality of our offer.

Working through its recently revised multi-agency child safeguarding and commissioning 
arrangements, Gloucestershire continues to review its approach towards Early Help, which will set 
out the vision with our partners to join up current activity and providers of early help to develop a 
coherent partnership plan that meets the needs of children and their families at a lower level of need 
to stop the escalation into specialist services. 

The key drivers for this plan will be to intervene at the earliest point for the children or family, to be 
outcome focused in our approach, using evidenced based practice where possible, build resilience 
and above all keep families together where it is safe to do so. The Early Help Strategy once 
implemented will deliver some of the biggest changes to families, by identifying and responding to 
need in a timely and proportionate manner, which in turn will reduce the pressures on statutory 
services. Getting this element of the continuum right is critical to not only turning the curve on 
improving outcomes for children and families but also for the wider improvement journey in 
Gloucestershire. 

Commissioning has a key role to play within early help services, not just with the external Children 
and Families Centres, but also to contribute towards a shared commissioning and investment 
strategy in this space, across all areas of the continuum including working with partners. 
Commissioning will scope the development of community hubs within children and family centres 
where midwifery, health visitors and family support services can be aligned and staff are co-located. 
This will support the development of family hubs identified within the Early Help Strategy. 

Commissioning has reconfigured the composition and function of departmental panels to achieve 
better consistency of practice and decision making across children’s and families. The revised panel 
configurations for 2020/21 are:

 Access to Resources – which oversees a range of spend and creates a framework of 
providers from auditing of needs against spend to commissioning high quality and efficient 
therapeutic services.

 Additional Emergency  assistance grant  -  for  individuals and families experiencing  financial 
difficulties due to   COVID -19  

 Multi-Agency Panel – which actively monitors and reviews provision, through local services 
or out of authority placements for Children and Young people with exceptional needs.

 Transition Tracking Panel – for all placements where adult service assessments need to be 
undertaken.

 16 Plus Panel – for all young people becoming care leavers, to review their placements. To 
also track young people at risk of Homelessness in B&B’s, hotels, sofa surfing or at risk of 
being evicted. Also review all young peoples placements  18+  who have not been able to 
transition into independent housing due the impact of COVD-19

Page 87



36

 High Risk, Cost and Unregulated Placements – this is the Corporate Parent’s senior 
management and structural response to oversee and scrutinise those children and young 
people whose needs, risks and consequently costs are most acute.

Wider Drivers for Change
The Children and Families Act 2014 seeks to improve services for vulnerable children and support 
their families. It underpins wider reforms to ensure that all children and young people can succeed, 
no matter what their background. The changes in the law give greater protection to vulnerable 
children, better support for children whose parents are separating, a new system to help children 
with special educational needs and disabilities, and help for parents to balance work and family life. 
It also ensures vital changes to the adoption system can be put into practice, meaning more children 
who need loving homes are placed faster. Reforms for children in care can be implemented, 
including giving them the choice to stay with their foster families until their 21st birthday.

The Care Act 2014 is designed to bring the current laws relating to adult social care together into 
one Act. Whilst predominately focused on adults, the Care Act did introduce new legislation to 
support young people who find themselves caring for a parent or sibling. Gloucestershire Young 
Carers project was recommissioned in 2019, at this time it was expanded to include the 
development of new young adult care services to support young carers who want to remain in 
education or training.

Following on from the Keep on Caring Strategy 2016, the Children and Social Work Act 2017 is 
intended to improve support for children in care and care leavers, promote the welfare and 
safeguarding of children, and make provisions about the regulation of social workers. The Act 
reinforces the corporate parenting principles for the Council as a whole to be the best parent it can 
be to every child in its care. These are largely a collation of existing duties local authorities have 
towards children in care and those preparing to leave care, and are now extending our duties up to 
the age of 25 for all care leavers who require ongoing advice and support. For those who choose not 
to receive support post 21, we are keeping in contact to ensure they know their right to come back 
into the service if they wish to. We are required to publish our support offer to care leavers and to 
promote the educational attainment of children who have been adopted or placed in other long term 
arrangements. The legislation extends the current considerations of the court when making 
decisions about the long term placement of children to include an assessment of current and future 
needs and of any relationship with the prospective adopter. The Act makes changes to the 
arrangements for local child safeguarding partnerships and the serious case review process, 
including provision for a central Child Safeguarding Practice Review Panel for cases of national 
importance. It also establishes a new regulatory regime for the social work profession. 

Commissioning has responded proactively to the statutory requirement in the 2017 act. We continue 
to work in partnership with our care leavers to publish a local offer by reviewing our corporate 
commitment to ensure care experienced young people are placed in the right placement first time 
(Sufficiency Strategy 2018-2021). In 2019 we reviewed the offer and updated it leading to the 
development of a revised Care Leavers Strategy which places greater emphasis on the voice of 
young people and committing to make every service we commission good enough for our children 
and care leavers, thereby giving them a positive experience of their transition to adulthood. 

Liberty Protection Safeguards were introduced in the Mental Capacity (Amendment Act) 2019, 
replacing the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguarding system that is currently in place. The Safeguards 
will provide protection for people who are deprived of their liberty as part of their care or treatment, 
and don’t have mental capacity to consent to their care arrangements. Groups who might have a 
Liberty Protection Safeguards authorisation include those with dementia, autism and learning 
disabilities. The amended act will have a significant impact on young people aged 16 years + in 
several key areas of children and families commissioning including health, placements, youth 
support and care assisted young people, which will drive change in the way we commission services 
for these groups in 2020/21. 

Page 88



37

The European Settlement Scheme
Commissioning has been mindful of the substantial impact the Brexit agenda and accompanying 
legislative changes will have on the services we provide for children and families in 2020/21. 
Commissioning has taken the departmental lead on Brexit and has been instrumental in the 
dissemination of Brexit related information across the department, to ensure adequate preparatory 
plans are in place for the anticipated legislative changes. The most pertinent legislative change 
affecting children and families is the European Settlement Scheme (EUSS), which sets out a new 
application process to be completed by EU citizens, their families and others currently working or 
residing in the UK post Brexit. 

Commissioning has successfully bid for £114K to deliver practical support to Gloucestershire 
vulnerable or at-risk EU, EEA and Swiss citizens and their family members to help them make their 
EU Settlement Scheme application. Our EUSS project covers the whole of County of 
Gloucestershire, complimenting support provided in Tewksbury District by Tewksbury BC funded by 
the Home Office.  It will provide information advice and practical registration support for the most 
vulnerable EU, EEA and Swiss citizens (and their non-EU family members) many of whom we 
believe are currently unaware of the Scheme or their need to register.  
The staff and volunteers of the three VCSE delivery partners, North and West Gloucestershire CAB, 
Stroud and Cotswolds CAB and GARAS, will provide information, advice, support and technical 
assistance for vulnerable EU citizens and their families to register with the EU Settlement Scheme

We have designed a flexible and responsive programme, focusing on providing registration support 
out in our communities across the County, which is important in our rural areas which we know are 
sometimes hard to reach through our experience of supporting vulnerable residents.
Our Communications Strategy for the project will harness the networks of the County and District 
Councils, including social media, to reach local residents, business and community and voluntary 
sector.  We will work with local media to ensure that regular consistent messages are provided to 
our residents about the need to register and the support for vulnerable EU citizens.  

Needs Analysis
The Joint Strategic Needs Analysis (JSNA) identifies a number of areas that require review.

In 2018/19, despite decreasing numbers and rates, Gloucestershire had a higher rate of permanent 
school exclusions in comparison to national and statistical neighbour rates (and the same rate as 
regional). The proportion of secondary pupils excluded was the fourth highest among our statistical 
neighbours, and in the second quartile among authorities in England. Over half of these exclusions 
relate to children and young people with additional needs. Permanent exclusions in Gloucestershire 
reduced by 23% for the 2018/19 academic year, with significant reduction in the primary phase; 
putting us equal with statistical neighbours and national comparators for that phase, and below the 
regional comparator.

Fixed term exclusions have historically been relatively low in Gloucestershire compared to national 
and statistical neighbour averages but are now starting to rise as an alternative to permanent 
exclusion.

Over the past few years there has been a national increase in children being identified as having 
social, emotional and mental health needs: and this is no difference in Gloucestershire. From an 
education perspective, this has placed pressure on specialist SEMH places and has resulted in a 
rise in the number of children with such needs requiring independent specialist provision. A 
Commitment has therefore been made to build a new 75 place SEMH to meet such needs in county 
by 2021 

Due to Covid-19 there is no assessment data for 2020, but for the Early Years Foundation Stage in 
2019, 71.9% of children achieved a good level of development (GLD); this has been steadily 
improving since 2014 and for the first time Gloucestershire is slightly above the national average of 

Page 89



38

71.8% although more improvement is needed to bring us in line with statistical comparators. There 
remains a notable gap in gender with 78.4% of girls, and 65.4% of boys achieving a GLD (mirroring 
the national gender differences). The achievement gap between the lowest attaining 20% of children 
continues to reduce in Gloucestershire and is currently at 29%. This is compared to the national gap, 
which is increasing and currently at 32.4%.

In 2019 51.9% of the children in Gloucestershire who are eligible for free school meals have 
achieved a good level of development which although increased, is still slightly below the 56.4% 
national level. However the trend is upwards and has improved significantly from 30% in 2013. Since 
the first COVID related lockdown, the FSM figures have grown significantly. From 23rd March to 5th 
December 2020, we have an additional 2,754 young people currently entitled to FSM, bringing the 
total number of protected FSM to 17’006. It is important to note that included in the aforementioned 
figure are 1’869 new applications which have been received since the 1st of September 2020, 1’137 
of these are current entitled protected.

The Joint Additional Needs Strategy brings together a multi-agency response to understanding and 
responding to children’s needs. There have been noteworthy improvements to the support offered to 
such children; however this requires greater co-ordination and strategic multi-agency leadership 
moving forward. As such, a number of work streams to deliver the strategic priorities of the Joint 
Additional Needs and High Needs strategies have been established, with oversight from strategic 
leaders across the Council. This will form a key part of our work moving forward across the 
education, social care and health arenas; not only meeting our statutory duties but also providing the 
most appropriate and effective support for children and young people.

The 2018/19 rate of young people aged 10-24 admitted to hospital for self harm in Gloucestershire 
(536.4 per 100,000) is higher than England (444.0) but lower than all except for one of our statistical 
neighbours. Now rated as “Red”, this represents an increase from 456 per 100,000 in 2017/18.

A review of the self-harm pathway has been completed, and a number of initiatives have been taken 
forward; supplementing the existing services and support already available in the county. These 
include:
-              Introduction of an advice line for parents concerned about their child’s emotional wellbeing 
(run by TIC+).
-              Improved information resources on self-harm for young people, their parents/Carers, and 
health professionals.
-              Commissioning of a new self-harm training course targeted at professionals working with 
people who may be self-harming,
-              Development of ‘Harmlessglos’, an online planning and support tool for professionals 
working with children and young people who are self-harming. 

It is unclear about the effects of the pandemic on children’s mental health. However, an analysis of 
various sources including a survey run by Oxford University in which pupils from 88 schools in 
Gloucestershire took part and nationally, generated research estimate that there will be a rise in 
need and demand. Work is ongoing locally to better understand and monitor trends. 

Gloucestershire County Council commissioned additional services to provide a range of support to 
children and young people. These included two open access, universal services for children and 
young people which do not require a referral from a health professional i.e. children and young 
people can access support directly.  In addition, Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group have 
commissioned a more targeted offer for vulnerable young people. 

Education permeates across all aspects of children and families commissioning. As a result of the 
local area SEND inspection in 2016, Ofsted and CQC were pleased with the Council’s initial 
response to the SEND reforms following implementation of the Children & Families Act.

Page 90



39

The second round of inspections are being formulated for late 2021 and it is anticipated that these 
will focus more specifically upon; joint commissioning, impact for children and young people 
resulting from effective multi-agency working across social care, education and health, early help 
across all services and embedded co-production with parent and carers. Whilst there has been 
much progress in relation to supporting children and young people with SEND and additional needs 
in the county these areas have been identified as requiring greater leadership and impact prior to 
any future inspection regime. 

We have a Joint Strategy for Children and Young People with Additional Needs (including SEND) 
agreed with the Clinical Commissioning Group and partners, and this outlines the county’s approach 
to meeting the needs of these children and young people (0-25 years) between 2018-2021, across 
education, health and care. This supports the holistic assessment and provision for children and 
young people which holds them at the centre. This is further supported by our High Needs, Post 16 
and Specialist Commissioning strategies which ensure that our commissioning provides value for 
money and meets emerging changes in children’s needs whilst preparing them for effective 
transition into adulthood

Ofsted evaluation of the framework for the inspection of local area’s effectiveness in identifying and 
meeting the needs of children and young people with SEND was published in July 2020. The report 
evaluates the fidelity of the framework’s implementation and explores views on the impact of the 
framework on services for children and young people with SEND. However, at date of writing the 
SEND review was still being undertaken and options for consultation were yet to be finalised.

Our School Place Commissioning Strategy which sets out our educational requirements over the 
next five years is reviewed annually to ensure that all children have access to local, quality provision 
which meets their needs. This sets the expectation that most children will have their needs met in 
mainstream education settings and therefore underpins the Specialist Commissioning Strategy 
which focuses on specialist education settings for children with higher level of needs.

Following the academy agenda and the financial pressures on the education system, the increasing 
concerns for home educated children, those with SEND and those who have been excluded or off-
rolled from schools has gained significant national coverage and parliamentary interest. The new 
Ofsted framework which came into place in September 2019 for schools which has a greater focus 
on outcomes for all children is therefore welcomed. It is also anticipated that there will be legislative 
changes made to how the education system responds to these challenges in 2021– with a greater 
expectation of inclusion and ability to meet children’s needs across school systems and greater 
accountability in how schools provide for all children.

The focus of education during the COVID-19 pandemic has highlighted the importance for all 
children, and especially the most vulnerable, to have access to high quality face to face education 
which can be differentiated to meet their needs. Whilst all settings will continue to ensure that 
children and young people continue to receive a broad and balanced curriculum, they now have to 
respond to infection control measures, helping children catch up on any missed education and 
supporting the mental health and wellbeing of children whom have been away from formal schooling 
during the lockdown period. We are having to adapt our approach and offer to support the 
challenges created by COVID-19 for children, families and education settings alongside managing 
the system as our business as usual.

The Compliance and Quality Assurance Team
Commissioning is committed to ensuring that every Provision we commission for our vulnerable 
young people provides the best service possible. To ensure we continue to meet this obligation, we 
have now developed a Compliance and Quality Assurance Team (CQAT) which will lead on 
developing, implementing and monitoring a high quality compliance process for all existing and new 
providers. CQAT will lead on the development of a range of tools to allow Commissioners and Social 

Page 91



40

Workers to quickly identify the assessed position of every provider on compliance, inspection (where 
appropriate) and quality assurance and collate that into a single RAG rating.

The CQAT will also work alongside the wider GCC Quality Assurance team to gather in-depth, real 
time intelligence about the quality of commissioned services, to inform assurance activity and 
judgements with a focus on information from and about individual service user. 

The CQAT are currently involved in the following tasks to support improving outcomes for children 
and young people;

 Single agency visits and assessments of providers of concern (as a result either of recent 
Inadequate judgements or where serious incidents have been reported)

 Joint visits with Education colleagues to Residential Schools where concerns have been 
raised on both education and care issues. This has included developing joint action plans 
between GCC Education, Social Care and the provider to improve quality;

 Attendance at Allegation Management Meetings and Complex Allegation Management 
Meetings as appropriate;

 Leading the Commissioning Hub response to the request by the Gloucestershire 
Safeguarding Executive for a section 11 Children Act 2004 audit of providers safeguarding 
policies and procedures;

 Completing all new Due Diligence requests to the Hub;
 Identifying lead contact points within CQAT for all providers these team members will also 

lead annual monitoring meetings with the provider;
 Developing a RAG rating for each provider based on inspection outcomes, s11 responses 

and service user feedback

Children’s Social Care
Gloucestershire currently has an increasing cared-for population which currently stands at 782 
children in care, which is a clear increase for 730 children in care at the same period last year (Oct 
2020)    and a substantial increase from previous level of 651 in March 2018. There are a number of 
possible reasons for this; the current improvement journey shows that our thresholds are not fully 
understood by all services, and therefore not consistently applied so, along with an improvement in 
practice and assessment; this could increase the number of children and young people becoming 
looked after. The Children and Social Care Act has also extended the statutory duties for young 
people leaving care up to the age of 25 (previously 21), irrespective of their educational, 
employment or training circumstances and this is likely to further increase our care population. We 
know our care leaving population will be one of our largest growth areas of the coming years. 

Our work with children and young people who have additional needs as they transfer into adulthood 
will be a critical area of focus for the coming year. We are committed to developing and 
implementing a partnership approach to transitions, so that young people and their families get the 
right information, support and assessments at the earliest point, ensuring transitions are understood 
planned for and effective.

This will include tracking all young people who we believe might meet a threshold for adult services, 
from the age of 14 years or as early as possible post this age,  so that joint planning, working and 
assessments can take place at the right point within a young persons journey.

Taking a collaborative and solution focused approach, our key ambition for all young people where 
possible is for them to remain in or return to county, with the appropriate support to fulfil their 
potential. To achieve this aspiration we will work together, make joint commissioning decisions, 
manage and develop our commissioning frameworks to allow for smooth transitions at 16 years as 
they journey to adulthood.

Page 92



41

Single Point of Access for All placements: 
To ensure we have a seamless process for all placements, in September 2019 the Children’s 
commissioning hub took responsibility for all 18+ Placements that were held within the leaving care 
service.    
.    This included:

 All 18 + placements within  semi-independent provision 
 Staying Put arrangements 
 Staying Close  developments 
 Crash Pads 
 Two independent  properties 

Over the next year – we intend to drive this work further by:

 Developing  a  virtual estate agent for care leavers, to get advice on housing,   report poor 
quality, concerns or  repairs about r property and also get  advice and guide about  moving 
on especially when they are leaving university,  or secured  employment 

 Establish a housing forum,  that will include,  working with housing officers,  districts, 
supporting people ,leaving care services and care experienced young people  to develop and 
manage  a  housing offer for vulnerable young people,  reducing /eliminating  the risk of 
homelessness. 

 Tender for a partner to manage and deliver  our   two  semi – independent  properties  
 Expand our in county property portfolio to include  dedicated accommodation for  Edge of 

care provision,    UASC  and  supported lodgings 
 Expand our current Staying Put offer for young people  in  foster care to stay with their 

families post  18yrs 
 To develop our residential market to offer our young people Staying Close arrangements for 

young people in placements post 18yrs.  
 To test the Staying Close arrangements within Trevone House, and embed this within future 

placement developments. 

Capital Projects   
As part of GCC Sufficiency Strategy “Right Placement First Time” - our ambition is to develop quality 
provision in county using a partnership approach with providers. Trevone House is our pilot project, 
which has been well received within the market securing a well established provider as our delivery 
partner, as well as gaining national interest as a model of best practice:  
The council is committed to expanding this work further with the intention to build on the success of 
Trevone House by Commissioning and developing a 3 year programme of capital projects which 
includes:  

 Development of residential home within county using the existing  Barnwood site, to 
development into  a registered  residential home,  for two young people with additional 
capacity within the grounds for emergency  provision  - 

 Reconfigure council assets to develop a second    site similar to Trevone, to provide support 
for our care leavers into semi-independent accommodation. 

 Reconfigure council assets to create  a    site    of excellence for early years, offering  
residential  parent and child  assessments,  a children centre and nursery  

There are other capital projects being developed with the Department of Health and NHSE, to 
provide provision and support in county for some of our most complex children and young people so 
they can stay with their families or have a lifetime home in county. 

Page 93



42

Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 2021/22
While having a substantial increase to the agency budget for 2020/21this still shows a large 
predicted overspend in addition to the increased funding. While some of this additional expenditure 
is due to the increase in the numbers of children in care, there has also been the impact of COVID-
19,   especially for young people who have reached their 18th birthday during 2020,   but have been 
unable to transfer into independent provision.  Efficiencies also need to be gained through better 
market management and purchasing. Commissioning continues to make savings through the review 
of packages of care for young people through High Cost Panel and 16 + panel which has made 
efficiencies during 2020/21 despite the new pressures. .

There were no efficiency targets for Children’s Commissioning for 2021/22, but we have embarked 
on trying to capture some efficiencies, which was predominantly in relation to better management 
oversight and governance for corporate spend, high cost placements, access to recourses and 
applying a standardised assessment criteria to joint funding arrangements. There will also be a key 
focus on planning earlier for young people who transition to adult services, beginning this work 
earlier within a child’s life, from the age of 14 years. 

Over the duration of the next financial year, children and families will continually review services to 
ensure we manage demand in the most effective and efficient way.

Looking Forward
In preparation for the full Ofsted inspection, Children’s Services are on a very structured 
improvement journey and the associated improvement plan has focused and driven our priorities.

We continue to strive to embed commissioning into practice and continue to work in partnership with 
internal and external partners to change practice and the overall outcomes for our children and 
young people. The implementation of our “How to guide” has provided clarity around practice and 
procedures relating to placement requests, writing a child or young person’s profile, and how to 
make requests for both emergency and planned needs.

While the latest Ofsted monitoring feedback acknowledged some key areas of improvement, there 
are still clear priority areas in relation to assessment and risks, especially to young people, so it is 
important we continue to work at pace to embed change. While the focus is particularly on the 
children in care population, the Council will also need to continue to respond to changes in 
Government funding for core education services as responsibility for school improvement continues 
to transfer to schools and academies. 

The new Children and Families Plan will underpin our wider strategic direction with our partners. 
During 2019/20 the Council reviewed our needs analysis and worked with all partners to develop 
both the Children and Families Plan and the Placement Sufficiency Strategy. Taking forward the 
priorities of our partnerships with a focus on prevention through to providing support for the most 
vulnerable and keeping children safe, the Children and Families Plan will have a family based focus 
and will frame the longer term commissioning strategy.

Delivering Change
The main drivers to our work in 2021/22 will be:

 To deliver against the OFSTED improvement plan pending full inspection
 Take forward the priorities identified in the forthcoming Children and Families Plan including 

areas identified in the JSNA.
 Implementing the changes in legislation outlined in the Children and Social Care Act 2017.
 Review transitions processes between children and adult services to develop a joint strategy for 

young people “preparing for adulthood” - in partnership with adult services, the Clinical 
Commissioning Group and partners. 

Page 94



43

 Continue to deliver on the key priorities identified in the Sufficiency Strategy “Right placement 
First Time” 2018-2021.  Complete a full review and delivery a new  Sufficiency  Strategy for 
Gloucestershire   2022 -  2025 

 Deliver on priorities in the NHS Long Term Plan 2019 -2024.
 The Joint Additional Needs and High Needs Transformation Programme.
 Implementation of the Liberty Protection Safeguards introduced in the Mental Capacity 

(Amended Act) 2019 – for young people aged 16 years+.
 Improve services around children with special education needs and disabilities including EHCP, 

learning disabilities service, positive behavioural support, medical needs in schools and personal 
health, early years, placement for children with disabilities and additional needs.

 Continued implementation of the new Positive Behaviour Service for children with additional 
needs

 Continued Implementation and mobilisation of Trevone House, and the capital programme linked 
to our sufficiency strategy.

Specific Planned Activities
1. Review the first year of the strategy and align this to the continued implementation of the 

Sufficiency Strategy for Children’s Services. This is a whole system change and will 
include extensive market management and the development and reconfiguration of 
provision across the continuum of need, which will include:
 A new Early Help Strategy, to deliver a robust early help offer that is understood and 

implemented across all partners and services.  
 Support, scrutinise and challenge the Trevone House project in furtherance of our 

pledge to achieve the right placement first time for our care experienced young 
people.

 Edge of Care Services - reconfigure provision and where appropriate, prevent 
children and young people from coming into care. 

 Improved placement stability – through better planning and market developments. 
 Increasing the capacity of in-house fostering provision by 100 new households over 

the next three years. 
 An increase in placements offered in county to support children and young people to 

remain in local schools, with improved access to health services allowing children to 
stay connected to their families and communities. 

 Development of placement and support services provision in county to meet the 
needs of children and young people with additional needs, so where possible they 
can stay at home, and purchase services through direct payments and personal 
budgets. 

 The development of emergency provision to meet current needs, including the Out Of 
Hours and PACE (Police and Criminal Evidence) placements. 

 Development of the market for accommodation of young people to meet the new 
Duty for Care Leavers which comes into force from January 2019 - this will include 
UASC (Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children) young people.

 Redesign services for young people who are at risk of Missing and Exploitation, 
jointly with our partners. 

 Our commitment is to ensure young people are actively involved in the development, 
design and monitoring of ALL our contracts, services and tendering activities.

2. While in our latest Focus visits, inspectors confirmed that Commissioning is having   

Page 95



44

positive impact on children’s and young people lives, this is still a key area of work for 
the commissioning hub who will continue to work in partnership with practice and 
strengthen the relationships further.

3.   Re-configuration and re-tendering of the Youth Support Service to achieve better more 
efficient focusing of youth provision for all young people in GCC. A one year contract 
extension was granted in response to the pandemic, with the intention of submitting a 
full retendering exercise in 2021.  

4. Development of a preventative pathway for young people in vulnerable circumstances, 
by working in partnership with Supporting People tendering process for young people 
aged 16 years and beyond.

5. Continue to work with colleagues across the partnership to implement the Joint Strategy 
for Children and Young People with Additional Needs ensuring seamless support for 
children and young people’s needs. This will include a focus on improving transitions to 
adult services for children with additional needs by ensuring they are supported to make 
a smooth transition into early adulthood.

6. The implementation of the new statutory guidance for young people leaving care, as 
stated within the new Children and Social Work Act 2017, which was required from 
January 2019. Requirements include:

 To publish an annual re-fresh of the authority’s “Leaving Care Offer”.
 Timely allocation of a Personal Advisor for all care leavers up to the age of 25 years - 

regardless of whether the young person intends to pursue education or training.
 A duty to carry out an assessment of the young person’s needs and to provide the 

necessary advice and support.
 Meeting the requirements for care leavers within the new Reducing Homelessness 

Act 2018. 
 To support practice to embed the new “Preparing for Independence” tools into 

practice. 
 To create Gloucestershire’s Leaving Care Strategy, and monitor progress.
 Support the implementation of Gloucestershire’s Trail Blazer in schools. 
 Work in partnership to monitor the delivery of wider young people’s mental health 

services within Gloucestershire as described within the Clinical Commissioning 
Group’s Long Term Plan. This will include extending the Mental Health in schools 
approach from Stroud into Gloucester City, working with partners on the self harm 
pathway and also looking at the mental health needs of children and young people 
who have suffered trauma and abuse.

7. Development of priorities in the NHS Long Term Plan, in particular, 
 Health screening and needs met for children and young people with a learning 

disability.
 Working with partners to increase annual health checks for those over 14 years with 

a learning disability.
 All children with learning disabilities and autism are supported by easily accessible 

ongoing care - this will encompass developing better pre diagnosis support, 

Page 96



45

increased post diagnostic support and shorter waiting times for a diagnosis.
 Working with partners to ensure that there is a digital flag in patient records to ensure 

staff know a patient has an LD and/or autism.
 Children and young people with LD/autism with most complex needs have 

designated keyworker implementing Lenehan recommendations.
 Reduction of waiting times in learning disability services.
 Development of an agreed collaborative approach to funding packages of care 

across social care, health and education through PBENG (Personal Budget 
Exceptional Needs Group) and the Multi-agency Resource Panel.

 Development of the services to support medical needs in schools provision.

8. Update of the Childcare Sufficiency Strategy and associated action plan to deliver the 
anticipated rise in demand following the roll out of the free 30 hours entitlement.

 Work with the market to increase the take up of achieving 2 year old funded places.
 Roll out a new business and market management strategy to support the EY sector. 

This is especially key during and post COVID-19. (New additions)

9. Supporting children and young people in care to promote their health and wellbeing, in 
particular ensuring:

 Improved timeliness of initial and review health assessments.
 A streamlined process across social care and health professionals to ensure timely 

health assessments.
 A targeted approach to providing young people with a health passport to ensure they 

have their health information in one place.
 The emotional wellbeing and mental health of children in care is fully addressed in 

health care assessments, reviews and health plans, and in doing so, conducting a 
review of the Strengths and Difficulty Questionnaire (SDQ) process and how this can 
be developed as part of a patient centred pathway for mental health.

10. Work with Public Health Nursing and Education, to ensure the 2 – 2½ years integrated 
checks are fully embedded across the county.

11. Continue to deliver the Council’s statutory responsibilities for education which include:
 A significant expansion of mainstream primary and secondary school provision in 

Cheltenham and Gloucester – mix of new schools and expansion of existing schools.
 Building a new maintained special school for children with SEMH (Social, Emotional 

and Mental Health) needs and Autism.
 Shift of support for children with additional needs to early help and creation of primary 

hubs – passporting more high needs funding to schools. This is subject to Schools 
Forum agreement.

 Using the implementation of the Education Strategy to provide a whole system 
response to high quality education in the county.

12. Continue to embed ACE’s (Adverse Childhood Experiences) within all new Children’s 
Services contracts; rolling out the refined ACE’s tools, within services and partner 
agencies.

Page 97



46

Embed ACES across the Social Work Academy and build on trauma informed practices 
within commissioning and across Children’s Services.

13. Following a successful pilot of the Family Plus Outcome Star within the Children and 
Family Centres Targeted Support offer in Stroud, Forest of Dean and Gloucester City, 
embed this practice and roll out to other providers in Cotswolds, Cheltenham and 
Tewkesbury areas to ensure they are meeting the threshold for support and families are 
having a consistent service and the service has measurable outcomes and impact of 
support.

14. Set up a process that will review the step up and step down work of the commissioned 
Children and Family Centres. This will involve auditing 10% of cases that have been 
open for over six months and or themes identified each month.

15. Continue to review the development of a Fostering Social Impact Bond (SIB) which will 
re-design fostering services in Gloucestershire and increase the number of foster carers 
recruited by the Council that will offer placements to children in Gloucestershire to 
enable children to stay close to their community, school and friends.

16. Continue to implement and monitor the suite of Panels, moving on to develop 
commissioning frameworks which will ensure procurement and governance 
requirements are met as well as achieving value for money and quality assurance, 
including the new spend for national COVID funding.

17. Scope the development of community hubs within Children and Family Centres where 
midwifery, health visitors and family support services can be aligned and staff are co-
located. This will support the development of family hubs emerging from the Early Help 
Strategy.

18. Embed a range of strategic changes within placements for children in care alongside 
the IPC work and revamped panel work including:

 Increase placement stability, continuity and sustainability throughout the child’s life-
long journey in care.

 To have a sufficient number of beds in order to adequately meet the accommodation 
needs for the growing number of children in care.

 To increase access and sustainability of more accommodation provisions, to further 
improve the quality of support required to better prepare children in care for their 
transition towards independence/leaving care.

 To ensure that the voices, wishes and feelings of our children in care/care leavers 
that were ascertained throughout the development of the Sufficiency Strategy (Right 
Placement First Time), are embedded into practice to further improve the 
experiences children and young people are likely to encounter. 

 The implementation of measurable tools, i.e. (Young Peoples Outcome Star) is to be 
imbedded in placements so as to better monitor the outcomes for Children in 
Care/Care Leavers an to inform the commissioning of support packages so they are 

Page 98



47

needs led to achieve good outcomes for our young people’s journey to adulthood.

19. Children in Care and Edge of Care, our improvement plan includes building resilience 
by supporting families where appropriate to remain together with the right support:

 Expansion of the Family Group Conference Services will support families earlier and 
be a county wide provision.

 Additional resources will be available for special guardianships.
 The Social Work Academy will continue to drive best practice, develop and grow our 

social work workforce, to give our children, young people and their families’ continuity 
in practice, stability and a good Children’s Services offer.

20. SEND needs analysis strategy to consider the development of additional specialist 
placements to meet increasingly complex needs.

21. Redesign of the alternative provision school system and approach for children at risk of 
exclusion from school.

22. A review of Speech and Language and Mental Health support provided to children and 
schools to identify and respond to emerging needs; including a review of the 
neurodisability diagnostic pathway.

Over the past year the Children and Families Integrated Commissioning Hub has developed 
a dynamic commissioning model that responds to both the longer term strategic needs of 
the departments as well as emerging needs of the service and complex individuals. This 
approach has allowed innovation to take place supporting Gloucestershire County Council’s 
aspiration for a Good Children’s Service.

Page 99



48

Annex 1.3

Economy, Environment & Infrastructure Commissioning Intentions 2021/22

Context

The Economy, Environment & Infrastructure (EEI) Directorate supports the long-term delivery of 
sustainable economic growth across the county.  We ensure communities can connect with, access 
and use local services; enable the delivery of new housing and employment sites; create 
opportunities for business innovation; support individuals to retrain and learn; protecting and 
enhancing the green, built and historic environment of the county and push for a carbon free future.  

In addition to the delivery of place changing services which enable the county to grow and prepare 
for the future, the Directorate has a strong regulatory roll which is particularly important in terms of 
place making and ensuing that areas are pleasant to live and normal life can exist, services such as 
parking services, registration and planning enforcement have a large impact on peoples lives and 
have been heavily involved in the response to Covid-19.

The total budget for 2021/22 is £157.644 million.  

Essentially we ensure places are effective and efficient.  We do this by:

 Helping to plan and provide the infrastructure and services needed to support long-term 
sustainable growth;

 Supporting people and communities to feel safe and empowered by creating a sense of place;
 Enabling people and communities to access essential services locally;
 Delivering opportunities for training, learning and upskilling to support inclusive growth;
 Providing choices for how people connect with and access places either by driving, walking, 

cycling or using passenger transport;
 Managing the municipal waste stream to Reduce, Reuse, Recycle and Recover waste; and
 Leading the strategy and actions to help address the climate emergency whilst building the 

resilience to adapt to climate change, protect homes and businesses in emergencies, and 
recover quickly when they happen.

We along with our partners are not only responsible for delivering today’s services, but also 
designing those services and infrastructure requirements necessary to provide for and enable 
communities in the future.  We engage and help implement a range of strategies including: the Joint 
Core Strategy, Local Industrial Strategy, Municipal Waste Management Strategy, Gloucestershire 
Energy Strategy, Digital Strategy, Air Quality & Health Strategy, Local Transport Plan and the 
Gloucestershire 2050 Vision.  

Work at regional level is also of increasing importance as we build resilience into our economy and 
we will continue to work with colleagues across the Western Gateway economic and transport 
Bodies to support this.

Strategic Direction

It is essential we continue to plan for a sustainable future.  As a Directorate we need to avoid taking 
actions in response to the immediate challenges posed by Covid-19 that may later negatively impact 

Page 100



49

our ability to deliver sustainable growth.  

Covid-19 has impacted all elements of work delivered across the Directorate and the legacy of 
Covid-19 will have a profound impact on how EEI operates in the long-term.  This includes how 
transport is provided as use of passenger transport networks remains low and dependent on 
additional financial support both from the council and the Department for Transport.

As a Directorate we will steer the council’s response to supporting the local economy and 
maintaining employment opportunities.  We will manage this process by implementing the Covid-19 
Economic Recovery Plan which focuses on targeted sectoral support; accelerated broadband roll 
out to improve connectivity and ease of trading; and the reorienting of skills.  This will be supported 
by expanding our network of library growth hubs set up to make business support more simplified 
and accessible, to every corner of Gloucestershire.

In addition we will continue to meet the needs of our adult learners by delivering outstanding 
learning, inspiring individuals and transforming the lives of communities and employers.  This will 
enable adults within Gloucestershire to improve their lives through life-changing education, providing 
a range of high quality programmes, leading to progressive learning and enhanced employment 
skills.

We will also continue to use libraries as expanded centres of learning with the roll out of the 
Innovation Labs and supporting our Adult Education service to provide localised training and 
research support facilities for businesses to better help rural isolation issues and address economic 
recovery due to Covid-19.

The decision taken during the first wave of the Covid-19 crisis to continue to progress, and in some 
cases accelerate, our ambitious major infrastructure projects portfolio has ensured that the county 
will benefit from significant inward investment during 2021/22 intended to remove barriers to the 
delivery of new homes and the creation of new employment opportunities. 

Our expanded major projects team will focus across three different work streams – one team will 
concentrate on the strategic road network projects such as M5 J10 and J9, whilst a second team will 
be directed to large projects on the local network, such as West of Cheltenham Transport 
Infrastructure Scheme, and finally a third specialist team on major structures and geotechnical 
projects like A46 Coopers Hill and Lydbrook Bridge.  There is a focus over the next 12 months on 
building and developing the permanent team with the skillset to deliver highway projects for GCC on 
an unprecedented scale.

The way people connect and use their local communities is likely to change during the recovery 
phase of Covid-19.  It is important that we are able to be responsive to this change, while continuing 
to deliver the council’s priorities.  As a Directorate we will need to be brave to innovate and take 
risks where there is a strong case for influencing behaviours where they do not support sustainable 
behaviours.  This is especially relevant as we manage our transport network to recover from the 
impacts of Covid-19 while balancing the need to reduce transport derived carbon emissions as part 
of commitment to be carbon ‘Net Zero’ by 2030.

During 2020/21 we continued to progress the Gloucestershire Climate Change Strategy which will 
now guide our priorities for 2021/22.  This includes: managing the £1m Climate Change & Air Quality 
Action Fund; support delivery of the Gloucestershire Local Nature Partnership’s Tree Strategy which 
includes a target of 20% tree canopy cover by 2030 through planting 35m trees: Develop the 
Gloucestershire Carbon Offsetting Scheme and implement the Electric Vehicle Infrastructure 
Strategy. 

The planning of places is critical to successful developments and sustainable living and we will 

Page 101



50

continue to work with our partners to support the production of long-term growth plans.  It is not just 
how a development looks and feels, but how it connects and functions with its neighbouring areas 
when accessing education, culture, training and employment opportunities.  If this is considered 
early on it can have a long term positive impact on an individual’s health and wellbeing, creating 
vibrant and resilient communities which are less dependent upon stretched public services. 

Our commissioning strategy is to:
 Build positive relationships with partners, contractors and communities to enable us deliver a 

sustainable future;
 Use our network of library growth hubs and Adult Education Service to support Gloucestershire 

residents and businesses recover from the economic effects of Covid-19; and
 Provide leadership to tackle the challenges of climate change, demographics, community safety, 

housing and transport.

Needs analysis

Gloucestershire has a prosperous and resilient economy set within a highly attractive natural 
environment, which offers a high standard of living for local residents.  The population of 
Gloucestershire was estimated to be around 637,070 in 20191.  Assuming current population trends 
continue, ONS projections suggest that the population in Gloucestershire will reach 683,849 by 2028 
and 738,482 by 20432.  As the population continues to grow it brings with it an increased demand for 
services, jobs, houses and more, and opportunities for increased productivity and investment.

The dominating feature of population projections for 2018 to 2043 is the sharp increase in population 
in the age group 65 or over, which is projected to increase from 134,973 in 2018 to 205,865 in 2043 
(an increase of 52.5%). The working age population (aged 20-64) is projected to rise by only 6.5% 
over the same period. This growth is slower than the national trend for this group and means that by 
2043 the working population in Gloucestershire will have fallen from 56.2% of the population to 
51.4% of the population3.

Although Gloucestershire generally benefits from a high standard of living, this is not evenly 
distributed across the county, and pockets of deprivation do exist particularly in the main urban 
areas and in some of the market towns4.

A strong economy is essential if we are to realise the potential that employment has to improve the 
health of the local population. Gross Value Added (GVA) is a measure of the value of goods and 
services produced in an economy and is the main indicator used to monitor the overall economic 
wellbeing of an area. The total GVA of the Gloucestershire economy was approximately £16.54 
billion in 2018, representing 12% of the value of output in the South West and 1% of the UK 
economy. According to latest figures, GVA per head in Gloucestershire was £26,101, which was 
above the South West (£24,891) and below the UK average (£28,729)5. 

There are around 29,8856 businesses in the county supporting a workforce of approximately 
302,000 people7. The majority of the businesses in the county are small, with 89% employing less 
than 9 people8; this reflects the picture at national level.  Both manufacturing and health are 

1Mid 2019 Population Estimates, ONS
2 2018 based Sub National Population Projections, ONS
3 Ibid
4 Indices of Multiple Deprivation 2019, MHCLG
5 Regional gross value added (balanced) per head and income components, ONS
6 UK Business Counts 2020, ONS
7 Business Register and Employment Survey, ONS
8 UK Business Counts 2020, ONS

Page 102



51

significant sectors in terms of employment accounting for 11.6% and 13.9% of employment 
respectively9. Other major sectors include education, construction and retail. There is a positive 
entrepreneurial culture in Gloucestershire, businesses starting up have very high survival rates with 
90.5% of businesses born in 2017 surviving 1 year and 46.6% of business born in 2013 surviving 5 
years, this compares to a national average of 89.1% and 42.5% respectively10.

Essential services are those necessary to ensure the full social inclusion of people in society. 
Gloucestershire has around 3,300 miles of roads11 and over a quarter of a million households.  Over 
40,000 households are without a car or van to enable them to access essential services12. 

The county’s natural environment is a valuable resource. The rural nature of the county is what 
attracts many residents to the area and facilitates access to open space improving health and 
wellbeing; however it can also create problems of accessibility and isolation. This can affect all parts 
of the population, and is a particular problem for people who rely on public transport and the elderly.  
Managing bus service provision and ensuring internet access is essential to keep communities 
joined up to local essential services. 

Pollution poses a threat to the natural environment and the health of the population. Air quality in 
Gloucestershire is generally good; however there are Air Quality Management Areas (AQMA) in 
place in all districts with the exception of Stroud. Whilst vehicles are getting cleaner vehicle trips 
have increased and little progress has been made towards reducing emissions here over the past 
decade. The AQMA’s are located in urban areas or in the case of the Cotswold’s at the A417 Air 
Balloon major road junction; three AQMA’s are located in areas of high deprivation, with studies 
showing that those who pollute the least are affected the most.

There is evidence that noise pollution can lead to a range of health problems including increased 
stress, strokes, high blood pressure and heart attacks.  The county has low levels of population 
exposed to road, rail and air transport noise pollution both during the day (3.4% of the population) 
and at night (5.9% of the population). This is broadly in line with the regional average and below the 
national average13.

Climate change predictions suggest incidences of flooding will become more frequent and pressure 
to provide more housing means new housing developments are being built on land vulnerable to 
flooding. In addition to increasing the frequency of flood events, predictions also suggest climate 
change will mean the UK will experience hotter, drier summers and warmer, wetter winters 
alongside more extreme weather events with floods, storms and heat waves of greater severity and 
frequency. 

In 2018 Gloucestershire’s carbon dioxide emissions stood at 5.3 tonnes per capita, this was slightly 
higher than the regional and national totals of 54.8 and 5.0 tonnes per capita14. Considerable work 
has been undertaken in recent years to reduce carbon dioxide emissions to mitigate the impact of 
climate change; this action has seen emissions in Gloucestershire fall from 8.2 tonnes per capita in 
2005 to 5.3 tonnes in 2018. 

The disposal of waste is an important environmental issue due to the pressures created by the use 
of transport and landfill sites, which includes the emission of methane, carbon dioxide and other 
greenhouse gases. Around 285,000 tonnes of household waste is produced in Gloucestershire each 
year. The projected increase in population and continued economic development means this figure 

9 Business Register and Employment Survey, ONS
10 Business Demography, ONS
11 Draft LTP
12 2011 Census, ONS
13 Public Health Outcomes Framework, PHE
14 UK local authority and regional carbon dioxide emissions national statistics: 2005-2018, BEIS

Page 103



52

is likely to increase over the coming years. The Javelin Park Energy from Waste facility will 
significantly reduce the county’s dependence on landfilling, whilst recovering value from waste in the 
form of electricity, recyclable metals, and aggregate. A countywide recycling rate of 52% remains 
above the national average of 44%15.

Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS)

While continuing to seek service efficiencies and delivering our savings plan, we will invest in 
initiatives that support inclusive growth by engaging with people and delivering improvements in 
social infrastructure (homes, education, library services and, vocational skills).  This will ensure 
place based and wider social care services that are fit for today and prepared for the future.  
Similarly, we will continue to support the Employment and Skills Board to provide the workforce of 
the future, while attracting and retaining employers.

There is a need for strong collaborative partnerships with the Local Planning Authorities and GFirst 
LEP to ensure that infrastructure investment supports and enables planned housing and 
employment land. However, the scale of growth needs to be delivered in the context of reducing and 
mitigating the impacts of climate change and the delivery of council services; therefore in parallel 
with promoting growth our approach will need to include measures to more effectively influence 
consumer behaviour and manage future demand.

To support this we need to continue to invest in business case development for large strategic 
transport projects designed to enable growth by removing existing pinch points and separating 
strategic travel demand from local transport networks. The challenge of attracting government 
funding for these types of schemes is only going to be more competitive as we compete nationally 
for investment.

Looking Forward

The national landscape is uncertain as we recover from the Covid-19 pandemic and adjust to the 
UK’s exit from the EU. To mitigate the impacts at a local level we must provide leadership when 
working with our partners to ensure local infrastructure, environment and industrial strategies align 
and strengthen the case for investment in Gloucestershire.  

We will continue to work with government to make the case for investing in Gloucestershire - sharing 
our best practice to make a positive difference, creating solutions, bidding/securing funding, advising 
and advocating where needed. Our positive relationships with partners, contractors and 
communities are enabling us to deliver and transform our services targeting investment based on 
need. 

Commissioning Intentions 2021/22

Highways

 Continue to maintain and operate the highway and Public Rights of Way networks effectively and 
efficiently 

 Complete the delivery of the £150m highway improvements pledge 
 Continue to deal proactively with ash die back across the network
 Deliver major transport projects to enable economic growth including M5 J10 and the wide 

ranging capital portfolio including bridge and geotechnical schemes as well as projects to 
support district councils across Gloucestershire

15 Local Authority Collected Waste Statistics, DEFRA

Page 104



53

 Deliver major active travel schemes to facilitate the use of cycling when accessing key services 
and employment opportunities

 Continue to support apprentices and the growth of construction skills through the delivery of the 
Highways Skills Academy

 Strengthen governance arrangements between council and contractors to optimise collaborative 
working practices, improve delivery performance and increase customer satisfaction.

Strategic Infrastructure

 Influence Strategic Road Network & Rail Investment decisions
 Produce the Outline Business Case for M5 Junction 9 required by the Department for Transport 

by the end of 2021 to seek the necessary £300m required for delivery of the scheme
 Continue to support Highways England in the delivery of the A417 Missing Link scheme
 Ensure Cyber Park transport schemes are delivered to time and to budget
 Support the review of Local Plans including the Joint Core Strategy 
 Deliver Broadband to isolated properties through Fastershire project
 Implement the Minerals Local Plan review & embark on a review of the Waste Local Plan
 Ensure that development is sustainable by protecting the natural and historic environment
 Continue to invest in flood alleviation schemes and measures throughout the county
 Take a leading role in the challenge and review of Community Infrastructure Levy policies with 

the districts to ensure that income from developments for the provision of strategic infrastructure 
and transport to mitigate against the negative impacts of development is maintained at an 
adequate level

Community Infrastructure

 Lead development of the Climate Change Strategy and action plan
 Deliver walking and cycling initiatives to maximise use including School Streets
 Deliver electric vehicle charging infrastructure
 Upgrade the existing Urban Traffic Control system for Cheltenham and Gloucester
 Deliver Bus Service Strategy to manage passenger transport demand during the Covid-19 

recovery phase
 Provide Home to School transport for 5,800 children with personalised transport plans to create 

socially distanced travel bubbles to enable children to return safely to school

Library and Registration Service

 Develop new 5 year library strategy to replace the 2012 strategy
 Help businesses and individuals to support economic recovery through the introduction of an 

Intellectual Property service, promotion and marketing of The Growth Hub @ The Library and the 
creation of new Innovation Labs.  Introduce Innovation Stations to libraries to provide access to 
increased online content.

 Expand digital and virtual services and activities available through Libraries and the Innovation 
Lab

 Introduce increased customer self service options to libraries and registration ensuring they 
operate as COVID secure environments.

 Expand the strong network between education/businesses and communities to enable increased 
digital growth through the network of library innovation labs

 Support the County Council’s Climate Change Strategy through provision of information in local 
communities

 Introduce a Scheduled Marriage system and contribute to the Law Commission consultation on 
Weddings Law

Page 105



54

 Support venues and couples to marry or form a Civil Partnership in COVID secure environments

Waste Management 

 Manage and deliver waste treatment contracts to ensure that waste is managed in line with the 
waste hierarchy – reduced, reused, recycled or recovered. Key contracts include:

o Green waste composting;
o Anaerobic Digestion of food waste; and
o Energy from Waste

 Review and renew the site management contract with Ubico for the operation of Household 
Recycling Centres

 Develop and support the new Gloucestershire Resources and Waste Partnership with district 
councils, working in partnership to deliver:

o A new Resources and Waste Strategy for Gloucestershire; and
o A shared communications plan for the promotion of waste prevention and recycling 

messages across the county
 Help reduce the transmission of Covid-19 and continue to protect public health by providing 

waste treatment infrastructure and a network of HRCs that have robust Covid-19 plans and 
control measures in place

Skills and Employment

 Widen our participation in learning by helping adults to overcome the barriers that prevent them 
from successfully taking part in learning – whether the learning is for personal development, 
family support or in connection with employment  

 Provide high quality training and support for employers in the county that helps meet their 
business objectives

 Ensure that learning opportunities are flexible and responsive to people’s needs so that they may 
participate, achieve their goals, and progress to further participation and achievement if they so 
wish

 Ensure that learning opportunities and the accompanying support for learners fit with local, 
regional and national priorities and are of high quality

 Deliver an efficient and effective service which maximises the resources available to pay for 
adult learning in the county

 Implement operational plans supporting the priorities of the Gloucestershire Employment and 
Skills Board

 Work with local employers to create new apprenticeships
 Devise and provide a digital skills strategy, building on the strengths of the Gloucestershire 

economy in terms of cyber and digital.

Page 106



55

Annex 1.4

Community Safety Commissioning Intentions 2021/22

Context
As the Fire and Rescue Authority, Gloucestershire County Council has a legal duty to 
ensure that a highly effective Fire and Rescue Service is available to our communities at all 
times. The 2020/21 net revenue budget to run this service was £17.5m.
The Government outlines expectations of English Fire & Rescue Services through the Fire 
and Rescue National Framework for England. The key priorities set out in the Framework 
include: 

 Identifying and assessing the full range of foreseeable fire and rescue related risks 
that Gloucestershire faces. 

 Making appropriate provision for fire prevention and protection activities and 
response to fire and rescue related incidents. 

 Collaborating with emergency services and other local and national partners to 
increase efficiency and effectiveness of service provision. 

 Being accountable to the communities of Gloucestershire for the service we provide. 
 Developing and maintaining a workforce that is resilient, skilled, flexible and diverse.

Locally, the direction is set by the Council Strategy 2019-2022 ‘Working with 
Communities and Localities’. The priorities include:
 Encouraging and extending the use of our fire stations as community hubs.
 Targeting community safety advice and support to ‘at risk’ groups.
 Further developing the innovative work of the Fire and Rescue Service in identifying 

vulnerable people and helping them to stay safe and well in their homes.

The Fire and Rescue Integrated Risk Management Plan (IRMP) 2018-21 is a statutory 
document outlining how we match our resources to risks within the county and detailing our 
objectives which are to:

 Increase the focus on prevention and protection initiatives.
 Explore, further develop and maximise opportunities to collaborate with partners and 

other stakeholders.
 Reconfigure and reform our Service.

The County Council has agreed that a one year Community Safety Plan for 21/22 will be 
published based on the current IRMP objectives.  This will align the refresh of the IRMP to 
the Council Strategy which will then set the direction for 2022-2025.
The Fire and Rescue service will build on the recommendations from both the 
comprehensive audit carried out by Gloucestershire County Council and the recent 
inspection by Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabularies and Fire and Rescue Services 
(HMICFRS).  

Needs Analysis

Page 107



56

Our risk information comes from a variety of sources. Currently, the National Fire Chiefs 
Council are leading a project on identifying data sets that allow us to assess all of the risks 
to our county to ensure we have resources that can respond most effectively. We will review 
our data sources and ensure it informs our professional judgment when we decide on the 
most suitable protection, prevention and emergency response arrangements to put in place 
to maintain risk at an acceptable level. 

What are the risks?

 Injury or death to residents and visitors
 Damage to property
 Disruption to business impacting on the economy of Gloucestershire
 Loss of built and / or natural heritage
 Social impact on communities
 Firefighter safety
 Loss of infrastructure
 Impact on our environment

Gloucestershire is a diverse county covering 2,653 square km and hosting a population of 
approximately 633,600.

The county is divided into six districts, City of Gloucester, Cheltenham, Forest of Dean, 
Tewkesbury, Cotswold and Stroud with the main urban centres being Gloucester and 
Cheltenham where approximately 40% of the county’s population live. 

It is an extremely attractive place to live and work, with many residents spread across a 
number of small market towns, villages and hamlets in areas surrounded by countryside.

Population growth remains steady and is predicted to rise by another 7.1% between 2016 
and 2036. Gloucestershire is also predicted to have a higher than average number of over 
65 year olds, rising by 30,500 to reach 160,200 by 2026. This increase in a higher risk 
group, coupled with the Government’s desire to deliver ‘personalised’ services to the elderly 
will have a direct impact on the county’s ability to support and deliver services, such as 
nursing and social care that support safe and independent living. 

While the county has some wealthy areas, there are pockets of significant deprivation in 
Cheltenham and Gloucester with rural deprivation found in the Forest of Dean. There is a 
proven link between social deprivation and the occurrence of fire. 

Over the last 10 years, population growth has been concentrated in the urban areas 
although there is now a growing tendency towards residential development in more rural 
locations.
There are a number of factors which contribute to the county’s risk profile including:

 National Risk Assessment 

The National Risk Assessment is intended to capture the range of emergencies that might 
have a major impact on all, or significant parts, of the UK. It provides a national picture of 
the risks we face and is designed to complement our local Community Risk Register. The 

Page 108



57

driver for this work is the Civil Contingencies Act 2004, which defines the meaning of 
‘emergencies’ and what duties and responsibilities are placed on us so that we can prepare 
for them. Risks covered in the assessment include: severe weather, pandemics, animal 
disease, major accidents and malicious attacks including cyber-attack and acts of terrorism.

 Local Community Risk Register 

Our Local Community Risk Register looks at the likelihood and potential impact of a range 
of hazards occurring in specific areas. It is approved and published by our Local Resilience 
Forum (LRF), which includes representatives from local emergency services, public, private 
and voluntary organisations. In order to produce the Community Risk Register, the LRF use 
a combination of local knowledge about each risk, as well as guidance provided by central 
government drawn from the National Risk Assessment.

 Critical National Infrastructure 

With its national resilience capability, the Service is part of the response to maintain critical 
infrastructure in the event of any of the identified risks becoming a reality. Joint working with 
utility companies and private businesses has been carried out with the LRF and Fire Safety 
Enforcement, to provide advice to promote business continuity and resilience. 

 Severe Weather 

As the devastating flood of 2007 demonstrated, communities in Gloucestershire are at risk 
from the on-going effects of climatic change. Plans to deal with these events are in place 
and reviewed on a regular basis.

Looking Forward

An extensive Improvement Plan is being prepared following the outcome of the HMICFRS 
report. There are two key areas of concern which we are currently focussing on, our 
protection strategy and improving the culture of the Service by embedding new values and 
identifying acceptable behaviours.

Our long-term expectations are captured in the national fire vision which all fire and rescue 
services are endeavouring to attain. This includes:

 Developing and broadening our role and partnerships, modernising the response, 
prevention and protection service for the 21st century.

 Increasing our range of interventions, building on experience in delivering prevention 
work based on local needs and risks.

 Continuing to play key roles in enforcing fire safety, maintaining a sustainable fire 
service and recognising the need for a staff establishment sufficient to manage fire 
risk.

 Recruiting, retaining and developing a workforce that reflects the communities it 
serves and developing an inclusive culture which supports everyone to do their best.

 Endeavouring to be the partner of choice, working with others to shape our places, 
delivering increasing value for money and exemplifying effective joint working to meet 
local and national risks efficiently.

Page 109



58

Delivering change
Our commissioning intentions for 2021/22 are:

 Continued implementation of the Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service Integrated 
Risk Management Plan (2018-21) through the development of a one year Community 
Safety Plan 2021/22.

 Responding to the outcomes of the HM Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and 
Rescue Services (HMICFRS) report.

 Reviewing our fire appliance and light fleet strategy.

Specific planned activities for 2021/22 include:
 Further developing and maximising opportunities to collaborate with partners and 

other stakeholders. 
 A complete review of risk across the county in order to publish an up to date IRMP in 

2022.
 Implementation of the HMICFRS Improvement Plan in order to address concerns 

raised.
 Complete the update of the fire control room mobilising technology. The update will 

increase functionality, improve data capture and utilisation of resources.
 Undertaking a comprehensive review of the operational fleet to ensure that it meets 

current and future operational needs aligned to risk.
 Establishing and implementing an organisational development strategy to further 

improve the culture, inclusivity and behaviours of the Service
 Strengthening links with the wider County Council, particularly Corporate Resources.
 Evaluate and review the 20/21 restructure to ensure it meets the correct staffing 

levels required to effectively deliver the functions and strategic objectives of the 
Service.

Page 110



59

Annex 1.5 
Prevention, Wellbeing and Communities (PWC) Commissioning Intentions 2021-22

Responding to the pandemic

As we deal with the ongoing pandemic, the impacts of which are likely to be with us for 
some time to come, this will require all our resilience to protect our most vulnerable and 
drive up our economy. There is great strength within our communities, as we have seen 
again recently, and we must make the most of those strengths.

Covid-19 has shone a light on inequalities.   We quickly saw evidence emerging of a 
disproportionate impact on different parts of society; for example, older people, men and 
some geographic areas. But by far the biggest impact was seen in people from Black, Asian 
and minority ethnic backgrounds. Sadly, we have seen a higher number of COVID-19 
cases, deaths, hospitalisations and complications in members of these communities. Black 
and Asian people were between 2.5 and 3 times more likely to be admitted to hospitals in 
the county with Covid-19 than White people of the same age.  

It is important that we seize this opportunity to focus on tackling inequalities and that the 
learning from the first wave informs not only GCC actions but those of the local system for 
the second wave.  The 2020 Annual Report of the Director of Public Health focuses on the 
impact of Covid-19 on the BAME community and provides some clear recommendations.   
Work is also happening via the Health and Wellbeing Board and within the Integrated Care 
System.

The Covid-19 pandemic has provided an opportunity to not only strengthen existing 
community and voluntary groups but for new groups to flourish.  The shared aim of 
supporting each other through a global crisis has brought about tangible gains in terms of 
the County’s vibrant VCSE sector.  The challenge now is to sustain this.

As part of our response to Covid-19 we have developed the Local Outbreak Management 
Plan (LOMP) which provides the local road map for the system to prevent, contain, monitor 
and respond to outbreaks of Covid-19, alongside our Gloucestershire partners. This also 
includes our work to address health inequalities through the Covid-19 BAME Task and 
Finish Group, to understand the impact of Covid-19 on these communities. 

Whilst our usual priorities, including our mandated functions remain important, much of our 
resources have had to be re-focussed on the response to Covid-19. And we will be unlikely 
to make a complete return to ‘business as usual’ in the near future.

The Covid-19 crisis initiated a new wave of volunteer and community action across the 
county.  The Gloucestershire Community Help Hub received 3500 individuals signing up to 
give help to their neighbours and communities.  Voluntary sector and community groups 
swiftly switched to remote support for vulnerable people via digital platforms. Staff from all of 
the Gloucestershire local authorities were redeployed, including Firefighters volunteering for 
a range of other activities from delivery logistics to management of mobile testing units. 

Page 111



60

This demonstrated not only the dedication and commitment of both staff and the public to 
serving their communities but also the value of joint working to resource operations flexibly 
and the value of strong partnerships in delivering vital services.
Context – background to Prevention, Wellbeing and Communities

The three domains of public health; health improvement; health protection and health care 
public health, became part of local government’s public health function in 2013. 
Gloucestershire County Council has a statutory duty to promote the health of the 
Gloucestershire population, and responsibility for commissioning specific public health 
services, supported by a ring-fenced grant, which was extended to include new 
responsibilities for 0-5 year olds (health visiting) in 2015.  

In 2016 the commissioning hubs were formed and the public health function was aligned 
with the commissioning function for the provision of support for people in vulnerable 
circumstances.  This provision had previously been commissioned both under the auspices 
of Public Health targeted services and the Supporting People Strategy 2011 – 2015 as 
overseen by the Supporting People Partnership Board, made up of district councils, health, 
Probation and the Council.

The learning and experience gained through the implementation of the Settled, Secure and 
Safe Lives in Gloucestershire Policy has informed the Council’s approach to working with 
people, communities and partners to ensure provision of support to people in vulnerable 
circumstances and commits the Council to:

 a joined up and complementary approach to respond to need, providing information and 
support for people to do more for themselves and their families;

 investing in community capacity to provide support where people live;
 reconnecting adults with their community;
 using intensive support to promote recovery and long term stability; and making a lasting 

difference and targeting specialist help on those with complex needs

In 2020/21, the public health grant available was £24.281m which included an allocation for 
‘Agenda for Change’ pay implications on contracts with NHS health providers. No details 
have been received on the provisional allocation for 2021/22 so the same grant total has 
been assumed at this point. The allocation is based on a national formula linked to health 
inequality and health need.  The Prevention, Wellbeing and Communities Hub also holds 
£10.105m commissioning budget for people in vulnerable circumstances and wider hub 
activities. During 2020/21 additional grants were received to fund new responsibilities for 
test and trace activities in response to the COVID-19 pandemic with £2.221m being 
received to fund the Local Management Outbreak Plan and further funding being 
announced by the DHSC to support proactive containment and intervention measures linked 
to tier levels at £1 per head of population at the medium tier. Other additional expenditure 
for COVID-19 covers three main areas, shelter for the homeless, additional commissioned 
mental health services and mortuary planning costs at an estimated cost of £1.465m which 
will be offset by the COVID-19 general grant received by the Council.

The public health grant is spent on activities whose main or primary purpose is to positively 
impact on the health and wellbeing of the local population, with the aim of reducing health 
inequalities in local communities. 

Page 112



61

Specifically, Gloucestershire County Council is required to deliver a number of mandated 
functions:

 appropriate access to sexual health services
 health protection assurance functions delegated from the Secretary of State
 ensuring NHS commissioners receive population public health advice (CCG core offer)
 the National Child Measurement Programme (NCMP)
 ensuring those eligible are invited to receive an NHS Health Check
 five mandated points of contact through the health visiting (0-5) service

The conditions of the public health grant also identify further requirements, such as 
improving outcomes from drug and alcohol treatment services and oral health promotion.

The remaining budget is to ensure provision for those that have poor life experiences 
creating vulnerabilities from which they may or may not recover.  The gap in living well, 
between them and others, can be wide and difficult to close without help from those around 
them to resolve issues and build on their strengths.  This investment funds services which 
help support individuals and families to aspire to and achieve independent living and social 
and economic resilience; and being part of and sustained by their community connections 
and relationships.  

Strategic Direction

Whilst our usual priorities, including our mandated functions remain important, much of our 
resources have had to be re-focussed on the response to Covid-19, and we won’t make a 
full return to our usual activities in the near future.

Nationally, the strategy for Public Health in England was laid out in the Government’s White 
Paper Healthy Lives, Healthy People (2010). More recently the Prevention Green Paper 
Advancing Our Health – Prevention in the 2020s (2019) and the NHS Long Term Plan 
(2019) drive the strategic direction. 

Locally, our system’s strategic ambition is reflected in the vision presented in 
Gloucestershire’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy: that “Gloucestershire is a place where 
everyone can live well, be healthy and thrive”. This strategy has been refreshed during 2019 
and continues to focus on tackling inequalities but also maximising the resources available 
from the Health and Wellbeing Board member organisations to tackle ‘wicked issues’ in our 
system.

Another key strategic driver is the Integrated Care System.  One Gloucestershire: 
Transforming Care, Transforming Communities, describes the vision for how publically 
funded health and social care services can support a healthier Gloucestershire, that is 
socially and economically strong and vibrant, to achieve an improved and more sustainable 
health and care system.  The PWC Hub will continue to play a key role in influencing the 
Integrated Care System and will participate in the development and delivery of the Long 
Term Plan, in particular leading its prevention and self-care plan through both the 
commissioning of services that contribute to the prevention of health and care needs and 
providing systems leadership on key societal health issues. In addition the emerging 
enabling work stream of population health management means that all the constituent 

Page 113



62

organisations are working together to better understand the data and intelligence they hold, 
how this can be used to manage demand on the health and care system and therefore 
target preventative services.
Recent national strategic drivers to prevent the (repeat) risk of harm to people in vulnerable 
circumstances include:

 Ending Violence Against Women and Girls Strategy 2016 – 19; and impending 
legislation for domestic abuse – including provisions for male victims;

 Serious Violence Prevention Strategy 2018 – focusing on prevention and early 
intervention as one of the four main themes. This is also underpinned by guidance on 
public health approach to reducing violence;

 Rough Sleepers Strategy 2018 - The rough sleeping strategy sets out the government’s 
vision for halving rough sleeping by 2022 and ending it by 2027;

 Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 - modifies and extends existing homelessness 
protection;

 Children Social Care Act 2017 – extension of duties for care leavers up to 25

The Prevention, Wellbeing and Communities Hub is undertaking piece of work to review our 
‘ways of working’ including how we are configured as a team and how we allocate our 
officer resource. As part of this we have agreed the following vision and approach to guide 
our commissioning and wider influencing and enabling roles.

Our Vision:

Helping to make Gloucestershire a place where everyone can be healthy, feel safe, and 
flourish.

Our Approach:

1. Influencing and enabling colleagues, partners and communities to embed prevention, 
and reduce health inequalities, through all we do 

2. Learning from experience and promoting evidence-based change
3. Collaborating with communities and other stakeholders to make the most of all of 

Gloucestershire’s assets
4. Creative commissioning that enables individuals and communities to act for 

themselves; building confidence, aspiration and resilience
5. Tackling the root causes of problems to develop more sustainable solutions.
6. Balancing the allocation of resources with delivering improved quality and outcomes
7. Adopting a proportionate approach; being clear about where we can and where we 

should add value 

The Prevention, Wellbeing and Communities Hub have identified the following principles to 
guide our commissioning intentions: 

 We prioritise prevention, self-help/self-care and early intervention, with a view to 
improving health and wellbeing and changing demand for services;

 We take a strengths-based approach, to make the most of assets and resources 
within communities, help build community capacity and develop community 
safeguarding and resilience;

 We work to ensure the best start in life;

Page 114



63

 We give equal weight to physical and mental health and wellbeing;
 We focus resources where the need is greatest, helping to address avoidable health 

inequalities; prevent health, social care and housing crises; reduce risk of harm; 
targeting the most vulnerable;

 We work across GCC and the wider system, with health, social care, housing and 
other partners.

The Local Government Association has identified that investment in public health leads to 
reduced pressure on national and local government and the NHS, saving money that can be 
further invested in prevention and early intervention. This, in turn, through improved health 
and wellbeing and health equality, leads to further reductions in pressure on care services. 
Systematic primary prevention is critical to reduce the overall burden of disease in the 
population. It is estimated that 80% of cases of heart disease, stroke and type 2 diabetes, 
and 40% of cases of cancer could be avoided if common lifestyle risk factors were 
eliminated (WHO, 2005). Secondary prevention, involving detecting the early stages of 
disease and intervening before full symptoms develop (for example through the NHS Health 
Check programme) is often cost effective, and if implemented at scale, would rapidly have 
an impact on life expectancy (Kings Fund, 2013).

Needs Analysis

The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) is a strategic planning tool that brings 
together the latest information on the health and wellbeing of people who live in 
Gloucestershire and people who use Gloucestershire public services and underpins the 
Health and Wellbeing Board’s Strategy. It tells us that overall Gloucestershire is one of the 
healthiest counties in England. Health outcomes are above the national average and deaths 
from the major diseases like cancer, heart disease and strokes are below the national 
average and falling. 

However the picture in Gloucestershire is not perfect. There are areas of Gloucestershire 
where residents experience poorer health than the England average. Additionally, the health 
of people living in Gloucestershire has not been improving over time as seen in other parts 
of the country.  Although life expectancy at 65 years of age is better in Gloucestershire 
compared to England overall, it is not improving in line with the national trends for life 
expectancy, especially for females. The age to which men in Gloucestershire can expect to 
live with good health has been declining since 2010. This, coupled with the fact we have an 
ageing population, presents our biggest challenge.

The three leading causes of death in Gloucestershire are cancer (28.6%), circulatory 
disease (24.0%) and respiratory disease (13.2%). However, there are differences across the 
districts of Gloucestershire. When looking at age-standardised mortality rates for the county, 
Tewkesbury district has the highest cancer mortality rate, Cheltenham district has the 
highest circulatory disease mortality rate and Gloucester district has the highest rate for 
respiratory deaths.  

Lifestyle factors such as smoking, poor nutrition, physical inactivity and alcohol misuse are 
important contributors to most preventable diseases. Unless we take early action to support 
individuals, families and communities to take steps to improve their own health and 
wellbeing now, we will not be able to resource the increases in people with ongoing care 

Page 115



64

needs in the future.

Through the improved co-ordination of services and monitoring of targeted services we have 
been able to identify a cohort of people in vulnerable circumstances with entrenched 
behaviours resulting from historic and/or long term adverse experiences.  We have 
observed how this group often move in and out of services; have high level of involvement 
of health and the Police, and those who repeatedly fail to sustain accommodation due to 
their very high and complex needs. A co-ordinated partnership response to this evidence 
has resulted in attracting additional investment to jointly commission a person led and 
outcomes based response to better meet the needs of this cohort. We continue to explore in 
partnership opportunities to design and commission a model that could meet shared 
objectives of managing demand across the wider health, social care and housing system 
with a targeted focus on prevention and community capacity building.

Between the 1st March 2020 and 4th July 2020 (when lockdown was eased across 
England) the County Council's Community Help Hub received 4,598 requests for help. 
Some requests required multiple forms of support, making 6,738 separate support requests. 
The most common type of support requested involved help accessing food and general 
supplies, accounting for 82.1% of total support requests.

Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021/22

Proposed investments of £1.169m have been submitted for 2021/22 to meet shortfalls in 
Agenda for Change pay uplifts, continuation of mental health contracts for a year following 
the impact of COVID-19, and pressure within services such as domestic abuse and 
substance misuse. One-off funding has been proposed to enable the completion of the child 
weight management pilot and it’s evaluation which will inform future investment decisions. 
Savings of £0.327m were realised in 2020/21 and a further £0.171m will be achieved in 
2021/22 through the planned reduction in contract values (healthy lifestyles, sexual health 
and mental health) as services are commissioned and provided in other ways.

Major recommissioning projects make up a significant portion of the allocated public health 
grant and, in 2021/22, the team’s focus will continue the shift from recommissioning and 
remodelling  activity to overseeing the implementation of new services, the ‘core business’ 
activity of contract management and developing the systems leadership role of public health 
and prevention, for example, working with the police to lead our local approach to 
addressing Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) and implementing a whole systems 
approach to obesity prevention building on our learning as partners in the national whole 
systems obesity programme. This learning will also be applied to other agendas including 
the development of an oral health promotion strategy and supporting the implementation of 
Gloucestershire Moves, the countywide approach to improving physical activity levels, led 
by Active Gloucestershire.   

Savings in the wider hub’s commissioning activity have been realised through the continued 
reshaping of services that shifts towards developing more flexible, generic services that will 
help the programme to adapt to shifts in the pattern of needs; with a reduced reliance on 
accommodation-based services.  

Again, as referenced earlier whilst these priorities remain important to us, whilst we are 
leading the response to the pandemic we are unlikely to return completely to non-covid 

Page 116



65

business.
Looking Forward

The public health grant allocation is a ring-fenced grant and the expectation is that it will be 
fully spent. However, the Comprehensive Spending Review (CSR) in 2015 brought about a 
reduction in the public health grant over the four-year period to 2019/20. Whilst the four 
major public health recommissioning projects were completed during 2019/20, further 
reductions will need to be met through the review of individual elements of spend in 2021/22 
and will continue to focus on the PWC Hubs influencing and knowledge management and 
decision-making support roles. Helping people to stay healthy and live independently for 
longer and ensuring children have the best start in life are major contributors to reducing 
cost pressures in the medium and longer term. As such, our prevention activity plays a key 
role in supporting the new Council Strategy and therefore the commissioning intentions of 
other parts of Gloucestershire County Council, including children’s and adult social care, as 
well as the wider system. 

Contract arrangements for Community Based Support (CBS) and Accommodation Based 
Support (ABS) end dates have been aligned so that we can remodel and retender the entire 
provision of ABS and CBS to take a ‘whole system approach’ to develop those services and 
pathways that enable independent living and prevent homelessness.  Savings will be 
realised during the programme through reductions in community based support in line with 
utilisation and reduce capacity of accommodation based support in line with demand.  This 
will be undertaken in parallel with key partners regarding the opportunities to align 
investment and models to achieve shared outcomes and objectives.

Delivering Change

As mentioned above our commissioning intentions remain important to us, however whilst 
we are leading the response to the pandemic we are unlikely to return completely to non-
covid business.

Our commissioning intentions for 2021/22 are:

1. Deliver mandated functions where they have not been paused by NHS England due to 
C:19

 NHS Health Checks, Sexual Health, National Child Measurement Programme, Health 
Protection, Core Offer to the CCG & Health Visiting service

2. Deliver our driving change projects:

 Local Outbreak Management Plan (LOMP)
 Establishment of multi-purchaser, multi provider pseudo framework for Community and 

Accommodation Based Support services (CABS).

3. Engage and influence partners to improve the public’s health and ensure support for 
people in vulnerable circumstances and the building and harnessing of communities’ 
capacity

 address health inequalities through the Covid-19 BAME Task and Finish Group

Page 117



66

 support mental health and wellbeing through the Covid-19 Mental Health & 
Wellbeing Cell; working with partners to ensure support is available to people, 
especially those in vulnerable circumstances. 

4. Develop and embed heath and wellbeing in GCC business

Specific planned activities for 2021/22 include:

1. Delivering our mandated functions: add same comment 

 NHS Health Checks –monitor the more targeted approach to the delivery of NHS Heath 
Checks via GP practices

 Sexual Health –  provision of STI testing and treatment; and contraceptive services
 National Child Measurement Programme
 Health Protection functions
 Core Offer to the CCG – supporting the implementation, monitoring and evaluation of 

initiatives delivered as part of the shadow integrated care system
 Health Visiting service – embed the reshaped public health nursing service.

2. Deliver our driving change projects: 

 Continue to promote and deliver the integrated healthy lifestyles service including the 
implementation of targeted lifestyle support to pregnant women and young children (first 
1001 days), the delivery of a healthy workplace accreditation scheme and rolling out the 
schools based peer support programme aiming to build resilience and reduce the uptake 
of ‘risky’ behaviours including smoking, drug taking and gambling.  We will continue to 
offer Making Every Contact Count (MECC) and health coaching training We are also 
undertaking a review of the overall adult weight management offer (including CCG 
commissioned elements) with a view to improving the offer to meet wider needs. 

 Continue to monitor and seek opportunities to strengthen the delivery of sexual health 
and contraceptive services in primary care; and work with the Specialist Sexual Health 
Service to roll out the routine commissioning of Pre-Exposure Prophylaxis for HIV.

 Embed the Maternity Contraception pilot in mainstream commissioning; enabling 
vulnerable women to access contraception postnatally as part of the maternity pathway. 

 Recommission the Sexual Health: prevention service (‘Developmental Services’) 
focused on the provision of behaviour change and health education interventions for 
groups at risk of poor sexual health.  

 Implement and evaluate the community based (tier 2) children’s weight management 
services (joint commissioning activity with GCCG) 

 Implement the new contract for the Pupil Wellbeing Survey (formally Online Pupil 
Survey) and support the delivery of the survey in 2021

 Continue to work with the Children and Families Hub and the CCG to scope out a health 
and care model for children and young people aged 0-19

 Implementation and mobilisation of call off contracts from community and 
accommodation based support framework  

 Consolidate the changes made to drug and alcohol recovery services in 2017, with a 
particular focus on ensuring that there is coordinated harm reduction offer and a clear 
pathway for those with co-existing substance misuse and mental health conditions. 

Page 118



67

 Work with the Education Hub to review the Gloucestershire Healthy Living and Learning 
offer.

 Review our breastfeeding support offer, incorporating the outputs from the 
Breastfeeding Social Marketing project (October 2019 - September 2020).

 Complete the most recent Suicide Audit; and the refresh of the Gloucestershire Suicide 
Prevention Strategy. Alongside this, implement the local proposals approved under the 
NHS England Suicide Prevention Transformation programme, including the GloW 
(Gloucestershire Wellbeing) community grant scheme; and review and develop the 
support provided to those bereaved through suicide. 

3. Engage and influence partners to improve the public’s health.

 Deliver the Outbreak Management Plan to help prevent, contain, respond to and monitor 
Covid-19 in Gloucestershire;

 Working with partners to review our approach to make sure we are focussed on 
prevention and on reducing health inequalities, including through the impact of Covid19;

 Work with the Clinical Commissioning Group and other partners to ensure that Mental 
Wellbeing is available to those affected by COVID-19 & the lockdown restrictions and 
work with partners to make the promotion of mental wellbeing ‘everyone’s business’.

 Providing COVID19 support to high risk settings such as Care Homes, Schools, 
Universities & Supported Housing

 Actively working with the Clinical Commissioning Group and other partners to support 
the implementation of the NHS Long Term Plan including steps to embed prevention and 
to reduce health inequalities

 Support the implementation of the new Health and Wellbeing Strategy
 Work with community organisations to develop innovative approaches to addressing 

health inequalities in key population groups
 Continue to work  across the system to  implement a whole systems approach to 

reducing obesity
 Continue to support the implementation and evaluation of ‘We Can Move’ (formerly 

Gloucestershire Moves) countywide physical activity programme
 Supporting the development and implementation of Gloucestershire Moves – 

Gloucestershire’s programme to promote active lifestyles
 Supporting the Health and Wellbeing Board as it seeks to embed our approach to  

Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) and how an ACEs informed approach should be 
taken forward in Gloucestershire

 Lead the implementation of the countywide oral health promotion strategy and plan
 Work with our regional and national partners, such as Public Health England and the 

Association of Directors of Public Health, to support delivery of the national agenda to 
promote mental wellbeing and prevent suicide. 

 Support the development of the ICS staff health and wellbeing agenda via the ICS OD  
delivery group   

 Implementation and mobilisation of call off contracts from Domestic abuse multi 
purchaser and provider framework  

 Continue to work across the system to  implement our  whole systems approach to 
supporting people in vulnerable circumstances

Page 119



68

 Support the Children and Families Hub and wider agencies, to deliver a Gloucestershire 
strategy for children and young people, underpinned by a collaborative governance 
framework.

4. Develop and embed health and wellbeing in GCC business:

 Build on the feedback from the 2018 LGA Peer Review of Prevention to co-ordinate and 
develop the community offer across the whole care sector.  Working within prevention 
and early intervention elements of the operating model and being cognisant of how the 
system works and how changes to the community offer can affect demand elsewhere.

 Further develop our growing influence on the wider determinants of health, specifically 
planning policy and the planning of new housing developments and the development 
and delivery of the Local Industrial Strategy.

 Continue to support implementation of GCC’s workplace health and wellbeing plan.

Page 120



69

Annex 1.6 - Corporate Resources Commissioning Intentions 2021/22

Context

Corporate Resources is the directorate of Council services which support governance, 
internal infrastructure and the smooth running of the organisations front line services. It is 
therefore impacted by most of the factors listed in the Commissioning Intentions of the other 
Directorates, but it also has to consider the wider outcomes of not just the Council, but also 
our partner organisations and national/regional policy networks.

 Growing demand - there is increasing demand for council services, which means we 
still have to make prudent decisions in order to make our money go further.  We can’t 
afford to do everything we want to do, so have to prioritise our resources to where they 
can have the greatest impact and continue to drive efficiencies at all levels of the 
organisation.

 Growing expectations - customers expect more choice in the way they interact and 
communicate with us; and services to be tailored and personalised to their needs and 
the way they want to live their lives.  Customers are more empowered through social 
media and other means to make their views known, and better informed about their 
rights as citizens.

 Partnership landscape – all of our key challenges as a county and a council require us 
to work with partners across the public, private, voluntary and community sectors.  The 
partnership landscape is increasingly complex to navigate.  We need support services 
that enable and facilitate collaboration and joint working, and staff that are comfortable 
working across traditional boundaries of sector and specialism.

 Impact of COVID-19 – we anticipate that this will continue to dominate much of our work 
for the first part of the year at least, but will also have much wider ramifications for the 
way we work in the longer term.  

 Financial uncertainty – for the second year in a row the Finance Settlement for 
2021/22 will only cover a 12 month period. This lack of certainty about the level of 
resources beyond this time horizon makes medium / longer term planning uncertain.  
The Fair Funding Review, the Business Rate Review and a long term solution to funding 
Social Care have all been put on hold.

Page 121



70

Strategic Direction 
These are the key themes of our organisational direction of travel:

 Digitalisation and modernisation:  
o Continuing our journey to be a Council that is modern and digitally-enabled. 

Supporting and enabling a greater range of council services to be available 
online.  

o Exploiting technology to improve customer choice and experience and 
promoting self-service to reduce demand.  

 Data driven council:  
o Using data and analytics to develop a better understanding of our customers, 

their needs and preferences and the impact our services are having on their 
lives.  

o Better use of data as a corporate asset – making it easier for staff and 
customers to find the information they need, within a properly governed 
environment

o Laying the foundations to be able to exploit machine learning and artificial 
intelligence in the future.

 A Customer-focussed, enabled workforce:
o Ways of working that respond to the needs of our customers, but also allow 

our staff flexibility to maintain a healthy work-life balance
o Managing for outcomes not for outputs
o Agile working enabling staff to work wherever they are, and using that to drive 

productivity
o Office and other accommodation that supports agile working and reduces the 

councils carbon footprint
 Customer:

o Having a single view of our customers
o More clear and consistent customer offer across services, supported by 

modern technology

Needs Analysis (What are the trends driving our business)
The trends that drive our business are the same ones that affect the Council as a whole and 
are described in the other commissioning intentions.

 Growing needs of vulnerable children:
o Supporting Children’s Services improvement
o Increasing number of children and young people in legal proceedings or pre-

proceedings
 Growing school-age population:

o Increasing the physical capacity of our education system and supporting 
school building and expansion

Page 122



71

 Ageing population:
o Requires us to develop better use of data to manage demand and target 

preventative activity more effectively
 Increasing number and complexity of information requests
 The recruitment and retention of employees in hard to fill, critical positions 
 Tackling issues in recruiting and retaining qualified and experience staff in certain 

critical positions.  There are a number of factors influencing this including a shortage 
of those with the right skills and experience; our salaries falling behind other councils 
and the private sector; the perception of local government; the aging profile of our 
workforce means that there is an ongoing loss of key experienced workers.

 Impact of COVID: 
o In the short term, has placed significant additional demands on most if not all 

of our services:
 Communications – Keeping our communities and stakeholders 

informed and advised
 HR / Occ Health – supporting the wellbeing of staff
 Performance, Data & Analysis – supporting decision-makers with 

accurate data to understand the development of the pandemic and 
target our response

 AMPS / Health & Safety – adapting our estate and ensuring our 
buildings and facilities are COVID secure 

 ICT – responding with pace to support the vast majority of our staff to 
work remotely

 Finance – managing additional grants, government reporting and 
monitoring requirements, as well as responding to the extra pressures 
put on service budgets as a result of the pandemic

 Procurement – working with commissioners to ensure that the market 
is able to provide the services that the council needs and with our key 
providers to support their resilience

 Legal – supporting the implementation and use of new powers of 
direction and enforcement. 

 Internal Audit - Covid-19 has resulted in an increase in fraud referrals 
to the Counter Fraud Team within Internal Audit.
ARA Shared Service has been providing independent assurance that 
the key new/emerging covid-19 risks to organisational objectives are 
being managed efficiently & effectively and supports improvement & 
good governance. 

 Insurance Services – responding accordingly to the council’s service 
operating model changes and risk profiles.

 All services – supporting business continuity and providing flexible 
additional capacity as required to respond to the changing demands on 
the Council’s services

Page 123



72

Medium Term Financial Strategy
List major areas of growth and savings

 Investment in: 
o Digital to achieve a step forward in the capability, capacity and stability of our 

systems
o Investment in Legal services to meet growing demands for Children’s legal 

proceedings
 Savings from:

o Efficiencies from digitalisation / automation across all areas
o More efficient use of our estate and agile working

Looking Forward 
Specific areas of activity for next year:

 Continue delivery of our Worksmarter Digital Programme:
o Implementation of redesigned ICT service
o Mobilisation of new ICT support contracts
o Roll out of Office 365
o Roll out of software to provide electronic signatures
o Improve facilities for online storage

 Roll out agile working across the Council:
o Design the ‘office of the future’
o Ensure all staff have the equipment and skills they need to work flexibly

 Develop the capacity of our Legal Services team:
o Recruit and develop Paralegals and Legal Assistants through our ‘Grow our 

Own’ programme
o Implement a quality practice model and a new case management system

 Manage the 2021 election and the induction of new members:
 Streamline and modernise governance processes: 

o Complete the end-to-end review of the council’s constitution
o Continue to streamline the Council’s decision-making processes
o Launch and disseminate Procurement Toolkit

 Develop a stronger Information Governance culture 
o Implement the recommendations of the ICO audit
o Review capacity and processes for managing requests
o Achieve N3 compliance
o Develop a business case for scanning of physical records

 Continue to review, rationalise and maximise income from our property estate
o Deliver £150k savings
o Quayside development phase 2

 Roll out the next phase of Power BI dashboards

Page 124



73

 Upgrade our core system for finance, HR, procurement and employee/manager self 
service

 Develop our Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Plan

Page 125



74

Annex 2 – Budget Movements by Service Area 

Medium Term Financial Strategy – 2021/22 Budget – Overall Summary 

Budget Area Approved 
2020-21 
Budget 

Removal of 
2020-21 One Off 

Budget 
Adjustments

Agreed Budget 
Transfers 
between 

Service Areas

MTFS 2020/21 
Base Budget

Pay Inflation 
Costs

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

Proposed 
2021/22 
Budget

Cash 
Increase / 
Decrease 

Percentage 
Increase / 
Decrease

£'000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 %

Programme Budget Areas

Adults 150,490                            -   341 150,831 1,031 6,964 -3,713 155,113 4,282 2.84%

Vulnerable Children 100,694 -1,761 -698 98,235 1,131 5,631 -4 104,993 6,758 6.88%

Other Children Services 17,970                            -   339 18,309 281 2,400 -112 20,878 2,569 14.03%

Economy, Environment and 
Infrastructure 72,553 -4,505 2,660 70,708 453 4,523 -447 75,237 4,529 6.41%

Community Safety 19,519                            -                           -   19,519 374 129 -13 20,009 490
2.51%

Prevention & Wellbeing 34,387 -60 -61 34,266 45 1,123 -171 35,263 997 2.91%

Corporate Resources 35,066 -2,110 939 33,895 734 923 -961 34,591 696 2.05%

Technical & Countywide 37,504 498 -3,520 34,482 30 2,085 -2,223 34,374 -108 -0.31%

Total Budget 468,183 -7,938                         -   460,245 4,079 23,778 -7,644 480,458 20,213 4.39%

P
age 126



75

2021/22 Adults Budget  including the National Adult Social Care Levy

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

£000 £000 £000

Approved MTFS 2020/21 Budget 150,490

Removal of 2020/21 One Off Budget Increases -

Additional Ring Fenced Grant Funding now rolled into Base Budget -

Agreed Service Budget Transfers 341

Starting Budget (2020/21 Revised Budget) 150,831

Budget Changes:

Cost Increases
Pay Inflation (2%) 764

Additional Pay Inflation (0.75%) 267

National Living Wage  (Providers) 875

1,926

4,022

141
Cost Reductions

Adult Single Programme: supporting the strategic direction of keeping 
people safe and independence, ideally within their own home. 
Continuing supporting prevention to delay and avoid more expensive 
care support and supporting the integration of Health and Social Care 
to deliver positive outcome for individuals. There are continued targets 
to manage future demand expanding the model of reablement, 
working in a multi-disciplinary way and also investing in social care to 
avoid crisis. As well as listening to our service users and improving 
the customer journey through the three tier conversation at the frontline 
of adult services.

-3,193

Increased Saving target -520

TOTAL NET CHANGE 7,995 -3,713 4,282

2021/22 Adults Budget  including National Adult Social Care Levy 155,113

Bed Based and Community Based inflationary assumptions 

Demand Pressures linked to net demographic growth 

Learning Disabilities Transforming Care Programme

Page 127



76

2021/22 Children and Families Budget - Vulnerable Children

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

£000 £000 £000

Budget Changes:

Approved MTFS 2020/21 Budget 100,694

Removal of 2020/21 One Off Budget Increase -1,761

Agreed Service Budget Transfers -698

Starting Budget (2020/21 Revised Budget) 98,235

Cost Increases
Pay Inflation 859
Additional Pay Inflation (0.75%) 272
Agency Social Workers additional costs - Based on an average of 65 agency 
staff in established posts across the year, reduced from 100 agency staff last 
year. The funding was allocated on a one-off basis in 20/21 so a further one-off 
bid is required to cover the on-going costs 

1,000

External Placements. Rise in number and cost of placements - the increase is 
based on a total children in care population of 760 with 39%, 296 in external 
placement at a unit price of £103,600. This requires an additional £4.017m to be 
added to the current budget. Current placement numbers are 317, excluding C19, 
and will be linked to the in-house fostering service which should reduce the 
number of external placements. £1m to be found from 20/21 MTFS bids held 
back

3,000

Child Protection Conference Chairs/IRO's. Cost pressure to cover staff regrading 
to bring them into line with team managers (£111k); also covers the cost of ICT 
equipment for student social workers in the academy (£30k) 

141

Fostering/Adoption/SGO & Child Arrangement Allowances. Child allowances 
based on 20/21 increase 2.05%, carers fees 0.7% (May CPI), contract 2%. 
Increase is against the budget which will cover number of allowances as follows:- 
Fostering 417, Child Arrangement Orders 23, SGOs 390, Adoption 174.  

233

SGO'S Increased Numbers. Forecast July £340k O/S. Activity increased from 40 
starters estimated to 73 in 19/20. 70 new SGOs assumed in 20/21 and on-going. 
The model is based on the actual numbers at the start of the year 20/21 (390) less 
estimated leavers (17) and starters (70) which are profiled over the year. This has 
reduced by £78k equivalent to 9 SGOs

875

Child Protection Case costs - Increase required in the non-legal disbursement 
budget for child protection cases. Cost of legal fees for expert advice has 
increased due to an increase in care proceedings. Overspend in 19/20 £236k 
with £100k added into the budget through the MTFS in 20/21. 

100

One Off Cost Increases
Interim Commissioning /Operational Staff (One-off). Delayed recruitment to posts 
due to Ofsted inspection being delayed due to COVID-19 - timing of recruitment 
will impact on funding required.

282

Cost Reductions
Income Target -4

TOTAL NET CHANGE 6,762 -4 6,758

Children & Families - Vulnerable Children Budget 2021/22 104,993

Page 128



77

2021/22 Children and Families Budget - Other Services

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

£000 £000 £000

Approved MTFS 2020/21 Budget 17,970

Removal of 2020/21 One Off Budget Increase -

Agreed Service Budget Transfers 339

Starting Budget (2020/21 Revised Budget) 18,309

Budget Changes:

Cost Increases
Pay Inflation 210

Additional Pay Inflation (0.75%) 71

Home to School Transport Inflation - Costs have been increasing as routes are 
retendered and this will have included the new living wage (NLW) potential costs 
since no increases  have been given out to providers. A 2% increase in costs 
would require £239k.

200

Home to School Transport - Current overspend is forecast at £1.6m (excluding 
COVID-19 costs), market is struggling to maintain standards and new contracts 
are submitted at a higher cost. SEN routes are predicted to increase by 236 
between Jan 20 and Jan 22. Measures being taken to reduce over-spend include 
reviewing high cost transport for alternative providers/options; cutting any 
discretionary services, potential for in-house service; solo routes; ticket prices and 
also to develop the market

2,000

Supporting Children with SEND - Increase in number of Education, Health and 
Care Plans (EHCPs) assumed at 300 to 350 a year and 450 CYP with SEN 
support - additional staff required to support this need and will include 1 FTE SEN 
support (RB1), 2 FTE EHCPs (Grade 10), 2 FTE Assistant Education 
Psychologist

200

Cost Reductions
Education Pensions:  Reduce the budget based on an assessment of the 
reduction in no. of pensioners and spouses based on age and trends

-100

Income Target -12

TOTAL NET CHANGE 2,681 -112 2,569

Children & Families - Other Services Budget 2021/22 20,878

* This budget excludes the ringfenced Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG).

Page 129



78

2021/22 Economy, Environment and Infrastructure Budget

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

£000 £000 £000

Approved MTFS 2020/21 Budget 72,553

Removal of 2020/21 One Off Budget Increase -4,505

Agreed Service Budget Transfers 2,660

Starting Budget (2020/21 Revised Budget) 70,708

Budget Changes:

Cost Increases
Pay Inflation 339
Additional Pay Inflation (0.75%) 114
NLW Inflation (Providers) 6
Contract Inflation 3,067
Revenue costs associated with EE&I Capital Bids 17

Railway Partnership 50
Reduced income from commercial waste landfill royalties due to increased recycling 
options available.  Reducing waste to landfill is part of GCC's climate change strategy so 
although we are receiving less income on commercial landfill royalties we are inline with 
the overall Climate strategy. 

60

Loss of parking income expected due to long-term change in working from home culture. 
Estimated at a permanent reduction in income of 6.5%.

218

20-21 Cost reductions through increase in registration fees, review of libraries opening 
hours and Highway recovery which is not achievable due to the impact of Covid and 
unlikely to be achieved going forward. 

244

In house traffic Mgt. ( Walking, cycling, bus priorities & road safety urban traffic work) 350
Strengthen the senior management team within EE&I Structure 441

One Off Cost Increases
Carbon reduction pathway 70

Cost Reductions
Reduce  Food Waste Agreements payments to WCAs. -72
Income Target -375

TOTAL NET CHANGE 4,976 -447 4,529

Economy, Environment and Infrastructure Budget 2021/22 75,237

Page 130



79

2021/22 Community Safety

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

£000 £000 £000

Approved MTFS 2020/21 Budget 19,519

Removal of 2020/21 One Off Budget Increase -

Agreed Service Budget Transfers -

Starting Budget (2020/21 Revised Budget) 19,519

Budget Changes:

Cost Increases
Pay Inflation (2%) 334
Additional Pay Inflation (0.75%) 40
Continual professional development (CPD) increase for grey book staff to ensure
parity with those paid by similar Fire and Rescue Services.

43

Increase to Civil Protection Team staffing to allow provision of 24/7 cover in case
of county wide emergencies and provide sufficent resource to cover the wider
range of duties the team are responsible for.

86

Cost Reductions
Income Target -13

TOTAL NET CHANGE 503 -13 490

Community Safety Budget 2021/22 20,009

Page 131



80

2021/22 Prevention & Wellbeing Budget

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

£000 £000 £000

Approved MTFS 2020/21 Budget 34,387

Removal of 2020/21 One Off Budget Increase -60

Agreed Service Budget Transfers -61

Starting Budget (2020/21 Revised Budget) 34,266

Budget Changes:

Cost Increases
Prevention staff - Pay Inflation 42

Additional Pay Inflation (0.75%) 3

Full year effect of integrated maternity contraception service approved in 20/21. 
This is the full year effect of the service agreed by full Council in February 2020 to 
secure the continuation of the Maternity Contraception Programme which helps 
prevents repeat unplanned pregancies in vulnerable women.

42

Agenda for Change Costs. Contract inflation for NHS pay awards - included in 
grant but not passed on to the Prevention service in 20/21. This affects circa 250 
FTEs mostly Health Visitors and School Nurses. Figures are still under review 
awaiting actual costs from Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust 

344

Domestic Abuse Services as a result of C19 impact.  All national and local 
assumptions point to an increased demand on the Domestic Abuse system.
The pressure includes additional support into 4 areas – support to the MASH 
(£30k 1 FTE), core service provided by Gloucestershire Domestic Abuse Support 
Service (£60k 2 FTEs) , perpetrator programme (£27k 1 FTE) and STREET 
Gloucestershire which supports Young people who have witnessed Domestic 
Abuse (£50k 1.8 FTE).

167

Support for repeat rough sleepers and homeless clients.  This investment will 
contribute to the joint funding (with District Councils) of a support service targeting 
those who have been rough sleeping or are long-term homeless, and face complex 
and overlapping barriers to accessing and staying in accommodation, such as 
drug/alcohol misuse, offending history, or mental ill health.  It is aimed at people 
who will have suffered large amounts of trauma within their lives, with this trauma 
manifesting itself in challenging behaviour.  A number of individuals have been 
identified during the ‘Bring Everyone in’ activity during the pandemic who need 
bespoke housing and support solutions to enable them to successfully sustain 
accommodation.  

50

Page 132



81

2021/22 Prevention & Wellbeing Budget Continued Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

£000 £000 £000
Intensive substance misuse treatment (residential rehab or inpatient detox) for 
Housing First clients - This additional investment will provide dedicated intensive 
substance misuse treatment to enable clients to sustain accommodation through 
the Housing First model. Whilst they will be receiving the standard level of 
commissioned support and treatment from CGL, this will enable support workers 
to quickly access additional, targeted residential rehabilitation, inpatient alcohol 
detox and other specialist solutions where they are considered to be a vital part of 
the package that helps sustain accommodation. 

100

One Off Cost Increases
Mental Health Services commissioned due C19 impact (One Off). The funding will 
enable the recommissioning for up to 12 months of some of the additional mental 
health support for adults and CYP put in place to increase capacity in the system to 
deal with the expected increase in mental health issues during the pandemic. The 
services  fill a gap in the county’s existing commissioned mental health services 
with respect to early intervention, open access, anonymous universal support. The 
short contract period will enable a fuller assessment to be made of ongoing 
need/demand to inform future commissioning decisions.

250

Children’s weight management service (pilot continuation) One Off - In the 
absence of an off-the-shelf children’s weight management intervention, and 
difficulties in engaging families in weight management, GCC commissioners have 
co-produced an offer with a specialist provider (BeeZee Bodies) and local 
families. The resulting offer, the first of its kind in the UK, was to be piloted and 
evaluated during 2020, but the core face-to-face element has been paused due to 
COVID-19.  Early learning from the pilot has highlighted the complexity of needs 
among local families affected by obesity and the scope for an intervention of this 
nature to benefit both families and wider council services. This one-year 
investment would fund the completion of the pilot during 2021/22 and the current 
independent evaluation and cost/benefit will be undertaken to underpin the case 
for recurrent investment into a countywide service from April 2022.    

170

Cost Reductions
Reduce research fund within Healthwatch contract -16

Mentalk/Girl talk decommissioning -  Current contracts were coming to an end and 
the requested investment will provide a service to a wider range of young people 
(including those not in schools) than the numbers reached via the Mentalk/GirlTalk 
programme  

-40

Sexual health:  release prevention fund - Overall investment in prevention across 
the sexual health portfolio has increased due to GCC funding for the maternity 
contraception programme (approved in 19/20)  and DHSC funding for PrEP (the 
HIV prevention drug). This means we can release some uncommitted prevention 
funding from the separate ‘sexual health prevention’ cost centre; while still 
increasing overall investment in preventative interventions. 

-35

Agreed changes to funding for Gloucestershire Money Advice Service (GLOMAS) - 
Planned withdrawal of grant agreed with provider across 2 years. 

-5

Renegotiate scope & focus of healthy lifestyles service - Planned reductions in the 
healthy lifestyles contract across 4 years

-25

Reduction in the nicotine replacement therapy (NRT) budget as current activity is 
below budget in 19/20 and 20/21.

-50

TOTAL NET CHANGE 1,168 -171 997

Prevention & Wellbeing Budget 2021/22 35,263

Page 133



82

2021/22 Corporate Resources Budget

Cost Increases Cost 
Reductions

£000 £000 £000

Approved MTFS 2020/21 Budget 35,066

Removal of 2020/21 One Off Budget Increase -2,110

Agreed Service Budget Transfers 939

Starting Budget (2020/21 Revised Budget) 33,895

Budget Changes:

Cost Increases
Pay Inflation (2%) 533
Additional Pay Inflation (0.75%) 201
Legal - Additional Child Protection Legal Resouce. This is assist with the growth in
children Social Care and the partial suspension of court activity during COVID.
Legal resource was referenced in the recent focussed visit. 

373

ICT - Estimated increase in cost of operating core ICT services. A new operating
model will also develop in-house services from April 2021. A strategy has been
produced which includes Enterprise Support (2nd, 3rd line technical
support),Systems Management (tooling) delivery and support,Security
Operations,LAN / WAN management and support,Cloud Hosting and Operations.
The strategy also includes an ITSM tool to support the in-house service desk.
£2.111m was added to the base budget in 20/21 of which £487k is permanent
and £1.635 million is one off. Included in the £1.635 million was a one off £1m
Developing & procuring the right ICT service for the future

500

One Off Cost Increases

ICT - Upgrading remote sites connectivity . One off cost improve connections to
key locations, ensuring they are developed to an equivalent standards to Shire Hall
with regard to enabling telephony, broadband, wifi.

50

Cost Reductions
20/21 AMPS Building efficencies for reduction in use -150

Reduce capacity for one-off projects -103

ICT: savings from WAN upgrade -175

AMPS:savings / additional income from Quayside House phase one -110

Operational Efficiencies -321

Income Target -102

TOTAL NET CHANGE 1,657 -961 696

Corporate Resources Budget 2021/22 34,591

Page 134



83

2021/22 Technical and Countywide Budget

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

£000 £000 £000

Approved MTFS 2020/21 Budget 37,504

Removal of 2020/21 One Off Budget Increase 498

Agreed Service Budget Transfers -3,520

Starting Budget (2020/21 Revised Budget) 34,482

Budget Changes:

Cost Increases
Pay Inflation (2%) 22
Additional Pay Inflation (0.75%) 8
MRP - Highways. This accounts for the debt charge in the highways capital
programme. The actual charge will depend on the capital spent. The expected
borrowing for the programme is £39m and the useful life of this asset is 25 years.
This gives a charge of £1.56m. £1.08m has already been set aside in previous
budget setting.

480

MRP- Cheltenham School. This accounts for the debt charge of capital cost. The
actual charge will depend on the capital spent. The expected borrowing is £15m
and the useful life of this asset is 50 years. This gives a charge of 0.3m, £0.2m is
has already been set aside in previous budget setting.

100

MRP Quayside Development. This account for the debt charge of capital cost. The
actual charge will depend on the capital spent . The borrowing is £7.55m and the
useful life of this asset is 50 years.  This gives a charge of 0.151m.  

151

Pay and Price Contingency – the impact of COVID on future price increases is
uncertain therefore a pay and price contingency has been created from the lower
than anticipated increase in National Living Wage. This contingency will be
available to fund higher than anticipated in year price increases.

1,354

Cost Reductions

Customer - Property Disposals
LGPS savings generated from reductions in employers contribution rates agreed 
with actuaries following tri-annual valuation

-1,700

Reduction in MtC Savings Contingency in line with reduced savings target in 
2021/22

-523

TOTAL NET CHANGE 2,115 -2,223 -108

Technical and Countywide Budget 2021/22 34,374

Page 135



84

Annex 3 – Budget Summary by Service Area
Medium Term Financial Strategy – 2021/22 Budget – Overall Summary

2020/21 
Employee 

Related 
Budget

2020/21 Non - 
Employee 

Expenditure 
Budget

2020/21 
Gross 

Expenditure 
Budget

2020/21 
Income

2020/21 
Revised 

MTFS 
Base 

Budget

Pay 
Inflation 
Costs

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

Proposed 
2021/22 
Budget

Proposed 
Employee 

Budget 
201/22

Proposed 
Non - 

Employee 
Budget 
2021/22

Proposed 
Gross 

Expenditure 
Budget 
2021/22

Proposed 
Income 
Budget 
2021/22

Proposed 
MTFS 

Budget 
2021/22

Budget Area £000's £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000s £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's

Adults        38,407            142,302         180,709 -29,878   150,831      1,031         6,964 -3,713 155,113 39,438 145,553 184,991 -29,878 155,113

Vulnerable Children        41,335              57,493           98,828 -593     98,235      1,131         5,631 -4     104,993              43,859            61,731          105,590 -597    104,993 

Other Children Services        10,521                8,784           19,305 -996     18,309         281         2,400 -112       20,878              10,902            10,984            21,886 -1,008       20,878 

Economy, Environment & 
Infrastructure        17,019              72,677           89,696 -18,988     70,708         453         4,523 -447       75,237 17,913 76,225 94,138 -18,901 75,237

Community Safety        16,673                3,492           20,165 -646     19,519         374            129 -13       20,009 17,176 3,492 20,668 -659 20,009

Prevention & Wellbeing          2,110              32,372           34,482 -216     34,266           45         1,123 -171       35,263 2,185 33,294 35,479 -216 35,263

Corporate Resources        26,050              15,073           41,123 -7,228     33,895         734            923 -961       34,591              26,784            15,035            41,819 -7,228       34,591 

Technical and Countywide 9,864 27,853 37,717 -3,235     34,482           30         2,085 -2,223 34,374                 8,194            29,415            37,609 -3,235       34,374 

Total Budget 161,979 360,046 522,025 -61,780 460,245      4,079       23,778 -7,644 480,458            166,451          375,729          542,180 -61,722    480,458 

 The split of the 2021/22 proposed budget to employee and non employee budget areas is estimated based on initial plans, however this is 
subject to further change when these initiatives have been developed further.

P
age 136



85

Adults MTFS 2021/22

2020/21 
Employee 

Related 
Budget

2020/21 Non - 
Employee 

Expenditure 
Budget

2020/21 
Gross 

Expenditure 
Budget

2020/21 
Income

2020/21 
Revised 

MTFS Base 
Budget

Pay 
Inflation 
Costs

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

Proposed 
2021/22 
Budget

2021/22 
Proposed 
Employee 

Related 
Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 

Non - 
Employee 

Expenditure 
Budget

2021/22 
Proposed 

Gross 
Expenditure 

Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 
Income 
Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 
MTFS 
Budget 

Budget Area £000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £'000

Services for Older People 17,078 49,321 66,399 -16,628 49,771 437 3,076 -1,571 51,713 17,515 50,826 68,341 -16,628 51,713

Services for People with 
Physical Disability 2,034 11,862 13,896 -1,765 12,131 54 492 -383 12,294 2,088 11,971 14,059 -1,765 12,294

Services for People with a 
Learning Disability 6,988 57,644 64,632 -10,024 54,608 180 2,200 -1,759 55,229 7,168 58,085 65,253 -10,024 55,229

Services for People with 
Mental Health Issues                   - 10,452           10,452 -20 10,432               -              820                      - 11,252                   - 11,272 11,272 -20 11,252

Community 
Equipment/Telecare 3,173 1,023 4,196 -245 3,951 80 115                      - 4,146 3,253 1,138 4,391 -245 4,146

Adults Safeguarding 1,060 505 1,565 -60 1,505 29 38                      - 1,572 1,089 543 1,632 -60 1,572

Carers Services                   - 1,160              1,160               - 1,160               -                   -                      - 1,160                   - 1,160 1,160                   - 1,160

Occupational Therapy 
Service                   - 2,333              2,333               - 2,333               - 75                      - 2,408                   - 2,408 2,408                   - 2,408

Other Direct Services 2,563 775 3,338               - 3,338 70                   -                      - 3,408 2,633 775 3,408                   - 3,408

Adults 
Management,Commissioning 
& Support Services

5,487 878 6,365 -1,136 5,229 181 148                      - 5,558 5,668 1,026 6,694 -1,136 5,558

Funding for Allocation 24 6,349 6,373               - 6,373               -                   -                      - 6,373 24 6,349 6,373                   - 6,373

Total:  Adults 38,407 142,302 180,709 -29,878 150,831 1,031 6,964 -3,713 155,113 39,438 145,553 184,991 -29,878 155,113

P
age 137



86

Children & Families MTFS 2021/22

2020/21 
Employee 

Related 
Budget

2020/21 
Non - 

Employee 
Expenditur
e Budget

2020/21 
Gross 

Expenditure 
Budget

2020/21 
Income

2020/21 
Revised 

MTFS 
Base 

Budget

Pay 
Inflation 
Costs

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

Proposed 
2021/22 
Budget

2021/22 
Proposed 
Employee 

Related 
Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 

Non - 
Employee 

Expenditure 
Budget

2021/22 
Proposed 

Gross 
Expenditure 

Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 
Income 
Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 
MTFS 
Budget 

Budget Area
£000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's

Vulnerable Children 41,335 57,493 98,828 -593      98,235 1,131 5,631 -4 104,993 43,859 61,731 105,590 -597 104,993

Other Children Services 10,521 8,784 19,305 -996      18,309 281 2,400 -112 20,878 10,902 10,984 21,886 -1,008 20,878

Total: Children & Families 51,856 66,277 118,133 -1,589    116,544 1,412 8,031 -116 125,871 54,761 72,715 127,476 -1,605 125,871

Economy, Environment & Infrastructure MTFS 2021/22

2019/20 
Employee 

Related 
Budget

2019/20 Non - 
Employee 

Expenditure 
Budget

2019/20 
Gross 

Expenditure 
Budget

2019/20 
Income

2019/20 
Revised 

MTFS 
Base 

Budget

Pay 
Inflation 
Costs

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

Proposed 
2020/21 
Budget

2021/22 
Proposed 
Employee 

Related 
Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed Non - 

Employee 
Expenditure 

Budget

2021/22 
Proposed 

Gross 
Expenditure 

Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 
Income 
Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 
MTFS Budget 

Budget Area
£000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £'000

Community Infrastructure           1,057 11,168 12,225 -1,006 11,219 35              113                   -   11,367             1,092 11,281 12,373 -1,006 11,367
Libraries & Registration Services 5,175 819 5,994 -2,760 3,234 166              244                   -   3,644 5,341 819 6,160 -2,516 3,644Adult Education 0                 -   0                   -                         -   0 0 0 0                      -   
Highways 7,159 14,940 22,099 -2,889 19,210 131 1,185                   -   20,526 7,290 16,125 23,415 -2,889 20,526
Parking 418 1,805 2,223 -5,556 -3,333 10 263                   -   -3,060 428 1,850 2,278 -5,338 -3,060
Waste 530 39,215 39,745 -6,531 33,214 25 1,854 -72 35,021 555 40,997 41,552 -6,531 35,021
Strategic Infrastructure 1,500 2,986 4,486 -66 4,420 35 50                   -   4,505 1,535 3,036 4,571 -66 4,505
Flood Alleviation 272 1,085 1,357 -180 1,177 10                  -                     -   1,187 282 1,085 1,367 -180 1,187
EE&I Central Costs 908 659 1,567              -   1,567 41 814 -375 2,047 1,390 1,032 2,422 -375 2,047
Total: Economy Environment & 
Infrastructure 17,019 72,677 89,696 -18,988 70,708 453 4,523 -447 75,237 17,913 76,225 94,138 -18,901 75,237

P
age 138



87

Community Safety MTFS 2021/22

2020/21 
Employee 

Related 
Budget

2020/21 Non - 
Employee 

Expenditure 
Budget

2020/21 
Gross 

Expenditure 
Budget

2020/21 
Income

2020/21 
Revised 

MTFS 
Base 

Budget

Pay 
Inflation 
Costs

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

Proposed 
2021/22 
Budget

2021/22 
Proposed 
Employee 

Related 
Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 

Non - 
Employee 

Expenditure 
Budget

2021/22 
Proposed 

Gross 
Expenditure 

Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 
Income 
Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 
MTFS 
Budget 

Budget Area
£000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £'000

Fire & Rescue Service 14,892 2,959 17,851 -471 17,380 324 43 -9 17,738 15,259 2,959 18,218 -480 17,738
Coroners 755 409 1,164            -   1,164 21                  -                     -   1,185 776 409 1,185                -   1,185
Trading Standards 822 110 932 -81 851 23                  -   -2 872 845 110 955 -83 872
Public Protection             204 14 218 -94 124 6                 86 -2 214 296 14 310 -96 214

Total: Community Safety 16,673 3,492 20,165 -646 19,519 374 129 -13 20,009 17,176 3,492 20,668 -659 20,009

P
age 139



88

Prevention & Wellbeing MTFS 2021/22

2020/21 
Employee 

Related 
Budgets

2020/21 Non - 
Employee 

Expenditure 
Budgets

2020/21 Gross 
Expenditure 

Budgets

2020/21 
Income

2020/21 
Revised 

MTFS Base 
Budget

Pay 
Inflation 
Costs

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

Proposed 
2021/22 
Budget

2021/22 
Proposed 
Employee 

Related 
Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 

Non - 
Employee 

Expenditure 
Budget

2021/22 
Proposed 

Gross 
Expenditure 

Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 
Income 
Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 
MTFS 
Budget 

Budget Area
£000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £'000

Public Health - Ringfenced Grant (See 
below for Service Breakdown)                   1,622                24,047                 25,669 -100            25,569              32              906 -150             26,357 1,654 24,803 26,457 -100 26,357 
Supporting People                        94                  8,124                   8,218                -                8,218                2              217                     -                 8,437              126 8,311 8,437                -   8,437 
Other Prevention & Wellbeing Activities                      394                     201                      595 -116                  479              11 -21                  469 405 180 585 -116 469 
Total: Prevention & Wellbeing 2,110 32,372 34,482 -216 34,266 45 1,123 -171 35,263 2,185 33,294 35,479 -216 35,263 

2020/21 
Employee 

Related 
Budgets

2020/21 Non - 
Employee 

Expenditure 
Budgets

2020/21 Gross 
Expenditure 

Budgets

2020/21 
Income

2020/21 
Revised 

MTFS Base 
Budget

Pay 
Inflation 
Costs

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

Proposed 
2021/22 
Budget

2021/22 
Proposed 
Employee 

Related 
Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 

Non - 
Employee 

Expenditure 
Budget

2021/22 
Proposed 

Gross 
Expenditure 

Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 
Income 
Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 
MTFS 
Budget 

Budget Area
£000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £'000

Sexual Health                          -                    3,647                   3,647                -                3,647               -   42 -35               3,654                -                 3,654              3,654                -   3,654 
Health Behaviours                          -                    1,917                   1,917                -                1,917               -                   -   -75               1,842                -                 1,842              1,842                -   1,842 
Drugs and Alcohol                          -                    6,182                   6,182 -100              6,082               -   103                     -                 6,185                -                 6,285              6,285 -100 6,185 
Children 0-19 (incl. Health Visiting & School 
Nursing)                          -                  10,795                 10,795                -              10,795               -   511                     -               11,306                -               11,306            11,306                -   11,306 

Public Mental Health                          -                       250                      250                -                    250               -   250 -40                  460                -                     460                  460                -   460 
NHS Health Checks                          -                       470                      470                -                    470               -                   -                       -                    470                -                     470                  470                -   470 
PH function incl. staffing and intelligence 1,622                     786                   2,408                -                2,408 32                 -                       -                 2,440 1,654                   786              2,440                -   2,440 
Total: Public Health 1,622 24,047 25,669 -100 25,569 32 906 -150 26,357 1,654 24,803 26,457 -100 26,357

Public Health - Ring Fenced Grant 2021/22

P
age 140



89

Corporate Resources MTFS 2021/22

2020/21 
Employee 

Related 
Budget

2020/21 Non - 
Employee 

Expenditure 
Budget

2020/21 
Gross 

Expenditure 
Budget

2020/21 
Income

2020/21 
Revised 

MTFS 
Base 

Budget

Pay 
Inflation 
Costs

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

Proposed 
2021/22 
Budget

2021/22 
Proposed 
Employee 

Related 
Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 

Non - 
Employee 

Expenditure 
Budget

2021/22 
Proposed 

Gross 
Expenditure 

Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 
Income 
Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 
MTFS 
Budget 

Budget Area
£000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £'000

Asset Management & Property Services 2,926 6,031 8,957 -3,502 5,455 81                 - -303 5,233 3,007 5,728 8,735 -3,502 5,233
Digital & People Services 4,594 8,875 13,469 -603 12,866 139 550 -295 13,260 4,733 9,130 13,863 -603 13,260
Strategic Procurement 823 97 920               - 920 21                 - -23 918 844 74 918                -   918
Communications 900 49 949 -89 860 24                 - -20 864 924 29 953 -89 864
Strategic Finance 7,319 -914 6,405 -2,158 4,247 186                 - -77 4,356 7,505 -991 6,514 -2,158 4,356
Policy Performance & Governance 9,332 739 10,071 -876 9,195 248 373 -140 9,676 9,580 972 10,552 -876 9,676
Executive Support & Information 156 196 352               - 352 35                 - -103 284 191 93 284                -   284
Corporate Budgets                      -                           -                      -                 -             -                -                 -                     -                  -                  -                      -                      -                  -                  -   
Head of Traded Services                      -                           -                      -                 -             -                -                 -                     -                  -                  -                      -                      -                  -                  -   
Total: Corporate Resources             26,050                15,073           41,123 -7,228    33,895         734           923 -961         34,591 26,784 15,035 41,819 -7,228       34,591 

Technical & Countywide MTFS 2021/22

2020/21 
Employee 

Related 
Budget

2020/21 Non - 
Employee 

Expenditure 
Budget

2020/21 
Gross 

Expenditure 
Budget

2020/21 
Income

2020/21 
Revised 

MTFS Base 
Budget

Pay 
Inflation 
Costs

Cost 
Increases

Cost 
Reductions

Proposed 
2021/22 
Budget

2021/22 
Proposed 
Employee 

Related 
Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 

Non - 
Employee 

Expenditure 
Budget

2021/22 
Proposed 

Gross 
Expenditure 

Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 
Income 
Budget 

2021/22 
Proposed 
MTFS 
Budget 

Budget Area
£000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £'000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £'000

County Council Contingencies 8,711 4,170 12,881           -   12,881             -           1,354 -2,223 12,012 7,011 5,001 12,012                -   12,012
Corporately Controlled Budgets               993 1,463 2,456           -   2,456             -                 -                    -   2,456 993 1,463 2,456                -   2,456
Capital Financing & Interest Credits                   -   21,018 21,018 -3,235 17,783             -              731                  -   18,514 - 21,749 21,749 -3,235 18,514
Members and Elections 160 1,202 1,362           -   1,362            30               -                    -   1,392 190 1,202 1,392                -   1,392

Total: Technical & Countywide 9,864 27,853 37,717 -3,235 34,482 30 2,085 -2,223 34,374 8,194 29,415 37,609 -3,235 34,374

P
age 141



90

Medium Term Financial Planning Framework 2021/22 to 2023/24 Annex 4

Context

The purpose of the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) is to give financial expression to the 
Council Strategy for the next three year period. The MTFS sets out the Council’s high-level funded 
plan, for achieving its goals and priorities, balancing available financing and spending ambitions. It 
highlights the financial projections for financing, spending (revenue and capital), and reserves. The 
MTFS is prepared annually and covers the three year period 2021/22 to 2023/24. It links decisions 
on resource allocation with decisions on policy priorities as set out in the Council Strategy.

Principles
The principles underlying the MTFS are:

 Stable and sustainable budgets.

 Ensures resources are focused on the Council’s highest priorities

 Demonstrates value for money.

 Recognises risk and ensures an adequate level of financial protection against risk by 
maintaining a prudent, but not excessive, level of financial reserves.

 Secure understanding of sources of potential finance.

 Builds financial capacity for organisational change.

 Is flexible – to allow shifts in spending should circumstances change.

 Does not overburden the Council with future financial commitments, with a key aim being 
to continue to reduce debt over the period of the new MTFS, thereby releasing on going 
debt related revenue savings.

 Aligns on-going financing resources with on-going spending commitments.

Budget Assumptions

The 2021/22 Budget and MTFS has been produced using the following assumptions
 Council tax will increase by 1.99%.
 The Adult Social Care Levy of 2.76% will be applied in 2021/22
 A 0% growth in taxbase is assumed.
 An assumed pay increase of 2% plus any National Living Wage impact will apply to all Council 

employees, together with an additional provision of 0.75% for the 2020/21 pay award above that 
previously approved within the 2020/21 Budget. 

 Inflation – budgets will only be adjusted for inflation where there is a contractual commitment
 Fees and charges will be increased by 2% and any subsidies removed.
 The level of General Reserves will be assessed on a risk based approach 
 External Borrowing will be repaid as it matures and no new external borrowing is anticipated 

during the lifetime of this MTFS
 A limited amount of central contingency will be held to cover potential risk of unachievable 

savings targets.

Page 142



91

Reserves & Balances Analysis Annex 5a
   

Balance at 
31st March 

2020

Forecast 
Transfers 

Out 2020/21

Forecast 
Transfers In     

2020/21

Forecast 
Balance at 
31st March 

2021

£,000s £,000s £,000s £,000s
Earmarked Reserves
Capital Fund 15,776 7,205-            2,012 10,583 1
Strategic Waste Reserve 3,809 1,497-            - 2,312 2
Transformation Reserve 4,554 4,108-            260 706 3
Invest to Save 2,465 - - 2,465 4
Insurance Fund 13,566 700-               - 12,866 5
Public Health 32 32-                 269 269 6
County Elections 700 - 200 900 7
Fire Joint Training Centre 1,040 51-                 - 989 8
Economic Stimulus Reserve 3,944 2,167-            - 1,777 9
Fire PFI Reserve - GFRS 3,711 - 106 3,817 10
Revenue Grant Reserves 28,767 15,987-          - 12,780 11
Rates Retention Reserve 8,454 2,291-            - 6,163 12
Education Funding Risk Reserve 216 216-               - - 13
Vulnerable Children Reserve 151 151-               36 36 14
Home to School Transport Reserve 28 - - 28 15
A417 Missing Link 2,791 1,032-            45 1,804 16
Adult Care 5,430 5,430-            - - 17
Communities & Infrastructure Reserve 831 822-               800 809 18
Traded Services & Shared Audit Service Reserves 427 262-               - 165 19
LED Renewables Reserve 675 170-               - 505 20
Other Reserves 303 1-                   - 302 21
Growing Our Communities 798 798-               - - 22
People Services Reserve 281 40-                 - 241 23
Minimum Wage Reserve 1,000 - - 1,000 24
Highways Act - Commuted Sum Reserve 2,058 - - 2,058 25
Ash Die Back Reserve - - 700 700 26
Earmarked Reserves ( Non School) 101,807 42,960-          4,428 63,275

Schools Related
School Balances 15,248 - - 15,248 27
Other Schools Related 93 - - 93 27
Dedicated Schools Reserve -6,716 7,716-            - -14,432 27
School Related 8,625 -7,716 - 909

Earmarked Reserves Total 110,432 -50,676 4,428 64,184

General Fund Balances 18,846 - - 18,846 28

Total Revenue Reserves 129,278 -50,676 4,428 83,030

Earmarked Capital Reserves
Capital Grant & Contributions Reserves 94,522 - - 94,522 29
Capital Receipts Reserve 20,544 - - 20,544 30
Total Capital Reserves 115,066 - - 115,066

Useable Reserves Total 244,344 -50,676 4,428 198,096

Reserve Detail Notes

Forecast of Projected Reserve Balances for 31st March 2021

Page 143



92

Notes on Reserves

1. This is an earmarked reserve to provide funding for capital expenditure to prevent the need for 
external borrowing. All funds are earmarked for specific capital projects as agreed under the 
capital programme.

2. The strategic waste reserve is a smoothing reserve relating to the full contract life of the Energy 
from Waste project.

3. The transformation reserve was set up in 2009/10 to fund liabilities to pay for redundancy 
and one-off transformation costs associated with the MtC programme. 

4. The invest to save reserve supports projects that are designed to deliver on-going savings in the 
future by providing “pump priming” funding. 

5. Levels are based on external professional actuarial review and advice to mitigate the Council's 
insurance liability.

6. The public health reserve holds any unused balances from the Public Health Grant received by 
Government. 

7. The county elections reserve acts as a smoothing reserve to fund the costs associated with 
county council elections held every four years.  A budgeted annual contribution of
£0.2 million is annually made to this fund. 

8. The fire joint training reserve acts as an equalisation fund to smooth out revenue implications 
over the course of the PFI contract. PFI credits are received within the early years of the 
contract and need to be held to fund anticipated costs in the later years of the contract. Reserve 
balances are now expected to slowly reduce for the remaining of the contract to 2028.

9. The economic stimulus reserve is committed to fund a series of initiatives to support economic 
growth within Gloucestershire i.e. fastershire rural broadband and apprenticeship initiative. 

10. The fire PFI reserve acts as an equalisation fund to smooth out revenue implications over the 
course of the PFI contract. PFI credits are received within the early years of the contract and 
need to be held to fund anticipated costs in the later years of the contract. Reserve balances are 
therefore expected to peak in 2025, but then reduce over the next 13 years.

11. The revenue grants reserve is a technical reserve established, as required under accounting 
policies, for specific unapplied revenue grants where conditions related to the grant have been 
fully met. 

12. The Council receives part of its base funding through the Business Rates Retention system 
(BRR).  As a result the Council is subject to volatility around Business Rate collections. To 
smooth this volatility this reserve was created to top up any deficits.  This reserve is also used to 
manage the operation of the Business Rates Pool (and Pilot during 2018/19).  Surplus cash 
generated, or deficits needing to be funded, are managed via this reserve to ensure that there is 
no in year impact on the Budget.  Part of this reserve is ring fenced for economic development 
projects across the county, funded from surplus Pool money allocated to the Strategic Economic 
Development Fund, held by the Council on behalf of all Pool members. An approved transfer of 
£1.534 m was approved as part of the 2020/21 revenue budget.

Page 144



93

13. The education funding smoothing reserve was established to finance any in-year funding 
adjustments made in relation to Academies.  A proposal was agreed at Cabinet in Jan 19 to use 
this reserve balance to pump prime hubs in 2019/20. The seven primary Local Inclusion 
Clusters have produced proposals to deliver inclusion projects across their local areas. For 
example, Tewkesbury District Partnership will run a pilot project that will focus upon improving 
pupil wellbeing, achievement and attendance through support programmes targeted at identified 
mental health needs that are most prevalent for the vulnerable pupils within primary schools.  
The programme provides training to build and develop local expertise in ‘build happy hidden 
needs’, focussing specifically on dealing with loss, handling emotions and hidden needs. It is 
anticipated that the remaining balance within the reserve will be fully utilised in this financial 
year. 

14. The vulnerable children’s reserve was established to cover the budgetary risks associated with 
the fluctuations in demand led Children Services, such as agency placements, fostering 
allowances, special guardianship and care allowances

15. The home to school transport reserve was created in order to smooth out the budgetary 
pressures caused by the fluctuations in school transport days between financial years.

16. This reserve was established to support the upgrading of a section of the A417. 

17. Adult care reserve was established to cover the budgetary risks associated with the fluctuations 
in demand led adult services. 

18. This reserve was created to hold a number of small revenue carry forwards for Economy, 
Environment and Infrastructure services. 

19. The traded services & shared audit reserve was created to support activities to generate further 
traded income.  

20. This is the smoothing reserve for the repayment of the SALIX/SEELs repayments over 7 years. 

21. This relates to a small number of specific reserves.

22. The Growing our Communities Reserve was established in 2018/19 to provide an annual 
contribution of £10,000 to each councillor to fund community based investments over a three 
year period (2018/19 to 2020/21). 

23. Reserve was established in 2017/18 to mitigate volatility risk to the service budgets within Adult 
and Children Services. 

24. Reserve was established in 2017/18 to mitigate volatility risk to the Adult Services budgets 
following Government changes to minimum wage legislation. 

25. This Reserve holds Highways Act Commuted sums and will be used to support future years 
revenue costs.

26. New Reserve to support the Ash Die Back protection programme as approved by Cabinet 
November 2020

Page 145

http://www.build-happy.co.uk/buildhappy-hidden-needs/
http://www.build-happy.co.uk/buildhappy-hidden-needs/


94

27. It has been assumed that balances for Schools will remain at similar levels to those held at 31st 
March 2020. Following considerable funding pressures relating to the high needs services it is 
forecast that the Dedicated Schools Grant Reserve will be in a £14.4 million deficit at the end of 
2020/21. A recovery plan is currently being developed and consulted with Schools Forum to 
rectify this position.

28. Assuming a balanced outturn position on the revenue budget for 2020/21 general reserves are 
forecast to remain at £18.86 million at 31 March 2021. In the event of an over spend position a 
draw down on general reserves will be required.

29. The capital grants & contributions reserve is a technical reserve established, as required under 
accounting policies, for specific unapplied capital grants & contributions where conditions 
related to the grant have been fully met. These fully committed funds will be used to support the 
capital programme from 2020/21 onwards. 

30. The capital receipts reserve holds capital receipts which have been received from approved 
property disposals. These receipts are held to finance the approved capital programme.

Page 146



95

General Reserves Risk Analysis Annex 5b

Risk Risks & Quantification Likelihood & Value 
of Potential Call on 
Reserves 

Inadequate Reserves 
and Provisions

Reserves and provisions are assessed each year 
and are considered sufficient to cover known risks.

Low

£0m

Overspend on Service 
Expenditure

An amount is included for the potential risk of 
overspends in future years (excluding the risk on 
deliverability of budget proposals covered below). 
Volatility of between +\- 1% is possible given service 
delivery demand pressures.

High

£4.8m

Covid-19 Pandemic Additional costs associated with the Covid-19 
Pandemic, not matched with additional Government 
support grants will need to be funded to support the 
Council’s revenue budget. 

High

£2.0m

Major Emergency The Government has confirmed that the Bellwin 
Scheme will continue thereby limiting certain costs to 
be borne by the Council. It is assumed that only 
costs in excess than a £1m would be applicable 
under the scheme.

Medium

£1.0m

Robustness of 2021/22 
savings proposals

The 2021/22 budget proposals include £7.5m of 
savings proposals. It is prudent to include a risk 
regarding the deliverability of these proposals to 
allow for potential slippage on delivery. The £1.4m is 
based on a potential non achievement of 25% of the 
savings target – less £500k already in base budget. 

Medium

£1.4m

Known Contingent 
Liabilities – Pension 
Guarantees

The Council has guaranteed to cover the liabilities 
associated with the pensions of ex-employees 
following the transfers of council services to external 
bodies. These arrangements are monitored and 
future liabilities assessed. Any liabilities that occur 
would need to be funded from the General Fund.

Low

£0.5m

Grant Funding The Council receives grant funding to undertake one 
off projects both capital and revenue. There is a risk 
of grant clawback where projects do not meet their 
outputs, where they do not proceed, or the Council 
subsequently breaks the grant conditions. There is 
also a risk that expenditure will slip beyond the 
period of the grant so becoming ineligible and 
require financing from alternative resources.

Low

£1.0m

Treasury Management Whilst the Council attempts to minimise the risks 
when making treasury management investment 
decisions there is still a potential risk of a bank or 
financial institution in which the Council has invested 
collapsing or has a lower than anticipated yield. 

Low

£0.5m

Contractual Issues The Council has a wide range of contractual 
arrangements that could see unexpected financial 
pressures in the event of the bankruptcy of a 
supplier or compensation due as a result of a breach 
of procurement rules. 

Medium

£1.0m

Page 147



96

Risk Risks & Quantification Likelihood & Value 
of Potential Call on 
Reserves 

Pay awards and other  
employee related 
changes 

The risk of the pay award exceeding the 2% 
provision included in the base budget for 2021/22 is 
considered extremely low. However an allowance 
has been included for and unexpected increases in 
NI – based on 0.5% of staffing costs...  

Low

£0.7m

Collection of Council 
Tax / NNDR

Fluctuations in council tax base figures could result 
in considerable pressure on the Councils revenue 
budget. 

Medium

£2.0m

Financial penalties as a 
result of a breach of 
GDPR / PCIDSS / 
HMRC rules

Increasingly local authorities are subject to a much 
tighter regulatory framework and breaches can 
potential attract large fines if the Council is deemed 
to have acted negligently 

Medium

£1.0m

Improvement Plans The Council is subject to a variety of statutory 
inspections. A poor inspection judgement may 
require the Council to implement immediate in year 
changes.

Medium

£0.5m

Estimated total risks £17.8m
Current level of Reserves £18.8m

Page 148



97

Revenue Budget Forward Projections Annex 6

MTFS 2021/22 – 2023/24 – Forecast draft budgets based on funding assumptions 

  

2021/22 2022/23 2022/23

Forecast Forecast Forecast

£m £m £m

Base Budget 468.18 480.46 490.04

Pay Inflation 3.10 3.14 3.21

Other Pressures   (Estimated) 15.54 19.99 20.33

One off Budget Adjustments 0.74 0.00 0.00

Savings & Efficiencies -7.10 -13.55 -11.10

Net Operating Budget 480.46 490.04 502.48
Funded by:-
Core Grant Funding:

Revenue Support Grant -8.34 -8.51 -8.68

Top Up Grant -55.32 -56.86 -57.95

Business Rates Income -21.90 -21.95 -22.35

Section 31 Grant -5.00 -5.40 -5.40

Other Non Ring Fenced Grant 
Funding -35.96 -34.49 -34.49

Public Health Grant -24.77 -25.27 -25.27

Council Tax Deficit 0.00 0.00 0.00

Reserve Movements -0.82 0.00 0.00

Council Tax Requirement 328.35 337.56 348.34
Council Tax Calculation

Council Tax Base ( Est) 234,165 234,864 237,613
Council Tax Band D Equivalent) £1,409.22 £1,437.26 £1,465.87

% Increase in Council Tax 4.75% 1.99% 1.99%

Page 149



98

Annex 7
Capital Strategy 

2021/22 

Introduction

This capital strategy gives a high-level overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing 
and treasury management activity contribute to the provision of local public services along 
with an overview of how associated risk is managed and the implications for future financial 
sustainability. 

Decisions made this year on capital and treasury management will have financial consequences for 
the Council for many years into the future. They are therefore subject to both a national regulatory 
framework and to local policy framework, summarised in this annex.

Capital Expenditure and Financing

Capital expenditure is where the Council spends money on assets, such as property or 
vehicles that will be used for more than one year. In local government this includes 
spending on assets owned by other bodies, and loans and grants to other bodies enabling 
them to buy assets.  Subject to all Financial Regulations and Accounting Instructions, 
Directors have the authority to incur expenditure provided in the capital programme 
approved by the County Council.

Expenditure may not be incurred if it is contrary to, or not wholly in accordance with, the 
Policy Framework or Capital Programme.  Virements and changes to approved capital 
schemes can be made in accordance with the Accounting Instructions.

In 2021/22, the Budget set for planned capital expenditure, including PFI/PPP obligations is 
£208.0 million (excluding PFI and lease liabilities) – planned capital expenditure for other 
financial years is summarised below.  Total capital expenditure from PFI and Finance 
Leases totals £6.5 million in 2021/22 and represents an estimate of the impact of IFRS 16.  
This is an Accounting Standard requiring a change in the accounting for operational leases 
and results in these leases coming onto the Councils Balance sheet.  Work is ongoing to 
determine the exact impact of IFRS 16.

Table 1: Estimates of Capital Expenditure
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
General Fund services 88.460 129.113 208.045 78.985 220.869
PFI and Finance Leases 80.369 0.000 6.500 0.000 0.000
TOTAL 168.829 129.113 214.545 78.985 220.869

Estimates of Capital Expenditure

Governance: 

For the majority of service areas service managers bid annually to include projects in the 
Council’s capital programme.  The Council’s project appraisal process will be the 
methodology employed to evaluate schemes included in the MTFS. The elements are:

Page 150



99

 Scheme description
 Fit against the Council’s priorities
 Costs including whole life costs and scheme phasing
 Available funding and source
 Revenue consequences
 Risk assessment
 VAT issues
 Planning and site issues
 Target dates

Analysis of existing approved schemes will be carried out at each MTFS refresh to identify 
all “non-committed” schemes. If necessary these will be re-prioritised against other priority 
schemes awaiting approval.  Capital resources will be made available to deliver schemes 
that meet the Council’s “invest to save” criteria.

All Highway related projects, with a few limited exceptions are subjected to a mathematical 
assessment process applicable to the area of the service involved.  The exceptions are the 
allocations that are set aside for reactive works which relates to urgent work necessary to 
keep the network in a safe and operational state, Community Offer where we match 
contributions from the community and low cost minor works where we react on a local basis 
to needs. 

The Council has a statutory obligation to ensure there are sufficient local school places 
available across the County.  The capital and grant funding it receives is prioritised against 
schemes which have been identified to meet forecast growth (basic need) in areas where 
additional places are required and where the condition of the school’s infrastructure needs 
updating and replacing. Annual monitoring of pupils forecasts and housing, together with 
annual inspections of school site and premises ensure the information is up to date to inform 
planned decisions.  The Council produced a draft School Places Strategy document (2018- 
2023).  The strategy, which was approved by Cabinet in December 2018, is a key 
framework document for the Council in considering any statutory proposals for changes to 
school organisation including the commissioning of new schools and will inform future 
capital investment priorities. 

The final capital programme is presented to Cabinet in January and to Council in February 
each year.

Full details of the Council’s current capital programme can be found in the MTFS: 
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/performance-and-
spending/budget-and-medium-term-financial-strategy/

Financing Capital Expenditure

All capital expenditure must be financed, either from external sources (government grants 
and other contributions), the Council’s own resources (revenue, reserves and capital 

Page 151

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/performance-and-spending/budget-and-medium-term-financial-strategy/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/performance-and-spending/budget-and-medium-term-financial-strategy/


100

receipts) or debt (including internal borrowing), leasing and Private Finance Initiative). The 
planned financing of the above expenditure is as follows:

Table 2: Financing the Capital Programme
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
External Sources 58.087 84.183 130.286 36.614 198.992
Internal Resources, Capital 12.602 22.590 32.557 11.304 2.001
Internal Resources, Revenue 5.786 10.025 7.184 2.667 0.676
Debt 11.985 12.315 38.018 28.400 19.200
Sub Total 88.460 129.113 208.045 78.985 220.869
PFI and Finance Leases 80.369 0.000 6.500 0.000 0.000
Total 168.829 129.113 214.545 78.985 220.869

Capital Financing

Debt is only a temporary source of finance, since loans and leases must be repaid, and this 
is therefore replaced over time by other financing, usually from revenue which is known as 
the minimum revenue provision (MRP) and leased PFI assets are financed via lease payments.  
Alternatively, proceeds from selling capital assets (known as capital receipts) may be used 
to replace debt finance. Planned MRP. PFI and lease payments are as follows (there are no 
plans to use capital receipts in this way at the current time):

 

Table 3: Replacement of Debt Finance
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Minimum Revenue Provision 6.600 7.079 7.570 8.600 9.374
PFI and Finance Leases 1.098 1.338 1.437 1.728 1.528
Total 7.698 8.418 9.007 10.327 10.902

Replacement of Debt Finance

MRP is increasing due to additional unfunded capital spend included as part of the 
approved capital programme, details of which can be found in the MTFS.  The Council’s full 
MRP statement is available within the Treasury Management Strategy, Annex 9 of the 
MTFS.

The Council’s cumulative outstanding amount of debt finance is measured by the capital 
financing requirement (CFR). This increases with new debt-financed capital expenditure and 
reduces with MRP payments and capital receipts used to replace debt.  Based on the above 
figures for expenditure and financing, the Council’s estimated CFR is as follows:

 

Table 4: Capital Financing requirement
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
General Fund services 291.436 290.171 320.619 340.419 350.246
PFI and Finance Leases 98.408 103.570 102.133 100.405 98.877
TOTAL CFR 389.844 393.741 422.752 440.825 449.123

Capital Financing Requirement

Page 152



101

As mentioned the capital financing requirement for 2021/22 and subsequent years includes a £6.5m 
increase due to a technical change in the accounting for leases.  

Asset management: 

To ensure that capital assets continue to be of long-term use, the Council has an asset 
management strategy in place. This document seeks to align the asset portfolio with the 
needs of the Council.  

The Council’s asset management strategy is available on the Council’s website, 
www.gloucestershire.gov.uk

Asset disposals: 

When a capital asset is no longer needed, it may be sold so that the proceeds, known as 
capital receipts, can be spent on new assets or to repay debt.  Since 2016/17 new capital 
receipts can also be used to fund the revenue costs of transformation projects designed to 
generate ongoing revenue savings in the delivery of public services and / or to transform 
service delivery in a way that reduces costs or demand for services in the future.  The 
proposed budget 2021/22 does not anticipate the use of capital receipts in this way, 
however given the on going transformation programme and the financial challenges faced 
by the Council as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic it may become necessary to consider 
using capital receipts in this flexible manner in future. Using capital receipts in this way will 
require the approval of the County Council.. 

Repayments of capital grants, loans and investments also generate capital receipts. The Council 
plans to receive £21.5 million of capital receipts in the coming financial year as follows:

 

Table 5: Capital Receipts
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Asset sales 12.602 9.962 21.502 17.962 3.750
Local Authority Mortgage Scheme 0.037 0.035 0.028 0.000 0.000
TOTAL 12.639 9.997 21.530 17.962 3.750

Capital receipts

Treasury Management

Treasury management is concerned with keeping sufficient but not excessive cash available 
to meet the Council’s spending needs, while managing the risks involved.  Surplus cash is 
invested until required, while a shortage of cash will be met by borrowing, to avoid 
excessive credit balances or overdrafts in the bank current account.  The Council is typically 
cash rich in the short-term as revenue income is received before it is spent, but cash poor in 
the long-term as capital expenditure is incurred before being financed.  The revenue cash 
surpluses are offset against capital cash shortfalls to reduce overall borrowing. 

Page 153

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/


102

Due to decisions taken in the past, the Council currently has £261.8 million borrowing as at 
the end of March 2021 at an average interest rate of 4.72% and £362.3 million treasury 
investments at an average rate of 1.273%, projected as at the end of March 2021. 

Borrowing strategy: 

The Council is currently holding all new long term external borrowing requirements 
internally.  However, should the Council need to externalise this debt or take short term debt 
for cash flow purposes the main objectives when borrowing will be to achieve a low but 
certain cost of finance, while retaining flexibility should plans change in future.  These 
objectives are often conflicting, and the Council therefore seeks to strike a balance between 
cheap short-term loans (currently available at around 0.15%) and long-term fixed rate loans 
where the future cost is known but higher (currently 2.0 to 3.0%).

Projected levels of the Council’s total outstanding debt (which comprises borrowing, waste 
and PFI liabilities are shown below, compared with the capital financing requirement (see 
above).

 

Table 6: Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Debt (incl. Other Liabilities) 368.194 365.393 354.011 340.183 330.655
Capital Financing Requirement 389.844 393.741 422.752 440.825 449.123

Gross Debt and the Capital Financing 
Requirement 

Statutory guidance is that debt should remain below the capital financing requirement, 
except in the short-term. As can be seen from table 6, the Council expects to comply with 
this in the medium to longer term. 

Liability benchmark: 

To compare the Council’s actual borrowing against an alternative strategy, a liability 
benchmark has been calculated showing minimum level of borrowing required to keep 
investments at a minimum level.  This benchmark is currently -£13.0 million as a result of 
the historical borrowing portfolio of the Council and the level of balances and reserves.  The 
benchmark is forecast to increase to £44.5 million over the next three years due to the 
additional borrowing proposed.  In effect, this is saying that if we had no additional 
investment balances / surplus cash during 2020/21 the Council would not need to borrow 
currently to support the capital programme.    

 

Table 7: Borrowing and the Liability Benchmark
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Outstanding borrowing 269.786 261.823 251.878 239.778 231.778
Liability benchmark -38.964 -13.029 15.019 34.719 44.546

Borrowing and the Liability 
Benchmark 

Page 154



103

The table shows that the Council expects to remain borrowed above its liability benchmark 
in the medium term.  This is because the Council has a large historic debt portfolio, and due 
to the high premiums that would be incurred on the early repayment of this debt, it is not 
currently feasible to reduce the level of borrowing.  Any new debt requirements are currently 
held internally, reducing the cost of carry and this additional debt results in the Council being 
above the liability benchmark from 2021/22.  This new debt would only be externalised if it 
become uneconomical to hold it internally.

The purpose of the liability benchmark is to assist the Council when making decisions about 
affordability of the capital programme and the need to borrow in the future.

Affordable borrowing limit: 

The Council is legally obliged to set an affordable borrowing limit (also termed the 
authorised limit for external debt) each year and to keep it under review.  In line with 
statutory guidance, a lower “operational boundary” is also set as a warning level should debt 
approach the limit.

 

Table 8: Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary for External Debt

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Limit Limit Limit Limit Limit
£m £m £m £m £m

Total Authorised Limit for External 
Debt and Other Liabilities 440.000 455.000 500.000 500.000 495.000

Split: External Debt 341.592 351.430 397.867 399.595 396.123
Other Liabilities 98.408 103.570 102.133 100.405 98.877

Total Operational Boundary for 
External Debt 420.000 435.000 480.000 480.000 475.000

Split: External Debt 321.592 331.430 377.867 379.595 376.123
Other Liabilities 98.408 103.570 102.133 100.405 98.877

Authorised limit and operational 
boundary 

Further details on borrowing are available within the treasury management strategy at 
Annex 9 below.

Treasury Investment strategy: 

Treasury investments arise from receiving cash before it is paid out again.  Investments 
made for service reasons or for pure financial gain are not generally considered to be part of 
treasury management however MHCLG guidance requires that an non treasury 
management Investment Strategy is maintained and can be included as part of the Treasury 
Management Strategy.

The Council’s policy on treasury investments is to prioritise security and liquidity over yield 
that is to focus on minimising risk rather than maximising returns. Cash that is likely to be 
spent in the near term is invested securely, for example with the government, other local 
authorities or selected high-quality banks, to minimise the risk of loss. Money that will be 
held for longer terms is invested more widely, including in bonds, shares and property, to 

Page 155



104

balance the risk of loss against the risk of receiving returns below inflation. Both near-term 
and longer-term investments may be held in pooled funds, where an external fund manager 
makes decisions on which particular investments to buy and the Council may request its 
money back at short notice.

Both near-term and longer-term investments may be held in pooled funds, where an 
external fund manager makes decisions on which particular investments to buy and the 
Council may request its money back at short notice. Following the Motion agreed by Council 
in November 2019 the Council has developed and implemented a Responsible Investment 
Policy, which rules out new investments in fossil fuel companies. 

 

Table 9: Treasury Manasgement Investments
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Near-term investments 186.9 153.0 115.0 83.2 65.3
Longer-term investments 121.9 121.9 121.9 121.9 121.9
TOTAL 308.8 274.9 236.9 205.1 187.2

Treasury Management Investments

Further details on treasury investments are within the Treasury Management and 
Investment strategy, Annex 9.

Governance: 

Decisions on treasury management investment and borrowing are made daily and are 
therefore delegated to the Section 151 Officer and staff, who must act in line with the 
treasury management strategy approved by annually by Council in February.  Regular 
reports on treasury management activity are presented to Audit and Governance 
Committee.  The Audit and Governance Committee is responsible for scrutinising treasury 
management decisions.

Investments for Service Purposes

The Council makes investments to assist local public services; this could include making 
loans to local service providers, small businesses to promote economic growth and Council 
subsidiaries that provide services.  In light of the public service objective, the Council is 
willing to take more risk than with treasury investments, however it still plans for such 
investments to break even after all costs.

Governance: 

Decisions on service investments are made by the relevant service manager in consultation 
with the Section 151 Officer and must meet the criteria and limits laid down in Accounting 
Regulations and the Treasury Management and Investment Strategy.  Most loans and 

Page 156



105

shares are capital expenditure and significant purchases will be approved as part of the 
capital programme.

Further details on service investments are within the Treasury Management and Investment 
Strategy, Annex 9.

Commercial Activities

With central government financial support for local public services declining, many local 
authorities have invested in commercial property for financial gain.  

With financial return being the main objective, Council’s will generally accept higher risk on 
commercial investment, in line with business cases, than it would for treasury investments. 
The principal risk exposure includes gaps in rental income, falls in capital value, delays in 
occupation.  Should the Council choose to pursue commercial activities, the risks will be 
managed in line with a comprehensive business case. 

Governance: 

Decisions on commercial investments will be made by the Section 151 Officer in line with 
the criteria and limits approved by full Council in the Treasury Management and Investment 
Strategy.  Property and most other commercial investments are also capital expenditure and 
purchases will therefore also be approved as part of the capital programme.

Further details on commercial activities are within the Treasury Management and 
Investment Strategy, Annex 9.

Revenue Budget Implications

Although capital expenditure is not charged directly to the revenue budget, interest payable 
on loans and MRP payments are charged to revenue, offset by any investment income 
receivable.  The net annual charge is known as financing costs; this is compared to the net 
revenue stream i.e. the amount funded from Council Tax, business rates and general 
government grants.  The reason for the large increase is the Waste contract liability.

 

Table 10: Proportion of financing costs to net revenue stream
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

Proportion of Financing Costs to Net 
Revenue Stream 5.78% 6.20% 6.36% 6.75% 6.82%

Further details on the revenue implications of capital expenditure are within Annex 8 of the 
MTFS.

Page 157



106

Sustainability: 

Due to the very long-term nature of capital expenditure and financing, the revenue budget 
implications of expenditure incurred in the next few years will extend for up to 50 years into 
the future. The Section 151 Officer is satisfied that the proposed capital programme is 
prudent, affordable and sustainable because new schemes are robustly challenged through 
the capital bid process.

Knowledge and Skills

The Council employs professionally qualified and experienced staff in senior positions with 
responsibility for making capital expenditure, borrowing and investment decisions.  The 
Council pays for staff to study towards relevant professional qualifications.

Where Council staff do not have the knowledge and skills required, use is made of external 
advisers and consultants that are specialists in their field. The Council currently employs 
Arlingclose Limited as treasury management advisers.  

Asset valuations are co-ordinated internally by the Council’s Valuation Service Team, with 
valuations carried out through a combination of the Council’s internal valuers and, where 
necessary, external valuers (RICS qualified). The Valuation Service Team ensures all 
valuations are carried out in accordance with the methodologies and bases for estimation 
set out in the professional standards of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors.

Page 158



107

Annex 8a 

Capital Programme 2021/22

MEDIUM TERM CAPITAL PROGRAMME - COUNTY COUNCIL SERVICES
FINANCING STATEMENT

----------------------    Profiled Budget   ---------------------- Total Prior Total 
Future Still Years Scheme

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 Years Required Actual Investment
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

GROSS PAYMENTS

Adults 9,757 11,775 1,800 0 0 23,332 9,245 32,577
Children's Services:
Schools 21,232 63,780 12,373 1,507 200 99,092 41,339 140,431
Non Schools 450 1,686 2,500 1,250 0 5,886 3,254 9,140
Economy, Environment & Infrastructure :
Highways 68,554 78,293 35,292 201,022 2,300 385,461 163,935 549,396
Strategic Infrastructure 2,881 2,766 2,534 2,540 0 10,721 8,793 19,514
Waste Disposal 580 316 51 0 0 947 338 1,285
Libraries 408 1,032 0 0 0 1,440 1,141 2,581
Community Safety:
Fire & Rescue Service 1,426 2,720 1,520 0 0 5,666 974 6,640
Trading Standards 39 0 0 0 0 39 0 39
Corporate Resources:
AMPS 12,304 27,656 7,255 0 0 47,215 7,308 54,523
ICT Projects 9,772 4,539 2,900 2,050 2,550 21,811 9,421 31,232
Business Service Centre 831 12,787 12,720 12,500 12,500 51,338 13 51,351
Archives & Information Management 51 25 0 0 0 76 3,504 3,580
Customer 828 670 40 0 0 1,538 819 2,357
Total 129,113 208,045 78,985 220,869 17,550 654,562 250,084 904,646

AVAILABLE RESOURCES

Revenue Contributions 427 636 0 0 0 1,063
Section 106 Contributions 3,849 5,041 0 0 0 8,890
Capital Fund 7,205 5,034 2,662 676 0 15,577
Other External Contributions 1,279 267 0 73 0 1,619
External Grant - including Government 79,180 124,978 36,614 198,919 0 439,691
Other Reserves 2,393 1,518 5 0 0 3,916
Capital Receipts 22,465 32,553 11,304 2,001 0 68,323
Internal Borrowing 12,315 38,018 28,400 19,200 17,550 115,483
Other - including Borrowing 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total 129,113 208,045 78,985 220,869 17,550 654,562

Surplus/deficit (-) 0 0 0 0 0 0

Page 159



108

Capital Programme 2021/22 Budget

Scheme Name
Total Scheme

Budget
Prior Years 

Actuals 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 Future Years
Revenue 
Contrib

S106 
External 
Contrib Capital Fund

Other 
External 
Contrib

External 
Grant

Other 
Reserves

Capital 
Receipts 

Internal 
Borrowing

Other incl. 
Borrowing

Total for 
Remaining Life    

Prior Years 
Funding

Funding of 
budget total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Summary by service area
Adults 32,577 9,245 9,757 11,775 1,800 0 0 0 0 0 0 19,655 0 3,677 0 0 23,332 9,245 32,577
Schools 140,431 41,339 21,232 63,780 12,373 1,507 200 0 3,633 183 0 79,276 0 0 16,000 0 99,092 41,339 140,431
Children's Services - Non-Schools 9,140 3,254 450 1,686 2,500 1,250 0 0 0 0 0 131 0 380 5,375 0 5,886 3,254 9,140
Highways 549,396 163,935 68,554 78,293 35,292 201,022 2,300 1,002 4,752 2,974 1,546 339,969 0 7,203 28,015 0 385,461 163,935 549,396
Strategic Infrastructure 19,514 8,793 2,881 2,766 2,534 2,540 0 0 17 1,731 73 360 3,763 4,777 0 0 10,721 8,793 19,514
Waste Disposal 1,285 338 580 316 51 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 100 747 100 0 947 338 1,285
Libraries 2,581 1,141 408 1,032 0 0 0 0 478 0 0 21 0 941 0 0 1,440 1,141 2,581
Fire & Rescue 6,640 974 1,426 2,720 1,520 0 0 61 0 82 0 124 38 5,361 0 0 5,666 974 6,640
Trading Standards 39 0 39 0 0 0 0 0 0 39 0 0 0 0 0 0 39 0 39
AMPS 54,523 7,308 12,304 27,656 7,255 0 0 0 10 4,555 0 154 0 34,946 7,550 0 47,215 7,308 54,523
ICT Projects 31,232 9,421 9,772 4,539 2,900 2,050 2,550 0 0 5,913 0 1 0 7,454 8,443 0 21,811 9,421 31,232
Archives & Information Management 3,580 3,504 51 25 0 0 0 0 0 20 0 0 11 45 0 0 76 3,504 3,580
Customer 2,357 819 828 670 40 0 0 60 0 20 0 0 0 1,458 0 0 1,538 819 2,357
Business Service Centre 51,351 13 831 12,787 12,720 12,500 12,500 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,338 50,000 0 51,338 13 51,351

Total Capital Programme 904,646 250,084 129,113 208,045 78,985 220,869 17,550 1,123 8,890 15,517 1,619 439,691 3,912 68,327 115,483 0 654,562 250,084 904,646

Adults
ERIC Replacement 1,897 1,482 415 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 415 0 0 0 0 415 1,482 1,897
Community Capacity Grant 290 0 0 290 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 290 0 0 0 0 290 0 290
Supported Living Accommodation Fairford 730 2 100 628 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 728 0 0 0 0 728 2 730
H.O.L.D. Scheme 654 122 250 282 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 532 0 0 0 0 532 122 654
Transitions for Life 450 0 0 450 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 450 0 0 0 0 450 0 450
Community Capacity/Market Management 5,100 123 200 3,050 1,727 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,300 0 3,677 0 0 4,977 123 5,100
Disabled Facilities Grant 19/20 9,076 5,495 3,581 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,581 0 0 0 0 3,581 5,495 9,076
Disabled Facilities Grant 20/21 6,031 0 5,096 935 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6,031 0 0 0 0 6,031 0 6,031
Schemes under £250,000 20/21 onwards 2,319 2,021 115 110 73 0 0 0 0 0 0 298 0 0 0 0 298 2,021 2,319
New Starts 2021/22 onwards
Disabled Facilities Grant 2021/22 (estimate) 6,030 0 0 6,030 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6,030 0 0 0 0 6,030 0 6,030

Total Adults 32,577 9,245 9,757 11,775 1,800 0 0 0 0 0 0 19,655 0 3,677 0 0 23,332 9,245 32,577

Schools
Alderman Knight expansion 1,900 0 1,040 810 50 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,900 0 0 0 0 1,900 0 1,900
Battledown expansion 550 0 300 250 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 550 0 0 0 0 550 0 550
Belmont expansion 450 0 60 390 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 450 0 0 0 0 450 0 450
New SEMH Special School 9,750 2 498 9,250 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 9,748 0 0 0 0 9,748 2 9,750
Chipping Campden School Performing Arts 722 186 236 300 0 0 0 0 536 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 536 186 722
Rednock School sports hall 309 38 200 71 0 0 0 0 271 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 271 38 309
The Cotswold School expansion 5,800 185 2,200 3,365 50 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,615 0 0 0 0 5,615 185 5,800
Winchcombe School expansion 4,700 164 2,000 2,536 0 0 0 0 107 0 0 4,429 0 0 0 0 4,536 164 4,700
New Secondary School, Cheltenham 30,000 1,234 4,766 15,000 9,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 13,766 0 0 15,000 0 28,766 1,234 30,000
Healthy Pupils Capital Fund 18/19 409 0 409 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 409 0 0 0 0 409 0 409
Schools Condition Allocation 2020/21 3,640 0 0 3,640 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,640 0 0 0 0 3,640 0 3,640
Ashchurch Primary replace temps 1,000 60 750 150 40 0 0 0 236 0 0 704 0 0 0 0 940 60 1,000
Bourton-on-the-Water Primary expansion 1,004 522 442 40 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 482 0 0 0 0 482 522 1,004
Parton Manor Junior additional classbase 300 20 250 30 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 280 0 0 0 0 280 20 300
Warden Hill Primary expansion 6,503 46 600 2,150 2,500 1,207 0 0 0 0 0 6,457 0 0 0 0 6,457 46 6,503
St. David's Primary expansion 1,500 203 150 850 297 0 0 0 997 0 0 300 0 0 0 0 1,297 203 1,500
The John Moore Primary expansion 2,188 1,526 662 0 0 0 0 0 349 0 0 313 0 0 0 0 662 1,526 2,188
Winchcombe Abbey Primary expansion 1,500 109 5 1,386 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,391 0 0 0 0 1,391 109 1,500
Leckhampton Primary expansion 4,287 1,190 1,527 1,570 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,097 0 0 0 0 3,097 1,190 4,287
Hunts Grove, ICT/FFE 406 34 125 125 122 0 0 0 0 0 0 372 0 0 0 0 372 34 406
Bishops Cleeve area primary places 8,000 30 50 7,920 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7,970 0 0 0 0 7,970 30 8,000
Capital Maintenance Programme 20/21 1,930 0 1,930 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,930 0 0 0 0 1,930 0 1,930
Basic Need Grant 2020/21 8,035 0 0 8,035 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8,035 0 0 0 0 8,035 0 8,035
Schemes under £250,000 20/21 onwards 40,048 35,790 3,032 1,112 114 0 0 0 1,137 183 0 2,938 0 0 0 0 4,258 35,790 40,048

Financing for Remaining Life (2020/21 onwards)

P
age 160



109

Capital Programme 2021/22 Budget

Scheme Name
Total Scheme

Budget
Prior Years 

Actuals 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 Future Years
Revenue 
Contrib

S106 
External 
Contrib Capital Fund

Other 
External 
Contrib

External 
Grant

Other 
Reserves

Capital 
Receipts 

Internal 
Borrowing

Other incl. 
Borrowing

Total for 
Remaining Life    

Prior Years 
Funding

Funding of 
budget total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

New Starts 2021/22 onwards
Carbon Reduction support for education projects 1,000 0 0 300 200 300 200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,000 0 1,000 0 1,000
Schools Condition Allocation 2021/22 (estimate) 4,500 0 0 4,500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4,500 0 0 0 0 4,500 0 4,500

Total Schools 140,431 41,339 21,232 63,780 12,373 1,507 200 0 3,633 183 0 79,276 0 0 16,000 0 99,092 41,339 140,431

Children's Services - Non-Schools
Trevone House 2,854 2,474 380 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 380 0 0 380 2,474 2,854
Schemes under £250,000 20/21 onwards 911 780 70 61 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 131 0 0 0 0 131 780 911
New Starts 2021/22 onwards
Barnwood Residential home 375 0 0 375 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 375 0 375 0 375
Southfields – Semi Independent Accommodation 2,500 0 0 0 1,250 1,250 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,500 0 2,500 0 2,500
Townsend House 2,500 0 0 1,250 1,250 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,500 0 2,500 0 2,500

Total Children's Services - Non-Schools 9,140 3,254 450 1,686 2,500 1,250 0 0 0 0 0 131 0 380 5,375 0 5,886 3,254 9,140

Highways
PROW Capital Works - MTFS 2020-21 750 0 150 150 150 300 0 0 0 750 0 0 0 0 0 0 750 0 750
A435 Charlton Hill Cheltenham Phase 2 1,031 169 432 430 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 862 0 0 0 0 862 169 1,031
A46 Coopers Hill South - Site 2 Slip 2,021 183 1,475 363 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,838 0 0 0 0 1,838 183 2,021
Highways Locals Capital 2020-21 530 0 0 530 0 0 0 0 0 100 0 430 0 0 0 0 530 0 530
Support for Stroud Water Canal Reopening 466 175 0 291 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 291 0 0 0 0 291 175 466
M5 Junction10 Improvement Schemes 249,131 0 7,233 11,362 33,114 197,422 0 0 0 0 0 249,131 0 0 0 0 249,131 0 249,131
Lydney Harbour Project 1,400 0 1,221 179 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,400 0 0 0 0 0 1,400 0 1,400
A38 Canal Bridges 4,500 1,392 3,061 47 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,108 0 0 0 0 3,108 1,392 4,500
Gloucester South West Bypass - Llanthony 7,462 1,269 1,256 4,937 0 0 0 0 128 0 0 6,065 0 0 0 0 6,193 1,269 7,462
Cross Keys Roundabout Improvements 3,996 2,783 100 1,113 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,213 0 0 0 0 1,213 2,783 3,996
Cheltenham to Bishops Cleeve Cycle Track 1,027 289 650 88 0 0 0 0 738 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 738 289 1,027
Honeybourne Cycle ext A40 Lansdown 417 50 0 367 0 0 0 0 307 0 0 60 0 0 0 0 367 50 417
A419 Improvements (Stonehouse to M5) 5,521 4,223 1,225 73 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,298 0 0 0 0 1,298 4,223 5,521
Arle Court - WCTIS Ph1 9,231 2,237 4,622 2,372 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 6,994 0 0 0 0 6,994 2,237 9,231
Junction 11 - WCTIS Ph2 4,480 946 766 2,768 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,534 0 0 0 0 3,534 946 4,480
Telstar Way - WCTIS Ph3 8,063 558 2,866 4,639 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7,505 0 0 0 0 7,505 558 8,063
Pedestrian & Cycle Works – WCTIS Ph5 1,600 74 561 965 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,526 0 0 0 0 1,526 74 1,600
A435 Bishops Cl' to Racecourse Capacity 1,234 151 522 561 0 0 0 0 1,083 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,083 151 1,234
Telstar Way/Hubble Road 456 0 80 376 0 0 0 0 456 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 456 0 456
LED Streetlighting Major Project 20,974 18,860 1,314 400 400 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,114 0 0 2,114 18,860 20,974
Street Column Structural Test & Repair 2,167 1,894 273 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 273 0 0 0 0 273 1,894 2,167
Column Replacement - LED Project 4,741 3,141 800 400 200 200 0 0 0 800 0 800 0 0 0 0 1,600 3,141 4,741
Highmasts - A430 Metz Way Gloucester 1,077 351 70 328 328 0 0 0 0 687 0 39 0 0 0 0 726 351 1,077
Concrete Road Renewal Unallocated 3,000 0 0 3,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,000 0 0 0 0 3,000 0 3,000
Tintern Wireworks Bridge B575 1,540 9 61 1,470 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,531 0 0 0 0 1,531 9 1,540
Winchcombe Station Bridge 775 Bearings 378 1 377 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 377 0 0 0 0 377 1 378
Cleveland Bridge - 557 1,058 459 599 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 599 0 0 0 0 599 459 1,058
Bamfurlong Depot - BadgeworthTEWKS 4,629 0 0 4,629 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4,629 0 0 4,629 0 4,629
Gouda Way/Hare Lane TS-016 265 4 203 58 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 261 0 0 0 0 261 4 265
GIRR Worcester St Junction 1 TS-131 283 4 279 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 279 0 0 0 0 279 4 283
North Place/Portland 298 0 298 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 298 0 0 0 0 298 0 298
Minor Works 1,944 0 1,944 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,944 0 0 0 0 1,944 0 1,944
C'Ways - Class A Roads: Struct Maint 6,996 0 6,796 200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,996 0 0 5,000 0 6,996 0 6,996
C'Ways - Class B Roads: Struct Maint 4,405 0 4,205 200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,405 0 0 3,000 0 4,405 0 4,405
C'ways - Class 3 Roads: Struct Maint 8,053 0 7,853 200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,038 0 0 3,015 0 8,053 0 8,053
C'ways - Unclassified: Struct Maint 3,311 0 3,111 200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,311 0 0 2,000 0 3,311 0 3,311
High Street Cheltenham - Pedestrian Area 769 509 260 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 260 0 0 0 0 260 509 769
Footways: Structural Maintenance 2,198 0 2,198 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,198 0 0 0 0 2,198 0 2,198
Reactive Works 3,381 0 3,181 200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,381 0 0 0 0 3,381 0 3,381
Bulk Lining and Studs - 19-20 & 20-21 1,000 435 115 450 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 565 0 0 0 0 565 435 1,000
Advance Design 587 323 238 26 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 264 0 0 0 0 264 323 587
Schemes under £250,000 20/21 onwards 135,891 123,446 8,159 4,286 0 0 0 502 2,040 637 146 8,660 0 460 0 0 12,445 123,446 135,891

Financing for Remaining Life (2020/21 onwards)

P
age 161



110

Capital Programme 2021/22 Budget

Scheme Name
Total Scheme

Budget
Prior Years 

Actuals 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 Future Years
Revenue 
Contrib

S106 
External 
Contrib Capital Fund

Other 
External 
Contrib

External 
Grant

Other 
Reserves

Capital 
Receipts 

Internal 
Borrowing

Other incl. 
Borrowing

Total for 
Remaining Life    

Prior Years 
Funding

Funding of 
budget total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

New Starts 2021/22 onwards
Life Expired Steel Lighting Columns 600 0 0 100 100 100 300 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 600 0 600 0 600
Inflationary pressures on structural maintenance 2,000 0 0 0 1,000 1,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,000 0 2,000 0 2,000
B4063 cycle route 3,000 0 0 3,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,000 0 3,000 0 3,000
M5 Junction 10 improvements 4,000 0 0 0 0 2,000 2,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4,000 0 4,000 0 4,000
Bamfurlong replacement highway depot 400 0 0 400 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 400 0 400 0 400
A Roads Struct Maint 2021/22 5,882 0 0 5,882 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,867 0 0 2,015 0 5,882 0 5,882
B Roads Struct Maint 2021/22 1,701 0 0 1,701 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,118 0 0 583 0 1,701 0 1,701
Class 3 Roads Struct Maint 2021/22 2,828 0 0 2,828 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,859 0 0 969 0 2,828 0 2,828
Unclassified Roads Struct Maint 2021/22 497 0 0 497 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 327 0 0 170 0 497 0 497
Reactive Works 3,685 0 0 3,685 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,422 0 0 1,263 0 3,685 0 3,685
Data collection inc SCRIM data and signing 130 0 0 130 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 130 0 0 0 0 130 0 130
Coring & Assessment 2021/22 200 0 0 200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 200 0 0 0 0 200 0 200
Capital Minor Works (MTC3) 2021/22 2,000 0 0 2,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,000 0 0 0 0 2,000 0 2,000
Footway and Cycleway Maint 2021/22 550 0 0 550 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 550 0 0 0 0 550 0 550
PROW resurfacing 25 0 0 25 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 25 0 0 0 0 25 0 25
Highway Safety Features 2021/22 240 0 0 240 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 240 0 0 0 0 240 0 240
Bridges and Walls 2021/22 1,663 0 0 1,663 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,663 0 0 0 0 1,663 0 1,663
Street Lighting 2021/22 800 0 0 800 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 800 0 0 0 0 800 0 800
Drainage 2021/22 500 0 0 500 0 0 0 500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 500 0 500
Traffic Signals 2021/22 1,000 0 0 1,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,000 0 0 0 0 1,000 0 1,000
Slips 2021/22 1,500 0 0 1,500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,500 0 0 0 0 1,500 0 1,500
Large and Miscellaneous Schemes 2021/22 2,400 0 0 2,400 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,400 0 0 0 0 2,400 0 2,400
Parking 2021/22 250 0 0 250 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 250 0 0 0 0 250 0 250
Public Transport Infrastructure 2021/22 150 0 0 150 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 150 0 0 0 0 150 0 150
Cycle Infrastructure 2021/22 100 0 0 100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 100 0 0 0 0 100 0 100
Safety Schemes 2021/22 400 0 0 400 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 400 0 0 0 0 400 0 400
Accessibility & Community 2021/22 150 0 0 150 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 150 0 0 0 0 150 0 150
Support for Stroud Water Canal Reopening 234 0 0 234 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 234 0 0 0 0 234 0 234
High Street Cheltenham - Pedestrian Area 250 0 0 250 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 250 0 0 0 0 250 0 250

Total Highways 549,396 163,935 68,554 78,293 35,292 201,022 2,300 1,002 4,752 2,974 1,546 339,969 0 7,203 28,015 0 385,461 163,935 549,396

Strategic Infrastructure
Fastershire Broadband Strategy 13,701 6,046 2,192 1,821 1,821 1,821 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,301 4,354 0 0 7,655 6,046 13,701
Flood & Water Management Act 523 15 0 146 146 216 0 0 0 360 73 75 0 0 0 0 508 15 523
Priors & Oakley FAS - FDGiA 2,933 2,623 200 80 15 15 0 0 0 167 0 143 0 0 0 0 310 2,623 2,933
Coleford Flood Alleviation Project 350 0 0 20 240 90 0 0 0 350 0 0 0 0 0 0 350 0 350
Pittville Flood Alleviation Project 450 0 0 0 174 276 0 0 0 300 0 0 0 150 0 0 450 0 450
Strategic Transport Model 2020-21-22 562 0 213 344 5 0 0 0 0 100 0 0 462 0 0 0 562 0 562
Schemes under £250,000 20/21 onwards 995 109 276 355 133 122 0 0 17 454 0 142 0 273 0 0 886 109 995

Total Strategic Infrastructure 19,514 8,793 2,881 2,766 2,534 2,540 0 0 17 1,731 73 360 3,763 4,777 0 0 10,721 8,793 19,514

Waste Disposal
Mobile Compactors 252 1 0 200 51 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 50 201 0 0 251 1 252
Fosse Cross HRC (Cirencester) 281 31 250 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 250 0 0 250 31 281
Schemes under £250,000 20/21 onwards 652 306 330 16 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 50 296 0 0 346 306 652
New Starts 2021/22 onwards
CCTV at HRC sites 80 0 0 80 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 80 0 80 0 80
Bodycams at HRC sites 20 0 0 20 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 20 0 20 0 20

Total Waste Disposal 1,285 338 580 316 51 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 100 747 100 0 947 338 1,285

Libraries
Customer Services Programme 1,519 578 270 671 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 941 0 0 941 578 1,519
Schemes under £250,000 20/21 onwards 1,062 563 138 361 0 0 0 0 478 0 0 21 0 0 0 0 499 563 1,062

Total Libraries 2,581 1,141 408 1,032 0 0 0 0 478 0 0 21 0 941 0 0 1,440 1,141 2,581

Financing for Remaining Life (2020/21 onwards)

P
age 162



111

Capital Programme 2021/22 Budget

Scheme Name
Total Scheme

Budget
Prior Years 

Actuals 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 Future Years
Revenue 
Contrib

S106 
External 
Contrib Capital Fund

Other 
External 
Contrib

External 
Grant

Other 
Reserves

Capital 
Receipts 

Internal 
Borrowing

Other incl. 
Borrowing

Total for 
Remaining Life    

Prior Years 
Funding

Funding of 
budget total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Fire & Rescue
ERV - Fire Appliances & Equipmnt 18/19 3,913 0 165 2,228 1,520 0 0 0 0 13 0 0 0 3,900 0 0 3,913 0 3,913
ERV - Aerial Ladder Platform 430 0 0 430 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 430 0 0 430 0 430
ECR - Mobilising System Upgrade 343 60 255 28 0 0 0 43 0 0 0 0 0 240 0 0 283 60 343
Personal Protection Equipment 616 10 606 0 0 0 0 16 0 0 0 0 0 590 0 0 606 10 616
Schemes under £250,000 20/21 onwards 1,338 904 400 34 0 0 0 2 0 69 0 124 38 201 0 0 434 904 1,338

Total Fire & Rescue 6,640 974 1,426 2,720 1,520 0 0 61 0 82 0 124 38 5,361 0 0 5,666 974 6,640

Trading Standards
Schemes under £250,000 20/21 onwards 39 0 39 0 0 0 0 0 0 39 0 0 0 0 0 0 39 0 39

Total Trading Standards 39 0 39 0 0 0 0 0 0 39 0 0 0 0 0 0 39 0 39

AMPS
Area Based Review 3,572 0 200 3,372 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,572 0 0 3,572 0 3,572
Locality Solutions (Stroud) 345 21 100 224 0 0 0 0 0 324 0 0 0 0 0 0 324 21 345
Refurbishment of Service Properties 702 0 184 318 200 0 0 0 0 1 0 102 0 599 0 0 702 0 702
Shire Hall - Planned External maint 640 50 590 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 40 0 550 0 0 590 50 640
Shire Hall - Block 2 Windows 400 89 311 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 311 0 0 311 89 400
Shire Hall - External Blk 6 incl Parking 821 462 359 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 359 0 0 359 462 821
Cotswold Hub - Lewis Lane 578 32 100 400 46 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 546 0 0 546 32 578
Quayside - Health Hub 16,030 1,451 6,500 8,000 79 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 14,579 0 0 14,579 1,451 16,030
Quayside - Multi-Storey Car Park 7,550 0 100 6,900 550 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 7,550 0 7,550 0 7,550
Automatic Doors - Corp Prop MTFS 19-20 300 10 110 90 90 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 290 0 0 290 10 300
Access Control - Corp Prop MTFS 19-20 300 34 145 121 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 266 0 0 266 34 300
Planned Capital Maintenance - MTFS 19-20 932 160 400 372 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 772 0 0 772 160 932
Coroners Court Refrigeration Replacement 450 4 346 100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 446 0 0 446 4 450
County Offices Chelt - Refurb & Reconfig 8,056 27 200 2,829 5,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8,029 0 0 8,029 27 8,056
Corporate Property Condition Data Works 4,150 0 500 2,500 1,150 0 0 0 0 4,150 0 0 0 0 0 0 4,150 0 4,150
Social Care Service Remodelling 2,000 0 500 1,500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,000 0 0 2,000 0 2,000
Rural Estates - Farm Investment 1,634 808 250 576 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 826 0 0 826 808 1,634
Schemes under £250,000 20/21 onwards 6,063 4,160 1,409 354 140 0 0 0 10 80 0 12 0 1,801 0 0 1,903 4,160 6,063

Total AMPS 54,523 7,308 12,304 27,656 7,255 0 0 0 10 4,555 0 154 0 34,946 7,550 0 47,215 7,308 54,523

ICT Projects
ICT Strategy - Telephony 2,236 1,871 365 0 0 0 0 0 0 269 0 1 0 95 0 0 365 1,871 2,236
ICT Strat - Network Strategy Upgrade 1,313 223 1,090 0 0 0 0 0 0 893 0 0 0 197 0 0 1,090 223 1,313
ICT Strat - End User Device O/S 2,350 411 1,261 678 0 0 0 0 0 1,939 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,939 411 2,350
Secure WiFi Solution 2 All Council Sites 2,200 234 1,966 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,966 0 0 1,966 234 2,200
Endpoint Devices Replacement 5,423 2,768 1,405 1,250 0 0 0 0 0 224 0 0 0 2,431 0 0 2,655 2,768 5,423
Contact Centre solution enhancement 368 110 258 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 258 0 0 258 110 368
Hware Refresh Unsupported Servers 272 17 255 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 255 0 0 255 17 272
Microsoft databases upgrade 367 76 94 197 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 291 0 0 291 76 367
ICT Critical and Core Systems Upgrade 1,685 0 1,400 285 0 0 0 0 0 1,685 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,685 0 1,685
C&F ICT Systems Rationalisation 500 0 0 250 250 0 0 0 0 500 0 0 0 0 0 0 500 0 500
Upgrading remote site connectivity 1,060 0 560 500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,060 0 0 1,060 0 1,060
Schemes under £250,000 20/21 onwards 5,015 3,711 1,118 86 100 0 0 0 0 403 0 0 0 901 0 0 1,304 3,711 5,015
New Starts 2021/22 onwards
Delivery of the Technical Digital and ICT Roadmap 8,443 0 0 1,293 2,550 2,050 2,550 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8,443 0 8,443 0 8,443

Total ICT Projects 31,232 9,421 9,772 4,539 2,900 2,050 2,550 0 0 5,913 0 1 0 7,454 8,443 0 21,811 9,421 31,232

Archives & Information Management
Schemes under £250,000 20/21 onwards 3,580 3,504 51 25 0 0 0 0 0 20 0 0 11 45 0 0 76 3,504 3,580

Total Archives & Information Management 3,580 3,504 51 25 0 0 0 0 0 20 0 0 11 45 0 0 76 3,504 3,580

Financing for Remaining Life (2020/21 onwards)

P
age 163



112

Capital Programme 2021/22 Budget

Scheme Name
Total Scheme

Budget
Prior Years 

Actuals 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 Future Years
Revenue 
Contrib

S106 
External 
Contrib Capital Fund

Other 
External 
Contrib

External 
Grant

Other 
Reserves

Capital 
Receipts 

Internal 
Borrowing

Other incl. 
Borrowing

Total for 
Remaining Life    

Prior Years 
Funding

Funding of 
budget total

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Customer

Digital Transformation Unallocated 650 0 0 650 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 650 0 0 650 0 650
Business Analytics 950 148 802 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 802 0 0 802 148 950
Schemes under £250,000 20/21 onwards 757 671 26 20 40 0 0 60 0 20 0 0 0 6 0 0 86 671 757

Total Customer 2,357 819 828 670 40 0 0 60 0 20 0 0 0 1,458 0 0 1,538 819 2,357

Business Service Centre
Procure to Pay Digital Project 900 13 600 287 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 887 0 0 887 13 900
Schemes under £250,000 20/21 onwards 451 0 231 0 220 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 451 0 0 451 0 451
New Starts 2021/22 onwards
Investing in self funded income schemes 50,000 0 0 12,500 12,500 12,500 12,500 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 50,000 0 50,000 0 50,000

Total Business Service Centre 51,351 13 831 12,787 12,720 12,500 12,500 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,338 50,000 0 51,338 13 51,351

Financing for Remaining Life (2020/21 onwards)

P
age 164



113

Annex 8b 
Capital Programme New Schemes 2021/22 onwards funded from Internal Borrowing

Scheme Name

Total 
Scheme
Budget

£000
2021/22

£000
2022/23

£000
2023/24+

£000

Scheme Description

Economy, Environment & Infrastructure
Highways Depots - Cirencester Depot 400 400 0 0 Completion of the refurbishment works at Cirencester Depot. 

Life Expired Steel Lighting Columns 600 100 100 400 Asset replacement programme for “life expired” steel street l ighting columns that have exceeded their useful service l ife.

Capital Structural Maintenance Delivery 3,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 To cover inflationary pressures on structural maintenance works to enable delivery expectations to be met rather than reduced.

B4063 Cycle Route 3,000 3,000 0 0
Contribution to enable delivery of the 11km cycle route between Cheltenham and Gloucester, along the B4063.  Walking and cycling 
schemes are widely seen as a key component in the transport sector’s contribution to encouraging active travel as well  as the Covid-
19 economic recovery.   

CCTV at HRC sites 80 80 0 0 Replacement of CCTV at the five Household Recyling Centre sites as the current CCTV infrastructure is no longer fit for purpose

Bodycams at HRC sites 20 20 0 0 The use of body cams will  help to defuse potential situations of conflict and provide valuable evidence to verify and respond to 
complaints and allegations against members of staff. 

M5 Junction 10 Improvements 4,000 0 0 4,000
This project is forecast to cost £253.131 mill ion, of which Homes England will  be providing capital grant funding for £249.131 
mill ion and the remaining £4 mill ion will  need to be funded by GCC in the last two years of the contract - 2023/24 and  2024/25 
respectively.

Economy, Environment & Infrastructure Total 11,100 4,600 1,100 5,400

Children's Services
Carbon Reduction financial support for education 
capital projects 

1,000 300 200 500 Current education capital projects can be enhanced to help the council  meet carbon reduction target

Barnwood Residential home 375 375 0 0 Residential provision for Children in Care, including Emergency / PACE provision. 

Southfields – Semi Independent Accommodation 2,500 0 1,250 1,250 Accommodation for the 16 – 25 age groups is particularly needed and whilst COVID-19 has temporarily exacerbated the demand for 
Semi Independent placements, we have also seen a steady increase in demand over the past 2 years. 

Townsend House: Parent & Child assessment centre, 
Nursery & Children Centre.

2,500 1,250 1,250 0 This project would create a centre of Best Practice for parent and child assessments. Alongside an Early Years service for local 
vulnerable families

Children's Services Total 6,375 1,925 2,700 1,750

ICT

Delivery of the Technical Digital and ICT Roadmap (10 
Schemes)

8,443 1,293 2,550 4,600
Part of the “Technical Digital and ICT Roadmap” additional funding needed for a five year period.  A Technical Digital & ICT roadmap 
has therefore been developed to provide GCC with a clear and concise roadmap for a future state of the ICT Service and 
Infrastructure. The roadmap sets out the change and investment profile required to meet GCC’s digital and ICT ambition. 

ICT  Total 8,443 1,293 2,550 4,600

Corporate 
Investing in self funded income schemes 50,000 12,500 12,500 25,000 Funding for regeneration / commercial self funding schemes. Approval of these schemes will  be dependant on a successful business 

case, with the assumption the scheme is self funding and there is no impact on revenue.
Corporate Total 50,000 12,500 12,500 25,000

Total New Schemes 2021/22 onwards 75,918 20,318 18,850 36,750

P
age 165



114

Annex 9
Treasury Management and Investment Strategy Statement

2021/22 

Introduction

Treasury management is the management of the Councils cash flows, borrowing and 
investments, and the associated risks. The Council has borrowed and invested substantial 
sums of money and is therefore exposed to financial risks including the loss of invested funds 
and the revenue effect of changing interest rates.  The successful identification, monitoring and 
control of financial risk are therefore central to the Council’s prudent financial management. 

Treasury risk management at the Council is conducted within the framework of the Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Treasury Management in the Public Services: 
Code of Practice 2017 Edition (the CIPFA Code) which requires the Council to approve a 
treasury management strategy before the start of each financial year. This report fulfils the 
Council’s legal obligation under the Local Government Act 2003 to have regard to the CIPFA 
Code.

Investments held for service purposes or for commercial profit are considered within this 
Strategy as per MHCLG guidance.

External Context

Economic background
The impact on the UK from coronavirus, together with its exit from the European Union and 
future trading arrangements with the bloc, will remain a major influence on the Authority’s 
treasury management strategy for 2021/22.  
The Bank of England (BoE) maintained Bank Rate at 0.10% in November 2020 and also 
extended its Quantitative Easing programme by £150 billion to £895 billion. The Monetary 
Policy Committee voted unanimously for both, but no mention was made of the potential future 
use of negative interest rates. Within the latest forecasts, the Bank expects the UK economy to 
shrink -2% in Q4 2020 before growing by 7.25% in 2021, lower than the previous forecast of 
9%. The BoE also forecasts the economy will now take until Q1 2022 to reach its pre-
pandemic level rather than the end of 2021 as previously forecast.
UK Consumer Price Inflation (CPI) for September 2020 registered 0.5% year on year, up from 
0.2% in the previous month. Core inflation, which excludes the more volatile components, rose 
to 1.3% from 0.9%. The most recent labour market data for the three months to August 2020 
showed the unemployment rate rose to 4.5% while the employment rate fell to 75.6%. Both 
measures are expected to deteriorate further due to the ongoing impact of coronavirus on the 
jobs market, particularly when the various government job retention schemes start to be 
unwound in 2021, with the BoE forecasting unemployment will peak at 7.75% in Q2 2021. In 
August, the headline 3-month average annual growth rate for wages were 0% for total pay and 
0.8% for regular pay. In real terms, after adjusting for inflation, total pay growth fell by -0.8% 
while regular pay was up 0.1%.

GDP growth fell by -19.8% in the second quarter of 2020, a much sharper contraction from -
2.0% in the previous three months, with the annual rate falling -21.5% from -1.6%. All sectors 
fell quarter-on-quarter, with dramatic declines in construction (-35.7%), services (-19.2%) and 
production (-16.3%), and a more modest fall in agriculture (-5.9%). Monthly GDP estimates 

Page 166



115

have shown the economy is recovering but remains well below its pre-pandemic peak. Looking 
ahead, the BoE’s November Monetary Policy Report forecasts economic growth will rise in 
2021 with GDP reaching 11% in Q4 2021, 3.1% in Q4 2022 and 1.6% in Q4 2023.
The headline rate of UK Consumer Price Inflation (CPI) fell to 0.2% year/year in August, further 
below the Bank of England’s 2% target, with the largest downward contribution coming from 
restaurants and hotels influenced by the EOHO scheme.  The Office for National Statistics’ 
preferred measure of CPIH which includes owner-occupied housing was 0.5% y/y.

The Bank of England (BoE) maintained Bank Rate at 0.1% and its Quantitative Easing 
programme at £745 billion. The potential use of negative interest rates was not ruled in or out 
by BoE policymakers, but then a comment in the September Monetary Policy Committee 
meeting minutes that the central bank was having a harder look at its potential impact than was 
previously suggested took financial markets by surprise.

Credit Update
After spiking in late March as coronavirus became a global pandemic, credit default swap 
(CDS) prices for the larger UK banks have steadily fallen back to almost pre-pandemic levels. 
Although uncertainly around COVID-19 related loan defaults lead to banks provisioning billions 
for potential losses in the first half of 2020, drastically reducing profits, reported impairments for 
Q3 were much reduced in some institutions. However, general bank profitability in 2020 is 
likely to be significantly lower than in previous years.

The credit ratings for many UK institutions were downgraded on the back of downgrades to the 
sovereign rating. Credit conditions more generally though in banks and building societies have 
tended to be relatively benign, despite the impact of the pandemic.

Looking forward, the potential for bank losses to be greater than expected when government 
and central bank support starts to be removed remains a risk, as does the UK not achieving a 
Brexit deal, suggesting a cautious approach to bank deposits in 2021/22 remains advisable.

Interest Rate Forecast

The Council’s treasury advisors, Arlingclose, expects Bank Rate to remain at the current 
0.10% level and additional monetary loosening in the future most likely through further financial 
asset purchases (QE).  While Arlingclose’s central case for Bank Rate is no change from the 
current level of 0.1%, further cuts to Bank Rate to zero or even into negative territory cannot be 
completely ruled out.

Gilt yields are expected to remain very low in the medium term. Shorter-term gilt yields are 
currently negative and will remain around zero or below until either the Bank of England 
expressly rules out negative Bank Rate or growth/inflation prospects improve.

Downside risks remain in the near term, as the government dials down its fiscal support 
measures, reacts to the risk of a further escalation in infection rates and the Brexit transition 
period comes to an end.

A more detailed economic and interest rate forecast provided by Arlingclose is attached at 
Appendix A.

Page 167



116

Local Context

At 31st March 2021 the Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital purposes as measured 
by the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) is £393.7 million, while usable reserves and 
working capital which are the underlying resources available for investment were £362.3 
million. This is set out in further detail at Appendix B.  Forecast changes in these sums are 
shown in the balance sheet analysis in table 1 below.

The Council currently has £261.8 million of external borrowing, a £103.6 million lease liability 
(including PFI and the Waste liability) and £367.3 million (as at 29th October 2020) of internal 
investments. This is set out in further detail at Appendix B, and forecasts changes in these 
sums are shown in the balance sheet analysis at Table 1 below. 

The Council’s current strategy is to maintain borrowing and investments below their underlying 
levels, sometimes known as internal borrowing.  CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance 
in Local Authorities recommends that the Council’s total debt should be lower than its highest 
forecast CFR over the next three years.  Table 1 shows that the Council expects to comply 
with this recommendation during 2021/22. 

 

Table 1: Balance Sheet Summary and Forecast
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
General Fund CFR 389.844 393.741 422.752 440.825 449.123
Less: Other debt liabilities 98.408 103.570 102.133 100.405 98.877
Loans CFR 291.436 290.171 320.619 340.419 350.246
Less: External borrowing 269.786 261.823 251.878 239.778 231.778
Internal (over) borrowing 21.650 28.348 68.741 100.641 118.468
Less: Usable reserves 244.300 223.600 226.000 226.100 220.100
Less: Working capital 79.600 79.600 79.600 79.600 79.600
(Investments) or New borrowing (302.250) (274.852) (236.859) (205.059) (181.232)

Balance Sheet Summary

 

Liability benchmark

To compare the Council’s actual borrowing against an alternative strategy, a liability 
benchmark has been calculated and presented in the Capital Strategy, showing the lowest risk 
level of borrowing. This benchmark is currently -£13.2 million and is forecast to rise to £44.5 
million over the next three years as the Council seeks to hold new capital borrowing 
requirements internally.

Borrowing Strategy

The total borrowing requirement at the end of 2020/21 is forecast to be £393.7 million 
(equivalent to the CFR).  This is financed by historic external and a lease liability.  The 
Council’s aim is to both repay maturing debt, and where possible some of the existing debt 
when oportunites to do this arise. The Council also considers new borrowing where it can be 
shown to be prudent and financial beneficial to do so.  In 2020/21 £8.0 million maturing 
external debt was repaid with £9.9 million being forecast to be repaid in 2021/22.

Page 168



117

The Councils chief objective when borrowing money is to strike an appropriately low risk 
balance between securing low interest costs and achieving cost certainty over the period for 
which funds are required.  The flexibility to renegotiate loans should the Councils long-term 
plans change is a secondary objective.

The Councils borrowing strategy continues to address the key issue of affordability without 
compromising the longer-term stability of the debt portfolio. With short-term interest rates 
currently much lower than long-term rates, it is likely that in the event that the Council needed 
to borrow it would be more cost effective in the short-term to either use internal resources, or to 
borrow short-term loans instead.  

By doing so, the Council is able to reduce net borrowing costs (despite foregone investment 
income) and reduce overall treasury risk. Whilst such a strategy is most likely to be beneficial 
over the next 2-3 years as official interest rates remain low, it is unlikely to be sustained in the 
medium-term.  The benefits of internal borrowing will be monitored regularly against the 
potential for incurring additional costs by deferring borrowing into future years when long-term 
borrowing rates are forecast to rise modestly.  Arlingclose will assist the Council with this ‘cost 
of carry’ and breakeven analysis. 

In addition, the Council may borrow short-term loans (normally for up to one month) to cover 
unexpected cash flow shortages.

Sources of Borrowing and Portfolio Implications

The approved sources of long-term and short-term borrowing are:

• HM Treasury’s PWLB lending facility (formerly the Public Works Loan Board)
• UK local authorities
• any institution approved for investments (see below)
• any other bank or building society authorised to operate in the UK
• any other UK public sector body
• UK public and private sector pension funds (except Gloucestershire Pension Fund)
• capital market bond investors
• UK Municipal Bonds Agency plc and other special purpose companies created to enable 

local Council bond issues

In addition, capital finance may be raised by the following methods that are not borrowing, but 
may be classed as other debt liabilities:

• leasing
• hire purchase
• Private Finance Initiative 
• sale and leaseback.

The Council has previously raised the majority of its long-term borrowing from the Public 
Works Loan Board, but it continues to investigate other sources of finance especially in light of 
the increase made to PWLB rates in October 2019, such as local Council loans and bank 
loans, that may be available at more favourable rates.  A HM Treasury consultation on 
lowering PWLB rates concluded in July 2020 but the government has yet to publish its 
response.

Page 169



118

The UK Municipal Bonds Agency plc was established in 2014 by the Local Government 
Association as an alternative to the PWLB.  It plans to issue bonds on the capital markets and 
lend the proceeds to local authorities.  This will be a more complicated source of finance than 
the PWLB for two reasons: borrowing authorities will be required to provide bond investors with 
a guarantee to refund their investment in the event that the agency is unable to for any reason; 
and there will be a lead time of several months between committing to borrow and knowing the 
interest rate payable. Any decision to borrow from the Agency will therefore be the subject of a 
separate report to Audit and Governance Committee.  

The Council holds £33.050 million of Lender’s Option Borrower’s Option (LOBO) loans where 
the lender has the option to propose an increase in the interest rate as set dates, following 
which the Council has the option to either accept the new rate or to repay the loan at no 
additional cost.  All of these LOBO’s have options during 2021/22, however lenders are 
unlikely to exercise their options in the current low interest rate environment. The situation with 
these LOBOs will be kept under regular review and the Council will take the option to repay 
LOBO loans at no cost if it has the opportunity to do so.  Previously a further £8.0 million of 
loans with Barclays were classified as LOBOs, however Barclays have now fixed the interest 
rates on these loans until maturity. These are now classified as fixed rate market loans.

Short-term and variable rate loans leave the Council exposed to the risk of short-term interest 
rate rises and are therefore subject to interest rate exposure limits in the treasury management 
indicators below.  Financial derivatives may be used to manage this interest rate risk (see 
Financial Deriavitives section below).

Debt Rescheduling

The PWLB allows authorities to repay loans before maturity and either pay a premium or 
receive a discount according to a set formula based on current interest rates. Some bank 
lenders may also be prepared to negotiate premature redemption terms. The Council may take 
advantage of this and replace some loans with new loans, or repay loans without replacement, 
where this is expected to lead to an overall saving or reduction in risk..

Borrowing and rescheduling activity will be reported to the Audit and Governance Committee in 
the Annual Treasury Management Report, the Mid Year Report and any other treasury 
management reports presented to Audit & Governance Committee.

Treasury Investment Strategy

The Council holds significant invested funds, representing income received in advance of 
expenditure plus balances and reserves held.  During 2020/21 the Council’s internal treasury 
investment balance has ranged between £308.8 million and £384.8 million.  Balances are 
expected to start falling as internal borrowing starts to become a feature of future years.

The CIPFA Code requires the Council to invest its treasury funds prudently, and to have regard 
to the security and liquidity of its investments before seeking the highest rate of return, or yield.  
The Council’s objective when investing money is to strike an appropriate balance between risk 
and return, minimising the risk of incurring losses from defaults and the risk receiving 
unsuitably low investment income.  Where balances are expected to be invested for more than 

Page 170



119

one year, the Council will aim to achieve a total return that is equal or higher than the 
prevailing rate of inflation, in order to maintain the spending power of the sum invested.

Negative interest rates:
The COVID-19 pandemic has increased the risk that the Bank of England will set its Bank Rate 
at or below zero, which is likely to feed through to negative interest rates on all low risk, short-
term investment options. Since investments cannot pay negative income, negative rates will be 
applied by reducing the value of investments. In this event, security will be measured as 
receiving the contractually agreed amount at maturity, even though this may be less than the 
amount originally invested.

Given the increasing risk and very low returns from short-term unsecured bank investments, 
the Council aims to continue its strategy of diversifying into more secure and / or higher 
yielding asset classes during 2021/22.  This is especially the case for funds available for 
longer-term investment. The pie chart below shows how  Councils surplus cash is currently 
invested.

UK Banks
5%

Covered 
Instruments

1%

Local Authorities
39%

MMF+
1%

MMFs
31%

Housing 
Associations

3%

Long Dated 
Funds
12%

Property Fund
8%

Investments as at 29/10/20

Under the new IFRS 9 standard, the accounting for certain investments depends on the 
Council’s “business model” for managing them. The Council aims to achieve value from its 
internally managed treasury investments by a business model of collecting the contractual 
cash flows and therefore, where other criteria are also met, these investments will continue to 
be accounted for at amortised cost.

The Council may invest its surplus funds with any of the counterparty types in table 2 below, 
subject to the cash limits (per counterparty), the time limits shown and the Responsible 
Investment Policy incorporated as part of the Treasury Management Policies.

Page 171



120

Table 2: Approved Investment Counterparties 

 

Sector  Time limit Counterparty 
limit Sector limit

The UK Government  50 years Unlimited n/a
Local authorities & other government entities 25 years £15m  Unlimited
Secured investments * 25 years £30m  Unlimited
Banks (unsecured) * 13 months £15m Unlimited
Building societies (unsecured) * 13 months £15m £30m
Registered providers (unsecured) *  5 years £15m £30m
Money market funds * n/a £30m / fund Unlimited
Strategic pooled funds n/a £30m £150m
Real estate investment trusts n/a £30m £30m
Other investments * 5 years £15m £30m

* Minimum credit rating: Treasury investments in the sectors marked with an asterisk will only be made with entities whose lowest 
published long-term credit rating is no lower than A-

Table 2 should be read in conjunction with the notes below:

 Credit Rating: 
Investment limits are set by reference to the lowest published long-term credit rating from a 
selection of external rating agencies. Where available, the credit rating relevant to the 
specific investment or class of investment is used, otherwise the counterparty credit rating 
is used. However, investment decisions are never made solely based on credit ratings, and 
all other relevant factors including external advice will be taken into account.

For entities without published credit ratings, investments may be made either (a) where 
external advice indicates the entity to be of similar credit quality; or (b) to a maximum of 
£100,000 per counterparty as part of a diversified pool e.g. via a peer-to-peer platform.

• Government: 
Loans, bonds and bills issued or guaranteed by national governments, regional and local 
authorities and multilateral development banks. These investments are not subject to bail-
in, and there is generally a lower risk of insolvency, although they are not zero risk. 
Investments with the UK Central Government may be made in unlimited amounts for up to 
50 years.

• Secured Investments: 
These investments are secured on the borrower’s assets, which limits the potential losses 
in the event of insolvency.  Where there is no investment specific credit rating, but the 
collateral upon which the investment is secured has a credit rating, the highest of the 
collateral credit rating and the counterparty credit rating will be used to determine cash and 
time limits.  The combined secured and unsecured investments in any one bank will not 
exceed the cash limit for secured investments.

 Banks and Building Societies Unsecured: 
Accounts, deposits, certificates of deposit and senior unsecured bonds with banks and 
building societies, other than multilateral development banks.  These investments are 
subject to the risk of credit loss via a bail-in should the regulator determine that the bank is 

Page 172



121

failing or likely to fail.

 Registered Providers (unsecured): 
Loans and bonds issued by, guaranteed by or secured on the assets of registered providers 
of social housing and registered social landlords, formerly known as housing associations.  
These bodies are regulated by the Regulator of Social Housing (in England). As providers 
of public services, they retain the likelihood of receiving government support if needed.  

• Money market funds: 
Pooled funds that offer same-day or short notice liquidity and very low or no price volatility 
by investing in short-term money markets. They have the advantage over bank accounts of 
providing wide diversification of investment risks, coupled with the services of a 
professional fund manager in return for a small fee. Although no sector limit applies to 
money market funds, the Council will take care to diversify its liquid investments over a 
variety of providers to ensure access to cash at all times.

 Strategic Pooled Funds: 

Bond, equity and property funds offer enhanced returns over the longer term, but are more 
volatile in the short term.  These allow the Council to diversify into asset classes other than 
cash without the need to own and manage the underlying investments. Because these 
funds have no defined maturity date, but are available for withdrawal after a notice period, 
their performance and continued suitability in meeting the Council’s investment objectives 
will be monitored regularly.

 Real estate investment trusts: 
Shares in companies that invest mainly in real estate and pay the majority of their rental 
income to investors in a similar manner to pooled property funds. As with property funds, 
REITs offer enhanced returns over the longer term, but are more volatile especially as the 
share price reflects changing demand for the shares as well as changes in the value of the 
underlying properties.  Investments in REIT shares cannot be withdrawn but can be sold on 
the stock market to another investor.

• Other investments: 
This category covers treasury investments not listed above, for example unsecured 
corporate bonds and company loans. Non-bank companies cannot be bailed-in but can 
become insolvent placing the Council’s investment at risk. 

• Operational bank accounts: 
The Council may incur operational exposures, for example though current accounts, and 
merchant acquiring services, to any UK bank with credit ratings no lower than BBB- and 
with assets greater than £25 billion.  These are not classed as investments but are still 
subject to the risk of a bank bail-in, and balances will therefore be kept to a minumum.  The 
Bank of England has stated that in the event of failure, banks with assets greater than £25 
billion are more likely to be bailed-in than made insolvent, increasing the chance of the 
Council maintaining operational continuity.
• Risk assessment and credit ratings: 

Page 173



122

Credit ratings are obtained and monitored by the Council’s treasury advisers, who will notify 
changes in ratings as they occur. The credit rating agencies in current use are listed in the 
Treasury Management Practices document. Where an entity has its credit rating 
downgraded so that it fails to meet the approved investment criteria then:
o no new investments will be made,
o any existing investments that can be recalled or sold at no cost will be, 
o full consideration will be given to the recall or sale of all other existing investments with 

the affected counterparty.

Where a credit rating agency announces that a credit rating is on review for possible 
downgrade (also known as “negative watch”) so that it may fall below the approved rating 
criteria, then only investments that can be withdrawn will be made with that organisation 
until the outcome of the review is announced.  This policy will not apply to negative 
outlooks, which indicate a long-term direction of travel rather than an imminent change of 
rating.

Other information on the security of investments: 

The Council understands that credit ratings are good, but not perfect, predictors of 
investment default.  Full regard will therefore be given to other available information on the 
credit quality of the organisations in which it invests, including credit default swap prices, 
financial statements, information on potential government support, reports in the quality 
financial press and analysis and advice from the Council’s treasury management adviser.  
No investments will be made with an organisation if there are substantive doubts about its 
credit quality, even though it may otherwise meet the above criteria.

When deteriorating financial market conditions affect the creditworthiness of all organisations, 
as happened in 2008 and 2020, this is not generally reflected in credit ratings, but can be seen 
in other market measures. In these circumstances, the Council will restrict its investments to 
those organisations of higher credit quality and reduce the maximum duration of its 
investments to maintain the required level of security.  The extent of these restrictions will be in 
line with prevailing financial market conditions. If these restrictions mean that insufficient 
commercial organisations of high credit quality are available to invest the Council’s cash 
balances, then the surplus will be deposited with the UK Government or with other local 
authorities.  This will cause a reduction in the level of investment income earned, but will 
protect the principal sum invested.

Investment Limits

The Council’s holds general revenue reserves which would be available to cover investment 
losses.  However, in order to limit this risk, in the case of a single default, the maximum that will 
be lent to any one organisation (other than the UK Government) will be £30.0 million.  A group 
of entities under the same ownership will be treated as a single organisation for limit purposes.  
Limits will also be placed on fund managers, investments in brokers’ nominee accounts, 
foreign countries and industry sectors as below. Investments in pooled funds and multilateral 
development banks do not count against the limit for any single foreign country, since the risk 
is diversified over many countries.

Page 174



123

Table 3: Investment Limits

Cash limit

Any group of pooled funds under the same management
£30m per 
manager

Negotiable instruments held in a broker’s nominee 
account

£30m per 
broker

Foreign countries
£30m per 
country

Liquidity management: 
The Council uses cash flow forecasting to determine the maximum period for which funds may 
prudently be committed.  The forecast is compiled on a prudent basis to minimise the risk of 
the Council being forced to borrow on unfavourable terms to meet its financial commitments.  
Limits on long-term investments are set by reference to the Council’s medium-term financial 
plan and cash flow forecast.

The Council will spread its liquid cash over at least three providers (e.g. bank accounts and 
money market funds) to ensure that access to cash is maintained in the event of operational 
difficulties at any one provider.

Treasury Management Indicators

The Council measures and manages its exposures to treasury management risks using the 
following indicators.

Security: The Council has adopted a voluntary measure of its exposure to credit risk by 
monitoring the value-weighted average credit rating of its investment portfolio.  This is 
calculated by applying a score to each investment (AAA=1, AA+=2, etc.) and taking the 
arithmetic average, weighted by the size of each investment. Unrated investments are 
assigned a score based on their perceived risk.

Credit risk indicator Target
Portfolio average credit rating A

Liquidity: The Council has adopted a voluntary measure of its exposure to liquidity risk by 
monitoring the amount of cash available to meet unexpected payments within a rolling three 
month period, without additional borrowing.

Liquidity risk indicator Target
Total cash available within 3 months £50m

Page 175



124

Interest rate exposures: This indicator is set to control the Council’s exposure to interest rate 
risk.  The upper limits on the one-year revenue impact of a 1% rise or fall in interest rates will 
be:

Interest rate risk indicator Limit
Upper limit on one-year revenue impact of a 1% rise / fall in 
interest rates £901,000

The impact of a change in interest rates is calculated on the assumption that maturing loans 
and investments will be replaced at current rates.

Maturity structure of borrowing: This indicator is set to control the Council’s exposure to 
refinancing risk. The upper and lower limits on the maturity structure of borrowing will be:

Refinancing rate risk indicator Upper limit Lower limit
Under 12 months 25% 0%
12 months and within 24 months 25% 0%
24 months and within 5 years 50% 0%
5 years and within 10 years 100% 0%
10 years and above 100% 0%

Time periods start on the first day of each financial year. The maturity date of borrowing is the 
earliest date on which the lender can demand repayment. 

Principal sums invested for periods longer than a year: The purpose of this indicator is to 
control the Council’s exposure to the risk of incurring losses by seeking early repayment of its 
investments.  The limits on the long-term principal sum invested to final maturities beyond the 
period end will be:

Table 5: Upper Limit
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Upper Limit for total principal sums 
invested over 364 days 200.000200.000 200.000 200.000 200.000

The Council’s Approach to Responsible Investment

The Council has implemented a Responsible Investment Policy for future Treasury 
Management investment. 

I. For direct investments, the Council will seek to ensure that counterparties 
(excluding the UK Government and other UK Local Authorities) have no direct 
investment in Fossil Fuel companies prior to investing.

II. For additional investments into Pooled Funds the Council will seek to ensure that 
any fund used does not have exposure to Fossil Fuel investments prior to 
investing.

Page 176



125

Non Treasury Investment Strategy

The Council invests its money for three broad purposes:

 because it has surplus cash as a result of its day-to-day activities, for example when 
income is received in advance of expenditure (known as treasury management 
investments),

 to support local public services by lending to or buying shares in other organisations 
(service investments), and

 to earn investment income (known as commercial investments where this is the main 
purpose).

This section of the report is concerned with meeting the requirements of statutory guidance 
issued by the government in January 2018, and focuses on the second and third of these 
categories, service and commercial investments. 

Service Investments: Loans

The Council can lend money to support local public services and stimulate local economic 
growth.  The Council has previously made a £100,000 investment in the Funding Circle 
platform, designed to support local businesses and economic growth within Gloucestershire.  
The Council is currently disinvesting from the platform and to date has received back 
£71,838.90.

Where loans are made for service purposes accounting standards require the Council to set 
aside loss allowance for loans, reflecting the likelihood of non-payment. Following changes to 
Accounting Standards the figures for loans in the Council’s statement of accounts from 
2018/19 onwards will be shown net of this loss allowance, where material.  

Service Investments: Shares

The Council holds shares costing £1 in Ubico Ltd. The fair value of the council’s interest in the 
company at 31st March 2020 is considered to be nil, since it is a wholly local authority owned 
not-for-profit ‘Teckal’ company.  As a ‘Teckal’ company it is treated as if it were an in house 
department and the shareholder councils are able to enter into service contracts with the 
company without undertaking an EU compliant procurement process.

Commercial Investments: Property

The Council has not invested in Commercial Property to date.  Should the Council invest in 
property and in accordance with government guidance, the Council considers a property 
investment to be secure if its accounting valuation is at or higher than its purchase cost 
including taxes and transaction costs.

Page 177



126

The Council will assess the risk of loss before entering into and whilst holding property 
investments by producing a comprehensive business plan and monitoring performance on an 
ongoing basis.

Loan Commitments and Financial Guarantees

Although not strictly counted as investments, since no money has exchanged hands yet, loan 
commitments and financial guarantees carry similar risks to the Council and are included here 
for completeness. 

The Council has guaranteed to cover the liabilities associated with the pensions of ex-
employees following the transfers of council services to external bodies.  These arrangements 
are monitored and assessed to ensure that any provision for possible liabilities are made, and 
included within the Statement of Accounts.  

Capacity, Skills and Culture

The Council provides training from our Treasury Management Advisors to members of the 
Audit and Governance Committee on an annual basis, to ensure that they are fully aware of 
the investments included in the Treasury Management Strategy and Investment Strategy.  This 
training will also cover the requirements of the Capital Strategy and the non Treasury 
Management investments.  This ensures that members can take informed decisions on the 
investments being included in the strategies, and have the opportunity to challenge their use to 
ensure that they fully understand the implications of the investment.

Where commercial deals are to be negotiated, Finance will be involved to ensure that the core 
principles of the prudential framework and of the regulatory regime within which local 
authorities operate is taken into account.

Investment Indicators

The Council has set the following quantitative indicators to allow elected members and the 
public to assess the Council’s total risk exposure as a result of its investment decisions. 

The first indicator shows the Council’s total exposure to potential investment losses. This 
includes amounts the Council is contractually committed to lend but have yet to be drawn 
down, and guarantees the Council has issued over third party loans, if any.  It assumes that 
balances for treasury investments reduce as reserves reduce.

Page 178



127

Table 1: Total Investment Exposure
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Treasury management investments 308.8 274.9 236.9 205.1 187.2
Service investments: Loans 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Commercial investments: Property 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Exposure 308.8 274.9 236.9 205.1 187.2

Total investment exposure

Government guidance is that these indicators should include how investments are funded. 
Since the Council does not normally associate particular assets with particular liabilities, this 
guidance is difficult to comply with.  However, the following investments could be described as 
being funded by borrowing.  The remainder of the Council’s investments are funded by usable 
reserves and income received in advance of expenditure. 

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m
Treasury management investments -15.1 -28.3 -68.7 -100.6 -118.5
Commercial investments: Property 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Funded by Borrowing -15.1 -28.3 -68.7 -100.6 -118.5

Investments funded by borrowing

Table 2: Investments funded from 

Rate of return received: This indicator shows the investment income received less the 
associated costs, including the cost of borrowing where appropriate, as a proportion of the sum 
initially invested. Note that due to the complex local government accounting framework, not all 
recorded gains and losses affect the revenue account in the year they are incurred.  Where a 
negative return is shown, this has occurred as costs are greater than investment income 
received.

Table 3: Investment RoR
2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

% % % % %
Treasury management investments 1.78 1.82 1.86 1.90 1.95
Service investments: Loans 4.50 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Investments net rate of return

 

Other items

The CIPFA Code requires the Council to include the following in its treasury management 
strategy.

Page 179



128

Financial Derivatives 

Local authorities have previously made use of financial derivatives embedded into loans and 
investments both to reduce interest rate risk (e.g. interest rate collars and forward deals) and 
to reduce costs or increase income at the expense of greater risk (e.g. LOBO loans and 
callable deposits).  The general power of competence in Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 
removes much of the uncertainty over local authorities’ use of standalone financial derivatives 
(i.e. those that are not embedded into a loan or investment). The CIPFA Code requires 
authorities to clearly detail their policy on the use of derivatives in the annual strategy.
The Council will only use standalone financial derivatives (such as swaps, forwards, futures 
and options) where they can be clearly demonstrated to reduce the overall level of the financial 
risks that the Council is exposed to.  Additional risks presented, such as credit exposure to 
derivative counterparties, will be taken into account when determining the overall level of risk.  
Embedded derivatives, including those present in pooled funds and forward starting 
transactions, will not be subject to this policy, although the risks they present will be managed 
in line with the overall treasury risk management strategy.
Financial derivative transactions may be arranged with any organisation that meets the 
approved investment criteria assessed using the appropriate credit rating for derivative 
exposures. An allowance for credit risk calculated using the methodology in the Treasury 
Management Practices document will count against the counterparty credit limit and the 
relevant foreign country limit.
In line with the CIPFA Code, the Authority will seek external advice and will consider that 
advice before entering into financial derivatives to ensure that it fully understands the 
implications.

Markets in Financial Instruments Directive

The Council has opted up to professional client status with its providers of financial services, 
including advisers, banks, brokers and fund managers, allowing it access to a greater range of 
services but without the greater regulatory protections afforded to individuals and small 
companies. Given the size and range of the Council’s treasury management activities, this is 
the most appropriate status.

2021/22 Minimum Revenue Provision Statement

The Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) was introduced when the Local Government Capital 
Finance System was changed on 1 April 1990.  CLG’s Guidance on MRP places a duty on 
local authorities to make a prudent provision for debt redemption.  Guidance has been issued 
by the Secretary of State and local authorities are required to “have regard” to such Guidance 
under section 21(1A) of the Local Government Act 2003.  The MRP Statement must be 
submitted to Council before the start of the financial year.  If it is ever proposed to vary the 
terms of the original MRP Statement during the year, a revised statement would be put to 
Council at that time.

In line with Council policy on the repayment of debt, and with the continuation of capital grants 
by government, the Council has not borrowed externally to fund the capital programme over 
the last 8 years.  Opportunities are now limited for the repayment of debt early due to the low 
interest rate environment, meaning that high premiums would need to be paid should the 
Council wish to restructure or repay external debt early.  Maturing debt will continue to be 
redeemed over the next few years, and where opportunities present to repay internal 

Page 180



129

borrowing this will  be by way of a voluntary revenue provision.

In order to ensure that the MRP charge remains prudent, the Council regularly reviews its 
Capital Financing Requirement.  To reduce the amount of excess MRP set aside, the Council 
changed its policy for supported capital expenditure in 2015/16. The method used is similar to 
other local authorities and sets aside a fixed sum of MRP each year. For Gloucestershire the 
fixed sum was set at £8.2m. 

Following further review of the Capital Financing Requirement and the Prudential Indicators, 
and discussions with the Council’s treasury advisors (Arlingclose) and external auditor (Grant 
Thornton) the MRP charge was further reduced during 2017/18 for existing debt to £6.2 million.  
This change still allows for a prudent provision for the repayment of existing debt, and ensures 
that Prudential Indicators are not breeched.

The asset life of capital assets obtained through the capital programme will form the basis of 
calculating an annual MRP provision  for any new borrowing requirement going forward.  For 
any commercial related investments a business case review will be carried out and an 
appropriate provision for the repayment of any debt taken, set aside.

MRP in respect of PFI and finance leases brought on Balance Sheet under the IFRS-based 
Code of Practice will match the annual principal repayment for the associated deferred liability. 

Page 181



130

Appendix   A 

Arlingclose’s Economic and Interest Rate Forecast 

*PWLB Certainty Rate (Maturity Loans) = Gilt yield + 1.80%
*PWLB Local Infrastructure Rate (Maturity Loans) = Gilt yield + 0.60%

Underlying Assumptions:

 The medium-term global economic outlook remains weak. Second waves of Covid cases 
have prompted more restrictive measures and further lockdowns in Europe and the UK. 
This ebb and flow of restrictions on normal activity will continue for the foreseeable future, 
at least until an effective vaccine is produced and importantly, distributed.

 The global central bank and government responses have been significant and are in 
many cases on-going, maintaining more stable financial, economic and social conditions 
than otherwise. 

 Although these measures supported a sizeable economic recovery in Q3, the imposition 
of a second national lockdown in England during November will set growth back and likely 
lead to a fall in GDP in Q4.

 Signs of a slowing economic recovery were already evident in UK monthly GDP and PMI 
data, even before the latest restrictions. Despite some extension to fiscal support 
measures, unemployment is expected to rise when these eventually come to an end in 
mid-2021.

Page 182



131

 This situation will result in central banks maintaining low interest rates for the medium 
term. In the UK, Brexit is a further complication.  Bank Rate is therefore likely to remain at 
low levels for a very long time, with a distinct possibility of being cut to zero. Money 
markets continue to price in a chance of negative Bank Rate.

 Longer-term yields will also remain depressed, anchored by low central bank policy rates, 
expectations for potentially even lower rates and insipid inflation expectations. There is a 
chance yields may follow a slightly different path in the medium term, depending on 
investor perceptions of growth and inflation, the development of a vaccine or if the UK 
leaves the EU without a deal.

Forecast: 
 Arlingclose expects Bank Rate to remain at the current 0.10% level. 

 Additional monetary loosening through increased financial asset purchases was delivered 
as we expected. Our central case for Bank Rate is no change, but further cuts to zero, or 
perhaps even into negative territory, cannot be completely ruled out.

 Gilt yields will remain low in the medium term. Shorter term gilt yields are currently 
negative and will remain around zero or below until either the Bank expressly rules out 
negative Bank Rate or growth/inflation prospects improve.

 Downside risks remain in the near term, as the government continues to react to the 
escalation in infection rates and the Brexit transition period comes to an end.

Page 183



132

Appendix B 

EXISTING PORTFOLIO PROJECTED FORWARD 

Portfolio 
29-Oct-20

Average 
Rate

31-Mar-21 31-Mar-22 31-Mar-23 31-Mar-24

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
£m % £m £m £m £m

External Borrowing
Fixed Rate – PWLB 220.773 4.89 220.773 210.828 198.728 190.728
Fixed Rate – Market 33.050 4.24 33.050 33.050 33.050 33.050
Variable Rate – PWLB 0.000 0.00 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000
Variable Rate – Market 8.000 5.00 8.000 8.000 8.000 8.000
Total External Borrowings 261.823 4.79 261.823 251.878 239.778 231.778
Other long-term liabilities (PFI) 103.570 103.570 102.133 100.405 98.877
Total External Debt 365.393 365.393 354.010 340.183 330.655
Treasury Investments:
Managed in house

- Short term deposits and monies 
on call and Money Market Funds 235.968 0.56 198.968 160.950 132.550 113.350

- Long Term investments (over 12 
months)

56.300 1.29 88.300 88.300 88.300 88.300

Managed externally / Strategic 
Funds 75.000 4.00 75.000 75.000 75.000 75.000

Total Investments 367.268 1.37 362.268 324.250 295.850 276.650

Net  (Borrowing) / Investment 
Position 1.875 (3.125) (29.760) (44.333) (54.005)

Page 184



1

FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT: 2020/21 AGENDA NO: 7

Cabinet Date 16th December 2020

Lead Cabinet 
Member Cllr Lynden Stowe, Cabinet Member for Finance and Change 

Key Decision Yes

Other Documents MTFS Report to 12th February 2020 County Council and Financial Monitoring 
Report to Cabinet 22nd July 2020,14th October 2020 and 11th November 
2020.

Main Consultees Corporate Leadership Team, Senior Officers, Cabinet Members.

Planned Dates Not applicable

Divisional 
Councillor

County Wide

Officers Paul Blacker, Director of Finance (01452) 328999 
paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Jayne Fuller, Corporate Finance Manager (01452) 328926
jayne.fuller@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Purpose of Report To provide an update on the year-end forecast for the 2020/21 County 
Council’s Revenue and Capital Budgets

Key 
Recommendations

That the Cabinet  :

1. Notes the forecast revenue year end position based on actual expenditure 
as at the end of September 2020 and October 2020 (Period 7) forecasts 
for the 2020/21 financial year including  Covid-19 forecast is an 
overspend of £8.371 million. The forecast excluding Covid-19 is an 
overspend £4.461 million.  

2. Notes the forecast capital year end position as at the end of September 
2020 of £130.145 million against the current budget of £135.135 million.

3. Approves the re-profiling of the 2020/21 Adults and AMPS capital budgets 
to reflect the current forecasts. 

4. Notes the year end forecast to deliver £9.817 million of savings against a 
target of £10.545 million or 93.10%. 

 Resource Implications
These are detailed within the report

Page 185

Agenda Item 7

mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jayne.fuller@gloucestershire.gov.uk


2

Revenue Expenditure 2020/21

A. Revenue Forecast Outturn Position 2020/21

1. The current forecast of the year end revenue position against the revenue budget of 
£468.183 million, based on actual expenditure at the end of September 2020 (Period 6) 
and forecasts in October (Period 7) is a £8.371 million overspend.  The forecast excluding 
Covid-19 related spend is a £4.461 million overspend.

2. As in previous months the largest non-COVID budget variance is the £7.669 million 
forecast overspend in Children and Families. In previous years similar overspends have 
been offset by savings within other areas, notably Technical & Countywide. However this 
option has been eroded in the last few years as budgetary contingencies have been used 
to balance the base budget – the current forecast underspend in Technical and 
Countywide is £3.056 million in 2020/21. In order to reduce this overall forecast non-
COVID overspend of £4.461 million all service areas are examining current spending plans 
and the Executive Director of Corporate Resources has initiated a review of Earmarked 
Reserves. Any remaining overspend at the year end will need to be funded from General 
Reserves.  Currently General Reserves are £18.846 million.

3. The Council’s forecast cost of responding to the Covid-19 pandemic (excluding 
expenditure funded from specific grants) is £37.757 million in 2020/21 compared to the 
current Covid19 Emergency Grant allocation of £33.847 million. So a COVID related 
overspend of £3.910 million.   

4. On 2nd July the Government announced a scheme to reimburse local authorities for 75p in 
the pound of fees and charges income lost as a direct result of Covid19 lockdown 
restrictions. Detailed guidance on how the scheme will work has now been released and a 
claim for lost income in the first 4 months of the financial year has now been submitted. 
The actual amount claimed will not be known until the end of the financial year when 
actual income figures are confirmed however current estimates are that the Council will 
receive approximately £3.9 million for the whole of 2020/21. 

5. If this lost income grant funding is received at the anticipated level it will be sufficient to 
cover the COVID related overspend of £3.910 million.  

6. In addition to the £33.847 million of COVID Emergency Grant the Council has also 
received other ring fenced Covid-19 related grant funding most notably:

Page 186



3

Other ring fenced Covid-19 related grant £m
Infection Control Grant (Includes the second tranche 
of £6.621 million) 14.373

Test & Trace 2.222
Department for Transport (DfT)Covid-19 Bus 
Service Support Grant 0.691Emergency Assistance Grant for Food and 
Essential Supplies from the Department for 
Environment, Food & Rural Affairs (DEFRA) 0.558
Home to School Transport capacity grant from the 
Department for Education (DfE). 0.715
DFT Emergency Active Travel Fund (EATF) 
Tranche 1 0.111

Total other ring fenced Covid-19 related grant 18.670

7. The assumption in this report is that relevant expenditure will be limited to the value of 
these ring fenced grants – any underspend will either need to be returned or carried 
forward to be spent in accordance with the grant conditions in future years.

8. In total the Council has currently been allocated £52.517 million of COVID related grants.

9. In October the Department of Health and Social Care announced new allocations for local 
authorities from the existing Containment Outbreak Management Fund (COMF) to support 
the new three tier COVID classification rules. The funding is intended to fund public health 
activities such as proactive containment and intervention measures –. This grant will be 
administered by upper tier Local Authorities in England. It will be paid at a level of £1 per 
head of population in areas with a medium alert level, £3 per head for those areas 
classified as high risk and £8 per head for those areas classified as very high risk. On 10th 
November the GCC allocation was confirmed as £5.096 million following all areas being 
classified as very high risk.

10.On 2nd November it was confirmed that the Council will receive an additional £363k from 
the £32 million allocated to Local Authorities to provide support to Clinically Extremely 
Vulnerable (CEV) people.  This will include helping people to access food and meeting 
other support needs to enable them to stay at home as much as possible during period 
national restrictions are in force.  

11. In addition on 10th November MHCLG also announced that GCC would be receiving an 
allocation of £1.508 million from the £170 million national fund to provide targeted support 
for those in need over the winter period.

12.This Council along with other national bodies and organisations are continuing to lobby 
central government to provide additional grant funding if costs escalated beyond current 
forecasts in the second half of the financial year.

13.An analysis of the current forecast position is provided in the table and narrative below. 

Page 187



4

Directorate Breakdown for Cabinet Report - Position October Forecasts 2020 (P7)

Variance

Revised 
2020/21 
Budget

%

£000 £000 £000 % £000 £000 £000

Adults 163,168 180,467 17,299 10.60% 17,299 0 0 

Prevention & Wellbeing 34,659 36,074 1,415 4.08% 1,667 -252 -1 

Children & Families 130,268 144,916 14,648 11.24% 6,979 7,669 247 

Economy, Environment & Infrastructure 81,243 88,338 7,095 8.73% 7,095 0 0 

Community Safety 22,234 22,872 638 2.87% 506 132 183 

Corporate Resources 36,575 40,754 4,179 11.43% 4,211 -32 -83 

Corporate Resources Recharges -36,575 -36,575 0 0.00% 0 0 0 

Total for Services 431,572 476,846 45,274 10.49% 37,757 7,517 346 

Technical & Countywide 36,611 33,555 -3,056 -8.35% 0 -3,056 0 

Base Budget 468,183 510,401 42,218 9.02% 37,757 4,461 346 

Additional Funding Covid-19 to be 
allocated 33,847 0 -33,847 -33,847 0 0 

Revised Total 502,030 510,401 8,371 1.79% 3,910 4,461 346 

Service Area

Forecast 
Outturn 
Position

Forecast 
Outturn 

Variance

Covid-19 
Forecast

Change in 
Variance from that 

previously 
reported 

(excluding Covid-
19)

Forecast 
excluding Covid-

19

P
age 188



5

Adult Social Care 

14.Adult Social Care is reporting an underlying overspend of £17.454 million which 
includes £17.299 million for estimated COVID-19 costs. Excluding the COVID-19 costs 
the underlying overspend is £155k. The overspend can be covered by Vulnerable 
Adults Reserve therefore Adult Social Care would be forecasting a balance position – 
excluding COVID-19 spend.

15.Adult Social Care reserves currently stand at £6.427 million. The reserves continue to 
be held as Vulnerable Adults Reserve at £2.665 million with the balance specifically set 
aside for the backdated element of new Ordinary Residence cases and additional 
commitments relating to the National Living Wage and the Care Act.

16.There continues to be a number of significant risks that are ongoing which mainly relate 
to COVID-19, S117 backdated payments, as well as the Adult Single Programme 
(ASP) with MTFS cost reduction targets of £4.799 million.

17.The forecast cost of responding to Covid-19 within Adults is currently forecast to be 
£17.299 million. This is made up of:

 £8.645 million of additional support to care providers
 £1.994 million of additional demand as a result of Covid-19
 £0.875 million additional workforce spend
 £1.680 million on PPE
 £2.900 million of ASP savings at risk
 £0.813 million lost income
 £0.392 million miscellaneous spend across a range of budgets

18.Learning Disabilities (LD) External Care is projecting a £1.319 million underspend.  The 
LD underspend includes an in year overachievement of ASP savings as a result of 
backdated costs recovered from previous years and the early achievement of savings 
scheduled for next financial year.

19.OP and PD External Care is projecting a £3.225 million overspend.  The overspend is 
split across individual service budgets with OP showing as £2.522 million and PD 
£703k. The overspends relate mainly to the unachieved ASP cost reductions, demand 
pressures and voids relating to homes run by a major provider.

20.The Mental Health position of a £2.625 million overspend as calculated by the 
Gloucestershire Health and Care NHST Finance Team, net of unallocated MTFS 
growth and savings held by the Lead Commissioner.  No actions are built into the 
forecast to address the underlying overspend in this financial year although a plan is 
being developed by the Gloucestershire Health and Care NHST.

Page 189



6

21.Other Services comprise of all staffing budgets for Adult Social Care, as well as a 
number of specific commissioned contracts. The forecast position for these services 
nets to a £6.048 million overspend including significant variances:

a. £8.896 million significant overspends: £7.107 million is COVID-19 
Provider Relief Support and would be expected to net to nil due to 
Government Funding; £776k reablement saving allocation not yet 
addressed/confirmed (see comments below); £712k COVID-19 
expenditure mainly relating to PPE; £300k Thriving Communities 
additional staff cost relating to COVID-19.

b. £2.817 million significant underspends: £776k for the OP/PD 
Reablement Service managed by Gloucestershire Health and Care 
NHST is due to vacancies (see above); £315k Safeguarding; £1.167 
million OP/PD Integrated Social Care Management (ISCM) due 
largely to vacancies; and £559k LD Assessment, Support Planning & 
Management mainly due to vacancies. 

Prevention and Wellbeing 

22.Services within this area include Public Health, Supporting People and a number 
of smaller budgets covering the prevention hub team and grants. In total 
Prevention Services (including £1.667 million of COVID-19 expenditure) are 
£1.415 million over-spent. 

23.The Council has also received a grant for £2.222 million to support Test and 
Trace activities and plans are being put in place in place to deliver on this 
requirement.

24.The underlying non-COVID-19 position for Prevention and Well Being is a £521k 
under-spend. Public Health services are funded by a ring-fenced grant, which if 
unspent is required to be carried forward in a specific reserve. The Public Health 
position, excluding COVID-19 expenditure, is forecast to be £269k million under-
spent and this will be transferred to the PH reserve at year end. Therefore the 
forecast non-COVID-19 underspend net of the transfer to the PH Reserve is 
£252k.

25.COVID-19 expenditure of £1.667 million covers three key areas, shelter for the 
homeless, additional commissioned mental health services and mortuary 
planning costs. 

26.The in-year forecast for Public Health is an under-spend of £269k due to lower 
commitments for health checks and sexual health testing as fewer people are 
accessing the service but this is offset by the additional costs of Agenda for 
Change pay uplifts on contracts with NHS staff. The impact of COVID-19 on the 
provision of services is uncertain so there is a risk that the Agenda for Change 
cost pressure (circa £337k) will not be offset by other underspends.

Page 190



7

 
Children & Families

27.The current forecast for the year end revenue position as at October 2020 for non-DSG 
funded services is an over-spend of £14.648 million (11.24% of budget). Included 
within these figures is the forecast additional cost of the impact of COVID-19 on 
budgets which totals £6.979 million giving an underlying over-spend of £7.669 million, 
which includes an estimate of £2.585 million for a growing number of new external 
placements. Significant over-spends include external placements and home to school 
transport, both of which were identified as ongoing pressures at the end of 2019/20.

28.Additional forecast expenditure for the impact of COVID-19 covers five key areas which 
are external placement costs, home to school transport, transitions for care leavers, 
staffing and support to vulnerable pupils once schools recommence.  In some areas it 
is difficult to identify what costs are related to the impact of COVID-19 so a further £2 
million is being used to offset forecast costs since there is likely to be a significant 
impact on social care and education services when lockdown measures are eased. 

29.Activity levels within social care continue to cause significant budgetary pressures on 
children’s services and in particular against the external placement and safeguarding 
staff budgets resulting in the over-spend. At the end of September 2020 children in 
care numbers were 764 compared to 722 at the end of April 2019.

30.The current forecast over-spend against the external placement budget is £9.266 
million (34.8% above budget). This includes a contingency of £2.585 million for new 
cases in-year to allow for additional placements to replace existing care commitments 
or for higher number of placements due to increased activity; the forecast also includes 
£4.248 million for the current and future impact of COVID-19 on placement numbers. 
The current forecast average unit cost of a placement is £107,000 per annum, 
(residential/supported living average unit cost of £174,400). There are currently 381 
external placements, of which 99 are residential and 87 supported living placements. 

31.At this stage in the year, particularly with the unknown impact of COVID-19 the forecast 
has to be based on a lot of assumptions in terms of growth in activity, delays in 
transitions, capacity in the fostering market both in-house and external and the impact 
of opening of Trevone House providing additional capacity for young people. 
Assumptions will be reviewed on a monthly basis and adjusted accordingly. Improving 
social care practice to divert children from care at an earlier point and achieve 
permanence at the earliest opportunity will reduce numbers of children in care costs in 
the longer term.

32.Against safeguarding staffing budgets there is a forecast over-spend of £1.523 million 
(7.8% above budget) which includes £400k as a contingency for additional staffing 
capacity to respond to any spike in activity from September onwards. Improved 
processes for recruitment, more effective advertising and the support and training 
provided by the social work academy is improving the stability of the workforce. 

Page 191



8

Turnover of staff has been between 12.9% and 14.6% over the last six months and at 
the end of September there were 95 agency workers in post, a significant reduction 
from over 180 two years ago. As the newly qualified staff that have been appointed 
over the last year gain experience, the number of agency staff is expected to reduce.  

33. In addition to this, Young People’s Support is forecasting a £546k over-spend due to 
the additional cost of agency staff covering vacancies which will reduce as permanent 
staff are appointed. £196k relates to COVID-19 expenditure.

34.Home to school transport is reporting an over-spend of £2.594 million (which includes a 
£1.34 million contingency for the impact on service provision of COVID-19 from 
September onwards which has been offset be a specific grant of £715k (an additional 
£125k being received this month to cover the costs to the end of December). The 
underlying cost pressure is due to the rise in demand and cost of SEN provision, the 
number of solo journeys required and the increased cost of procuring new routes. An 
action plan is in place to address a range of issues and reduce costs wherever 
possible. 

35.Other over-spends include the cost of additional management capacity to continue with 
the safeguarding improvement journey through the COVID-19 period resulting in an 
over-spend of £753k across social care and commissioning and a £500k contingency 
to support vulnerable pupils as they return to school in the autumn. Also there is an 
over-spend of £255k against special guardianships due to a higher than expected 
number of orders and a £245k impact from loss of income across Children’s services 
due to COVID-19.

36.To offset these cost pressures £1.52 million of funding from the MTFS has been held 
back and released to offset the over-spend in year. 

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) position

37.Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) funded services are forecast to be over-spent by 
£14.432 million in 2020/21, which includes the deficit carry forward of £8.442 million 
and the deficit budget which was set for High Needs of £5.449 million. The deficit 
budget results from setting realistic budgets within high needs services considering 
growth trends and existing activity demands on special school and independent 
provision and top up budgets. 

38. In-year there is significant demand for special school provision and with special school 
places at capacity a £750k pressure has been reported against independent special 
schools budget this month. The Early Years block is currently forecast to under-spend 
by £300k against the budget for free entitlement for nursery places for three and four 
year olds.

Page 192



9

39.The budget pressures that Gloucestershire is facing reflect the national picture with 
significant deficits in DSG high needs being held in many Local Authorities. The 
implementation of the High Needs Strategy will be essential to ensure the budget is 
balanced in future years and a spending review of services is in progress with a 
financial recovery plan being reviewed and developed alongside this review.   

Economy, Environment & Infrastructure  

40.Economy, Environment and Infrastructure are currently forecasting a overspend 
position of £7.095 million (8.7% of the budget).  This is all down to the impact of Covid-
19 related costs or loss of income as set out in the paragraph below.

41.Loss of income is forecasted to be £5.966 million which is split between £1.196 million 
from Registrations and Libraries, £3.211 million from parking related income, £1.160m 
from sale of electricity and £399k from other income.  Increased costs to enable new 
ways of working safely across all areas are forecasted at £752k and unachievable 
savings caused by Covid-19 is forecasted to be £377k.

42.Covid 19 costs include additional recycling credit payment of £334k, unachieved 
savings of £377k, £252k for the provision of extra vehicles and £112k for PPE. 

Community Safety Directorate

43.The Community Safety Directorate is forecasting an overspend of £638k (2.87% of 
budget) including estimated costs attributed to COVID 19 of £506k.  Excluding Covid-
19 costs, the forecast outturn indicates an overspend of £132k.

44.The Fire and Rescue Service is forecasting an overspend of £597k, of which £493k 
relates to Covid-19, giving an underlying overspend of £104k. There a number of small 
variations across the budgets contributing to the overspend which the Service will 
endeavour to contain within this current forecast.

45.The Coroner’s Service, Trading Standards Service and the Civil Protection Team are 
either on budget or are forecasting only minor variances.  

Corporate Resources

46.Corporate Resources are forecasting an overspend of £4.179 million (11.43% of the 
budget). Included within these figures is the forecast additional cost of the impact of 
COVID-19 on budgets which totals £4.211 million giving an underlying underspend of 
£32k.

47.The additional forecast expenditure of £4.211 million for the impact of Covid-19,  
incudes  £2.821 million forecast costs associated with a second wave and Covid-19 
recovery, £258k for ICT, £378k in the Asset Management & Property Services budgets 
and £839k against the Legal services budget due to additional children’s cases

Page 193



10

Technical and Countywide

48.The forecast outturn position for Technical and Countywide budgets is a £3.056 million 
underspend (8.35% of budget). The main areas of variance are highlighted in the 
paragraphs below.

49.Positive interest rate credits on cash balances totalling £1.294 million, reflecting better 
diversification of investments and longer term deposits. 

50.The 2020/21 budget includes an MtC savings contingency; this was approved by Council 
to reflect the high risk nature of some of the savings programmes in demand led areas in 
2020/21. The full £1.389 million contingency is being declared as an underspend to 
support the overall budget position. 

51.An underspend of £342k within the Capital Financing Budget is now forecast following 
reductions in projected MRP payments due in year following slippage on approved 
capital schemes.

52.The approved budget for 2020/21 included an estimated pay provision for a 2% pay 
award. The final national award for staff has now been agreed at 2.75%. The current 
outturn forecast for Corporate Resources makes a provision for the costs associated with 
funding this additional 0.75% (£976k) for the whole Council. This has been funded from 
in-year savings.

B. Delivery of Savings Programme

53.At the end of Quarter 2 of the third year of the current savings programme, we are 
reporting £7.371 million delivered against a 2020/21 target of £10.545 million. This 
represents 69.90% of the annual target achieved.

54.A total of £9.817 million is forecast to be delivered by the end of 20/21 budget year, 
which would represent 93.10% of the annual target. The most significant elements at risk 
being £0.150 million in the Home to School Transport, £0.307 million savings across 
Economy, Environment & Infrastructure and £0.350 million income from Quayside phase 
one.

55. In addition to the 2020/21 savings there is a £0.5 million savings target carried over from 
2019/20. These savings have been achieved in the current financial year as a result of 
COVID restrictions limiting staff travel. Long term plans to achieve these savings are 
currently being developed. 

Page 194



11

C. Capital Expenditure

Current Spend 2020/21

56.The capital budget for 2020/21 is £135.135 million. Actual spend against the capital 
programme as at the end of September 2020 (period 6) is £36.480 million.

Budget and Forecast Outturn Position 2020/21

57.The forecast outturn position for 2020/21 is £130.145 million, against the budget of 
£135.135 million, giving forecast in-year slippage of £4.990 million. 

58.Details of the budgets and forecast year end position, and any significant variances, 
are provided in the table below and the narrative that follows. 

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 2020/21

Service Area

Reprofiled 
Budget 
2020/21

Current 
Year 

Spend 
2020/21

% Current 
Year 

Spend 
against 

Reprofiled 
Budget

Forecast 
Outturn 
2020/21

Forecast 
Year-end 
Variance

£000 £000 % £000 £000
Capital Receipts Works Before Sale 0 0 0 0

Adults 11,058 -356 -3 9,758 -1,300

Children's Services
Schools 21,232 5,661 27 21,238 6
Non-Schools 450 389 87 511 61
Economy, Environment & Infrastructure 
Highways 68,546 23,466 34 69,507 961
Strategic Infrastructure 2,881 32 1 2,846 -35
Waste Disposal 580 27 5 580 0
Libraries 407 157 39 407 0
Community Safety
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service 1,426 769 54 1,426 0
Trading Standards 39 0 0 39 0
Corporate Services
AMPS 17,035 3,783 22 12,306 -4,729
ICT projects 9,771 2,271 23 9,817 46
Business Service Centre 831 0 0 831 0
Archives & Information Management 51 0 0 51 0
Customer 828 281 34 828 0

Total 135,135 36,480 27 130,145 -4,990

Page 195



12

Adults

59.The Adults Capital Programme is forecasting in-year slippage of £1.300 million against 
the current budget. This relates to the Community Capacity/Market Management 
project which has been put on hold as Care Homes are currently on lockdown due to 
Covid restrictions. 

60. It is recommended that the current year budget is re-profiled to reflect the current 
forecast spend and the revised budget set at £9.758 million. This ensures the latest 
figures are included in the MTFS 2021/22.  This doesn’t affect the whole life cost of 
capital schemes.

Highways

61.The Highway Capital Programme is currently forecasting an overspend of £0.961 
million. This relates to structural maintenance schemes where better than expected 
progress is now being made on delivery of some projects. 

62.There are some risks associated with the delivery of the Highways capital programme. 
These include:

 the entire Concrete Roads programme being considered high risk as 
the critical sub-contractor has just gone out of business.

 concerns about the future impact of COVID particularly on the supply 
of materials.

 impacts caused by winter weather
 a number of smaller Integrated Transport schemes are now 

considered high risk as we have been unable to collect realistic traffic 
data due to disrupted traffic patterns

 works at the Bamfulong depot are no longer forecast to start this 
financial year

Corporate Resources

63.The Asset Management & Property Services (AMPS) Capital Programme is 
forecasting in-year slippage of £4.729 million:

 £3 million Quayside Health Hub, due to a review of the time line and the 
issues around social distancing on construction sites and quayside being 
a sealed / water tight site the programme has slipped.

 £900k Quayside Multi-Storey Car Park, due to ongoing discussions with 
third parties and options appraisals are ongoing.

 £829k County Offices Cheltenham, due to the project being put on hold as the 
building is closed due to Covid-19 and ongoing discussion with tenants. 

It is recommended that the current year budget is re-profiled to reflect the current forecast 
spend and the revised budget set at £12.306 million. This ensures the latest figures are 
included in the MTFS 2021/22.  This doesn’t affect the whole life cost of capital schemes.

Page 196



LEADING THE RESPONSE TO THE CLIMATE EMERGENCY: 
GLOUCESTERSHIRE CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY ANNUAL 
REPORT & ACTION PLAN, 2021/02 – 2026/07 

AGENDA NO: 

Cabinet Date 16 December 2020 

Environment & 
Planning 

Councillor Nigel Moor 

Key Decision Yes 

Background 
Documents 

Cabinet (20 December 2019), Item 8, 'Leading the response to the Climate 
Emergency: Gloucestershire Climate Change Strategy 2019/20 to 2024/25', 
Gloucestershire County Council. 

County Council (12 February 2020), Item 7, ‘Policy and Budget Framework - 
Medium Term Financial Strategy and the Council Strategy’, Gloucestershire 
County Council. 

Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy, ‘UK local authority 
and regional carbon dioxide emissions national statistics: 2005-2018’, HM 
Government. 

County Council (14 October 2020), Item 7, ‘Cabinet Response to Council 
Motion 848 – Tree Planting', Gloucestershire County Council.  

Environment Scrutiny Committee (24 November 2020), Item 4, ‘Motion 861 
– Climate Change; Covid-19 and lessons learned’, Gloucestershire County
Council.  

Environment Scrutiny Committee (24 November 2020), Item 5, ‘Executive 
Director's Report: Economy, Environment & Infrastructure, Gloucestershire 
County Council. 

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
Background 
Documents 

As above 

Main Consultees Whilst this report has not been consulted on directly, many of the actions 
within it arise from consultation and work with partners, including public 
consultation and work with the Youth Climate Panel. 

Environment Scrutiny Committee has been briefed on key actions, for 
example the refresh of the Local Transport Plan, and receives regular 
update reports from the Director of Economy, Environment & Infrastructure. 

Planned Dates None 

Divisional 
Councillor 

All 

Page 197

Agenda Item 8

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=9232&Ver=4
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=9232&Ver=4
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=333&MId=9454&Ver=4
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=333&MId=9454&Ver=4
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-carbon-dioxide-emissions-national-statistics-2005-to-2018
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-carbon-dioxide-emissions-national-statistics-2005-to-2018
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=9398&Ver=4
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=9398&Ver=4
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=773&MId=9578&Ver=4
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=773&MId=9578&Ver=4
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=773&MId=9578&Ver=4
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=773&MId=9578&Ver=4


 

 

Officer Colin Chick, Director of Economy, Environment & Infrastructure 
01452 3286320 
colin.chick@gloucestershire.gov.uk  

Purpose of Report To update Cabinet on progress with implementing the Gloucestershire 
Climate Change Strategy and seek approval of the revised Action Plan. 

Recommendations That Cabinet: 

1. Notes the overall emissions for Gloucestershire outlined in the report 
and in Annex 1. 

2. Notes the progress and planned key actions outlined in the report and 
in Annex 2. 

3. Approves the outline Action Plan 2021/2 to 2026/7 (Annex 3), to be 
developed into a detailed plan in consultation with Leadership 
Gloucestershire partners, for implementation from April 2021. 

4. Confirms the Council’s support to the Association of Directors of 
Environment, Economy, Planning and Transport’s call for government 
to secure more powers and resources for councils to take action on 
climate change and nature restoration, and to build back better from 
Covid-19 in their areas. 

Reasons for 
recommendations 

When Cabinet endorsed the Gloucestershire Climate Change Strategy in 
2019 it agreed that a rolling 5-year outline action plan be developed for 
Cabinet approval each year, and a detailed plan for the following year be 
developed in consultation with Leadership Gloucestershire. 

Resource 
Implications 

All projects are being delivered either within existing resources and/ or with 
grant funding, as detailed in the report.   

The council will utilise some of the existing £1 million Climate & Air Quality 
Action Fund to fund appropriate projects, subject to the assessment of 
funding bids and competing bids.  Additional resource requests will be made 
as required through the council’s annual budget setting process and through 
applications to appropriate grant funding opportunities as they arise.   

The council will continue to lobby government for appropriate resources to 
respond to the challenge of climate change, including as a member of 
UK100’s County Council Network and the ‘Blueprint Coalition’ if approved 
by Cabinet (recommendation 4). 

Page 198

mailto:colin.chick@gloucestershire.gov.uk


 

 

Background 
1. The Gloucestershire Climate Change Strategy was approved by Cabinet at its meeting on 

20 December 2019.   

2. The strategy provides an overarching framework for Gloucestershire over five years, 
setting out what we will do, working with local communities and partners.  

3. The strategy’s Vision is that:  

By 2050 we will create a carbon neutral county that provides quality of life now 
and for future generations, having improved the quality of our natural 
environment. By 2030 we will have reduced our carbon emissions by 80%. 

4. Cabinet sought to respond urgently to the climate emergency and ensure resources were 
made available to deliver this change, setting out ten ‘Actions by April’.  In addition fifteen 
medium and long term measures were identified to be implemented as part of a five year 
rolling programme, with more details to be published in annual updates. 

5. The long term strategy is centred around eight key themes: 

i. Putting climate change at the heart of decision making 

ii. Buildings – ours, residents, businesses and partners 

iii. Transport – carbon busting options for all 

iv. Power – helping everyone convert to green power  

v. Waste – reducing and dealing with  

vi. Influencing others – getting everyone to do their bit 

vii. Land use 

viii. Campaigning  

6. The ‘Buildings’ theme includes a target for the council to: 

Reduce our carbon emissions (buildings, street lighting, fleet, business travel) by 
80% by 2030, aiming for 100% (‘Net Zero’) by 2030 through carbon offsetting. 

Emissions Performance 
7. UK emissions1 are published by government annually, by district, 2 years in arrears.  

These are illustrated in Annex 1.  From this it can be seen that Gloucestershire’s total 
emissions have reduced in line with both England and the South West, as have per capita 
(per resident) emissions and emissions by sector, suggesting reductions are largely due to 
national and/or international factors.   

8. For the districts, for both total and per capita emissions, Cotswold has consistently had the 
highest emissions since 2005; and Cheltenham consistently the lowest emissions since 
2013.  Cotswold having the highest emissions is likely to be a combination of its rurality, 
the availability of alternative transport modes and the proportion of older, solid-walled 
housing.  Conversely Cheltenham having the lowest emissions is likely to be a 
combination of it being urban and so more compact, the associated availability of 
alternative transport modes, and having less solid-walled housing. 

                                            
1
 UK "territorial" emissions, meaning emissions that occur within the UK's borders, allocated on an “end-

user” basis according to the point of energy consumption (or point of emission if not energy-related).  
Except for the energy industry, emissions from the production of goods are assigned to where the 
production takes place.  Therefore, emissions from the production of goods which are exported will be 
included, and emissions from the production of goods which are imported are excluded. 

Page 199



 

 

9. For Gloucestershire, 2018 total emissions fell by 1% (32 tCO2) on 2017, in line with a 
similar reduction nationally.  By source the split in Gloucestershire remains as: Industrial & 
Commercial 35%; Domestic 31%; Transport2 34%.   

10. 2018 per capita emissions fell by 2% on 2017 (from 4.8 to 4.7 kgCO2 per capita); this is as 
a result of a 0.9% increase in estimated population combined with the 1% decrease in 
total emissions. 

11. County Council emissions 2019/20 show a net 97% reduction against our 2006/07 
baseline3. 

12. Our corporate emissions (energy, fuel and mileage) fell by 8% on 2018/19 emissions to 
7,719 tCO2e

4
.  This is a reduction of 73% on our 2006/07 baseline. 

13. Javelin Park Energy from Waste facility came online in October 2019.  50% of the 
electricity generated is deemed to be renewable; 30GWh for the period.  This is a 
reduction of 7,143 tCO2e for standard grid electricity and reduces our net emissions to 577 
tCO2e; a reduction of 97% on our baseline. 

14. In September 2019 the council switched to a green electricity tariff, which comes from 
100% renewable sources. 

Action Plan Progress 2019/20 to date 
15. In March 2020 the Covid-19 Coronavirus pandemic took hold in England.  In response, 

councils had to stop and wind down service delivery in non-critical areas.  This has slowed 
progress in implementing the action plan. 

16. Progress in implementing the action plan is detailed in Annex 2, including: 

 Actions by April – 7 of the 10 actions complete, with the remainder in progress; 

 Medium and long term measures – 1 of the 15 actions completed, 10 in progress 
and 3 not yet underway. 

17. Key actions/ achievements include: 

i. £1m Climate Change & Air Quality Action Fund’ established 

 An initial emergency allocation from the council’s reserves, agreed as part of the 
2020/21 council budget, has been set aside to develop and incentivise the 
adoption of low carbon initiatives and improve resilience to climate change. 

ii. Council emissions 2019/20, 97% reduction against our 2006/07 baseline (see 
paragraph 11). 

iii. Reallocating road space for cyclists and pedestrians 

 The first nationwide lockdown under the Coronavirus pandemic reduced carbon 
emissions by around a third.  We are working to build on this including having 
secured £1.2m of government funding under the two tranches of Emergency 
Active Travel Fund (EATF) to reallocate road space for significantly increased 
numbers of cyclists and pedestrians.   

                                            
2
 Transport emissions exclude international flights and shipping. 

3
 2006/07 baseline year, rather than government’s 1990 baseline, due to data availability and quality. 

4
 tCO2e = ‘tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent’, which is a standard unit for measuring carbon footprints. 

The idea is to express the impact of each different greenhouse gas in terms of the amount of CO2 that 
would create the same amount of warming (global warming potential).  That way, a carbon footprint 
consisting of lots of different greenhouse gases can be expressed as a single number.  The conversion 
factors used in the UK are published annually by Government – Government emission conversion factors 
for greenhouse gas company reporting. 

Page 200

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/government-conversion-factors-for-company-reporting
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/government-conversion-factors-for-company-reporting


 

 

 In conjunction with EATF funding we have been developing proposals to 
transform active and green travel in Gloucestershire, including a six mile-long 
Cheltenham to Gloucester B4063 cycle link, which is the key to unlocking green 
transport for those commuting between the two urban areas.  This cycle way is 
included in existing local transport plans and will connect Gloucester city, 
Tewkesbury district and Cheltenham borough.   

 In support of this, the council has allocated £100,000 from the Climate Change & 
Air Quality Action Fund towards the development of ‘School Streets’, including 
monitoring air quality.  Two schools in Tewkesbury and Cheltenham were part of 
a trial project launched in November 2020.  A third school, in Gloucester has 
asked to launch a School Street in 2021. 

 Bikeability trained a total 4,490 pupils across Gloucestershire Schools with 534 
Bikeability courses delivered in 2019 and 421 in September 2020.  Over the 
summer we organised family group cycle training as part of our Covid response. 

 Cheltenham Spa Railway station – £50,000 GWR Community Rail Fund secured 
to improve access to information through a fully inter-active Real Time 
Passenger Information digital screen on the forecourt.  We are working with 
GWR, Department for Transport (DfT) and Cheltenham Borough Council to 
deliver an extension of the Honeybourne line (National Cycle Network route 41) 
cycle link through to the A40 Lansdown Road in 2021 using developer and third 
party funds. 

iv. E-scooter trial 

 The Council is facilitating a DfT trial of rental ultra low emission e-scooters in 
Gloucester and Cheltenham, designed to support a ‘green’ restart of local travel 
and help mitigate reduced public transport capacity due to the pandemic.  In the 
first three weeks ‘Zwings’ riders covered over 10,000 miles, equivalent to 
travelling from London to Sydney. 

v. Gloucestershire Salary Sacrifice Green Car Scheme 

 Introduced to enable staff to lease a new ultra-low emission vehicle. 

vi. West Cheltenham Transport Improvement Scheme (WCTIS)  

 Phase 1 & 2 under construction to June 2021, including: 

o 2 for 1 tree replacement 

o New short length of bus lane on B4063 approaching Arle Court. 

o New bus lane access from Arle Court Park and Ride onto Westbound A40 
towards Gloucester. 

vii. B4063 Cycle Lane Gloucester to Cheltenham 

 Works have been completed on London Road between Black Dog Way and 
Estcourt Road. 

viii. £894,000 schools buildings investment in support of additional pupil places 

 High School, Leckhampton (new secondary school) – includes proposals for 718 
photovoltaic (PV) panels on the roof to provide 100% reduction in CO2 
emissions, Air Source Heat Pump (ASHP) and green wall – cost £600,000. 

 Winchcombe Secondary School – new sports hall and remodelling of existing 
teaching blocks – the sports hall will achieve around 60% betterment on current 
building regulations through PV panels and associated wiring to the new Sports 
Hall mono-pitch lower roof.  Hybrid ASHP installed and energy efficiency 

Page 201



 

 

upgrades by enhancing insulation to the ground floor, external walls and roof 
areas of the refurbished building.  Cost around £100,000. 

 The Cotswold School – new teaching block, extension to sports hall and 
refurbishment of some existing areas.  A mix of PV, ASHP and 100% betterment 
on current Building Regulations on the new teaching block.  Approximately 30% 
betterment on current Building Regulations to the sports hall extension.  
Estimated cost £194,000. 

ix. Property Services contracts 

 All new contracts emphasise recycling, disposal of waste, reduction in the single 
use plastics etc. with a view to improvement over the duration of the contract. 

 All new contracts seek to minimise their carbon footprint, for example our waste 
contract for all schools and corporate buildings includes the removal of general, 
recycling, food, confidential, and clinical waste in the same waste contract, and 
therefore only using one vehicle to collect all waste streams. 

 Schools food waste utilises the Anaerobic Digestion plant at Bishops Cleeve.  
This powers the plant itself with excess energy sold back to the grid. 

 Our Waste contract includes promotional material to schools to encourage 
children to recycle. 

 Our Catering contract sources 78% of its food locally, and includes involvement 
with schools to encourage children to grow (and compost) their own food, learn 
about where their food comes from, encouraging new tastes, etc. 

 All our contracts are Small & Medium Enterprise (SME) friendly so that we can 
award to local companies who employ locally and keep travel to a minimum. 

 Thermal imaging surveys are carried out every three years and is available to 
schools to identify areas where insulation would be beneficial. 

x. Minerals & Waste Plan secures ‘Building with Nature’ (BwN) accreditation 

 In July 2020, the recently adopted Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire (2018 
– 2032) received BwN accreditation, developed by Gloucestershire Wildlife 
Trust.  It is now local policy to afford support to future mineral-related 
developments that will contribute towards delivering or maintaining high quality 
green infrastructure that meets BwN standards. 

xi. Gloucestershire Tree Strategy 

 In October, Cabinet signed up to Gloucestershire Local Nature Partnership’s 
(GLNP) Gloucestershire Tree Strategy.  This aims to position the county at the 
leading edge nationally for tree planting, to provide huge benefits for 
Gloucestershire’s residents, environment and economy.  The strategy’s vision is 
for a thriving network of sustainably managed trees and woodland covering at 
least 20 per cent of the county by 2030.  Nationally it is being recommended to 
increase woodland cover to 19 per cent by 2050, but as Gloucestershire has a 
higher proportion of tree cover than the national average, the GLNP’s partners 
have set their aims much higher; securing 35 million additional trees through 
planting and natural regeneration.  The strategy’s main principles include to: 

o Support Gloucestershire’s aim of becoming net carbon zero. 

o Nurture lifelong connections between trees and people, recognising 
health and wellbeing benefits. 

Page 202



o Ensure that existing woodlands and trees are promoted, protected and
well managed.

 As a direct result the Woodland Trust invited the council to submit an Expression
of Interest to their Emergency Tree Fund pilot.  A proposal for £300,000 has
been approved to go forward to a ‘Development Phase’, seeking to bring about
at-scale tree planting and woodland creation in Gloucestershire this planting
season and next, making a rapid start to delivering the Gloucestershire Tree
Strategy, building on successes to date, in support of delivering 20% canopy
cover by 2030 and a Net Zero county by 2050.

o Phase 1: Development Dec 2020 – Jan 2021.  Developing and agreeing
the roles and accelerated delivery approach with Gloucestershire Local
Nature Partnership (GLNP) constituent partners.

o Phase 2: Trees for landholders/tenants 2020-2023.  Get significant
numbers of trees planted and lay the foundations for a longer-term
relationship with landholders/tenants.

o Phase 3: Scaling up the approach 2021-2023.  Develop and put in place
measures to help deliver 20% canopy cover by 2030 by securing land and
significant funding for tree planting, woodland creation and ongoing
maintenance and support.

Action Plan 2021/22 to 2026/27 
18. Our five year outline plan for medium and long term Climate Change actions are listed by

theme in Annex 3.

19. If approved, there will be ongoing monitoring of the rolling action plan to ensure ongoing
progress towards achieving objectives.

20. Plans will evolve and be developed using baseline data and its analysis to assist the
setting of short, medium term and long term plans to deliver the required carbon savings.

21. Approval of the action plan by cabinet will enable us to take this proposed overall
approach for the county to our Leadership Gloucestershire partners and other partners, for
agreement on how we can work together to drive forward urgent action across the county.

Options 
i. Do nothing – having declared a climate emergency and held a very successful summit,

the council would lose credibility and might be criticised if it did not meet public
expectation and be seen to act relatively quickly.  The climate change challenge still
remains.

ii. Implement the Action Plan (recommended) – doing the best we possibly can within the
resources available to bring about the required changes, working with others to secure
additional resources, delivering the strategy and an ongoing five-year programme.

Blueprint Coalition 
22. As the UK develops its plans for recovery from Covid-19, action at the local level will be

crucial in delivering healthier communities and a stronger more resilient economy by
linking recovery to net-zero emissions and nature restoration.  Local authorities must be
essential partners in this delivery.

23. The Association of Directors of Environment, Economy, Planning and Transport (ADEPT) 
is part of a coalition of local government, environmental, and research organisations that 
has published a blueprint (Annex 4a), which sets out the national leadership, policies, 
powers and funding needed to empower local authorities to deliver at scale, working

Page 203



 

 

together with communities and businesses.  In developing the blueprint ADEPT has drawn 
extensively on the direct experience of many local authorities that have declared a climate 
emergency and developed local strategies.  The blueprint is not intended to be the final 
word, but rather as a starting point for constructive and meaningful discussion with 
government.   

24. The coalition has sent the blueprint to the Government and senior officials, and is now 
trying to build even broader support for it in the run up to COP26.  They are asking 
councils, professional bodies, academic institutions and NGOs to support this initiative to 
secure more powers and resources for councils to take action on climate change and 
nature restoration, and to build back better from Covid-19.   

25. The five priority recommendations are: 

i. Invest in low-carbon and climate-resilient infrastructure including public transport, 
renewable energy and electric vehicle charging 

ii. Support reskilling, retraining and research to accelerate the move to a net-zero 
economy 

iii. Upgrade our homes to ensure they are fit for the future 

iv. Make it easy for people to walk, cycle, and work remotely 

v. Accelerate tree planting, peatland restoration, green spaces and other green 
infrastructure 

26. Organisations that have already registered support via ADEPT’s website are listed in 
Annex 4b, which includes 38 other councils. 

Resource Implications 
27. The strategy is expected to have significant resource implications in the short, medium 

and long term.  The £1m Climate Change & Air Quality ‘Action Fund’ will be used to begin 
delivering against the objectives set out in the climate change strategy.  Funds will be 
allocated based on a bidding process.  The bids will be assessed and the decision taken 
to allocate the funds based on the objectives of the climate change strategy being 
achieved.  This will help us determine how much it will cost to do things differently, to then 
bid for resources to do so through the council’s annual budget setting process and through 
applications to appropriate grant funding opportunities as they arise.   

28. The council will continue to lobby government for appropriate resources to respond to the 
challenge of climate change, including as a member of UK100’s County Council Network 
and the ‘Blueprint Coalition’ if approved by Cabinet (recommendation 4). 

Risk Assessment 
29. The climate change strategy target of being Net Zero by 2050 with an 80% reduction by 

2030 remains extremely challenging to achieve.  Work is planned in 2020/21 onwards to 
determine the ‘emissions gap’ and route to achieving these targets.  Success will be 
dependent on Leadership Gloucestershire partners, the wider Gloucestershire community 
and government to make the required changes and resources available to achieve this.  
The Blueprint Coalition seeks to secure from government more powers and resources for 
councils to take action on climate change and nature restoration, and to build back better 
from Covid-19 

30. A number of the actions are dependent on securing grant funding.  Should these be 
unsuccessful, alternative funds and/or actions will need to be developed. 

Page 204

https://www.adeptnet.org.uk/news-events/climate-change-hub/show-your-support-five-immediate-priorities-green-recovery


 

 

Officer Advice 
31. That the updated action plan is approved for implementation and to take to Leadership 

Gloucestershire seeking its members to match the council’s commitment in accordance 
with Option ii. above (‘Implement the Action Plan’). 

32. That approval is given to support ADEPT’s call for government to secure more powers 
and resources for councils to take action on climate change and nature restoration, and to 
build back better from Covid-19 in their areas. 

Equalities considerations 
33. There are no direct equalities implications arising from the recommendations of this report.  

However, climate change has the potential for significant implications for people’s health, 
wellbeing and safety; particularly for those on low incomes, vulnerable people especially 
the young and the elderly, and people with additional learning, physical and mental needs.  
It follows that delivering the strategy will therefore have a positive impact.  There is also 
the need to ensure effective engagement of all demographic groups. 

Performance Management/Follow-up  
34. The county council will ensure delivery of the action plan by ongoing monitoring and 

reporting of progress that will provide the detail as to how we will continually measure and 
improve progress to achieving our objectives. 

35. The outline action plan will continue to be developed for Cabinet approval each year, 
developed into a detailed plan in agreement with Leadership Gloucestershire for the 
following year by March, implemented from April. 

Page 205



 

 

Report Title 
LEADING THE RESPONSE TO THE CLIMATE 
EMERGENCY: GLOUCESTERSHIRE CLIMATE CHANGE 
STRATEGY ANNUAL REPORT & ACTION PLAN, 2021/02 – 
2026/07 

Statutory Authority 
Overarching statutory powers in relation to Education, 
Highways, Lead Local Flood, Public Health, Strategic Planning, 
Transport, Waste Disposal and section 1(1) of the Localism Act 
2011. 

Relevant County Council 
policy 

Corporate Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan, July 2008 

Local Flood Risk Management Strategy, 2014 

Local Transport Plan 2015-2031, 2016 (being revised) 

Looking to the Future 2019-2022, 2018 

Climate Change Emissions Reduction Pledge, 2018 

Air Quality Strategy, 2019 

Motion 836 – Carbon action plan motion, 2019 

Motion 844 – Future proofing public buildings and 
developments in Gloucestershire, 2019 

Leading the Response to the Climate Emergency: 
Gloucestershire Climate Change Strategy 2019/20 to 2024/25 

Sustainability checklist:  

Partnerships Significant partnership working will be required to further 
develop the action plan and deliver the strategy. 

Decision Making and 
Involvement 

The Cabinet will consider the future formulation of the strategy 
and the Council will determine the overall financial implications 
as part of the budget setting process. 

Economy and Employment Significant positive implications for growing the low carbon 
economy in Gloucestershire and improving its resilience.  

Caring for people Reduced fuel poverty and better public health, from reduced 
emissions and better air quality, and improved resilience to the 
impacts of a changing climate, especially for vulnerable people. 

Social Value Maximise the social, economic and environmental benefits to 
the local area from carbon reduction and climate resilience. 

Built Environment Improved Green Infrastructure and climate resilience. 

Natural Environment’ 
including Ecology 
(Biodiversity) 

Improved Green Infrastructure and climate resilience. 

Education and Information Youth Climate Panel and schools engagement. 

Page 206



 

 

Tackling Climate Change 

 

Carbon Emissions Implications?  Positive 

Vulnerable to climate change?  No; will improve resilience 

Due Regard Statement Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?     No 

Human rights Implications There are no direct implications arising from this report.  
However, the global impacts of climate change and likely 
conflicts over scarce resources (e.g. fresh water) are expected 
to result in significant population displacement (climate 
refugees), and risks of exploitation and human rights violations. 

Consultation 
Arrangements 

Ongoing consultation with partners and the Youth Climate 
Panel in the development and delivery of the live 5-year rolling 
action plan.  Individual actions may include public consultation, 
e.g., the Local Transport Plan.  Environment Scrutiny 
Committee has been briefed on key actions, for example the 
refresh of the Local Transport Plan, and receives regular 
update reports from the Director of Economy, Environment & 
Infrastructure. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 207



Emissions Comparison, 2005 – 2018 ANNEX 1 
 

 

Figure 1 shows the overall emissions for Gloucestershire as a whole and for each of the 
districts, all of which follow a similar trajectory.  Cotswold having the highest emissions is likely 
to be a combination of its rurality, the availability of alternative transport modes and the 
proportion of older, solid-walled housing.  Conversely Cheltenham having the lowest 
emissions is likely to be a combination of it being urban and so more compact, the associated 
availability of alternative transport modes, and having less solid-walled housing. 

 

Figure 1: Total emissions, Gloucestershire and districts 

Figure 2 compares Gloucestershire’s overall emissions with the South West, both showing a 
similar trajectory suggesting that reduction is a result of national/ international factors. 

 
Figure 2: Total emissions, Gloucestershire and the South West 

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

C
O

2  (to
n

n
e

s) C
O

2
 (

to
n

n
e

s)
 

Cheltenham Cotswold Forest of Dean

Gloucester Stroud Tewkesbury

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

35,000

40,000

45,000

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

C
O

2
 (to

n
n

e
s) C

O
2 

(t
o

n
n

e
s)

 

Gloucestershire South West

Page 208



Emissions Comparison, 2005 – 2018 ANNEX 1 
 

 

Figure 3 compares Gloucestershire’s overall emissions with England, again both showing a 
similar trajectory suggesting that reduction is a result of national/ international factors. 

 

Figure 3: Total emissions, Gloucestershire and England 

Figure 4 compares Gloucestershire’s per capita (resident) emissions with each of the districts, 
the South West and England.  These again all show a similar trajectory, suggesting that 
reduction is a result of national/ international factors.  Cotswold having the highest and 
Cheltenham the lowest per capita emissions will likely be for the same reasons as for Figure 
1, together with Cheltenham having a higher population than Cotswold (estimated 2018 
population 117,100 and 89,000 respectively).  Gloucestershire 2018 per capita emissions fell 
by 2% on 2017 (from 4.8 to 4.7 kgCO2 per capita); this is as a result of a 0.9% increase in 
estimated population combined with the 1% decrease in total emissions. 

 

Figure 4: Per capita emissions for Gloucestershire, districts, South West and England 

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

350,000

400,000

450,000

500,000

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000
tC

O
2  (to

n
n

e
s) C

O
2 

(t
o

n
n

e
s)

 

Gloucestershire England

-

2.0

4.0

6.0

8.0

10.0

12.0

C
O

2
 (

ki
lo

gr
am

m
e

s)
 

Cheltenham Cotswold Forest of Dean

Gloucester Stroud Tewkesbury

Gloucestershire South West England

Page 209



Action Plan Progress 2019/20 & 2020/21 to date ANNEX 2 
 
Key: Green, complete; Amber, in progress; White, not yet underway 
 

 

Actions by April 

1. Seek to agree with Leadership Gloucestershire and other partners how we will work 
together to bring about a co-ordinated approach and action plan in response to the climate 
emergency. 

Agreement reached to joint-fund a Strategic Climate Change Officer role, employed by 
Gloucester City Council.  Recruitment has been delayed as a result of the Coronavirus 
pandemic. 

2. Launch the Million Trees Challenge, working with Gloucestershire Wildlife Trust, The 
Woodland Trust, public and private landowners to plant a million additional trees across 
the county by 2030. 

This is being taken forward as part of the Gloucestershire Local Nature Partnership’s 
(GLNP) Gloucestershire Tree Strategy (Action 7.5, Annex 3), with a target to increase tree 
canopy cover to 20% by 2030.  Linked to this would be establishing a system to record 
gains and losses of trees for Gloucestershire in 2021/22. 

The Woodland Trust (WT) has approved the council’s (GCC) Expression of Interest bid to 
the pilot Emergency Tree Fund to go forward to a ‘Development Phase’, aiming to plant 
360,000 trees by 2023 and fund coordination; a spatial planting and natural regeneration 
plan; and mechanisms to secure land and funding for large scale planting and natural 
regeneration.  GCC has earmarked £230,000 as match funding towards the cost of 
landholder engagement; development of the ‘Biodiversity Off-site (Offsetting) Scheme’; 
and tree maintenance incentives; and £100,000 for community tree planting, March 2021. 

3. Establish a £1m ‘Action Fund’, in 2020/21 to develop and incentivise the adoption of low 
carbon initiatives and improved resilience to climate change.   

The fund has been established, earmarked as follows: 

 £230,000 Gloucestershire Tree Strategy implementation, 2020-2023, including 
£100,000 Community Tree Planting, March 2021. 

 £100,000 School Streets programme, underway. 

 £250,000 Community & small business grants – this has been delayed by the 
coronavirus pandemic, as many groups and small businesses would be unable to 
develop funding bids.  It is hoped to launch these in early 2021. 

4. Extend our £1m energy efficiency invest to save fund (‘Salix Fund’) to all 
Gloucestershire public sector organisations to reduce their corporate carbon footprints, 
committing at least £250k. 

The fund has been made available to Gloucestershire public sector partners, although 
projects have yet to come forward for funding. 

5. Buy only 100 per cent renewable electricity for our buildings, street lighting and council 
schools to put us ahead of our emergency declaration target of an 80% carbon reduction 
by 2030. 

In September 2019 the council switched to a green energy tariff; standard grid electricity 
backed by Renewable Energy Obligation certificates (REGOs).  We are working with our 
energy provider to link our consumption to UK renewable electricity generation. 

 
  

Page 210



Action Plan Progress 2019/20 & 2020/21 to date ANNEX 2 
 
Key: Green, complete; Amber, in progress; White, not yet underway 
 

 

Actions by April (continued) 

6. Generate electricity from the Javelin Park Energy from Waste facility to power around 
25,000 homes a year. 

The plant came online in October 2019, with 50% of the electricity generated classed as 
renewable electricity.  This means that the council is now a net generator of renewable 
energy, and on course to be ‘net carbon positive’ by autumn 2021.  The facility avoided 
35,812 tCO2e had Gloucestershire’s household residual waste instead gone to landfill 
(October 2019 to March 2020). 

7. Pledge its ongoing commitment to the Gloucestershire Youth Climate Panel, working 
closely with its members to develop a plan to challenge and influence the actions taken by 
individuals, communities, organisations and businesses. 

The Panel first met in September 2019, contributing to the development of the Strategy, 
with 3 meetings before the coronavirus pandemic and 2 online meetings during.  GCC is 
commissioning a provider to recruit new members and support development of the panel 
for 12 months, after which it is planned to have a longer-term arrangement in place. 

8. Review the Local Transport Plan (LTP) in view of the climate change emergency and 
consult on the revised LTP in January 2020.  This will include policies for all transport 
modes: public & community transport; cycle; freight; highways; rail; walk. 

The LTP was refreshed following a public consultation January to March 2020.  In 
September the revised draft was reported to GCC’s Environment Scrutiny Committee and 
the Gloucestershire Economic Growth Scrutiny Committee.  It is scheduled to go to 
cabinet for approval in January 2021 and to County Council for adoption in March 2021. 

9. Tender a contract to install over 200 new electric vehicle charging points by 2023, as part 
of a county-wide Electric Vehicle (EV) Strategy.  

The EV strategy has been developed as part of a Gloucestershire Ultra Low Emission 
Vehicle Strategy.  Procurement of an installer is underway, with rollout planned for early 
2021 starting in residential areas of Cheltenham and Gloucester, with subsequent rollout in 
other areas of the county. 

10. Recruit staff to develop and monitor a five year rolling action plan to ensure ongoing 
delivery of the Strategy. 

Funding has been secured for the permanent positions of Climate Change & Air Quality 
Officer (full time) and Partnerships & Behaviour Change Officer (part time).  Recruitment 
has been delayed by the coronavirus pandemic but both posts are planned to be 
advertised soon. 

 
  

Page 211



Action Plan Progress 2019/20 & 2020/21 to date ANNEX 2 
 
Key: Green, complete; Amber, in progress; White, not yet underway 
 

 

Medium and long term measures 

11. Work with our partners to ensure that all new public buildings and residential and 
commercial developments support the move to zero carbon and improve resilience 

Schools buildings investment in support of additional pupil places: 

 High School, Leckhampton (new secondary school) – 718 photovoltaic (PV) panels 
on the roof to provide 100% reduction in CO2 emissions, Air Source Heat Pump 
(ASHP) and green wall – cost £600,000. 

 Winchcombe Secondary School – new sports hall and remodelling of existing 
teaching blocks – the sports hall will achieve around 60% betterment on current 
building regulations through PV panels and associated wiring to the new Sports Hall 
mono-pitch lower roof.  Hybrid ASHP installed and energy efficiency upgrades by 
enhancing insulation to the ground floor, external walls and roof areas of refurb 
building.  Cost around £100,000. 

 The Cotswold School – new teaching block, extension to sports hall, refurbishment 
of some existing areas.  A mix of PV, ASHP and 100% betterment on current 
Building Regulations on the new teaching block.  Approximately 30% betterment on 
current Building Regulations to the sports hall extension.  Estimated cost £194,000. 

12. Work with our partners to aim for all new development sites to deliver high quality green 
infrastructure in line with the ‘Building with Nature’ standards, developed by 
Gloucestershire Wildlife Trust. 

In July 2020, the recently adopted Minerals Local Plan for Gloucestershire (2018 – 2032) 
received ‘Building with Nature’ accreditation.  It is now local policy to afford support to 
future mineral-related developments that will contribute towards delivering or maintaining 
green infrastructure that meets BwN standards. 

13. Stress test public sector assets and services against climate change 

Climate change issues are already an integral part of GCC’s Risk Management 
Framework, and climate change is a corporate strategic risk, with progress reported 
quarterly to the Corporate Leadership Team and Cabinet. 

In support of this GCC’s Business Continuity Management (BCM) approach ensures that 
there are robust arrangements in place for responding to, minimising the impacts of and 
recovering from operationally disruptive unplanned events.  BCM also ensures that there is 
a framework for testing and exercising the relevant arrangements, for continually 
improving business continuity processes and for monitoring and reporting compliance with 
corporate BCM standards.  

14. Establish an Expert Advisory Panel and Climate Emergency Response Group 

This has been delayed as a result of the Coronavirus pandemic, pending recruitment of 
the Strategic Climate Change Coordinator, to be hosted by Gloucester City Council. 

15. Launch a targeted communications (culture change) campaign 

This is to be developed with GCC’s Communications Team once the Partnerships & 
Behaviour Change Officer post has been filled. 

(continued…) 

Page 212



Action Plan Progress 2019/20 & 2020/21 to date ANNEX 2 
 
Key: Green, complete; Amber, in progress; White, not yet underway 
 

 

Medium and long term measures (continued) 

16. Launch an awards programme for projects tackling climate change 

This is to be developed once the Partnerships & Behaviour Change Officer post has been 
filled. 

17. Establish baseline carbon emissions for Gloucestershire 

Baseline carbon emissions are published by government, 2 years in arears, by district and 
by sector (industry & commercial, domestic, transport) and taken together provide 
emissions for the whole county.  Work is planned to determine the ‘emissions gap’ and 
route to Net Zero by 2050 and 80% reduction by 2030. 

18. Identify the potential for renewable energy generation on public sector land in 
Gloucestershire and set a 2025 target 

High School, Leckhampton (new secondary school) – 718 photovoltaic (PV) panels on the 
roof to provide 100% reduction in CO2 emissions, Air Source Heat Pump (ASHP), green 
wall – cost £600,000. 

A bid for £239,000 has been submitted to the government’s Low Carbon Skills Fund to 
assess council buildings, Household Recycling Centres, and Fosse Cross landfill site for 
heat decarbonisation, energy efficiency and renewable energy generation opportunities.  
This would then form the basis of a grant application to the government’s £1billion Public 
Sector Decarbonisation Scheme (deadline 11 January 2021) to implement the measures. 

19. Investigate the feasibility of District Heating Networks, (Gloucestershire Royal Hospital; 
The Docks; Javelin Park), to deliver at least one by 2025 

The feasibility assessment for The Docks network has been completed; the Hospital 
assessment was put on hold as a result of the Coronavirus pandemic; and the assessment 
for Javelin Park was postponed whilst the facility completes its first year of operation.  A 
bid is being developed for government Heat Network Delivery Unit funding (including 
project management) to procure consultants to develop an outline business case (OBC) 
for district heating focussed on Gloucester Quays, and a feasibility study to cover 
Gloucester Hospital and a Gloucester factory. 

20. Identify ways to reduce carbon emissions in our highways investment 

M5 Junction 10, £219 funding from Homes England’s Housing Infrastructure Fund 

 To provide a new all-movements junction giving access from the motorway both 
northbound and southbound into Cheltenham.  The scheme will reduce congestion 
and reduce traffic on unsuitable urban roads, improving air quality and safety.   

 It includes the development of Arle Court Park & Ride into a Transport Hub, to: 

o Improve connectivity within, to and from the area by non-car modes.    

o Enable more journeys to central Cheltenham, railway station and the hospital 
by sustainable modes of travel.  

o Provide a regular, reliable transport solution reducing car journeys into 
Cheltenham.  

 A public consultation on the scheme is underway. 

 The upgraded junction is anticipated to be open in Spring 2024. (continued…) 

Page 213



Action Plan Progress 2019/20 & 2020/21 to date ANNEX 2 
 
Key: Green, complete; Amber, in progress; White, not yet underway 
 

 

Medium and long term measures (continued) 

20. Identify ways to reduce carbon emissions in our highways investment (continued) 

Thinktravel 

 Working with Highways and S106 teams on the importance of synergy between 
travel plans for schools, and education establishments and workplaces.  

 Part of the consultation for major and local highways walking and cycling schemes 
like A417 missing link, Gloucester to Cheltenham Highways England (B4603), 
Lydney, University of Gloucestershire Pitville Cycling route, Junction 10, West 
Cheltenham/Cyber Central, and Gloucester to sharpness Canal improvements, 
which aim to encourage increased active travel, reduce carbon footprint and create 
a green cleaner Gloucestershire. 

Public transport strategy 

 Review and development 

Cycling infrastructure 

 B4063 Cheltenham to Gloucester Cycle Improvements Scheme, detailed design of 
the six mile-long cycle route 

 Cycling and walking social distancing scheme, offering greener travel choices to 
make it easier for residents and visitors to access jobs, services, education, 
shopping and visitor attractions. 

 A38 Canal Bridges scheme will deliver the construction of the canal through the 
A38 Whitminster Roundabout.  It includes the construction of two new bridges, a 
canal channel within the roundabout and a towpath under the bridge.  Under their 
Environmental Designated Fund, Highways England agreed to pay Cotswold 
Canals Trust a grant of £4milion towards restoring the ‘missing mile’.  It will attract 
more visitors to the area, improve wildlife habitats and provide a new walking and 
cycling route. 

 A419 Highway Improvements, linking Stroud to M5 J13.  The scheme will include 
improving provision for pedestrians and cyclists. 

 West Cheltenham Transport Improvement Scheme – UK Cyber Business Park.  
The scheme includes walking and cycling improvements between Arle Court and 
Benhall Roundabouts, and linking the A40 and Cheltenham Station by 2021. 

 Cheltenham Spa Railway station – £50k GWR community Rail fund secured to 
improve access to information through a fully inter-active Real Time Passenger 
Information and a sense of place as well as working with stakeholders to enable the 
extension of the Honeybourne line (National Cycle Network route 41) cycle link 
through to be included as part of the re-development of the forecourt. 

21. Look to be an early adopter of innovative commercial energy recovery technology 

A meeting in 2019 with the inventor secured in principle agreement for the council to trial 
the system at Shire Hall, but progress has been delayed as a result of the Coronavirus 
pandemic. 

22. Agree targets and funding for cleaner public and school transport services 

1.  

(Continued…) 

Page 214



Action Plan Progress 2019/20 & 2020/21 to date ANNEX 2 
 
Key: Green, complete; Amber, in progress; White, not yet underway 
 

 

Medium and long term measures (continued) 

23. Implement climate change impact assessments into the council’s decision making 
process 

Climate change issues are already an integral part of the council’s Risk Management 
Framework, and climate change is a corporate strategic risk, with progress reported 
quarterly to the Corporate Leadership Team and Cabinet. 

Whilst a simple climate change assessment has been part of cabinet reports for several 
years, from March 2021 all proposed cabinet decisions will consider climate change 
implications as part of the main report; both mitigation (emissions reduction) and 
adaptation (vulnerability). 

As of January 2020 the council’s Planning Development Management (PDM) Team has 
been incorporating as a specific material consideration concerning the new Climate 
Change Strategy with the planning applications it is responsible for.  Support will be 
afforded to all applications that are able to demonstrate their alignment with the ambitions, 
targets and actions of the new Climate Change Strategy. 

ROBUST ‘circular economy’ project, with University of Gloucestershire and EU partners: 

 Working with partners to increase the knowledge base and awareness of the 
Circular Economy and Circular Business Models and Practices – June 2020, 
introductory workshop held with regulators and public sector partners. 

 Dec 2020/ early 2021 – publication of a reference/ contextual paper on the circular 
economy in Gloucestershire. 

 Develop a ‘Circular Gloucestershire’ Strategy and Roadmap for supporting the 
county’s transition to a more circular economy. 

24. Look into developing a Gloucestershire carbon offsetting scheme 

This is being taken forward under the GLNP’s Gloucestershire Tree Strategy through 
development of the ‘Biodiversity Off-site (Offsetting) Scheme’.  The Woodland Trust (WT) 
has approved GCC’s Expression of Interest bid to the pilot Emergency Tree Fund to go 
forward to a ‘Development Phase’, aiming to plant 360,000 trees by 2023 and fund 
coordination; a spatial planting and natural regeneration plan; and mechanisms to secure 
land and funding for large scale planting and natural regeneration, including through the 
Biodiversity Off-site (Offsetting) Scheme.   

25. Expand Green Staff Travel Plan and develop Clean Fleet Replacement Plan 

Two Electric Vehicle pilots undertaken with frontline services; EV being procured for first 
pilot; second pilot is ongoing. 

A review of the council’s fleet is currently underway and is due to conclude in early 2021. 

 
 

Page 215



Action Plan 2021/22 onwards ANNEX 3 

 

1. Putting climate change at the heart of decision making 

1.1. Business Continuity Management Plan exercising 
and testing (2021/22) 

1.2. ROBUST ‘circular economy’ project, with University 
of Gloucestershire and EU partners (2021/22 - 
20256/7) 

1.3. Gloucestershire Youth Climate Panel, procure 
ongoing support (2021/22) 

2. Buildings – ours, residents, businesses and partners 

2.1. New special school (2021/22) 

2.2. Replacement of Warden Hill Primary School 
(2021/22) 

2.3. New Primary School for Bishops Cleeve (2021/22) 

2.4. Belmont Special School classroom extension 
(2021/22) 

2.5. Wyatt House, Stroud refurbishment (2021/22-
2022/03) 

2.6. Heat Decarbonisation Programme, subject to 
funding bid outcome 

3. Transport – carbon busting options for all 

3.1. Green Safer Schools Streets Programme, multi-
partnership and countywide (2021/22) 

3.2. Leckhampton, proposed new secondary school 
(2021/22) 

3.3. Health/ travel place apps (2021/22) 

3.4. Community Infrastructure Levy for Active Travel 

3.5. School & Workplace Travel Champions 

3.6. 30% modal shift by 2030 

3.7. Electric Vehicle Infrastructure 

3.8. West Cheltenham Transport Improvement Scheme 
(WCTIS) 

3.9. B4063 Cycle Route Gloucester to Cheltenham 

3.10. A435 Cycle Route 

3.11. Arle Court Transport Hub 

3.12. Council Pool Car Scheme 

3.13. Council Fleet Review 

3.14. Public Transport Strategy 

4. Power – helping everyone convert to green power 

4.1. Domestic rooftop PV scheme 

5. Waste – reducing and dealing with 

5.1. ROBUST ‘circular economy’ project, with University 
of Gloucestershire and EU partners (2021/22 - 
20256/7) 

6. Influencing others – getting everyone to do their bit 

6.1. Climate Change Award Scheme 

7. Land use 

7.1. Pitville Flood Risk Management Scheme 

7.2. Nailsworth Flood Risk Management Scheme 

7.3. Coleford Flood Risk Management Scheme 

7.4. Stroud Rural Sustainable Drainage Scheme (SuDS) 

7.5. Gloucestershire Tree Strategy 

7.6. Fosse Cross HRC, 1MW PV array and battery 
storage, subject to financial case 

8. Campaigning 

8.1. Culture change campaign 

 

P
age 216



Action Plan 2021/22 onwards ANNEX 3 

 

1. Putting climate change at the heart of decision making 

Action 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

1.1 Business Continuity 
Management Plan exercising 
and testing  

Guidance, scenarios, roll out, collate findings   

1.2 ROBUST ‘circular economy’ 
project, with University of 
Gloucestershire and EU 
partners: 

a) Develop and 
consult on a ‘Circular 
Gloucestershire’ 
Strategy and 
Roadmap for 
supporting the 
county’s transition to 
a more circular 
economy 

Support 
development of the 
council’s new 
School Meals 
contract, to 
encourage the 
purchase of local 
food 

   

b) Ensure circular best practice becomes a 
core component in the evolution of 
sustainable procurement for 
Gloucestershire’s public sector organisations 

   

c) Seek to embed support for transitioning to a more circular economy into emerging public policy throughout 
Gloucestershire (e.g. reviews of the Municipal Waste Management Strategy; Waste Core Strategy (for land-use 
planning); and district-level local plans) 

d) Encourage future local economic investment initiatives / funds that require applications to incorporate ‘evidence 
of implementing circular best practice’ as a highly influential factor in decision-making 

1.3 Gloucestershire Youth 
Climate Panel 

Procure ongoing 
support 

    

2. Buildings – ours, residents, businesses and partners 

Action 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

2.1 New Special School Upgrade Roof, wall and wall Insulation, 
Hybrid air source heat pump (ASHP) & Gas, 
solar Photo Voltaic (PV) panels to achieve 
100% betterment on current regs, subject to 
planning.  Estimated cost £274k. 

   

P
age 217



Action Plan 2021/22 onwards ANNEX 3 

 

2. Buildings – ours, residents, businesses and partners (continued) 

Action 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

2.2 Replacement of Warden Hill 
Primary School 

PV, ASHP, natural ventilation, energy 
efficiency improvements including enhancing 
insulation to the ground floor, external walls 
& roof areas will be considered as part of the 
design process to deliver a sustainable 
school in line with the Council’s pledge.  
Installation of ASHP, and 500m2 of PV will 
achieve 100% betterment of current building 
regulations.  During the course of the design 
further carbon reduction features will be 
looked at and will add further costs. 
Estimated cost £205k. 

   

2.3 New Primary School for 
Bishops Cleeve 

The scheme is in the very early stages of design but sustainability 
will be at the core of the design 

  

2.4 Belmont Special School 
classroom extension 

We are using a fabric 
first approach that 
should provide 
around a 30% 
improvement over 
current building 
regulations.  Cost tbc 

    

2.5 Wyatt House, Stroud Undertake a 
compliant competitive 
tender exercise to 
lease Wyatt House to 
a registered provider 
to remodel the current 
building into 
supported living,. 

Refurbishment, including including for energy efficiency, heat decarbonisation and 
renewable energy generation opportunities 

2.6 Heat Decarbonisation 
Programme, subject to bid 
outcome 

Heat decarbonisation 
plan development  

Heat decarbonisation plan Implementation  

P
age 218



Action Plan 2021/22 onwards ANNEX 3 

 

3. Transport – carbon busting options for all 

Action 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

3.1 Green Safer Schools Streets 
Programme, multi-partnership 
and countywide 

‘Modeshift’ travel 
planning framework 
and Healthy Street 
indicators to trial, 
based on school 
travel plans 

    

3.2 Leckhampton, proposed new 
secondary school 

Work in partnership 
with GCC Highways, 
Cheltenham BC, 
Active 
Gloucestershire, 
Balcarras Academy 
and Leckhampton to 
provide solutions to 
alleviate congestion, 
improve air quality 
and promote active 
travel to proposed 
new secondary 
school in 
Leckhampton 

    

3.3 Health/travel place apps Research Better 
Points, Active Steps 
and work place 
initiatives; assess 
suitability, impact, 
potential for 
partnering 
deliverables with 
Active Glos. 

    

 
  

P
age 219



Action Plan 2021/22 onwards ANNEX 3 

 

3. Transport – carbon busting options for all (continued) 

Action 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

3.4 Community Infrastructure 
Levy for Active Travel 

Research Community Infra-structure Levy 
and how it could be applied in 
Gloucestershire and Suscom model 
proposed by Active Gloucestershire 

   

3.5 School & Workplace Travel 
Champions 

Aim to have a travel champion in schools and workplaces   

3.6 30% modal shift by 2030 30% Modal Shift across all sustainable modes in 10 years 

3.7 Electric Vehicle 
Infrastructure 

Install over 200 new electric vehicle charging points by 2023   

3.8 West Cheltenham Transport 
Improvement Scheme (WCTIS)  

Phase 3 &4, 
£1.6million ring 
fenced to cycling and 
walking on A40 
corridor between Arle 
Court and 
Cheltenham Station, 
including areas of 
Benhall and St Marks 
wider cycle 
infrastructure 
improvements, 
together with 2 for 1 
tree replacement. 

    

3.9 B4063 Cycle Route 
Gloucester to Cheltenham 

Completion of 5.8 
miles of new cycle 
infrastructure 
between London Rd 
Gloucester and Arle 
Court Cheltenham. 

    

 
 

P
age 220



Action Plan 2021/22 onwards ANNEX 3 

 

3. Transport – carbon busting options for all (continued) 

Action 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

3.10 A435 Cycle Route New designated cycle 
facility between 
Cheltenham 
Racecourse and 
Bishops Cleeve along 
A435, subject to DfT 
funding approval. 

    

3.11 Arle Court Transport Hub Works will provide a more integrated transport network by enabling opportunities to switch 
to more sustainable transport modes.  The improvements will focus on providing high 
quality alternatives to car use to allow more journeys to central Cheltenham, the railway 
station and the hospital by sustainable modes of travel. 

 

3.12 Council Pool Car Scheme Agree procurement 
strategy and 
implement follow on 
service to replace 
existing contract. 

    

3.13 Council Fleet Review Implement 
recommendations 

    

3.14 Public Transport Strategy Public consultation 
and adoption. 

    

4. Power – helping everyone convert to green power   

Action 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

4.1 Domestic rooftop PV 
scheme 

Develop business 
case for domestic 
rooftop PV in fuel 
poor areas 

    

P
age 221



Action Plan 2021/22 onwards ANNEX 3 

 

5. Waste – reducing and dealing with  

Action 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

1.2 ROBUST ‘circular economy’ 
project, with University of 
Gloucestershire and EU 
partners: 

a) Develop and 
consult on a ‘Circular 
Gloucestershire’ 
Strategy and 
Roadmap for 
supporting the 
county’s transition to 
a more circular 
economy 

    

b) Ensure circular best practice becomes a 
core component in the evolution of 
sustainable procurement for 
Gloucestershire’s public sector organisations 

   

c) Seek to embed support for transitioning to a more circular economy into emerging public policy throughout 
Gloucestershire (e.g. reviews of the Municipal Waste Management Strategy; Waste Core Strategy (for land-use 
planning); and district-level local plans) 

d) Encourage future local economic investment initiatives / funds that require applications to incorporate ‘evidence 
of implementing circular best practice’ as a highly influential factor in decision-making 

6. Influencing others – getting everyone to do their bit 

Action 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

6.1 Climate Change Award 
Scheme 

Develop and promote, with annual awards 

7. Land use 

Action 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

7.1 Pitville Flood Risk 
Management Scheme 

 Creation of attenuation basin, lowering road levels, creation of 
preferential flow paths to Wyman’s Brook.  £502k (GCC £450k) 

 

7.2 Nailsworth Flood Risk 
Management Scheme 

Installation of new and improved drainage 
network £215k (GCC £173k) 

   

P
age 222



Action Plan 2021/22 onwards ANNEX 3 

 

 

7. Land use (continued) 

Action 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

7.3 Coleford Flood Risk 
Management Scheme 

Full survey of drainage network, new channel drains, attenuation basin.  £471k (GCC 
£350k) 

 

7.4 Stroud Rural Sustainable 
Drainage Scheme (SuDS) 

Various NFM interventions and monitoring / modelling.  £121k (GCC £90k) 

7.5 Gloucestershire Tree 
Strategy 

Establish a system to 
record gains and 
losses of trees for 
Gloucestershire (see 
action 2, Annex 2) 

    

Phase 2 delivery of Woodland Trust bid – 
Trees for landholders/tenants 2020-2023.  
Get significant numbers of trees planted and 
lay the foundations for a longer-term 
relationship with landholders/tenants. 

   

Phase 3 delivery of Woodland Trust bid – 
Scaling up the approach 2021-2023.  
Develop and put in place measures to help 
deliver 20% canopy cover by 2030 by 
securing land and significant funding for tree 
planting, woodland creation and ongoing 
maintenance and support.  

   

‘Forest Without Frontiers’, Stage 1;  linking Forest of Dean to Wye Valley, estimated 160,000 new trees  

‘Greater Gloucestershire Forest’, Stage 1, 
linking Westonburt to Avon Forest, 25,000 
trees 

   

  ‘Greater Gloucestershire Forest’, Stage 2, 150,000 trees 

 Significantly increase tree planting and natural regeneration at 
scale 

P
age 223



Action Plan 2021/22 onwards ANNEX 3 

 

7. Land use (continued) 

Action 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

7.6 Fosse Cross HRC, 1MW PV 
array and battery storage, 
subject to financial case 

Grid connection, planning approval, procure 
developer, build and commission 

   

8. Campaigning  

Action 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

8.1 Communications campaign Develop and implement with partners 

 

P
age 224



Blueprint Coalition Signatories ANNEX 4b 

 

(Councils shown bold) 

Organisation  Name Position 

ADEPT Nigel Riglar President 

Allen and Harriss Mark Allen Director 

Amber Valley Borough Council Chris Emmas-
Williams 

Leader of Amber Valley Borough 
Council 

Ashden Cara Jenkinson Cities Manager 

Bassetlaw District Council David Armiger Assistant Chief Executive 

Bath & North East Somerset 
Council 

Sarah Warren Cabinet Member - Climate Emergency 

Bedford Borough Mayor Dave 
Hodgson 

Elected Mayor of Bedford Borough 

Broxtowe Borough Council Ruth Hyde Chief Executive 

Bucks and Milton Keynes Natural 
Environment Partnership 

Chris M Williams Chairman 

Calderdale Metropolitan 
borough Council 

Scott Patient Cabinet lead for Climate Change and 
Resilience - chair of the Climate Change 
working party 

Cambridge City Council Rosy Moore Executive Councillor for Climate 
Change, Environment & the City Centre 

City of Wolverhampton Council Ross Cook Director of Environment 

City of York Council Paula Widdowson Exec member for Environment and 
Climate Change 

Colchester Borough Council Mark Cory Leader of Council (Chair of 
Environmental and Sustainability Panel) 

County Surveyors Society Wales Marcus Lloyd Chair 

digitalplacemaking Brian Devlin Managing Director 

Enfield Council Ian Barnes Deputy Leader 

Essex County Council Samantha Kennedy Director, Environment and Climate 
Action 

Friends of the Earth Miriam Turner Interim co-CEO 

Grantham Institute - Climate 
Change and the Environment, 
Imperial College London 

Professor Martin 
Siegert 

Dr Neil Jennings 

Co-Director  
 

Partnership Development Manager 

Great Yarmouth Borough 
Council 

Chris Silverwood Director of Operational Services 

Greater Manchester Combined 
Authority 

Mark Atherton Director of Environment 

Hammersmith & Fulham Council Kim Smith Chief Executive 

Hampshire County Council Chitra Nadarajah Strategic Manager Climate Change 

Page 225

https://www.adeptnet.org.uk/news-events/climate-change-hub/show-your-support-five-immediate-priorities-green-recovery?page=0&order=value_2&sort=desc


Blueprint Coalition Signatories ANNEX 4b 

 

Organisation  Name Position 

Havant Borough Council Andrew Biltcliffe Regeneration Project Manager 

Hertfordshire County Council Mark Kemp Director of Environment and 
Infrastructure 

Hinckley & Bosworth Borough 
Council 

Stuart Bray Leader 

Lancaster City Council Kevin Frea Deputy Leader 

Leicester City Council Cllr Adam Clarke Deputy City Mayor - Environment & 
Transportation 

London Borough of Hackney Philip Glanville Elected Mayor of Hackney 

London Borough of Islington Keith Townsend Corporate Director Environment & 
Regeneration 

London Borough of Sutton Manuel Abellan Deputy Leader 

London Borough of Tower 
Hamlets 

Dan Jones Director of Public Realm 

London Environment Directors 
Network (LEDNet) 

Dimitra Rappou Principal Policy and Project Manager 

Luton Borough Council Tom Shaw Portfolio holder for climate change 

Mendip District Council Tom Ronan  

 

Hayley Warrens 

Cabinet member for climate change 

Climate Change & Resilience Officer 

Newcastle University Prof Malcolm 
Newson 

Emeritus Professor of Physical 
Geography 

North Hertfordshire District 
Council 

Martin Stears-
Handscomb 

Cllr Paul Clark 

Leader 

 

Deputy Leader & Planning & Transport 
Portfolio Holder 

North Kesteven District Council Ian Fytche Chief Executive 

Nottinghamshire County Council Adrian Smith Corporate Director, Place 

Oldham Council Andrew Hunt Programme Manager - Community 
Wealth Building 

Oxford City Council Councillor Tom 
Hayes 

Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Zero Carbon Oxford and Green 
Transport 

Oxfordshire County Council Susan Halliwell Director Planning & Place 

PeoSysPro David May Commercial Director 

Plymouth City Council Anthony Payne Strategic Director for Place 

Redcar and Cleveland Borough 
Council 

Louise Westbury Cabinet member for environment and 
climate change 

Rother District Council Sue Prochak Deputy Leader Rother District Council 

Page 226

https://www.adeptnet.org.uk/news-events/climate-change-hub/show-your-support-five-immediate-priorities-green-recovery?page=0&order=value_2&sort=desc


Blueprint Coalition Signatories ANNEX 4b 

 

Organisation  Name Position 

Shropshire Climate Action 
Partnership 

Allan Wilson Chair 

Socitm Martin Ferguson Director of Policy & Research 

Somerset County Council Paula Hewitt Director of Commissioning - Economic 
and Community Infrastructure 

South Lakeland District Council Giles Archibald Leader 

Southampton City Council Steve Leggett 
 

Kate Martin 

Cabinet Member for Green City & Place 

Executive Director - Place 

Staffordshire County Council Darryl Eyers Director for Economy, Infrastructure and 
Skills 

Torbay Economic Development 
Company 

Alan Denby Director of Economic Strategy 

Watford Borough Council Peter Taylor  

Tim Williams 

Elected Mayor  

Cabinet Member for Client Services & 
Sustainability 

West Sussex County Council Deborah Urquhart  

Steve Read 
 

Matt Davey 

Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Environment  

Director of Environment and Public 
Protection  

Director of Highways, Transport and 
Planning 

Wokingham Borough Council Cllr Gregor Murray Executive Member for Climate 
Emergency 

 

Page 227

https://www.adeptnet.org.uk/news-events/climate-change-hub/show-your-support-five-immediate-priorities-green-recovery?page=0&order=value_2&sort=desc


A blueprint for accelerating 
climate action and a green 
recovery at the local level

With support from the Local Government Association, 
London Councils and Green Alliance

ANNEX 4a

Page 228



About this report

As a group of local government, environmental and research organisations, we have come together to set out a blueprint for 

how the government can accelerate climate action and a green recovery from coronavirus at the local level. This report sets 

out the national leadership, policies, powers and funding needed to empower local authorities to deliver at scale, working 

together with communities and businesses. We recognise that responding to the coronavirus crisis is an immediate priority 

but argue that we must align recovery measures with the climate emergency to secure our long-term future.

In developing our recommendations, we have reached out to local authorities and others to identify barriers to action and suggest 

policy remedies. We have drawn extensively on the direct experience of many local authorities as they develop their own climate 

action plans, as well as their more recent experience at the frontline of the coronavirus response. Insight into local authorities’ 

priorities has been gathered via conferences, surveys, and regular contact with officers and councillors responsible for council services. 

We set out five immediate priorities for how government can accelerate a green recovery from coronavirus whilst helping to set 

the foundations for longer term solutions to the climate and ecological crises we face. Beyond this, we set out how local authorities 

are already delivering on the climate emergency and a fuller suite of proposals for how the government can support them scale up 

action. The longer list is not the final word on this complex topic, and not all of the signatories have detailed policy positions on 

every issue. We see this as a strong starting point for the discussions that are needed between government, local authorities and 

others. These discussions will need to address the range and depth of policy change that is needed if the government wishes to take 

full advantage of the unique and powerful contribution of local authorities to meeting the national net zero target. Indeed, councils 

are an indispensable partner in reaching the UK’s target of net zero by 2050.

The proposals we have identified are grouped according to key themes: growing the zero and low carbon economy; retrofitting 

homes and buildings; decarbonising transport; delivering zero carbon planning and development that protects and enhances 

nature; reducing waste and encouraging sustainable consumption; restoring nature for all; and developing local authority funding, 

governance and accounting systems that are fit for purpose. There are, of course, actions that the Government must take centrally, 

for example, bringing forward the ban on the sale of new petrol or diesel cars, but it is not the purpose of this document to identify 

all of these; we provide an illustration of some of the most important in the Appendix. 

This document is the result of contributions from scores of councils, including through conferences and seminars organised by 

ADEPT, Ashden, LEDNet, London Councils and the Local Government Association. The final result is the responsibility of the signature 

organisations publishing this document, and any errors or emissions are our own. We will continue to work with a wide-range of 

organisations where there are mutual benefits to be had in order to secure councils the powers and resources they need to address 

the climate and ecological emergencies within the Covid-19 context. 

Signatories:

• Ashden

• Association of Directors of Environment, Economy, Transport and Planning (ADEPT)

• Friends of the Earth

• Grantham Institute - Climate Change and the Environment (Imperial College London)

• Greenpeace UK

• London Environment Directors’ Network (LEDNet)

• Place-based Climate Action Network (PCAN) at LSE

• Solace

With support from the Local Government Association, London Councils and Green Alliance

We welcome feedback on our proposals, and engagement from any organisation 

that wishes to support this work through closer collaboration.  

You can contact us through Hannah Bartram, Chief Operating Officer 

of ADEPT (hannah.bartram@eastsussex.gov.uk).

2

ANNEX 4a

Page 229



Contents

Page 3
Building back better - Tackling the climate emergency

as we recover from coronavirus

Page 7
Theme 1 - Growing the zero and low carbon economy

Page 9
Theme 2 - Retrofitting homes and buildings

Page 11
Theme 3 - Decarbonising transport

Page 13
Theme 4 - Delivering zero carbon planning and development

that protects and enhances nature

Page 15
Theme 5 - Reducing waste and encouraging sustainable consumption

Page 16
Theme 6 - Restoring nature for all

Page 17
Theme 7 - Developing local authority funding, governance and

accounting systems that are fit for purpose

Page 19
Appendix

3

ANNEX 4a

Page 230



Building back better - Tackling the climate
emergency as we recover from coronavirus

The coronavirus pandemic has been – and continues to be – an unprecedented shock to our lives. 

The loss of human life has been severe, and measures to reduce further loss have inevitably led 

to disruption to communities, livelihoods, businesses and the delivery of some public services. 

In amongst this, we have seen an amazing collective response from key workers and volunteers, 

including from frontline public health and social care workers, and other staff in local government. 

As has been widely acknowledged, we owe them a huge debt of gratitude.

As we look to the future, we can see that the coronavirus has created a ‘new normal’. Amongst the many other 

impacts of the virus, it has been a stark reminder that prevention is better than cure. This must mean a renewed 

commitment to tackling the climate and ecological crises, and a recognition that they are connected; the threat to 

human life and resilient economic activity is increased by damage to natural systems. We must aim to build back 

better, investing in resilient communities, a low and zero carbon economy and a healthy and thriving natural 

environment.

This is what our communities want. Amidst the tragedy and stress of the pandemic, communities are valuing 

cleaner air and time spent in nature, and many people have adapted to working remotely. And we have seen 

that individuals, communities and businesses are willing and able to adapt their behaviour to protect public 

health from coronavirus. Polling has shown that two thirds of Britons believe that climate change is as 

serious as coronavirus, and the majority of them want to see climate change prioritised in the economic 

recovery.1 Another poll in mid-April found that only nine per cent of Britons wanted to return to life as 

normal after the end of the lockdown.2

Building back better includes reducing the inequalities that coronavirus has helped to lay bare. For 

example, evidence is emerging that places with high levels of air pollution are seeing higher levels of 

coronavirus cases, and poor diet has also been linked to coronavirus susceptibility. Place-making at the 

local level is needed to support the wellbeing of people and the environment, including through access to 

nature, ability to exercise for health, and access to essential services.

The Government’s Committee on Climate Change (CCC) has advised that action to strengthen the economy 

can, and should, also deliver on our climate goals. In its letter to the Prime Minister, the Committee said that 

‘Actions towards net-zero emissions and to limit the damages from climate change will help rebuild the UK 

with a stronger economy and increased resilience.’3  This is supported by research from the Local Government 

Association which has shown that 700,000 direct jobs could be created in England’s low-carbon and renewable 

energy economy by 2030, rising to more than 1.18 million by 2050.4 The CCC go on to recommend six principles 

for an integrated recovery and five specific measures, which we strongly endorse. This document shows how local 

authorities can support each measure, including energy systems management, which is spread across our themes 

on low carbon economy and planning. Our immediate asks, below, show how the Committee’s five specific 

measures can be rapidly implemented at the local level.

The coronavirus crisis has also demonstrated the unique role of local authorities, who have responded rapidly 

and effectively, including by redeploying huge numbers of staff in response to local need. They have been 

critical in identifying and supporting vulnerable residents who needed shielding, joining up service delivery 

across agencies to tackle the virus, and keeping central government on top of intelligence in every local 

authority area, often on a daily basis. Councils can coordinate the intelligence to inform government policy and 

its implementation on the ground in a way that makes sense locally. 

1  https://www.ipsos.com/ipsos-mori/en-uk/two-thirds-britons-believe-climate-change-serious-coronavirus-and-majority-want-climate-prioritised
2  https://news.sky.com/story/coronavirus-only-9-of-britons-want-life-to-return-to-normal-once-lockdown-is-over-11974459
3  https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/letter-building-a-resilient-recovery-from-the-covid-19-crisis-to-prime-minister-boris-johnson/
4  https://www.local.gov.uk/lga-over-million-new-green-jobs-could-be-created-2050

4

ANNEX 4a

Page 231



This makes councils an indispensable partner in reaching the UK’s world-leading legislative target 

to reach net zero by 2050. Councils’ unique insight into local communities and circumstances, their 

service delivery and regulatory functions, and their convening power enable them to drive carbon emissions 

reductions across their whole area in ways that can also deliver better public health, reduced inequalities, 

a healthier environment and thriving local economies. They can help the Government to build a leading green 

recovery in the run up to COP26 and ensure that job creation and the co-benefits of carbon reduction are embedded 

in communities around the country. And with more than 70 per cent of councils already having declared a climate 

emergency, we know that they are ready to play their part.

To deliver this shared agenda, the Government’s approach to net zero must therefore put place-based action at its heart. We set out 

in this report the proposals that can make this happen, although we recognise that further support would be needed to reach net 

zero ahead of 2050, as many councils have committed to do. Local authorities need a supportive policy framework, and a supportive 

framework of resourcing. The Government should consider how it can join up and simplify the funding that is already available to 

local government, how this can be focused on carbon emission reductions, and where it should be accelerated. Simply providing 

certainty around medium and long-term resourcing will be of considerable importance in enabling councils to deliver climate action.

Above and beyond this, there will be a need for new funding. However, the Committee on Climate Change has advised that net zero 

by 2050 can be met within the agreed resource cost of 1–2% of GDP each year. And they note that it may be possible to partially or 

fully offset the resource costs through the quality of life benefits alone, not even taking into account reduced risks (e.g. from flooding) 

or industrial opportunities;5 the Government describes clean growth as ‘one of the greatest industrial opportunities of our time.’6 

The coronavirus recovery package must align with these approaches and deliver a joined-up, place-based green recovery. Public 

money must not be used to perpetuate high carbon, business as usual activities that are not fit for the future. Coronavirus has put 

local authorities in a vulnerable position, with new responsibilities and greater community needs combined with significant financial 

uncertainty. Although government funding to deal with the crisis has been welcome, councils have seen huge new spending demands 

at the same time as seeing normal revenue streams reduced or completely cut.

Of course, local authorities are by no means the only local actor for delivering carbon emissions reductions and we recognise the need 

for a whole-systems response that brings together a wide variety of partners within local areas. We want to work with local people, 

businesses who can grow the green economy and create jobs, community groups and non-governmental organisations, and the wider 

public sector, including expert statutory agencies like the Environment Agency and Natural England, whose work is essential and 

needs adequate resourcing. 

 

We present five immediate priorities for how the government can accelerate a green recovery from coronavirus whilst helping to set 

the foundations for longer term solutions to the climate and ecological crises we face:

Invest in low-carbon and climate-resilient infrastructure

1. Initiate a joined-up multi-billion pound place-based infrastructure fund, including support through the Shared Prosperity 

Fund, that enables local authorities to develop low carbon infrastructure that supports local economic recovery from 

coronavirus. For example, public transport, segregated cycle lanes and cycle parking, walking infrastructure, electric 

vehicle charging, renewable energy generation, low carbon heating networks and digital connectivity.

Support reskilling, retraining and research for a net-zero well-adapted economy

2. Enable councils to use existing funding to accelerate low carbon skills development by joining up the 

National Skills Fund, the National Retraining Scheme and the Apprenticeship Levy at local level, and align 

this with place-based employment and business support systems.

5  https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/net-zero-the-uks-contribution-to-stopping-global-warming/ 
6  https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/700496/clean-growth-strategy-correction-april-2018.pdf 

5

ANNEX 4a

Page 232



Upgrade our homes to ensure they are fit for the future

3. Establish a programme to retrofit the UK’s building stock - with energy and water 

efficiency and low carbon heating - as one of our national infrastructure investment 

priorities. Provide immediate support and resourcing to local authorities to accelerate 

whole house retrofits that bring social housing and private sector homes up to at least 

EPC7 ‘C’ by 2030, together with the investment and support for all schools to reach zero 

carbon by 2030.

Make it easy for people to walk, cycle, and work remotely

4. Enable local authorities to significantly increase home working and active travel provision, 

recognising that these modes have a special role to play in the recovery from coronavirus. 

Build on newly announced funds for walking and cycling by supporting councils’ ability 

to make temporary changes that have reallocated road space to pedestrians and cyclists 

permanent, where this is locally supported.

Accelerate tree planting, peatland restoration, green spaces and other green infrastructure

5. Properly fund the parks, open spaces and the public rights of way that local authorities manage, 

recognising their vital importance for the ongoing wellbeing of communities. Create and restore 

nature-rich green spaces (including pocket parks) and accelerate tree planting, in the first instance 

through accelerating delivery of the £640m Nature for Climate Fund.

7  Energy Performance Certificate

6

ANNEX 4a

Page 233



Theme 1 - Growing the zero and low carbon economy

What local authorities want to do and why

Local authorities want to create thriving, resilient economies that support a fair transition to zero carbon.

Examples of local authority action include:

• Training and skills development, in areas such as housing retrofits and heat pump installation, to support low carbon investment 

and local low carbon businesses;

• Targeted support for businesses, industries and workers that need to change and adapt to the zero and low carbon economy, to 

secure a fair transition;

• Shared local economic strategies together with businesses and other stakeholders, which build resilience and thriving zero 

carbon economies; and

• Procurement approaches that aim to influence the emissions of supply chains and products, and the technological solutions 

needed to decarbonize our economies.

The co-benefits of this include growth in the low carbon jobs market, reduction in poverty and inequality, and resilience to external 

shocks.

How government can support local authorities to scale up action

The Government’s economic recovery and renewal package must recognise the crucial role of local authorities in rebuilding resilient, 

low carbon local economies. It will be essential for councils to have sufficient resources devolved to the local level to move from 

current emergency support measures to rebuilding healthy, thriving places. There needs to be a focus on reskilling the workforce for 

the low carbon economy, but tackling the gap in basic literacy and numeracy skills could be part of a wider picture on recovery and 

access to green jobs. Local authorities will also need powers to use tools like business rates to support zero and low carbon businesses, 

including those with local supply chains. To enable this, we believe the Government should:

Align strategy with the net zero climate goal

1. Require local industrial strategies to align with the statutory national carbon budgets, and to put decarbonisation, climate 

adaptation and nature restoration at the heart of local economic and industrial development.

2. Map areas across the UK at particular risk of business closures and jobs losses in the transition to net zero and 

develop targeted support to enable a fair transition within these areas, and avoid the risk of left-behind 

communities.

Provide resources to grow the zero and low carbon economy

3. Ensure that the Shared Prosperity Fund is designed to support zero and low carbon 

economic development, and that it includes provision for place-based funding 

that enables local authorities to create a joined-up response to the climate and 

ecological emergencies.

4. Enable flexibility in the business rates system, so that councils can support 

local decarbonisation and the installation of renewable energy generation 

measures on business premises.

7

ANNEX 4a

Page 234



5. Support the rapid development of digital infrastructure, 

including funding for local authorities to roll out digital solutions 

that can support resilience in local businesses. For example, by 

reducing unnecessary commuting or business travel and enabling the 

adoption of effective digital communications, particularly in rural areas and 

amongst more deprived communities.

6. Establish a £400 million fund8 to kickstart new circular economy infrastructure 

development and business models, with special provision for sectors hit hardest by 

coronavirus, built on examples like the ReBUS9, National Industrial Symbiosis Programme 

and other eco-innovation programmes.

Catalyse low carbon skills development

7. Ensure local authorities have adequate skilled staff and access to training for elected members to 

catalyse local zero and low carbon economic development, including connected functions such as planning 

and development, transport, housing retrofits, sustainable consumption, public realm and green infrastructure.

8  https://www.green-alliance.org.uk/resources/Building_a_circular_economy.pdf 
9  hhttp://www.rebus.eu.com/about-rebus/

8

ANNEX 4a

Page 235



Theme 2 - Retrofitting homes and buildings

What local authorities want to do and why

Local authorities want to ensure the improvement of housing stock and the wider built environment 

to eliminate fuel poverty, improve health, reduce carbon emissions and build resilience to future climate 

change. 

Examples of local authority action include:

• Retrofitting of social homes to high energy efficiency standards - EPC ‘C’, or higher where practicable (for 

example, Energiesprong/ Passivhaus retrofit);

• Facilitating retrofitting of private housing and commercial buildings to EPC ‘C’, or higher where practicable;

• Prioritising retrofit over demolishing and rebuilding in planning decisions where this is the best life-cycle solution, 

including sympathetic retrofit of listed buildings; and

• Securing high energy efficiency standards in the public estate, including schools.

The co-benefits of this include alleviating or eliminating fuel poverty, supporting increasing levels of home care, improving 

educational outcomes for children and reducing respiratory health issues, whilst building skills and low carbon economic development 

at a time of economic hardship for many.

How government can support local authorities to scale up action

Local authorities need the resources and convening powers to scale up retrofitting housing programmes to end fuel poverty and cut 

emissions, and these programmes need to be joined up with vital fire safety work already underway. They also need the powers and 

policy backing, and the development of a skilled local workforce. To enable this, we believe the Government should:

Align strategy with the net zero climate goal

1. Provide local authorities and Local Enterprise Partnerships with the resources and support to produce and deliver local area energy 

plans, which can underpin an area-based low carbon home heating transformation programme in line with our statutory national 

carbon budgets. This should be aligned with local plans and support councils to invest in low carbon infrastructure.

2. Ensure skills funding is directed towards creating a workforce that can deliver the necessary building retrofits (energy efficiency 

and low carbon heating) and give the public confidence about the quality of retrofitting work.

3. Reduce VAT rates on domestic energy efficiency measures and low carbon heating to support the retrofitting industry to develop.

Enable public sector retrofitting

4. Put in place a holistic package of resourcing that enables local authorities and other registered providers to bring all public sector 

building, including as a priority social housing, up to a minimum of EPC ‘C’ by 2030. This should be done through whole-house 

retrofits, with immediate short-term support to reduce fuel poverty rates.

5. Confirm the £2.9 billion over the next five years pledged in the election manifesto for improving energy efficiency in 

schools and hospitals, to boost momentum in energy efficiency sector supply chains.

Support private rented sector retrofitting

6. Review the cap on landlords’ expenditure with a view to increasing it to support delivery of the EPC 

‘C’ target.

9

ANNEX 4a

Page 236



7. Strengthen the Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards (MEES) Regulations to require all private 

properties to meet specified targets at change of owner or tenant. Establish dedicated funding and high 

quality data to enable local authorities to enforce the MEES Regulations on private sector landlords in 

the domestic and commercial sectors.

 

Support private owned sector retrofitting

8. Establish financial support and incentives for councils to encourage private retrofitting, including a 

revolving loan fund and/or low cost finance for home energy retrofitting, bringing in public health 

finance where appropriate.

9. Reform the planning system and building regulations to enable local authorities to require the 

installation of energy efficiency measures when owners are making changes to a property that require 

permission from their council.

10. Revise the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) to encourage the installation of energy 

efficiency measures in non-listed buildings in conservation areas. Provide funding, professional advice 

and technical support to enable sympathetic retrofitting to listed buildings.

11. Reform the planning system so that external wall insulation with non-combustible materials is 

permitted development in all cases, except for conservation areas and listed buildings.

10

ANNEX 4a

Page 237



Theme 3 - Decarbonising transport

What local authorities want to do and why

Local authorities want to encourage more physically active travel, especially for short journeys and the first/last mile, greater use 

of public transport (in the short term, this is as and where appropriate in line with social distancing rules) and deliver associated 

improvements in air quality. The recovery from coronavirus presents opportunities to help achieve these aims and improve public 

health, but there is also a possibility that private car use will increase in the short term if people feel safer travelling this way.

Examples of local authority action include:

• Seamless physical interchanges between different modes of transport, and their ticketing systems; 

• Safe cycling and walking routes – including reallocating road space to support social distancing and active travel during the 

coronavirus lockdown;

• Interventions that reduce the need to travel by car and support the transition to electric vehicles for remaining car use, including 

provision of charging points;

• Rapid transition to low and ultra-low carbon vehicles for council fleets, taxis, shared mobility and buses; and

• New developments that are designed to facilitate more sustainable travel.

The co-benefits include considerable reductions in local air pollution (and congestion), that can improve people’s physical and mental 

health and reduce the strain on the NHS, and improvements to local places that support local businesses.

How government can support local authorities to scale up action

Local authorities are essential to ensuring that ‘public transport and active travel will be the natural first choice for our daily activities’, 

and that as the coronavirus restrictions are lifted, we don’t return to previous levels of air pollution and congestion.10 They will be 

crucial to encouraging longer term behaviour change such as significant levels of home working and local shopping, providing better 

quality, accessible public transport and safer provision for walking and cycling. But to do so, local authorities require stronger powers 

and adequate resources to deliver change in partnership with local communities, businesses and transport providers. This is even more 

pressing since public transport revenue has been hard hit by coronavirus travel restrictions, and predictions are that people’s wariness 

of returning to travelling on public transport may last for some time. To ensure that everyone benefits, it will be vital to address 

disparities in the funding, provisioning and quality of public transport across the country. To enable this, we believe the Government 

should:

Improve public transport, cycling and walking

1. Introduce higher subsidy levels for public transport, recognising the significant and ongoing strain these systems are facing due 

to Covid-19, and simplify and reduce public transport fares so they are flat, with increased national and local control. Fully fund 

current concessionary bus fares – the current funding gap is £632m – and explore the potential to widen it, for example to 

young people.

2. Update local transport plans guidance to prioritise low carbon transport modes, including public transport and active 

travel.

3. Introduce a salary sacrifice scheme for employees to claim up to a maximum amount each month, tax free, to 

spend on their mobility needs via public transport and bike, car-sharing where these modes are not available. 

Encourage employers to contribute to the costs where their employees commute by public transport as part of 

the scheme.

4. Support local authorities to significantly increase cycling and walking provision, recognising that these 

modes have a critical role to play in the recovery from coronavirus, by establishing a dedicated 

10  https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/878642/decarbonising-transport-setting-the-challenge.pdf

11

ANNEX 4a

Page 238



funding stream at levels seen in countries like the Netherlands, and extending ease of 

reallocating road space to pedestrians and cyclists as is happening in Milan and London. Give 

local authorities powers to licence dockless micromobility operators, set safety standards and cap 

the number of vehicles deployed in local areas. 

5. Devolve powers to enable local authorities to transform the standard of public transport provision in their 

area, including (TfL-style) coordinated public transport management, oyster-type ticketing arrangements and 

control of local railway lines where appropriate.

6. Enable local authorities to implement bus service regulation, including devolution of bus service operators grant to 

local authorities so it can be targeted at low carbon vehicles.

7. Provide funding, resources and new regulatory powers to local authorities for Mobility as a Service (MaaS) schemes, 

particularly for rural local authorities.

Manage traffic and reduce air pollution

8. Give local authorities more control of roads in their areas, including road traffic offences, for purposes of traffic management and 

reduction of carbon emissions (not including motorways).

9. Building on the improvements in air quality arising from coronavirus, fund an air quality support scheme for local authorities in 

the context of the national commitment to compliance with WHO standards on PM2.5 from 2022. Ensure any new modelling for 

dealing with air quality is adequately resourced and allow local authorities the power to take local action on meeting emissions 

targets.

Manage aviation

10. Ensure local government has the necessary powers and influence to manage and mitigate impacts from surface access to airports 

– such as air quality and congestion – as part of a wider UK aviation strategy that should prioritise surface transport and reduce 

aviation emissions in line with statutory national carbon budgets.

12

ANNEX 4a

Page 239



Theme 4 – Delivering zero carbon planning and
development that protects and enhances nature

What local authorities want to do and why

Local authorities want to ensure all new development is zero carbon, facilitate increased renewables generation and zero or low 

carbon heating schemes, make more space for nature, and link developments with public transport and walking and cycling routes.

Examples of local authority action include:

• Integration of renewable energy generation and zero or low carbon heating schemes into new development;

• New low and zero carbon development;

• New development that is highly energy and water efficient; and

• New high quality, accessible green spaces in areas where they didn’t exist, particularly in deprived neighbourhoods.

The co-benefits of this include more liveable and beautiful places with improved connections to public transport, and walking and 

cycling infrastructure. More green space can help to store carbon, reduce exposure to extreme temperatures, reduce flood risk, allow 

more space for outdoor exercise, improve mental health and connect people with nature. These developments can also increase 

renewable energy generation to support emissions reduction targets, reduce our reliance on the import of fossil fuels, support the 

creation of new skilled jobs and attract investment to local areas through excellent place-making.

How government can support local authorities to scale up action

There is a clear legal requirement for local plans to ensure that they include policies to mitigate and adapt to climate change, taking 

into account the UK’s net zero commitment under the Climate Change Act. However, this is not adequately embedded in planning 

policy, guidance or building regulations. Councils need much clearer practical advice, and better resourcing to ensure they have 

enough expert planning staff. To enable this, we believe the Government should:

Align strategy with our net zero climate goal

1. Reform planning regulations and revise the NPPF to empower local authorities to adopt planning policies commensurate with the 

climate and ecological emergency, informed by evidence, opportunities and needs that exist in their areas.

Deliver low and zero carbon development

2. Reform the planning system, in conjunction with necessary changes to building regulations, to:

• require all new homes and other buildings to be zero carbon by 2025 including a requirement for onsite 

renewable energy generation

• introduce a policy hierarchy that advocates circular economy principles for construction, including in 

relation to reuse and refurbishment in preference to demolition and new construction 

• ensure that local authorities continue to be able to set higher requirements for energy efficiency than 

national standards where practical and demonstrably viable 

• require new homes delivered as a result of permitted development rights that allow changes of use 

to residential to be retrofitted to achieve high energy efficiency standards

• enable local authorities to require water reuse and recycling in areas of severe water stress and to 

set tighter limits than the current 110l/person/day limit

• give stronger encouragement for retaining and expanding local food growing, processing and 

retailing

13

ANNEX 4a

Page 240



3. Provide stronger guidance on:

• achieving zero carbon at every stage of the design of a development, from building 

siting to construction materials

• retrofitting heritage assets and buildings in conservation areas to support climate goals

4. Reform the methodology for calculating housing supply and delivering new homes so this focuses 

on genuine need and enables prioritisation of sustainable locations. Place more emphasis on the 

proximity to employment, food shops, and walking, cycling and public transport infrastructure.

5. Take action to tackle the ‘viability’ issue when drawing up local plans to ensure outcomes are in line with the 

public interest, including tackling the climate and ecological emergency, not just benefiting developers.

Develop renewable energy

6. Introduce a clear requirement in the NPPF for local plans to:

• increase the provision of onshore wind power and other renewables, and infrastructure for power storage – including 

identifying new sites and requiring the installation of renewables within new developments – with specific encouragement 

for community ownership

• plan for renewable energy and storage with distribution network operators at a regional level, to meet anticipated demand 

from electric vehicles and heat pumps

7. Support appropriate development of renewable energy schemes within the green belt and Areas of Outstanding Natural 

Beauty to facilitate renewables that do not conflict with the purposes these areas.

Enhance nature and green infrastructure

8. Revise the NPPF to provide greater priority to protecting and enhancing the green spaces and infrastructure we need to 

support community resilience and climate adaptation, by:

• empowering local authorities to set green infrastructure standards through local plans to deliver on both the climate and 

ecological emergency and to refuse development where these requirements are not met

• providing stronger protection for all spaces that are important for nature, including priority habitats and non-statutory 

local wildlife sites  

• setting a requirement for local plans to provide better access to good quality nature rich green space for everyone 

within five minutes’ walk of their home, in line with the Natural England standard (ANGSt)

• providing a stronger reminder of the duty to preserve trees on development sites, to enable local 

enforcement

9. Ensure that the new National Infrastructure Plan includes green infrastructure and allocates adequate 

funding for delivery.

14

ANNEX 4a

Page 241



Theme 5 - Reducing waste and encouraging
sustainable consumption

What local authorities want to do and why

Local authorities want to reduce waste and develop a circular economy, discouraging wasteful lifestyles that 

create environmental problems overseas as well as at home. 

Examples of local authority action include:

• Interventions to minimise waste, including increasing repair;

• Increasing recycling of all materials; and

• Supporting sustainable consumption and production.

The co-benefits of this include reducing plastic pollution in our oceans, reducing the dumping of waste overseas, and 

generating economic gain within local areas. Encouraging people to adopt less wasteful and carbon intensive lifestyles (for 

example, eating less meat and dairy products, and throwing away fewer clothes) can also help individual incomes, cut emissions 

and reduce landfill.

How government can support local authorities to scale up action

Local authorities play a central role in ensuring that we manage resources efficiently and safely, and in recent months collection crews 

have been recognised for the vital work they do. To reduce consumption and increase reuse and raise recycling rates, councils need 

significant support, including funding via Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR), for food waste services and more ability to innovate. 

They need more powers to protect and promote local food security and support to enable healthier food choices - especially given 

the evidence that obesity puts people at higher risk for coronavirus.11 To enable this, we believe the Government should:

Reduce consumption of materials and resources

1. Reduce the pressure on local authority systems by phasing out all non-essential single-use products and throw-away materials 

through a transition to reusable products and circular business models.

Support recycling and residual waste collection

2. Implement Extended Producer Responsibility for packaging by 2023, incorporating the full lifecycle impacts of products, fully 

funded by producers and ensuring that local councils achieve full net cost recovery.

3. Fund the remaining costs of high quality recycling collections that are source separated where possible.

4. Fund separate food waste collection from households and businesses by 2023. 

5. Enable local authorities to restrict the frequency of residual waste collection as appropriate to local circumstances to achieve 

waste reduction, and allow willing local authorities to trial the implementation of ‘pay as you throw’ schemes without penalising 

lower income households.

Enable sustainable diets

6. Issue practical guidance on implementation of lower meat and dairy diets – in line with the Eatwell Guide – in school, hospital, 

prison and care home food standards.

11  https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/health-52561757

15

ANNEX 4a

Page 242



Theme 6 - Restoring nature for all

What local authorities want to do and why

Local authorities want to ensure that all citizens have easy access to high quality natural green spaces, recognising their vital 

importance for the wellbeing of communities and current inequalities in access. In the longer-term, they want to ensure multi-

purpose green spaces and healthy ecosystems which provide services such as flood water storage, areas for wildlife and carbon 

capture.

Examples of local authority action include:

• Protection and restoration of nature, including through local nature recovery strategies;

• Carbon sequestration through nature-based solutions such as restoring peat, more considered land management and planting 

trees in suitable places;

• Green infrastructure and habitat restoration and connectivity to increase resilience to climate change; and

• Changes to the management of council-owned land and road verges, including reduced pesticide use and increased planting of 

wildflowers.

The co-benefits of this include better mental health and space to exercise as a result of improved green space, greater resilience to 

future climate change extremes, and more resilient food production.  

How government can support local authorities to scale up action

Protecting nature and creating new space for nature and people’s wellbeing must be valued and supported for the vital services they 

provide. Resourcing is a major barrier to local authorities achieving their aims, with many councils being forced to cut parks, natural 

environment and countryside service budgets. Access to good quality data must also be improved to enable local authorities to map 

important sites and protect them. To enable this, we believe the Government should:

Enable a strategic response to the climate and ecological crisis

1. Support local authorities to coordinate the development and delivery of integrated and strategic Local Nature Recovery Strategies 

and Local Natural Capital Plans.

2. Ensure that the Environment Bill enables local action to deliver genuine gains for nature including a stronger biodiversity duty on 

local authorities.

3. Ensure that local authorities have access to habitat baseline data, species data and land use data that will enable them to map 

existing local places of importance for nature.

Enable delivery of natural climate solutions

4. Increase funding for local authority tree planting and maintenance, including large scale woodland and re-wilding 

programmes in appropriate locations, and in close collaboration with local wildlife and community groups.

5. Increase the importance of protecting green and blue infrastructure within the grant-in-aid formula 

for flood defence funding.

6. Ensure that Lead Local Flood Authorities (LLFAs) receive adequate funding, with long 

term certainty, to plan and deliver effective flood defences, and to plan for 

adaptation to a changing climate.

16

ANNEX 4a

Page 243



Theme 7 - Developing local authority funding,
governance and accounting systems that are
fit for purpose

What local authorities want to do and why

Local authorities want to develop a strategic approach to addressing the climate and nature emergencies through 

their actions, purchasing and influencing in line with UK and international obligations, and provide citizens with 

appropriate engagement opportunities based on transparency on proposals, processes and performance.

Examples of local authority action include:

• Low carbon, resilient strategic infrastructure;

• Sustainable council procurement;

• Local climate leadership; and 

• Climate partnerships with local communities and businesses.

The co-benefits of this include longer-term resilience in local authority systems and processes, greater transparency and credibility, 

and – through strong partnerships – authorities that are able to develop and deliver better, more innovative solutions together with 

their communities.

How government can support local authorities to scale up action

Local government needs clear advice and guidance as to how it can deliver reporting, procurement and collaboration that can support 

its climate action in other areas. It also, fundamentally, needs long-term funding and financing that can enable local authorities to act 

confidently in the long-term best interests of their communities as they tackle the climate and ecological crises. To enable this, we 

believe the Government should:

Support adequate long-term funding and financing for local authorities

1. Support new fundraising powers that can help to drive decarbonisation, such as the payroll public transport levy widely used in 

France.

2. Use a significant proportion of the UK Shared Prosperity Fund to fund the transition to the low carbon economy, particularly in 

areas where the transition is most challenging, including spending on skills, infrastructure and supply chains.

Support standards, data and guidance for the local low carbon transition

3. Government should review and update its Clean Growth Strategy to provide more detailed targets for decarbonising key sectors 

and activities (energy, buildings, transport, industry, agriculture and land use), to commit to enacting an ambitious Environment 

Bill and Resource and Waste Strategy, and to mainstreaming green finance.

4. Provide local authorities, combined authorities, sub-national transport bodies and Local Enterprise Partnerships with the 

evidence that helps them apply policies and target resources to deliver necessary cuts in carbon emissions. 

5. Reform national infrastructure investment and the Green Book so that the appraisal of public sector policies, 

programmes and investments includes the economic costs of climate change mitigation and adaptation.

6. Require public bodies such as Highways England, Network Rail and Homes England, to take local and 

national environmental strategies and plans into account when planning and delivering new 

schemes.

17

ANNEX 4a

Page 244



7. Require new infrastructure schemes to deliver multiple 

benefits. For example, new rail routes should be built with 

parallel cycling and/or walking routes and digital fibre to 

significantly reduce costs at the point of construction and 

negate the need for retrofitting.

8. Require all local government procurement to evaluate social 

value including environmental value, and to contribute to 

achieving national environmental goals.

9. Support the development of common standards for carbon 

emissions reporting.

10. Provide better access to carbon emissions datasets.

18

ANNEX 4a

Page 245



Appendix

Government action provides the framework for local authorities’ activities, and will affect their 

ability to deliver net zero locally. For example, the effectiveness of measures taken to encourage 

greater use of electric vehicles will be reliant on an early ban on petrol and diesel. Similarly, in 

rural areas, farmland will be crucial to meeting nature restoration and net zero goals, but the way 

farmland is managed is largely outside of local authority control.

For local authorities to reach their goals, there are some actions only the Government can take:

• Retrofitting homes and buildings

• Set out a road map for how the Government is planning to decarbonise heat

Decarbonising Transport

• Bring forward the ban on new petrol and diesel vehicles to 2030

Delivering zero carbon planning and development that protects and enhances nature

• Bring back incentives and remove tax burdens for Community Energy Companies to unlock local 

investment in community energy projects

• Revise the NPPF to prohibit new fossil fuel extraction 

Reducing waste and encouraging sustainable consumption

• Introduce new and updated eco-design standards, based on lifecycle assessment, to drive up the 

resource efficiency of key energy and non-energy products, including textiles and vehicles

• Expand the range of materials covered by EPR as soon as possible, with priority given to products 

with the highest lifecycle carbon costs

• Introduce better packaging labelling standards to enable consumers to better identify what can 

and can’t be recycled

• Develop new metrics to capture whole-life environmental impact of products and require all 

products to list their carbon emissions from their creation and transportation to allow end 

consumers to make informed choices, and to lower the impact of “offshoring emissions” 

Restoring nature for all

• Implement a new land use and farming system that delivers for nature and net zero farming to 

be legislated via the Agriculture Bill, and with sufficient funds for the new Environmental Land 

Management Scheme. This should at least match the funding that went to land managers via the 

Common Agricultural Policy

• Introduce more ambitious targets for peat restoration and stronger regulation to prevent peat 

extraction and burning

Funding, governance and accounting systems

• Set out duties for the Office of Environmental Protection relating to meeting carbon reduction 

targets

• Implement a carbon tax at a value significant enough to be a disincentive to future extraction and 

use of fossil fuels aligned to renewable generation increases

19

ANNEX 4a

Page 246



1

The Adult Social Care OCC Systems Contract (Direct Award) AGENDA NO: 9

Cabinet Date Wednesday 16th December 2020

Adult Social Care
Commissioning

Adult Social Care 
Delivery

Carole Allaway-Martin 

Kathy Williams 

Key Decision Yes

Background 
Documents

None

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
Background 
Documents

N/A 

Main Consultees Oxford Computer Consultants (OCC)
Liquidlogic

Planned Dates Ongoing – Monthly account meetings until March 2021

Divisional 
Councillor

None

Officer Brenda Yearwood
Strategic Commissioning Manager 
Gloucestershire Integrated Brokerage
brenda.yearwood@gloucestershire.gov.uk
01452 328516

Page 247

Agenda Item 9



2

Purpose of Report
The council currently contracts with Oxford Computer Consultants (OCC) 
for the supply of the adult social care finance system and related modules. 
Under this contract we currently procure the following Adult  Social Care  
Systems and modules:

1. The adult social care finance system known as ‘ContrOCC’ which 
delivers and supports the core adult social care finance package
2. The Provider Portal function which aids communications between  the 
council’s Integrated Brokerage and Care Services Finance teams and  adult 
social care providers; 
3. The Market Place system which delivers the councils ‘Your Circle Advice 
and Information’ portal
4. The E-Brokerage module that will improve the Council’s Integrated 
Brokerage function.

The current contract will expire on 22nd January 2021. 
Given that (a) the above-mentioned systems and modules underpin the 
Council’s core adult social care finance services, the Council’s Integrated 
Brokerage functions and the Council’s Adult Services advice and 
Information responsibilities under the Care Act; and (b) only ContrOCC 
systems are capable of integrating with the Liquidlogic case management 
system that will be  implemented by the Council in Spring 2021, it has been 
determined that a direct contract award to the incumbent supplier of the 
above mentioned system and modules is required, using the Crown 
Commercial Service (CCS) DAS Framework RM3821. 

Recommendations

 That Cabinet approves an award to Oxford Computer Consultants, without 
further competition, of a call-off contract for the supply of the following system 
and related services under Crown Commercial Services Framework 
Agreement RM3821 in accordance with the direct contract award criteria 
thereunder :
a – The adult social care finance system known as ContrOCC
b – The MarketPlace system
c – The Provider Portal module and
d – The E-Brokerage module

Such contract shall continue for an initial period of 3 years and include 
options to extend its term for no more than two further one year periods to 
coincide with the expiry date of the Council’s current contract with Liquidlogic 
for the supply of the Council’s Adult Social Care Case Management solution 
that is due to expire on 28/03/24 (which also includes an option to extend its 
term for a further period of not more than two further one year periods).

The Cabinet approves the execution of such contract under seal by the 
Assistant Director of Legal services.

That Cabinet delegates authority to the Executive Director:  Adult Social Care 

Page 248



3

(in consultation with the Cabinet Members for Adult Social Care 
Commissioning and Adult Social Care Delivery) to determine each of the 
options to extend the contract on expiry of the initial contract term.

Reasons for 
recommendations

1. There is no other adult social care financial system in the market that 
offers the necessary integration with the Council’s LAS ASC Case 
Management solution due to be implemented in March 2021. 

2. Moreover, a steering group of the key stakeholders to the contract and 
support services met to discuss and agree the options and 
established, in consultation with the Council’s Strategic Procurement 
team, that a direct contract award via Crown Commercial Services 
Framework Agreement RM3821 is a legally compliant procurement route 
given that the Council meets the criteria for making direct awards 
under the framework, namely:
a) The Council  are procuring  software we already have and use;
b) The Council has applied the direct award criteria prescribed under 
the Framework Agreement to all suppliers capable of meeting the 
Council’s requirements and established that the preferred supplier 
provides the most economically advantageous solution;
c) Both the Council and the preferred supplier accept the call off terms 
and conditions of contract prescribed under the Framework Agreement 
without amendment;
d)  The Council does not wish to procure any hardware

3. Procuring the proposed adult social care financial system will provide a 
foundation that can enable an integrated solution approach across 
Adult and Children’s Social Care case management systems in the 
future.

Resource 
Implications

The following maximum estimated cost table displays the system/functionality 
the Council will continue/implement from March 2021. 

The maximum estimated cost of optional services table which follows it 
contains elements/ functionality of the system the Council wishes to drawn 
down throughout the duration of the proposed contract.

Maximum estimated fixed cost ContrOCC Contract March 2021

System/Functionality Module applied 
to this

Total cost for Cabinet 
Paper and Contract

3 years with the option 
of 
+1
+1

=5 years

MarketPlace & OFA Directory, 

Page 249



4

Maintenance Hosting, OFA, 
Brokerage

ContrOCC Adults 
Maintenance

Payments, 
Charging, GWS, 
Remote, Data 
warehousing 
scripts

ContrOCC Adults 
Provider Portal 
Maintenance

Provider Portal

MarketPlace Events 
Module Maintenance

Events module

The total of Core/fixed  
items

£411,364.35

Maximum estimated cost of optional services

System/Functionality Module applied 
to this

Total cost for Cabinet 
Paper and Contract

3 years with the option 
of 
+1
+1

=5 years
ContrOCC Postcode-
Based Delivery  Module
Hosting ContrOCC 
(This is the total cost for 
Adults and Childrens. If 
just Adults total would 
be £60,000)

ContrOCC as a 
Service

ContrOCC Visits 
Module
MarketPlace E 
Brokerage
MarketPlace Availability 
Tracker
MarketPlace + 
ContrOCC ID Provider
MarketPlace E 
Brokerage – LAS 
Integration – This is 
OCC cost only. It does 
not include Liquidlogic 
Costs
The total of the Subtotal 
Optional items

£533,147.001

1The majority of the costs included in the optional services table above relate to the cost of hosting via 
OCC rather than in-house

 

Page 250



5

MAIN REPORT CONTENTS

1. Background 
In 2015, Gloucestershire County Council made the decision to go out to market to replace its 
in-house Adult Social Care case management and finance system “ERIC”, which had been in 
place since 2004. 
Following an EU compliant procurement process conducted using the Crown Commercial 
Service (CCS) Local Authority Software Applications (LASA) framework, the Adult’s OCC 
ContrOCC contract commenced on 22/01/2016. The key contract dates are as follows:

Call Off Commencement Date: 22/01/2016
End date of Call Off Initial Period: 22/01/2019 (36-Months)
End date of Call Off Extension Period: 22/01/2020 OR 22/01/2021

(2 x 12-month extension options)

The ContrOCC finance system then went live in February 2017, replacing the finance 
elements of ERIC. Liquidlogic is the new Adult Social Care case management system, phase 
1 of which will be implemented and fully integrated with ContrOCC in March 2021.

 The integration between the Liquidlogic Adults System and ContrOCC, which will be used for 
Brokerage and Finance purposes, is vital to our current systems strategy and was key to our 
decision to purchase the Liquidlogic Adults System.  In recent discussions with Liquidlogic, 
they have confirmed that the last major update of the integration with ContrOCC is delivered in 
LAS version 10 (which we plan to upgrade to by the end of 2021, after going live with LAS 
version 9.5).  After LAS version 10, Liquidlogic advise that they will continue to support the 
integration with ContrOCC for the foreseeable future, although will only be making 
modifications to support any legislative or statutory changes.

The Gloucestershire Advice and Information portal, Your Circle, was migrated over to the 
Directory module of OCC’s MarketPlace in 2019. Your Circle is Adult Social Care’s main 
information website and meets the Care Act requirement for PART 1 Care and Support 
‘Providing Information and Advice’.

OCC’s ContrOCC is currently the market’s leading finance system for Adult Social Care. 
ContrOCC is currently used by Care Services Finance to pay commissioned providers; 
Finance & Benefits to manage client contribution and Integrated Brokerage to manage 
contracts for commissioned services.

The Gloucestershire Integrated Brokerage team broker spend in the region of £2 million a 
month across health and social care. This includes packages of care for supported living, 
disabilities, mental health contracts, CHC and domiciliary care. The ambition is to fully 
implement the modules and functions provided by ContrOCC to enable the team to employ a 
fully integrated brokerage and market management system. To date, these have not been fully 
utilised due to the need to align with the implementation of the Liquidlogic Adult Social Care 
System (which in itself has been delayed due to COVID 19, phase one will now be 
implemented in March 2021).  Until that time, when full functionality of the OCC modules can 
be realised, the manual processes currently used to deliver these brokerage services carry 
major risk to GCC.

Page 251



6

The OCC suite of products is now at the heart of implementing the Council’s Integrated 
Brokerage System and is a key attribute to the wider Adult Social Care technology strategy. 
Within the next 12-24 months, Adult Social Care Operations, Gloucestershire Integrated 
Brokerage and the FAB team (The finance and benefits team) intend to implement:
 

1. The Provider Portal – This is OCC’s online interface of ContrOCC – a one stop 
communication portal for all Care Providers and GCC staff, to enable digitisation of 
business processes, for example electronic contract exchange. Additional functionality 
will be available for this once the Liquidlogic and ContrOCC system alignment is in 
place.
2. The Remote Financial Assessment (RFA) – This allows Finance and benefits 
(FAB) visiting officers to carry out financial assessments during home visits using a 
tablet device and upload assessments and evidence to the main system.
3. E Brokerage – This is OCC’s online brokerage system, enabling the brokerage team 
and our care providers to broker care within the system.
4. OCC Identity Provider (Integrates MarketPlace+ContrOCC) - This enables care 
providers to use one log in for systems/functionality in ContrOCC and MarketPlace
5. Postcode Tracker -This will support the Brokerage Market Management function. 
6. Visits Module – This offers flexibility on conversations around charging, allowing 
investigation of unmatched visits. It also allows pre-population of variations to planned 
delivery.

           7. Liquidlogic Adults System (LAS) for Finance integration – Allowing 
           integration across Liquidlogic and ContrOCC.

In addition, OCC have been in partnership with Liquidlogic for over 13 years. Over this time 
more than £1million has been invested in the integration between ContrOCC and Liquidlogic’s 
Adults System (LAS). OCC and Liquidlogic have worked closely together offering integration 
between their systems, as well as aligned technical roadmaps and technical support.
 
The importance of the interface between ContrOCC and Liquidlogic cannot be 
overemphasised in the delivery of the functionality required by Care Act Part 1 (the “Care Act” 
and support the delivery of emerging requirements) and Care Act Part 2. 
The current ‘integration’ between ERIC case management & ContrOCC finance module has 
intentionally been delivered to the minimum requirement recognising that ERIC case 
management will be replaced.

As a result, it is imperative that the OCC and Liquidlogic contracts are aligned, to ensure the 
continuity of our business critical systems.

2. Options

Option 1 – Do nothing
-This option carries the most risk, GCC would not have a contract in place for their core ASC 
finance package from 21/01/2021

Option 2 - Value added reseller
-This option would incur additional cost to GCC, a third party company would charge a % cost
-This option would mitigate the risk of not having a contract in place post 21/01/2021

Page 252



7

Option 3 – Direct contract award using the Crown Commercial Service DAS framework 
Agreement RM3821
-This option carries least risk to business continuity at this time.
To procure the proposed ContrOCC contracts for 3 years with the option to extend for 2 further 
years (+1 +1) in line with our Liquidlogic Contract, via a direct award with the Crown 
Commercial Service DAS framework (RM3821), mitigates the risk of not having a contract in 
place post 21/01/2021
-This option enables Liquidlogic and ContrOCC integration
-This option gives Gloucestershire County Council 3 years to investigate and understand the 
implications of Liquidlogic and ContrOCC separating with the creation of Liquidlogic Finance 
system.

3. Risk Assessment
The main risks associated with this project are

- A second ‘spike’ of Covid-19 in Gloucestershire would affect the stakeholder and the 
team’s capacity who are involved in the procurement of the ContrOCC contract; this 
could result in delays to the project.

- Liquidlogic has announced they will be creating a Finance System. This could affect the 
relationship between Liquidlogic and OCC working together in the future and 
integrating/implementing systems. We will continue to meet with OCC and Liquidlogic 
to receive updates on their relationship and the new finance system for the future. This 
would allow GCC more time to consider contractual arrangements post March 2024, 
after the separation of OCC and Liquidlogic.

- GCC are dependent on the upgrade of Liquidlogic V10 and ContrOCC V13 to use and 
utilise the functionality in ContrOCC and MarketPlace fully. 
GCC cannot complete the upgrades until after the implementation of Liquidlogic V9 in 
March 2021.

4. Officer Advice
That the Cabinet supports the recommended option 3 made in paragraph 2.3 of this 
report.

5. Equalities considerations – A due regard statement is not required for this paper
The Council will include appropriate requirements, as part of the specification, requiring 
the portals within the system to be suitable for those who may have a disability.
This will include, where appropriate, ensuring the system has the capability to expand 
text and images without distortion and for the supplier to provide guidance and support 
to providers and employees about this function. In addition anyone who is visually 
impaired or with physical disabilities may require adaptive technology in order to make 
full use of the system. The Council will continue to make reasonable adjustments to 
enable any affected employees with the protected characteristics to use the system.

6. Consultation feedback – Apart from the providers at OCC and Liquid Logic there were 
no other external consultees.
Consultees Position Team

Page 253



8

Director of Operations Adult Social Care
Deputy Director: Adult 
Social Care

The Adult Single 
Programme

Strategic Lead - Adult 
Social Care 
Transformation

The Adult Single 
Programme

Strategic 
Commissioning 
Manager

Gloucestershire 
Integrated Brokerage

Director Oxford 
Computer Consultants 
OCC

OCC

Head of ASC Support 
Services

ASC Support service

ICT Business 
Relationship Manager

ICT

Senior Commercial 
Officer

Strategic Procurement

Finance Manager Strategic Finance
Programme Manager Adult Single Programme
Commissioning 
Manager – Brokerage 
Systems and 
Processes

Gloucestershire 
Integrated Brokerage

Senior Project 
Manager Liquidlogic

Adult Single Programme

Information 
Governance Adviser

Information Management 
Service

Project Manager Adult Single Programme

There were a number of factors considered as part of the decision on whether to 
procure a direct replacement of the existing OCC ContrOCC contract these included: 

 The implementation of the Liquidlogic Adults System (LAS) in March2021 – 
(see background section above)

 The Brokerage Systems and FAB teams Project –(see background section 
above)

 The complexity involved in replacing the existing OCC contract at this time 
 Guidance from the deputy head of ICT is to continue with the current 

ContrOCC contract due to Liquidlogic’s finance model being in development
 Pursuing the Direct award via a DAS framework was considered by 

Commercial to be the least risky option
 During the consultation period, we explored the option of OCC hosting 

ContrOCC. This is not an option to progress for March 2021 due to risk 
implications. The ICT Business Relationship Manager advised we could 
explore this option further after the implementation of Liquidlogic in March 
2021. 
Hosting off premise is the strategic view of GCC ICT team.

Page 254



9

Taking all the above factors into account, the recommendation of the consultation group 
is that the Council pursues a direct contract award under Crown Commercial Service 
Framework Agreement RM3821 with the incumbent supplier.

7. Performance Management/Follow-up 
The Strategic Commissioning Manger, Integrated Brokerage will assume responsibility for 
agreeing a robust governance and reporting system with the Adult Single Programme and 
will set up a schedule of quarterly contract monitoring meetings with OCC, details to be 
agreed in the new contract.  

Page 255



10

Report Title Adult Social Care OCC Systems Contract  ( Direct Award)

Statutory Authority Health and Social Care Act 2012 and The Care Act 2014

Relevant County Council 
policy

N/A

Sustainability checklist:

Partnerships OCC – Oxford Computer Consultants

Decision Making and 
Involvement

 N/A

Economy and Employment No

Caring for people The Care Act is seen as a catalyst for major transformational 
change of the whole system of Adult Care

Social Value N/A 

Built Environment N/A

Natural Environment’ 
including Ecology 
(Biodiversity)

N/A

Education and Information N/A

Tackling Climate Change Carbon Emissions Implications? Positive -  if printing and 
posting are significantly reduced
Vulnerable to climate change? No

Due Regard Statement Has a Due Regard Statement been completed? 
No - ContrOCC is a system, which records protected 
characteristics and allows us to effectively monitor and 
understand those accessing health and social care services 
when linked with ERIC or Liquid Logic.
The system does not directly impact on any individual.

Human rights Implications None

Consultation 
Arrangements

See section 6 of this report

Page 256



CABINET DECISION REPORT

Published on: 7 December 2020

Establishment and construction of a new 3 Form of Entry (630 place) Primary School for 
Bishop’s Cleeve 

Cabinet date  16th December 2020 

Economy, 
Education and 
Skills

Cllr Patrick Molyneux

Key Decision Yes

Background 
Papers

 Gloucestershire County Council’s School Places Strategy 

 Children and Families Capital Programme 2019-2020

 Bishop’s Cleeve Primary options appraisal report June 2019 

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
Background 
Documents

Clare Medland, Head of Commissioning for Learning 
01452 328686 clare.medland@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Main Consultees Schools in the Bishop’s Cleeve area, local County and Borough Councillors 
and Bishop’s Cleeve Parish Council.  

Planned Dates Free school presumption competition process to launch early Spring 2021.
School to admit children during academic year 2023/24.

Divisional 
Councillor

Councillor Robert Bird

Officer Chris Spencer, Executive Director of Children’s Services
Tel: 01452 583578
Email: Chris.spencer@gloucestershire.gov.uk
 

Purpose of Report 

To seek Cabinet approval to establish a new 3FE (Forms of Entry) (630 place) 
Primary School to serve Bishop’s Cleeve together with approval for 
commissioning, additional funding, land acquisition and delivery of the new 
school. 

Page 257

Agenda Item 10

mailto:clare.medland@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Recommendations

1. That Cabinet approves the establishment of a new 3FE Primary School to 
serve Bishop’s Cleeve and delegates authority to the Executive Director of 
Children’s Services, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Economy, 
Education and Skills to:

i) Hold a free school presumption competition in accordance with the 
Department for Education’s “The free school presumption” (November 
2019) in order to identify a suitable Academy Trust to sponsor the 
school.

ii) Upon conclusion of the competition, recommend to the Secretary of 
State the findings of the Local Authority’s assessment to enable him to 
decide upon the most suitable proposer to take forward the new free 
school.

2. That Cabinet delegates authority to the Assistant Director of Asset 
Management and Property Services in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Economy, Education and Skills to acquire the land on which to 
establish and construct the new primary school.

3. That Cabinet:

(a) approves the addition of £3.000 million to the approved capital 
scheme to contribute towards the funding of construction and 
acquisition of the land [in respect of such school] from unallocated 
basic need grant funding; and

(b) reviews and ratifies a decision by the Assistant Director of Asset 
Management and Property Services to conduct a competitive 
procurement process in respect of a contract for the design and 
build of such school under the County Council’s major framework 
and then award such contract to the preferred tenderer.

4.  That Cabinet delegates authority to the Executive Director of Children’s 
Services in consultation with the Assistant Director of Asset Management 
and Property Services to undertake all ancillary matters to enable the 
establishment of the new 3FE Primary School such school.

Reasons for 
Recommendations Gloucestershire County Council’s School Places Strategy 2018-23 identifies 

the need for additional primary school places for children and young people 
living in Bishop’s Cleeve. This has arisen primarily from additional local 
housing in the area. 

Resource 
Implications The Council’s approved Children and Families Capital programme 2019/20 

has agreed £8.000million for additional primary provision for Bishop’s Cleeve.

The additional cost of acquiring a site close to the housing developments 

Page 258



alongside further site assessment and design work has increased the 
estimated cost of delivering the new school to £11.000million.  

There is circa £2.200million of S106 developer contributions which have 
currently been agreed from local housing proposals but have yet to be 
received. We will continue to secure further contributions as more housing 
comes forwards.  In order for the school places to be available when needed it 
is proposed to use the basic need grant funding to underwrite these 
contributions, which will be replaced by the contributions once they are 
received.  This will enable the basic need grant funding to be available to fund 
other priority capital projects.

Page 259



MAIN REPORT CONTENTS

1. Introduction

1.1 To ensure all children benefit from high quality, appropriate, education, the 
County Council has a statutory duty to ensure that sufficient school places are 
available across the county. It is a commissioner of places rather than being a 
direct provider; working in partnership with providers and stakeholders to meet 
current and future demand.

1.2 Over recent years, a number of applications for new housing developments in 
the Bishop’s Cleeve area have been approved either by Tewkesbury Borough 
Council (TBC) or on appeal because of non determination.  The Council has 
been able to secure S106 developer contributions to fund expansions at existing 
schools but there continues to be increasing demand for future places to 
accommodate a rise in pupil numbers from existing housing and new housing 
proposals.

1.3 In light of the growing population, school place projections in Bishop’s Cleeve 
have been kept under regular review and there is now a need to provide an 
additional 3 Forms of Entry (630 places) to meet the demand from 2023 
onwards.

2. Background 

2.1 As part of the 2019/20 Children & Families Capital Programme, Cabinet agreed 
an initial £8.000 million to provide additional primary places for the area.  Since 
then a contractor has been appointed from the council’s major framework and a 
design team established to develop proposals for delivering the school.  

2.2 In 2019 an options appraisal was carried out in consultation with the primary and 
secondary schools in the Bishop’s Cleeve area to establish how the additional 
places could be provided.  These discussions focussed on the expansions which 
had already occurred at  existing schools and any potential for further growth – 
with the opportunity identified for extending Cleeve School to become an all 
through school (subject to approval by the Secretary of State).  

2.3 Whilst the Council considered this option, the Cleeve School site is located in the 
south of the town while the housing developments the new school would be 
catering for is in the north. The Council is committed to providing school places 
as close as possible to children’s homes and further options appraisal was 
carried out to identify and consider potential alternative sites within the Bishops 
Cleeve area.   Therefore, this report seeks authority for the Assistant Director of 
Asset Management and Property Services, in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Economy, Education and Skills to proceed to acquire an appropriate 
site on which to establish and construct the new primary school.

 

Page 260



3. Options

Option 1: to commission additional places from existing providers

3.1 This option would look at a range of schemes for expanding existing schools in 
the area to meet the demand.  The existing schools will have established 
processes for teaching and learning so there will be a continuity of education 
already in place.  

3.2 During previous discussions with the existing schools it was established there 
were limited options for expansion due to school and site constraints.  Due to the 
number of places needed, there was also a concern about the impact of creating 
much larger schools - although this could be addressed by additional support 
from the Council.    

3.3 There would need to be further negotiations and discussions with each school to 
establish how this provision could be accommodated. However, the cost of 
delivering a number of schemes at different sites would be greater than 
delivering a new school on one site and may mean that not all children could be 
accommodated at local schools.  

Option 2: to commission the delivery of a purpose built 3FE School in 
Bishop’s Cleeve where the demand is.

3.4 This option will provide a new purpose built, carbon neutral primary school in the 
area of growth in the town, enabling children and young people to be educated 
closer to where they live. The new school will deliver places more efficiently in a 
single development rather than by expanding other existing schools and provide  
a more efficient build  It will also protect capacity for existing schools to 
accommodate further places (either on a permanent or temporary basis) if 
required in the future.

3.4 As the school is not proposed to be part of an existing establishment the Council 
would need to run a Free School Presumption competition process under 
Section 6A (the academy and free school presumption) of the Education and 
Inspections Act 2006 to establish the school.  This would involve inviting DfE 
approved Academy Trusts to apply through bids to run the new school.  The 
Council would be responsible for organising and running the selection process, 
and is required to make a recommendation on a preferred sponsor to the 
Secretary of State - who makes the final decision.

3.5 Negotiations on the acquisition of the site to secure it will need to be concluded 
in order to deliver the new school.   However, in the meantime, the Council has 
identified a suitable contractor from the County Council’s Major Schemes 
Framework to design and build the new school to enable the Council to move 
swiftly once the land acquisition process has been completed.  The Assistant 
Director of Asset Management and Property Services undertook a mini 
competition to identify a suitable contractor to undertake the work.   

Page 261



4. Officer Advice

4.1 Officers recommend that Cabinet adopts Option 2 and establishes a new 3FE 
(630 place) primary school to serve the Bishop’s Cleeve area from 2023/4.  

4.2 While the existing schools in the area could accommodate some of the additional 
demand there is limited scope as to how this can be efficiently achieved.  It will 
be more complicated and costly to try to achieve this - and potentially disrupt the 
teaching and learning currently being offered by the existing schools. 

4.3 The need for additional places arising from new housing in the area would be 
best met by establishing a new school and running a Free School competition to 
appointing a sponsor to run the new provision. The proposed site will provide 
these places close to where children live. 

5. Risk Assessment 

5.1 Risk 1
There is a risk that the Council will be unable to secure an appropriate site for the 
new school. 

Mitigation - This will be managed through discussions and negotiations between 
representatives of the Council, lead by the Assistant Director Asset Management 
and Property Services, and landowners of suitable sites for the provision of the 
school.

5.2 Risk 2
There is a risk that planning approval will not be given. 

Mitigation - There will be early pre-application engagement with key 
stakeholders including statutory bodies (Planning and Highways) to help identify 
any potential issues and appropriate mitigation incorporated into the final 
proposal.  

5.3  Risk 3
The new school will provide surplus capacity in the area and undermine high 
quality education in other schools. 

Mitigation – The forecasts and growth of housing in the area will be closely 
monitored so that the school opens on a phased basis – only providing  
additional places when existing schools are full, or near to capacity.  Under 
current forecasts the school would initially need to open as a 2FE Primary 
School (420 places; with an intake of 60 places in Reception) and look to expand 
to 3FE in line with housing growth by 2030.  This will be reviewed annually to 
ensure there are sufficient places available when needed. 

Page 262



6.    Funding 

6.1 The Council’s approved Children and Families Capital Programme has 
previously agreed £8.000million for additional primary provision for Bishop’s 
Cleeve.  The additional cost of acquiring a site close to the housing 
developments alongside further site assessment and design work has increased 
the estimated cost of delivering the new school to £11.000million. Currently there 
is nearly £2.200 million in confirmed S106 developer contributions which have 
been agreed from approved local housing proposals in Bishop’s Cleeve but have 
yet to be received.  

6.2 In order for the school places to be available when needed it is proposed to use 
unallocated Basic Need grant funding to underwrite these contributions so the 
scheme can proceed.  The Basic Need funding will be replaced by the 
contributions once they are received and will enable the Basic Need grant 
funding to fund other priority capital projects.  

6.3 It is therefore proposed to allocate a further £3.000million from the Council’s 
unallocated Basic Need allocation to enable this scheme to progress.

7.   Equalities considerations

7.1  A Due Regard Statement has been produced.  The proposal would represent a 
significant improvement for children and young people, regardless of their 
background, to have access to high quality appropriate education provision close 
to where they live.  

8. Consultation 

   8.1 Gloucestershire County Council consulted with local schools as part of the 
options appraisal for how to meet the additional pupil need in the area.  Further 
consultation involving all stakeholders will be undertaken as part of the process 
of establishing the new school. 

9. Performance Management/Follow-up 

9.1 This project will be managed and kept under review by the Head of   
Commissioning for Learning. 

Page 263



Report Title Establishment and construction of a new 3FE primary School for 
Bishop’s Cleeve.

Statutory 
Authority

Education Act 2011

Relevant County 
Council policy

 Gloucestershire County Council’s School Places Strategy 

 Children and Families Capital Programme 2019-2020

 Bishop’s Cleeve Primary options appraisal report June 2019 

Resource 
Implications

The Council’s approved Children and Families Capital Programme has 
previously agreed £8.000million for additional primary provision for 
Bishop’s Cleeve.  

The additional cost of acquiring a site close to the housing 
developments alongside further site assessment and design work has 
increased the estimated cost of delivering the new school to 
£11.000million.   

There is circa £2.200million of S106 developer contributions which 
have been agreed from local housing proposals but have yet to be 
received.  In order for the school places to be available when needed it 
is proposed to use the Basic Need grant funding to underwrite these 
contributions, which will then be replaced by the contributions once 
they are received.  This will enable the Basic Need grant funding to be 
available to fund other priority capital projects.

Sustainability 
checklist:

Partnerships We will work in partnership with our suppliers, other local authorities 
and key stakeholders

Decision Making 
and Involvement

Consultation will be undertaken with key stakeholders as required

Economy and 
Employment

The scheme will seek where appropriate to encourage the economy by 
providing improved access

Caring for people The ethos of the school is to provide nurture and care to some of the 
most vulnerable children in the county

Page 264



Social Value Opportunities to enhance community access to the facilities will be 
explored. 

Built Environment The enhanced materials policy will be employed where appropriate

Natural 
Environment’ 
including Ecology 
(Biodiversity)

Environmental assessments are undertaken as part of scheme 
development

Education and 
Information

We will keep stakeholders informed with progress on the individual 
schemes

Tackling Climate 
Change

Carbon Emissions Implications? Neutral
Vulnerable to climate change? No

Due Regard 
Statement

Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?     
Yes  - considerations included in main body of report

A copy of the full Due Regard Statement  can be accessed on 
GLOSTEXT

Alternatively a hard copy is available for inspection from Jo Moore, 
Democratic Services Unit, e-mail: jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk.

Human rights 
Implications

Articles 28 and 29 of the Convention on the Rights of the Child focus 
respectively on a child’s right to an education and on the quality and 
content of education.

Consultation
Arrangements 

Consultation involving all stakeholders will be undertaken as part of the 
process of establishing the new school. A webpage will be set up and 
there will be the opportunity to record electronic responses and 
FREEPOST address for written responses.  Drop in sessions will be 
held with the public/ interested parties.

 

Page 265

mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



The procurement of highway services and construction phase works in 
connection with the delivery of A435 Charlton Hill Geotechnical Stabilisation 
Scheme

Cabinet Date 16th December 2020

Highways and 
Flood Cllr Vernon Smith

Key Decision Yes

Background 
Documents  GCC Financial Monitoring Cabinet report July 2020

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
Background 
Documents

The Financial Monitoring Cabinet report (July 2020) can be viewed here;
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s62379/Item%206%20-
%20Financial%20Monitoring%20Report%20June%202020%20P3.pdf

Main Consultees • Lead Cabinet Members 
• Local Members 
• Wide range of consultees as part of the project’s communications 

strategy 

Planned Dates • Tender assessment and award – March 2021
• Construction start – Summer 2021
• Full closure of the A435 Autumn/Winter 2021 (8-12 Weeks)
• Scheme complete and fully open to the public – Spring 2022

Divisional 
Councillors

   
• Cllr Klara Sudbury (Charlton Park and College)
• Cllr Matt Babbage (Battledown and Charlton Kings)
 

Officer Jen Dorman: Highways Lead – Infrastructure & Improvements
Jennifer.dorman@gloucestershire.gov.uk
01452 538515

Page 267

Agenda Item 11

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s62379/Item%206%20-%20Financial%20Monitoring%20Report%20June%202020%20P3.pdf
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s62379/Item%206%20-%20Financial%20Monitoring%20Report%20June%202020%20P3.pdf
mailto:Jennifer.dorman@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Purpose of Report
To ask Cabinet to delegate authority to the Head of Highway Authority (in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Highways and Flood) for the 
purpose of procuring highway services and construction phase works, 
through competitive tender, in relation to A435 Charlton Hill Geotechnical 
Stabilisation Scheme and awarding contracts for the provision of such 
services and works.

In addition, it will be necessary to make further ancillary orders in order to 
successfully implement the Project and authority is sought to enable GCC to 
make legal orders (such as temporary traffic regulation orders (TTROs for 
speed limits etc.)) during the construction phase of the Project.

Recommendations

That Cabinet delegates authority to the Head of Highway Authority (in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Highways and Flood) to:

1. conduct a competitive procurement process(es) for the supply of 
highway services and construction phase works in relation to the A435 
Charlton Hill Geotechnical Stabilisation Scheme and awarding 
contracts for the provision of such services and works and

2. make any other ancillary traffic regulation orders that might be required 
in order to successfully implement the Project (such as temporary 
traffic regulation orders (TTROs for speed limits etc.)) during the 
construction phase of the Project.

Reasons for 
recommendations

The decision will enable the Council to engage suppliers for the purpose of 
securing a highways services and works in respect of the A435 Charlton Hill 
Geotechnical Stabilisation Scheme.

Resource 
Implications A435 Charlton Hill Geotechnical Stabilisation Scheme will be funded through 

the Highways Capital Programme, as per the July 2020 Financial Monitoring 
report. The current estimate for the scheme is £2.8m.

As scheme promoter, the County Council will be liable for any future cost 
overruns associated with the delivery of the scheme.

As per the County Council’s Constitution, ‘Directors are responsible for 
ensuring that variations in capital project estimates that occur during the 
course of a contract are contained within the resources allocated to that 
service’. The scheme’s costs will be monitored and managed accordingly.

Page 268



MAIN REPORT CONTENTS

1. The Scheme

1A. Scheme Background

The A435 (Cirencester Road) at Charlton Hill has been subject to on-going cracking and 
movement of the road surface for many years. The road has been intermittently patched and 
resurfaced, and a southbound crawler lane has been partially closed.

Significant tension cracks are present in the closed off Lane 1. Substantial downslope 
movement is apparent with mature trees and signposts also leaning. 

The boreholes from the ground investigation show the road pavement is underlain by up to 
2.3m of Made Ground with very soft weathered mudstones (Dyrham Formation) below.

1B. The Proposed Solution

The site requires stabilisation in the form of bored/sheet piling to a depth of between 10 – 16m 
for a length of 400m, in association with full road reconstruction and installation of a new 
drainage system to effectively manage surface water.

A number of different construction techniques have been considered and investigated in order 
to assess the traffic management impact and lessen the disruption on the travelling public.
However, there will be a requirement for full road closures for some elements of the work, 
these will be kept to a minimum.

The A435 is a key public transport route linking southern Cheltenham with employment 
areas/commercial shopping areas in Brockworth, Gloucester and Cirencester. 

Continued use of the A435 keeps traffic away from Cheltenham Town Centre and the major 
residential areas within Cheltenham, reducing air pollution and severance. Economic and 
environmental benefits will be gained through reduced maintenance and resurfacing 
requirements.

1C. Cost & Programme

Scheme cost is estimated at £2.8m.  

This scheme is programmed to start on site in Summer 2021.

Page 269



2. Risk Assessment  

The risk register for the scheme has been regularly updated in line with the GCC Risk 
Management process, in order to investigate, manage and mitigate key risks. 

Overall, the risks are well understood and are being eliminated or mitigated as the project 
moves forward. There are, however, a number of risks open that could have an impact on the 
design and cost of the project. Risks will continue to be actively monitored and any significant 
changes affecting the scope of the project will be reported to the Lead Cabinet Member.

The main project risk at present is the risk of not attracting suitable contractors to tender. 

Risks will be mitigated through robust programme management and a well thought out tender 
exercise, including market engagement events.

3. Officer Advice

That Cabinet delegates authority to the Head of Highway Authority to conduct a competitive 
procurement process(es) for the supply of highway services and construction phase works in 
relation to the A435 Charlton Hill Geotechnical Stabilisation Scheme and award contracts for 
the provision of such services and works.

The options for consideration are:

1. Do nothing – This will result in delay to programme. If a competitive tender process 
is not approved the scheme will not continue and funds will be reallocated across the 
programme.

2. Approve the procurement of a construction phase contractor – a competitive tender 
can be completed and the works will continue to deliver the scheme.

4. Equalities considerations

To date, no specific analysis has been carried out with regard to the protected characteristics; 
however, the detailed design of the final scheme will be undertaken in accordance with 
relevant guidance in relation to equalities and safety. 

5. Consultation feedback

A comprehensive communications plan will be developed for this scheme. This will include 
planned press releases, letter drops, bulletins, emails to key stakeholders and an 
engagement/share event.

Consultation will involve a full range of stakeholders:

 GCC Cabinet Members
 Local County Councillors
 Parish Councils
 Internal GCC consultees
 Bus Service Providers

Page 270



 Haulage Associations
 Emergency Services
 Highways England
 Residents, general public and businesses

The County Council will require that, as part of the tender process, any successful contractor 
will undertake contractor share events (that comply with social distancing requirements, as 
such this may result in a virtual event) in advance of any works commencing to introduce the 
contractor, answer any concerns and provide more information on the construction 
programme.  This will be supported by pro-active scheme communications. 

6. Performance Management/Follow-up 

GCC has set up a clear and robust structure to provide accountability and an effective 
decision making process for the management of the major projects. GCC led monthly project 
boards and monthly standing reports to Lead Cabinet Members are all in place.

Page 271



Report Title The procurement of highway services and works in connection 
with the delivery of the A435 Charlton Hill Geotechnical 
Stabilisation Scheme; and making of any Ancillary Orders in 
relation thereto

Statutory Authority Highways Act 1980
Traffic Management Act 2004
Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984

Relevant County Council 
policy

N/A

Sustainability checklist:

Partnerships The delivery of the A435 Charlton Hill Geotechnical 
Stabilisation Scheme aligns with strategic objectives held by a 
number of key project partners.  Strong partnership working 
has been instilled at project board meetings.
 

Decision Making and 
Involvement

During the scheme delivery phase, Gloucestershire County 
Council retains governance and control of the delivery of the 
Contract. Gloucestershire County Council will act as the client 
under the contract with a Contractor appointed via a 
competitive tender process. Representatives from 
Gloucestershire County Council or their professional services 
provider will be appointed to undertake the project 
management and supervision roles and will be responsible for 
managing the Contract during the works.

Economy and Employment The A435 is a key commuter corridor and public transport route 
linking Cheltenham, Gloucester and Cirencester with 
employment areas/commercial shopping areas. No alternative 
practical public transport route is available to link these 
communities. 

Caring for people Continued use of the A435 keeps traffic away from major 
residential areas within Cheltenham reducing air pollution and 
severance. Economic and environmental benefits will be 
gained through reduced maintenance and resurfacing 
requirements

Social Value Gloucestershire 2050 Vision, growing our economy presents 
the opportunity for Gloucestershire to be a ‘magnet’ county – 
growing the working age population by keeping and attracting 
more 18-40 year olds with high level qualifications who want to 

Page 272



live and work in the county.

Built Environment The proposed transport scheme will help to support future 
growth within the county through the continued use of the 
A435. 

Natural Environment’ 
including Ecology 
(Biodiversity)

Careful consideration will be made to the effects of the scheme 
on the natural environment.

Education and Information As part of any future quality tender evaluation, the successful 
contractor will need to outline their strategy for community 
engagement, (weekly site bulletins / social media and comms 
plan).

Tackling Climate Change Carbon Emissions Implications? Positive/ Neutral/ Negative
Vulnerable to climate change? Yes/ No/ Maybe

Due Regard Statement Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?     
No

Human rights Implications There will be no Human Rights implications.

Page 273



This page is intentionally left blank



.
Provision of Independent Fostering Services 2021 - 2022 AGENDA NO: 

Cabinet Date 16 December 2020

Cabinet Member for 
Children’s 
Safeguarding and 
Early Years

Cllr Richard Boyles 

Key Decision Yes

Background 
Documents

Previous decisions: Cabinet Member 7 November 2016
Right Placement First Time: Sufficiency Statement  2018 – 2021 
Action on ACES (Adverse Childhood ExperienceS) Strategy

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
Background 
Documents

Background documents are available upon request from:  
Adrian Wells, Interim Senior Commissioner, 
Integrated Children and Families Commissioning Hub
Tel:  01452 426574 
Email:  adrian.wells@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Main Consultees • Officers from Participating Local Authorities
• Independent Fostering Agency Providers pre-qualified under current 

framework arrangements

Planned Dates From January 2021 discussions will take place with sub-regional partners to 
initiate the 12 month extension and to specify and plan the tender 
opportunity from 1 April 2022. Discussions will also take effect with other 
legally compliant regional and sub-regional contract arrangements to bolster 
capacity and choice.

Divisional 
Councillor

All

Officer Chris Spencer, Director of Children & Families
Tel: 01452 583502
Chris.spencer@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Page 275

Agenda Item 12

mailto:Chris.spencer@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Purpose of Report The purpose of this report is threefold, firstly to seek authorisation for 
Gloucestershire County Council (the Council) to continue to participate in the 
current Bath and North East Somerset Dynamic Purchasing System (known 
as the “Framework for the placement of children and young people in foster 
care”), for the provision of independent fostering services to participating 
Local Authorities (the “Dynamic Purchasing System/Framework”). 

Secondly the report seeks authorisation for a 1.5% uplift in fees for new 
placements under the Dynamic Purchasing System/Framework from 1 April 
2021.

Thirdly the report seeks authorisation for Childrens Services to join Fostering 
Frameworks in other regions specifically to meet our sufficiency needs. 

Recommendations

That  Cabinet delegates authority to the Executive Director of Children 
Services to:

1) Extend the term of the current Dynamic Purchasing System/Framework 
for the supply of independent fostering services” for a period of 12 months 
from 1st April 2021 until 31st March 2022. 

2) Extend the term of the Council’s Participation Agreement with Bath and 
North East Somerset Council for a further year from 1 April 2021 until 31 
March 2022 for the purposes of enabling the Council to participate in the 
Dynamic Purchasing System /Framework and to pay Bath and North East 
Somerset Council a maximum sum of £4,000 as a contribution to its costs 
in acting as lead authority for the Dynamic Purchasing 
System/Framework.

3) Agree an uplift in fees (to be capped at 1.5%) paid to participating 
independent fostering agencies under the Dynamic Purchasing 
System/Framework in respect of individual placements from 1st April 2021 
in conjunction with other participating Local Authorities.

4) Procure and award  such number of call-off contracts under the terms of 
the Dynamic Purchasing System/Framework as are required to meet the 
Council’s responsibility to provide services for the assessed needs for the 
framework services, provided the aggregate value of such call-off 
contracts does not exceed an estimated maximum amount of  £7.77 
Million.  

5) Continue to undertake compliant procurement of placements outside of 
this Framework in order to provide maximum flexibility to match children 
and young people’s needs including cultural matching with suitable carers 
and for PACE where this cannot be provided by the current Framework 
provision.

6) Explore and join, if appropriate, Frameworks outside of the South West 
that are reaching renewal stage in coming years with a view to increasing 
cultural matching and PACE opportunities within the financial security of a 

Page 276



Framework arrangement. 

Reasons for 
recommendations

The consensus amongst participating Local Authorities is that the current 
Dynamic Purchasing System/Framework offers a quality service and best 
value. It also serves to reduce pressure on the Council’s in-house fostering 
service as it provides alternative assessed provision. 

In normal circumstances the current arrangements would have provided a 
basis for development and tendering of a new Dynamic Purchasing 
System/Framework which would be delivered in April 2021.  However, the 
current COVID19 pandemic has precluded this process taking place in a 
timely manner, hence it would not be possible to put in place any successor 
arrangements in the time available.

Notwithstanding the above, there have been occasions where the current 
Dynamic Purchasing System/Framework and in-house provision has not 
provided an appropriate cultural match or PACE placement for 
Gloucestershire’s children and young people for whom we are seeking 
placements. For that reason Childrens Services is seeking agreement to 
explore other Framework opportunities outside of the South West when 
these become available.

Resource 
Implications

1) Bath & North East Somerset Council will continue to act as lead 
authority in respect of the Dynamic Purchasing System/Framework. A 
fee of £4,000 shall be payable by the Council to Bath & North East 
Somerset Council for its continued management of the Dynamic 
Purchasing System/Framework.

2) The Dynamic Purchasing System/Framework does not itself have a 
pre-determined monetary value, but rather it  identifies a unit price for 
services which are to be called-off under it. These prices have not 
been updated since the inception of the Dynamic Purchasing 
System/Framework in 2017 and a number of providers are now 
requesting an increase. The table below provides information on the 
number of young people placed via the Dynamic Purchasing 
System/Framework over the last 3 financial years and the cost:

Financial Year IFA spend Number of 
placements

2017 - 2018 £6,162,624 277
2018 - 2019 £7,643,539 328
2019 - 2020 £7,157,903 277
2020 – 2021
(to date)

£7,660,000 (est) 192 (Nov 2020)

3) For the current financial year the number of young people in an IFA 
placement at the end of September was 167 and the estimated spend at 
that time by the Council for the 2020/21 financial year was £7.66m based 
on the same number of children continuing to receive the same level of 
support throughout the remainder of the financial year. The  spend for 

Page 277



2021/22 based on that number of placements and with a maximum 
increase in fees of 1.5% is estimated to be a maximum of  £7.77m. This 
fee increase will be met by efficiency savings generated by the opening 
of Trevone House in the very near future, 9 young people have already 
been identified as the first group of residents and full utilisation of the 
remaining 11 beds should be achieved during 2021/22.

Page 278



MAIN REPORT CONTENTS

Background 

1.1 The Children Act 1989 requires Local Authorities to take steps to secure, so far as 
reasonably practicable, sufficient accommodation within the Authority’s area which 
meets the needs of children that the Local Authority are looking after, and the provision 
of this service will ensure that the Local Authority meets the statutory sufficiency duty 
obligations.

1.2 Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) has its own in-house provision for children’s 
foster placements. In addition, GCC currently looks to the independent market in order 
to ensure diversity and choice of provision to meet both the individual needs of Children 
in care in Gloucestershire, and to discharge its responsibilities in relation to meeting the 
requirements of the sufficiency duty to secure sufficient placements for children and 
young people and to provide cultural matching where this is not available in-house. We 
currently have 192 children and young people placed with independent fostering 
providers.

1.3 Since 2008 GCC has been part of a South West sub-regional collaborative 
arrangement (operated as a Dynamic Purchasing System under the Light Touch 
Regime) for the provision of independent fostering services.  During this period three 
successful sub-regional collaborative flexible Dynamic Purchasing System/Framework 
arrangements for the provision of independent fostering services have been procured.  
The current arrangements are in their final year and due to expire on the 31st March 
2021.

1.4 It had been planned that Bath and North East Somerset would lead a tender process 
during 2020/21 in order to develop a new Dynamic Purchasing System/Framework. The 
COVID19 pandemic has materially affected these plans and following discussions with 
participating Local Authorities it was felt that an extension to the existing Dynamic 
Purchasing System/Framework would have to suffice given that insufficient time was 
available to complete a full tender process  during 2020/21. 

1.5 Advice has been sought from the Council Legal Services regarding the risk of extending 
the Dynamic Purchasing System/Framework without first carrying out a competitive 
procurements process and also the risk of procurement challenge arising from a 
decision to extending a Dynamic Purchasing System/Framework that does not contain 
an extension option. Bath and North East Somerset Council’s response is as follows;

a) the current Dynamic Purchasing System/Framework is still open to new providers 
and will remain open to new providers up until the steering group choose to close it 
which may be May or June 2021;  

b) the decision to extend the current Dynamic Purchasing System/Framework was 
taken by  the Head of Strategic Procurement in Bath and North East Somerset 
Council under powers granted in the COVID19 legislation. 

1.6 Discussions between the current participating Local Authorities have identified an 
ongoing need for this service provision and a willingness to continue to undertake a 

Page 279



collaborative approach to securing sufficient placements for children through 
independent fostering agencies. These discussions have included consideration of an 
uplift in fees, there not having been one since the start of this Dynamic Purchasing 
System/Framework in 2017. Most Local Authorities in the Framework have agreed an 
uplift capped at 1.5%.  

1.7 Evaluation of these arrangements has identified the following benefits that the sub-
regional group wished to retain and build upon: 

a) It allows the participating councils to make best use of their commissioning 
resources, in tendering once and having shared performance and contract 
monitoring arrangements. It offers a more efficient and cost effective tendering 
process for providers by requiring Independent Fostering Agencies (IFA’s) to 
undertake only one tendering process and being required to demonstrate one set of 
quality and performance criteria.

b) It enables a more coherent and robust message to Independent Fostering Agencies 
about the needs of the sub-region to deliver sufficient placements for children in 
care at value for money prices.

c) Improved working relationships with providers of independent fostering services.

d) By acting as a whole the participating Local Authorities within the sub-region benefit 
from scale and market share in negotiating price.

e) Satisfying the requirements in the Children & Young People’s Act 2008 regarding 
Local Authorities obligation to meet the sufficiency duty.

1.8 The Local Authority faces some additional challenges in that the in-house fostering 
service is unable to deliver the number and variety of placements required to make 
suitable cultural matches. This is not confined purely to the in-house service and 
providers on the current Dynamic Purchasing System/Framework are not always able 
to offer suitable alternatives leaving the service having to explore placements on the 
open market which pushes up costs. The option of utilising Frameworks outside of the 
local region and thus not limiting choice is therefore of significant interest. At present no 
other Fostering Frameworks have been found that are available to join as they all name 
specific Local Authorities as participants. However as these reach renewal stage in 
coming years there is an opportunity  to investigate and join these Frameworks with a 
view to increasing cultural matching and PACE opportunities within the financial 
security of a Framework arrangement. As these placements would be direct 
replacements for those made under the South West Framework the financial 
implications should be minimal.     

 

1.9 A further challenge is the provision of family based PACE placements. Young people in 
need of a PACE placement are some of the most challenging to place and the lack of 
appropriate placements means that they are at risk of being kept in custody as a result. 
Current in-house and external options via the Dynamic Purchasing System/Framework 

Page 280



are limited, the Local Authority therefore needs to explore other local options or 
encourage others to the local market in order to meet these needs

Options

Existing Dynamic Purchasing System/Framework

2.1 The Council finds itself in a challenging position with regard to options in regard to the 
existing Dynamic Purchasing System/Framework, essentially there are three:

a) Continue to be part of the sub regional Dynamic Purchasing System/Framework by 
agreeing to a 12 month extension;

b) For the Council to procure its own standalone dynamic purchasing system or 
framework agreement;

c) Cease to be part of, or utilise a Dynamic Purchasing System/Framework and 
instead source placements via the open market on a spot purchase basis.

2.2 In respect of Option b) above whilst this is possible, and would enable the Council to 
set up contractual arrangements that are tailored to its own requirements, the Council 
would not be able to achieve the benefits the economies of scale that a sub-regional 
approach brings.  Other benefits such as maximisation of sub-regional cost and volume 
arrangements, sharing of contract monitoring and quality assurance, sharing of good 
practice and knowledge and ability to influence service provision would not be realised. 
This option will increase direct and indirect costs as a result of increased due diligence1 
requirements and may not be fully achievable within the current timescale.

2.3 In respect of Option c) above whilst this option would give access to the whole market 
there would be a requirement for additional resources to support the increased 
procurement and contracting processes and quality monitoring responsibilities incurred.  
Under the Public Contract Regulations 2015, we would be required to run open tender 
competitions once the relevant threshold figure has been reached; this would make the 
whole process slow, unwieldy and resource intensive.  Additionally, placement costs 
would be at enhanced rates, with the Council also seeing a reduction in the level of 
influence it has within the market in developing/shaping services to meet its needs. This 
option will increase direct and indirect costs. The time and additional cost required 
would be detrimental to the welfare of the children needing placements.

2.4 Option a) therefore provides the least risk at this time in terms of costs and time. If this 
is agreed there would then be opportunities to explore other options including 
standalone dynamic purchasing systems or frameworks and joining other regional and 
sub-regional dynamic purchasing systems or frameworks in addition to the current one.

1   Due diligence in this respect being the examination of key processes and policies (e.g. Safeguarding, 
Safer Recruitment) to ensure the provider is meeting Fostering Regulations and other key legislative 
requirements and thus ensuring the safety of any children or young people placed with them.  

Page 281



Fee

2.5 If option a) is selected above then in order to maintain sufficiency it will also become 
expedient to match the suggested fee increase as agreed by the other Local Authorities 
within the Dynamic Purchasing System/Framework, it is therefore recommended that a 
1.5% increase be agreed for new placements from 1 April 2021, no other option 
recommends itself.

Other Frameworks and PACE

2.6 Given the challenges within the in-house fostering service in delivering the placement 
numbers, stability and choice required there has been an increasing reliance on the 
current sub-regional Dynamic Purchasing System/Framework. This arrangement, 
although serviced by some national fostering providers through local offices, essentially 
faces south and south east of Gloucestershire. Exploration of other Frameworks 
outside of the South West has revealed that they are currently limited to named local 
Authorities only although as they come up for renewal there maybe opportunities to 
change this and join them where advantageous to Gloucestershire. In the meantime 
Childrens Services will continue to undertake compliant procurement of placements 
outside of the Framework in order to provide maximum flexibility to match children and 
young people’s needs including cultural matching and PACE, with suitable carers 
where this cannot be provided by the current Framework provision. This will also 
include encouraging those providers who can meet these PACE and cultural needs to 
join the SW framework. 

  
Risk Assessment 

3.1 One of the biggest challenges that both GCC and other local authorities face currently, 
is a shortage of foster carers, particularly those with the skills to manage more 
challenging children and young people which can increase the risk of being unable to 
find a suitable foster placement so that we have to pursue more expensive residential 
placements. The current Dynamic Purchasing System/Framework helps to mitigate the 
risk by increasing the opportunities we have to engage with providers, giving us a 
unified platform from which to express and ask for solutions to our challenges and gives 
providers the opportunity to meet challenges and work innovatively. For this reason, 
together with that of potentially increased costs and placement delays resulting from 
due diligence enquiries Option c) cannot be recommended.

3.2 Pursuing a joint Dynamic Purchasing System/Framework can incur risks that relate to 
the full participation of all the participating councils. This can result in failure to achieve 
the maximum cost and volume benefits. The lead authority will seek to mitigate this by 
active promotion and negotiation. The inclusion of both large and smaller councils 
enables fluctuations to be smoothed. The Dynamic Purchasing System/Framework will 
encourage increased provider competition which generally results in providers offering 
greater cost and volume benefits. There is a percentage decrease for placements 
based on the total spend of all participating local authorities. Providers could fail to 
engage, however evidence to date would suggest this is unlikely given that the current 
Dynamic Purchasing System/Framework works well and providers are fully engaged. 
Feedback from providers indicates the Dynamic Purchasing System/Framework offers 
them significant benefits and that relationships with participating local authorities are 

Page 282



improved. There is an effective communication and market engagement strategy in 
place.

4.1 The officer advice is to implement option 2.1(a) in regard to the existing Dynamic 
Purchasing System/Framework, option 2.5 in respect of fee increases on the existing 
Dynamic Purchasing System/Framework and option 2.6 in respect to new Dynamic 
Purchasing System/Frameworks and PACE for the reasons given above.

Equalities considerations

5.1 An assessment was originally undertaken in 2012 and has been updated in 2016 and 
2020, the details of which can be found within the Due Regard Statement. The Dynamic 
Purchasing System/Framework has currently and will continue to have a positive 
impact as it aims to eliminate discrimination allowing for bespoke packages to meet 
individual need which in turn ensures that there will be equality of opportunity for all 
looked after children and young people. We will promote good relations by ensuring 
that no child or young person is discriminated against and that we foster and maintain 
relationships with providers to ensure sufficiency and a diverse range of placement 
opportunities. 

5.2 The EIA in will be fully revised in preparation for a potential tender opportunity for 
residential provision both within and situated near the county boundary in 2021. As the 
client group will be the same, albeit with some small differences in individual need, it is 
intended that the revised EIA will cover both residential and fostering options. 

Consultation feedback 

6.1 Feedback from both internal and external stakeholders has identified that all are keen 
to develop/participate in further collaborative arrangements to improve the quality of 
service and deliver better value.

Performance Management/Follow-up 

7.1 The service will continue to be run to a clear specification against which providers will 
continue to be monitored.

7.2 The contract will include specific and measurable standards and outcomes and be 
actively managed through Regional Officers’ regular monitoring meetings with 
providers.

7.3 Monitoring will include feedback from young people, carers and social workers as part 
of the evaluation process.

7.4 Monitoring will include complaints received about the service or standard of care 
provided, and include rigorous follow up in relation to OFSTED notifications.

Page 283



Report Title Extension to the South West Sub-Regional Framework 
Agreement for the Provision of Independent Fostering Services

Statutory Authority  Children and Families Act 2014

 Children Act 2004

 Children Act 1989 as amended by the Children (Leaving 
Care) Act 2000 and the Children and Young Persons Act 
2008.

Relevant County Council 
policy

Right Placement First Time: Sufficiency Statement  2018 – 
2021 

Action on ACES (Adverse Childhood ExperienceS) Strategy

Sustainability checklist:

Partnerships Partnerships across children services to support better 
outcomes for young people in Gloucestershire.

Decision Making and 
Involvement

n/a

Economy and Employment n/a

Caring for people Securing outcomes for vulnerable children, young people and 
families.

Social Value Ensuring placements for vulnerable children and young people 
meet their cultural needs

Built Environment n/a

Natural Environment’ 
including Ecology 
(Biodiversity)

n/a

Education and Information n/a

Tackling Climate Change Carbon Emissions Implications? Neutral
Vulnerable to climate change? No

Page 284



Due Regard Statement Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?     Yes
Yes  - considerations included in main body of report

A copy of the full Due Regard Statement  can be accessed on 
GLOSTEXT via 
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1

Alternatively a hard copy is available for inspection from 
Stephen Bace, Democratic Services Unit, e-mail: 
stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk.

Human rights Implications None

Consultation 
Arrangements As described in the body of the report.

Page 285

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1
mailto:stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Scrutiny Task Group Report - Single Use Plastics
	6 Draft Corporate Strategy and Medium Term Financial Strategy (For Publication and Consultation)
	GCC_3071 Council Strategy 202122_Dev2
	Draft MTFS Doc - CABINET  NEW Dec 2020

	7 Financial Monitoring Report 2020/21
	8 Leading the response to the Climate Emergency: Gloucestershire Climate Change Strategy Annual Report & action plan, 2021/02 – 2026/27
	20201216 Cabinet Glos Climate Change Strategy Annual Report Cabinet APPROVED
	Annex 4 Coalition Climate Asks June 2020
	7.5 Gloucestershire TreeStrategy

	9 Adult Social Care OCC Systems Contract (Direct Award)
	10 Establishment and Construction of a new 3FE (630 place) Primary School in Bishop’s Cleeve
	11 The procurement of highway services and construction phase works in connection with the delivery of A435 Charlton Hill Geotechnical Stabilisation Scheme
	12 Provision of Independent Fostering Services 2021 - 2022



